

Web Sites DUMMIES

www.allitebooks.com

2nd Edition

AL PHOTOGRAPHY

Learn to:

- Plan your site, register a domain name, and create Web graphics
- Design pages easily with Dreamweaver templates for portfolio, business, or family sites
- Add a photo gallery, blog, podcasts, videos, or money-making ads



Janine Warner

Jasper Johal 02010

Get More and Do More at Dummies.com®



Start with FREE Cheat Sheets

Cheat Sheets include

- Checklists
- Charts
- Common Instructions
- And Other Good Stuff!

To access the Cheat Sheet created specifically for this book, go to www.dummies.com/cheatsheet/websitesdiy

Get Smart at Dummies.com

Dummies.com makes your life easier with 1,000s of answers on everything from removing wallpaper to using the latest version of Windows.

Check out our

- Videos
- Illustrated Articles
- Step-by-Step Instructions

Plus, each month you can win valuable prizes by entering our Dummies.com sweepstakes.*

Want a weekly dose of Dummies? Sign up for Newsletters or

- Digital Photography
- Microsoft Windows & Office
- Personal Finance & Investing
- Health & Wellness
- Computing, iPods & Cell Phones
- eBay
- Internet
- Food, Home & Garden

Find out "HOW" at Dummies.com

*Sweepstakes not currently available in all countries; visit Dummies.com for official rules.







Web Sites For DUMMIES® DUDMIES

by Janine Warner



www.allitebooks.com

Web Sites Do-It-Yourself For Dummies[®], 2nd Edition

Published by Wiley Publishing, Inc. 111 River Street Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774 www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2010 by Wiley Publishing, Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana

Published by Wiley Publishing, Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana

Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without either the prior written permission of the Publisher, or authorization through payment of the appropriate per-copy fee to the Copyright Clearance Center, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, (978) 750-8400, fax (978) 646-8600. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008, or online at http://www.wiley. com/go/permissions.

Trademarks: Wiley, the Wiley Publishing logo, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, A Reference for the Rest of Us!, The Dummies Way, Dummies Daily, The Fun and Easy Way, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the United States and other countries, and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. Wiley Publishing, Inc., is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PAR-TICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFES-SIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAM-AGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002.

For technical support, please visit www.wiley.com/techsupport.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2009940287

ISBN: 978-0-470-56520-9

Manufactured in the United States of America

 $10 \hspace{0.2em} 9 \hspace{0.2em} 8 \hspace{0.2em} 7 \hspace{0.2em} 6 \hspace{0.2em} 5 \hspace{0.2em} 4 \hspace{0.2em} 3 \hspace{0.2em} 2 \hspace{0.2em} 1$



About the Author

Since 1996, **Janine Warner** has authored more than a dozen books about the Internet, including every edition of *Dreamweaver For Dummies*, *Creating Family Web Sites For Dummies*, and the last 5 editions of *Teach Yourself Dreamweaver Visually*.

She's also the host of a series of training videos about Web design for Total Training, including programs on Adobe Dreamweaver and Microsoft Expression Web. Highlights of her videos are featured on both the Microsoft and Adobe Web sites.

An award-winning journalist, her articles and columns have appeared in a variety of publications, including *The Miami Herald*, *Shape Magazine*, and the Pulitzer Prize-winning *Point Reyes Light* newspaper. She is also a regular columnist for *Layers Magazine*.

Janine has been a part-time faculty member at both the University of Miami and the University of Southern California Annenberg School for Communication. She has also developed online training programs for the Western Knight Center, a joint project of USC and UC Berkeley funded by the Knight Foundation.

Janine has extensive Internet experience working on large and small Web sites. From 1994 to 1998, she ran Visiontec Communications, a Web design business in Northern California, where she worked for a diverse group of clients including Levi Strauss & Co., AirTouch International, Beth's Desserts, and many other small and medium-size businesses.

In 1998, she joined *The Miami Herald* as their Online Managing Editor. A year later, she was promoted to Director of New Media and managed a team of designers, programmers, journalists, and marketing staff who produced the Web sites for *The Miami Herald, El Nuevo Herald,* and Miami.com. She left that position to serve as Director of Latin American Operations for CNET Networks, an international technology media company.

Since 2001, Janine has run her own business as a writer, speaker, and consultant. She is a popular speaker at conferences and events throughout the United States, and her fluency in Spanish has led to many speaking engagements in Latin America and Spain. She served as a judge for the *Arroba de Oro* Latin American Internet awards from 2001 to 2005. As part of that project, she helped to create an Internet literacy program for students in Central America called *Operación Red* (Operation Network).

Janine earned a degree in journalism and Spanish from the University of Massachusetts, Amherst, and spent the first several years of her career in Northern California as a reporter and editor.

She lives with her husband in Los Angeles.

Dedication

I love teaching Web design because it's so much fun to see all the great Web sites people create. I dedicate this book to everyone who aspires to share their ideas, stories, views, photos, business products and services on the Internet. Don't ever fear that Web design is too hard. You can do this, you can create your own Web site. In this book you find everything you need to create, design, publish, and promote your own Web site. I wish you all the best with your Web designs!

Author's Acknowledgments

More than anyone, I want to thank my husband, David LaFontaine, for his patience, love, delightful sense of humor, and all his help in the research and production of this book. Among his many contributions, he authored Chapters 1, 11, and 12. Dave, your intelligence and creativity inspire me, and your love brings me more joy than I could have imagined.

Thanks to my dear friend and mentor David Mitchell who helped me get started in my writing career many moons ago when he served as publisher of the *Point Reyes Light* newspaper.

Thanks to all four of my fabulous parents, Malinda, Janice, Helen, and Robin, for your love, support, and encouragement. Thanks to my brothers Brian and Kevin, and to Kevin's delight-ful wife Stephanie, and their amazing children Mikayla, Savannah, Jessica, and Calahan (you'll find their photos in the sample site in the Family Web sites chapter). Thanks also to all my extended family, which now includes David's large and wonderful collection of relatives, including Gail, Dave, Linda, Mark, Beth, Sarah, and everyone else in the LaFontaine, Roos, and other clans. Thanks to Jeff Noble for his contributions to Chapter 10 and for his careful tech editing and testing of all the lessons in this book. Thanks to the entire editorial team at Wiley Publishing, especially my acquisitions editor Bob Woerner, my development editor Becky Huehls, and everyone who helped to edit, produce, and develop this book.

And finally, let me thank my lucky stars that this book is finally done. Complete. Finished. That's it. (And don't even tell me those aren't complete sentences.)

Publisher's Acknowledgments

We're proud of this book; please send us your comments at http://dummies.custhelp.com. For other comments, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002. Some of the people who helped bring this book to market include the following:

Acquisitions and Editorial

Project Editor: Rebecca HuehlsExecutive Editor: Bob WoernerSr. Copy Editor: Teresa ArtmanTechnical Editor: Jeff NobleEditorial Manager: Leah P. CameronEditorial Assistant: Amanda GrahamSr. Editorial Assistant: Cherie CaseCartoons: Rich Tennant (www.the5thwave.com)

Composition Services Project Coordinator: Patrick Redmond Layout and Graphics: Carrie A. Cesavice, Jennifer Henry, Erin Zeltner Special Art: istockphoto.com Proofreaders: Joanne Keaton Indexer: BIM Indexing & Proofreading Services Special Help: Jennifer Riggs

Publishing and Editorial for Technology Dummies

Richard Swadley, Vice President and Executive Group Publisher
 Andy Cummings, Vice President and Publisher
 Mary Bednarek, Executive Acquisitions Director
 Mary C. Corder, Editorial Director
 Publishing for Consumer Dummies
 Diane Graves Steele, Vice President and Publisher

Composition Services

Debbie Stailey, Director of Composition Services

Contents at a Glance

• •

Introduction	
Part 1: Laying the Groundwork	
Chapter 1: Exploring the Best Ways to Create Web Sites	7
Chapter 2: Planning Makes Web Design Easier	21
Chapter 3: Securing a Domain Name and Web Host	
Chapter 4: Understanding Web Design	47
Part 11: Putting the Pages Together	
Chapter 5: Editing and Creating Web Graphics	
Chapter 6: Getting Started with Dreamweaver	
Chapter 7: Creating a Profile or Portfolio Site	
Chapter 8: Creating a Business Web Site	
Chapter 9: Creating a Family, Vacation, or Hobby Site	
Chapter 10: Testing and Publishing a Web Site	
Part 111: Going Web 2.0	
Chapter 11: Designing a Blog	
Chapter 12: Podcasting Your Own Show	
Chapter 13: Multimedia: Adding Flash, Audio, and Video	
Chapter 14: Making Money with Your Site	
Part 1V: The Part of Tens	
Chapter 15: Ten Cool Services for Your Site	
Chapter 16: Ten Ways to Promote Your Site	
Index	

Table of Contents

About This Book About the Templates and Web Site for this Book Conventions Used in This Book Foolish Assumptions How This Book Is Organized Part I: Laying the Groundwork	
About the Templates and Web Site for this Book Conventions Used in This Book Foolish Assumptions How This Book Is Organized Part I: Laying the Groundwork	
Conventions Used in This Book Foolish Assumptions How This Book Is Organized Part I: Laying the Groundwork	
Foolish Assumptions How This Book Is Organized Part I: Laying the Groundwork	
How This Book Is Organized Part I: Laying the Groundwork	
Part I: Laying the Groundwork	
Part II: Putting the Pages Together	
Part III [.] Going Web 2.0	
Part IV: The Part of Tens	
Icons Used in This Book	
ert 1: Lauina the Groundwork	
Chapter 1: Exploring the Best Ways to Create Web Sites	
Checking Out Examples of Success on the web	
Comparing Web Design Options	
Comparing web Design Options	
Static web pages	
Dyllallic web pages Multimodia: Van lika ta mara it mara it	
Wullinedia: You like to move it-move it	
What kind of templates about you use?	
What kille of templates should you use:	
Comparing Web decign programs	
Comparing web design programs	
Chapter 2: Planning Makes Web Design Easier	
Developing a Project Plan	
Defining goals and objectives	•
Creating a content list	•
Creating a task list	•
Setting a timeline	•
Fetabliching a budget	
Δssembling a team	
Designing Your Web Site	
Creating 2 consistent design	
Manning the structure Organization navigation and li	nks
Designing the home page and main sections	1114.0
besigning the nome page and main sections	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Chapter 3: Securing a Domain Name and Web Host	
Finding and Registering Domain Names	
Choosing a good domain name	
Searching for an available domain name	
Understanding top-level domains	
Comparing country domains: .tv, .us, and .ws	
Registering your domain name	
Choosing a Web Hosting Service	
Finding the best host for your site	
Setting up e-commerce service	
Hosting multiple sites with different domain names	45
Chapter 4: Understanding Web Design	
HTM-what? Exploring HTML and XHTML	
Comparing Tables, Frames, and Layers	
Creating page designs with HTML Tables	
Considering design options with HTML frames	
Using Layers (or AP Divs) to create designs	53
Designing with Cascading Style Sheets	
Appreciating the advantages of CSS	
Combining CSS and XHTML	
Creating page layouts with CSS and XHTML	
Understanding style selectors	
Understanding rule definition options	
Looking at the code behind the scenes	65

Part 11: P	lutting the	Pages	Together	6	7
------------	-------------	-------	----------	---	---

Chapter 5: Editing and Creating Web Graphics	69
Introducing Photoshop Elements	
The Toolbox	
The Options bar	
The menu bar	
The panels	
Cropping an Image	
Resizing an Image	77
Optimizing Photos as JPEGs	
Optimizing Graphics in GIF or PNG Format	
Combining Photos and Text in a New Image	
Editing Images with Multiple Layers	
Chapter 6: Getting Started with Dreamweaver	
Setting Up a New or Existing Site	
Defining a Web Site in Dreamweaver	
Creating New Pages in Dreamweaver	
Inserting Images in Dreamweaver	
Setting Links to Other Pages in Your Site	
Linking to Another Web Site	
Setting a Link to an E-Mail Address	
Changing Page-Wide Settings with Page Properties	115

Table of Contents

Creating and Using Templates	
Creating and Using reinplaces	
Adding Meta Tags for Search Engines	
Inserting Code into a Web Page in Dreamweaver	
Chapter 7: Creating a Profile or Portfolio Site	
Starting with Profile or Portfolio Templates	
Introducing the profile template	
Creating a multipage portfolio site	
Customizing Banner Graphics	
Designing a Winning Online Profile	
Customizing the Portfolio Home Page	145
Creating and Linking Pages using the Gallery Templates	
Chapter 8: Creating a Business Web Site	
Introducing the Business Site Templates	
Editing and Sizing Images for the Template	
Putting the Pages Together in Dreamweaver	
Creating and Editing Pages with a Web Template in Dreamweaver	171
Using Background Images in Page Layouts	
Chapter 9: Creating a Family, Vacation, or Hobby Site	
Getting Started with the Family or Group Site Templates	
Editing Starter Image Templates	
Designing a Web Site for the Entire Family	
Creating and Linking New Pages	
Chapter 10: Testing and Publishing a Web Site	
Understanding How Web Pages Look on Different Computers	
Understanding now web rages Look on Different computers	
Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance	
Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers	
Understanding How Web Pages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site	200 201 204 207 209 213 217 209
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Directific Computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site Part 111: Going Web 2.0	200 201 204 207 209 213 217 221
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site Part 111: Going Web 2.0 Chapter 11: Designing a Blog	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Direction computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site Part 111: Going Web 2.0 Chapter 11: Designing a Blog Starting a Blog at WordPress.com	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Directific Computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site Adding Google Analytics to your Site Chapter 11: Designing a Blog. Starting a Blog at WordPress.com Customizing Your Blog Template	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site Part 111: Going Web 2.0 Chapter 11: Designing a Blog . Starting a Blog at WordPress.com Customizing Your Blog Template Posting to Your Blog	200 201 204 207 209 213 217 222 1 223 224 230 236
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site Part 111: Going Web 2.0 Chapter 11: Designing a Blog . Starting a Blog at WordPress.com Customizing Your Blog Template Posting to Your Blog	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Directific Computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site Part 111: Going Web 2.0 Chapter 11: Designing a Blog Starting a Blog at WordPress.com. Customizing Your Blog Template Posting to Your Blog Preparing a Podcast	
Understanding How Web Pages Look on Different computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site Part 111: Going Web 2.0 Chapter 11: Designing a Blog Starting a Blog at WordPress.com Customizing Your Blog Template Posting to Your Blog Chapter 12: Podcasting Your Own Show Preparing a Podcast Recording a Podcast Recording a Podcast	
Understanding How Web Fages Look on Directent computers Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features Adding Google Analytics to your Site Part 111: Going Web 2.0 Chapter 11: Designing a Blog. Starting a Blog at WordPress.com Customizing Your Blog Template Posting to Your Blog Chapter 12: Podcasting Your Own Show Preparing a Podcast Recording a Podcast Editing a Recording	

Chapter 13: Multimedia: Adding Flash, Audio, and Video	
Plaving Animation and Video on the Web	
Working with Adobe Flash	
Inserting a Flash Animation File into a Web Page	
Converting and Optimizing Flash Video	
Adding Flash Video to Your Site	
Uploading Videos to YouTube, Vimeo, and Other Sites	
Chapter 14: Making Money with Your Site	
Adding Advertisers with Google AdSense	
Signing Up with Affiliate Programs	
Adding a PayPal Button	
t IV: The Part of Tens	
Chapter 15: Ten Cool Services for Your Site	
Measuring Traffic from Web Visitors	297
Creating and Managing E-mail Newsletters	298
Downloading Professional Images Inexpensively	
Highlighting Links with Pop-Up Previews	
WhatTheFont? (An Online Matchmaker)	
Surveying Your Visitors	
Dressing Up the Address Bar with a Favicon	
Protecting Your E-Mail Address from Spammers	
Setting Up Free Conference Calls	
Sharing PowerPoint Presentations	
Chapter 16: Ten Ways to Promote Your Site	
Scoring High in Search Engines	
Buying Traffic (Yes, You Really Can!)	
Using Social Naturaling Sites for Promotion	
Using Social Networking Sites for Fromotion	
Getting Ranked on Social Bookmarking Sites	
Getting Ranked on Social Bookmarking Sites Enticing Visitors to Return for Updates	
Getting Ranked on Social Bookmarking Sites Enticing Visitors to Return for Updates Gathering Ideas from Other Web Sites	
Getting Ranked on Social Bookmarking Sites Enticing Visitors to Return for Updates Gathering Ideas from Other Web Sites	
Getting Ranked on Social Bookmarking Sites Enticing Visitors to Return for Updates Gathering Ideas from Other Web Sites Marketing a Web Site to the Media Unleashing the Power of Viral Marketing	
Getting Ranked on Social Bookmarking Sites Enticing Visitors to Return for Updates Gathering Ideas from Other Web Sites Marketing a Web Site to the Media Unleashing the Power of Viral Marketing Blogging, Blogging, Blogging	
Getting Ranked on Social Bookmarking Sites in Fromotion Getting Ranked on Social Bookmarking Sites Enticing Visitors to Return for Updates Gathering Ideas from Other Web Sites Marketing a Web Site to the Media Unleashing the Power of Viral Marketing Blogging, Blogging, Blogging Using Twitter to Promote Your Site	

Introduction

f you're feeling left out of the mad scramble to establish a presence on the Internet, relax — you're not alone. And it's not too late.

Despite the hype, many small businesses, clubs, and families still don't have Web sites. And, even if you already have a site, you're not alone if you're still trying to figure out how to make it better or more profitable, or you've come to the realization that it's time to redesign.

These days, it seems that every TV commercial, movie trailer, magazine insert, and grocery store bulletin board warns that any serious business owner needs to have a Web site, and most families, clubs, and even pet snakes do, too.

Although that's increasingly true, building a presence on the Internet isn't something you should do just because everyone else is doing it, and it isn't all bad if you've waited this long to make the Web a priority. Too many people have raced to put up Web sites without taking the time to consider how the Web fits in with their other goals and how they can best take advantage of what the Web has to offer.

If you've waited until now, you may even be better off because the Internet has matured, its audience has matured (it isn't populated solely by teenagers and academics anymore), and building a Web site has become easier than ever. If you're ready for a redesign of your first site, you have the advantage of being able to benefit from your own and everyone else's mistakes.

About This Book

This book is designed to help you progress through the entire process of creating a site, from registering a domain name, to creating a compelling design, to attracting just the right audience.

But you don't have to read this book from cover to cover, and you certainly don't have to memorize it. *Web Sites Do-It-Yourself For Dummies* was written to help you find the answers you need when you need them. Consider this book a quick guide and a reference you can return to. Each part stands alone, giving you easy answers to specific questions and step-by-step instructions for common tasks. If you want to find out how to choose a hosting service, optimize images, or add video to your site, just jump right in and go directly to the section that most interests you. And don't worry about spilling coffee on the pages if you bring the book to breakfast — I promise it won't complain!

I designed this book using what I consider the best technologies for someone who wants to create their own, custom Web site. If you picked up this book, I assume that you're not an advanced programmer and that you don't want to hire a team of expensive Web consultants. You want to do it yourself.

To help you create the best site you can without your having to invest a million dollars, or a million hours, I based the step-by-step tasks in each chapter on the technologies that I think offer all the features you need yet are relatively easy to figure out with a little guidance. For images, you find instructions for using Photoshop Elements, a popular and competitively priced image program that you can use to create, edit, and optimize images so that they download quickly. If you already have Adobe Photoshop, you can use that program instead; the instructions work for both programs. For the pages of your site, you find step-by-step instructions for Adobe Dreamweaver, as well as a variety of templates you can download for free to go along with this book so you can create a professionally designed Web site quickly. If you want to use other programs or services, you find alternatives in handy sidebars near the relevant step-by-step tasks. For example, if you want to use Microsoft Expression Web instead of Adobe Dreamweaver, no problem, you'll find templates on the companion Web site that will work with both programs and instructions for using both.

About the Templates and Web Site for this Book

To help you get the most from this book, I created a special section at my Digital Family Web site with files and templates you can download and use as you follow along with the step-by-step tasks. You also find a FAQ (*f*requently *a*sked *q*uestions), links, additional resources, and updates. To get all these goodies, just enter the following address in your Web browser:

www.digitalfamily.com/diy

You need a password to get into this protected site, but if you have this book with you when you log on, you have everything you need to answer a simple question on the Web site and gain access right away.

After you are authorized to enter the Web site, you'll find instructions for downloading the images and templates, which give you a head start in creating a fullfledged site of your own. Along with this book, you get a collection of templates designed to create an online profile, an artist portfolio, a business site, and a family or hobby site. And, you can customize the look and feel of all these templates to use them to create any type of site for your corner of the Web.

Throughout this book, you find references to the Web site and the templates and other goodies that go with the step-by-step tasks.

Conventions Used in This Book

Keeping things consistent makes them easier to understand. In this book, those consistent elements are *conventions*. Notice how the word *conventions* is in italics? That's a convention I use frequently. I put new terms in italics and then define them so that you know what they mean.

When I type URLs (Web addresses) or e-mail addresses within regular paragraph text, they look like this: www.jcwarner.com. Sometimes, however, I set off a URL on its own line, like this:

www.jcwarner.com

That's so you can easily spot URLs on a page if you want to type them into your browser to visit a site. I also assume that your Web browser doesn't require the introductory http:// for Web addresses. If you use an older browser, remember to type this part before the address. (Also make sure to include that part of the address when you're creating links.)

Even though programs like Dreamweaver make knowing the HTML code unnecessary, you may want to wade into the HTML waters occasionally. When I include HTML, such as the following code to link a URL to a Web page, I set off the HTML in the same monofont type as I use for URLs:

Janine's Web Site

When I introduce you to a new set of features, such as options in a dialog box, I set these items apart with bullets so that you can see that they're all related. When I want you to follow instructions, I use numbered steps to walk you through the process.

Foolish Assumptions

Although this book is designed to help you create a professional-looking Web site, I don't assume that you're a pro — at least not yet. In keeping with the philosophy behind the *For Dummies* series, this easy-to-use guide is designed for readers with a wide range of experience. Being interested in Web design and wanting to create a Web site is the key, but that desire is all I expect from you.

How This Book Is Organized

To ease you through the learning curve associated with any new program, I organized *Web Sites Do-It-Yourself For Dummies*, 2nd Edition, to be a complete reference. This section provides a breakdown of the four parts of the book and what you can find in each one.

Part 1: Laying the Groundwork

Part I gets you started in creating a Web site and helps you lay a solid foundation for your site. In Chapter 1, I introduce you to the many ways you can create a Web site to help you find the best template, technology, and software you'll need for your project. In Chapter 2, I walk you through the planning process, which can save you a lot of time in the long run. In Chapter 3, you find out how to register a domain name, and I give you tips for selecting the best Web server hosting service. And then in Chapter 4, I introduce you to just enough Web technologies, including HTML, CSS to give you a head start on your Web site.

Part 11: Putting the Pages Together

In Chapter 5, I move on to graphics, with an introduction to creating graphics for the Web, an overview of the differences in formats (GIF, JPEG, and PNG files), and a selection of tips for optimizing images so that they download quickly. In Chapter 6, you find an introduction to Dreamweaver, and in Chapters 7, 8, and 9, you get stepby-step instructions for personalizing the many templates that come with this book. In Chapter 10, you discover the Dreamweaver testing and publishing features so that you can publish your pages to the Internet as soon as you're ready.

Part 111: Going Web 2.0

In Part III, I go beyond basic Web design, by giving you instructions for creating a blog in Chapter 11 and for recording and publishing a podcast in Chapter 12. In Chapter 13, you find a review of the many audio, video, and animation formats and instructions for how to add multimedia to your Web site. In Chapter 14, I "show you the money" with instructions for including advertising and affiliates on your pages as well as for adding e-commerce options to sell products and services.

Part IV: The Part of Tens

Chapter 15 includes ten cool Web services that can help you add advanced features to your site without having to know how to program. Finally, Chapter 16 features ten ways to promote your site, because after you do all the work of creating an outstanding Web site, you want to make sure to attract a good audience.

Icons Used in This Book

SENTEMBER TIP OF ANNING!

4

This icon reminds you of an important concept or procedure that you should store away in your memory banks for later use.

This icon indicates a tip or technique that can save you time and money — and headaches — later.

This icon warns you of any potential pitfalls — and gives you the all-important information on how to avoid them.

Part I Laying the Groundwork



'Just how accurately should my Web site reflect my place of business?"

Chapter 1 Exploring the Best Ways to Create Web Sites

In This Chapter

- Checking out Web site success stories
- Creating Web sites with templates
- Exploring Web design options
- Choosing the best Web design program
- Comparing graphics and image-editing programs

reating a Web site can open doors for you that you never knew existed. Every day, thousands more people connect to the Web for the first time, and those who are already online get more adept at using online tools and services. The effect of all these people reaching out to each other to play, laugh, argue, buy, sell, trade, collaborate, invent, experiment, research, learn, and just chat about the mundane details of what constitutes a perfect cup of coffee — are transforming the world.

Thanks to the ever-simpler, easier, and less expensive Web technologies that you discover in this book, you can create a Web site today that just a few years ago would have required a crack team of programmers, the computing power of a room full of servers, and a budget of hundreds of thousands of dollars.

Today's Internet is a friendlier place where programs like Dreamweaver and WordPress make it so easy that even celebrities and politicians can run their own sites. And if they can do it, believe me, you can, too! For just a few dollars per month, you can host your site on a professional Web server. At that price, almost any old businesses can afford to try new tricks, and new businesses can launch with little investment.

Whether you're new to Web design or want to take your Web skills to the next level to create a world-class Web site or blog, it's often best to start by taking a step back to better understand your options before you dive in to the details of building and publishing a Web site. That's what this chapter is for: to start you out with an overview of the different kinds of Web sites and blogs, to help you appreciate how templates work for different kinds of sites, and to introduce you to the tools and technologies you can use to create your own Web site.

I'm not offering any "get-rich-quick" schemes in this book, but if you're ready to share your talents with the world, the Web is a better place than ever. And because I know you probably don't want to spend all your time creating your Web site, I've gathered everything you need in this book to make it easy for you.

Checking Out Examples of Success on the Web

Before I get into the technical details in this chapter, here are a few Internet success stories to inspire you and give you an idea of what you can do on the Internet today:

- ✓ Three friends in Chicago started www.threadless.com as an entry into a contest, hoping to win \$1,000. The business took off when designers flocked to the site to submit their artwork to be printed on t-shirts, and millions of people started placing orders. In a case study, the Harvard Business School cited Threadless as an example of a "perfect business," one that has made its founders millionaires, thanks to the Web.
- ✓ Two creative Chefs blended Korean barbecue with Mexican tacos and created Kogi, which they sold out of a lunch truck in Los Angles. When they started posting the schedule and location of the truck on Twitter.com (the popular microblogging Web site), crowds started lining up in advance for their fabulous food. Word spread and Kogi became a breakout hit. Today, in addition to the Web site shown in Figure 1-1, they have more than 42,000 rabid followers, and three state-of-the-art trucks roaming Los Angeles and catering Hollywood parties. You can learn all about their great food and thriving business at www.kogibbq.com.



Figure 1-1: The Kogi lunch truck in Los Angeles developed a loyal following and a growing business thanks to their tasty Web site and smart use of www.Twitter.com.

- ✓ A truly fanatical hockey aficionado who writes under the pseudonym "Eklund" built HockeyBuzz.com from a tiny fansite dedicated to the game he loved into the core of a media empire that employs more than 50 bloggers and launched a show on XM Radio.
- ✓ One of the most popular personalities on YouTube, Fred is a 14-year-old kid in Nebraska who parlayed a cheap video camera and YouTube into a multimillion dollar career. If you're old enough to drive, you've probably never even heard of him, but his videos are watched by millions of giggling kids every week at www.youtube.com/user/Fred.
- ✓ Gossip writer Perez Hilton built a career through his blog where he's known for his snarky comments. His celebrity-filled site at www.perezhilton.com is now read by more people than the tabloid magazines in the supermarket check-out aisles, and he charges thousands of dollars to make personal appearances at events.
- ✓ A woman who just loved to shop and find bargains built Outblush.com into a must-read beauty, fashion, and makeup advisor for millions — and a successful business for herself. Her site, featured in Figure 1-2, is now as influential as many glossy fashion magazines, and her product reviews can make or break a new line of products.

outb	USN FASHION	Search Outblush go N HOME BEAUTY LIFE
UTEV FULL [LET] ORD	BROWSE SECTORS OF THE ACTION OF THE ACT	And the set that period were broken at the Do and the the set of t
EGO BUY SHARE	MORE UPE OMODETS	Sign up for the Outblush Daty Bose Voolliget on new posts deliver of right to you not revery attender. Hotely you. Your email address Suternit
10 ¹ 5 dage title Name 2 politic	· pro seli i solo suda e ostr	SPONSOR OUTBLUSH



What all these Web success stories have in common is that their creators were able to use technologies that are cheaper and easier to use than ever before to do what they do best in front of a bigger audience. And that's one of the most powerful ways to use the Internet.

How much does a Web site cost?

The first question many people ask Web designers is one of the hardest to answer: "How much does a Web site cost?" Just because the answer is, "Well, it depends..." does not mean that we're trying to be evasive. (Well, maybe some people are intentionally evasive.) The truth is that the answer is complicated.

Building a Web site is often compared to building a house because the cost depends on what materials you want to use and how much experience and fancy tools you have. Like a house, a Web site can range from a Spartan hut with bare walls and a dirt floor, to an opulent mansion tricked out with the finest marble, to a secure fortress with layers of security guards demanding, "Identification, please."

In the land of the Internet, these buildings might compare with a simple profile site, a multimedia showcase, or an e-commerce business site with shopping cart features. The good news is that thanks to the advances in Web technology, you can build any of these kinds of Web sites for about the cost of this book and a little of your own time. All the software featured in this book is available for free (or at least a free 30-day trial). If you use the templates you can download from this book's companion Web site, you should be able to create a Web site in just a few days. And if you want advanced features, like e-commerce or video, don't worry. You find instructions in these pages for using some of the newest and best online services, including Google Checkout, which makes it easy (and economical) to add a shopping cart to your Web site, and Vimeo's video hosting service, which makes it possible to offer high-resolution video on your site without an expensive Web server.

You find links to all the online services, templates, and software featured in this book on my companion Web site at www. DigitalFamily.com/diy.

Creating Web Sites with the Templates in This Book

My goal in this book is to help you create not just a Web site but an online presence that truly serves your goals, whether you want to launch a new business on the Internet, promote an organization you've loved for years, or stay in touch with distant family members and classmates.

Here are a few of the kinds of Web sites you can create with the templates and instructions included with this book:

✓ Portfolio: Photographers, graphic designers, and artists are quickly realizing that one of the best ways to show off their work and win new (and better-paying) clients is to have a snazzy online portfolio. In Figure 1-3, photographer Jasper Johal showcases his photos in an online gallery that makes it easy to view a collection of images on his home page and in a series of galleries on his

site. A consulting firm could also use this type of site template to showcase a series of case studies, or by a carpenter or landscape architect to share photos of completed projects. You'll find templates for this design on the companion Web site, and instructions for customizing it to create your own site, in Chapter 7.

✓ Online profile: It used to be that "who you know" was the key to getting ahead. Now it's "who knows you." A Web site is a great way to introduce yourself, your business, or your club to the world, and it's also an important way to make it easy for other people to introduce you when they make a referral.

Consultants, authors, attorneys, dentists, and other professionals are well served by an online profile site that includes biographical information, a list of services or specialties, references, awards, testimonials, and links to completed projects and descriptions of your work. The template shown in Figure 1-4 is included with this book, and you find instructions in Chapter 7 that will help you to create a variety of profile designs.

Club or organization: Better than a bumper sticker, a Web site is an excellent way to showcase your favorite clubs, charities, after-school activities, hobbies, and more. The Web enables you to easily notify everyone of meeting dates and times, or post pictures and descriptions of recent awards and triumphs. A well-designed Web site can save organizers from having to make dozens of phone calls just to see whether everyone is good to take the soccer team out for ice cream after practice next week, or to coordinate fundraisers for worthy causes. You can use any of the templates featured in Chapters 7–9 to create a Web site for a club or organization.



Figure 1-3: Portfolio sites can showcase photos or artwork, like this photo gallery on Jasper Johal's Web site.





- ✓ Small business: Whether you want to share your professional services, like the massage therapist featured in Figure 1-5, or you have a growing business taking care of pampered pooches, like Pamela's Pet Services in Chapter 2, creating a Web site can make all the difference in your success, online and off. You can edit any of the templates in Chapters 7–9 to create a business Web site, but the designs in Chapter 8 are especially well suited to business needs.
- ✓ Family and wedding: Before couples say "I do," more and more of them are building wedding Web sites that feature invitations, directions, guest registries, and more. And, as a family grows, building a Web site is a helpful way to help the doting grandparents impress their friends without having to carry a wallet bulging with baby pictures. You can use the template featured in Chapter 9 to create any kind of site you want, but it's especially well suited to creating a site for the entire family, much like the one I created for my brother and his family, shown in Figure 1-6.







Figure 1-6: Showcase your family, wedding, and new baby photos, and stay connected with all those you love.

Comparing Web Design Options

The first step to building a site is choosing what kind of site you want to build. So, before you get too far into creating your own site, it can help to start with a general introduction to how different features are built on the Web.

To start, know that Web sites fall into two very broad categories: *static* Web sites, which are generally built with a program like Adobe Dreamweaver, and *dynamic* Web sites, which use advanced programming to create advanced, interactive features, like those used in a WordPress blog. Keep in mind that you can add multimedia, video, audio, animation, and so on to either type of site.

Static Web sites are made up of a collection of individual pages with the .html or .htm extension. You might think that all Web sites are made up of individual pages (and in a way they are), but with static sites those pages are saved as separate files. With a dynamic site, as you discover a little later in this section, the pages you view in a Web browser are created dynamically as they are delivered to the browser, so they're not saved as individual pages but as pieces of pages that can be mixed and matched. That gives dynamic sites many advantages, but it also makes them a lot more complicated to create.

The upshot is this: Because dynamic Web sites are more complicated to create, if you're just creating a simple profile or small business site, dynamic sites are often not worth the extra effort. The big exception comes in with blogs, because thanks to specialized blogging tools like WordPress, creating a dynamic site with the common features of a blog is relatively easy (as you learn in Chapter 11).

As a result, many people create both a static Web site for their profile or small business and a blog where they can easily add posts and other updates.

Static Web pages

Static pages are easier to design, and they work well for small- and medium-sized Web sites, such as a professional profile or an online gallery. Because static Web pages are written in plain text, you can create them in a program as simple as Notepad or SimpleText although tools like Adobe Dreamweaver and Microsoft Expression Web make it a lot easier and save you having to remember all the cryptic XHTML tags.

A static Web site offers a few advantages, especially if you're just starting out, including the following:

- Easy to learn to develop: Anyone who can resize a photo has a head start on the skills needed to create and arrange graphic elements on a static page.
- Gives you complete control over design of each page: You can tweak the size, colors, fonts, and arrangement of the elements on each page individually, and you can edit templates for these kinds of sites more easily than the templates for dynamic sites.
- Easy to build, test, and publish to a Web server: You can create and test static Web pages on any personal computer and then host them on any commercial Web server and you only need FTP access (which is built into programs like Dreamweaver) to publish pages to the Internet.

Dynamic Web pages

The technical aspects of dynamic sites get complicated quickly, but the gist of it is that instead of creating a collection of individual pages, you store all your content in a way that makes it easy to display text, images, and other data in a variety of combinations. That's what makes it possible for shopping sites like Amazon.com to keep track of your last order and recommend books when you return.

A site can even gather information from different sources to create complex pages dynamically. For example, you can combine information about customers' shopping habits with a list of your overstocked items on sale and create a page tailored to each visitor.

Dynamic sites are generally created on a Web server by combining CSS (Cascading Style Sheets, introduced in Chapter 4) and XHTML (which is more or less HTML that complies with today's standards, also explained in Chapter 4) with more advanced technologies, such as PHP, ASP.NET, or ColdFusion. That brings up another of the big challenges of working on dynamic sites: You have to build and test dynamic pages on a computer that runs a Web server, which is a lot more complicated than simply installing a Web browser on your personal PC to test your pages, as you learn in Chapter 10. Launching a dynamic site on a commercial Web server is also far more complicated than publishing a static page site to a Web server.

That said, the advantages of dynamic Web sites are significant, and most big sites on the Web are created this way, but most of the big sites on the Web also have a team of experienced programmers behind them. Unless you have advanced programming skills or a big budget, the challenges of creating a dynamic Web site mean that most small- and medium-sized Web sites are still better served with static Web sites. The big exception is blogging. Although blogging tools, such as WordPress and Blogger, create dynamic Web sites with all these advanced capabilities, they do it in a way that makes it relatively easy to launch and update. As you discover in the section on WordPress templates that follows, it's easy to create a blog but not so easy to edit the templates for a blog — another reason to consider creating a static site with a program like Dreamweaver. And remember: You can always create one of each, to get the best of both worlds.

The gardening Web site www.GardenstoTables.com (featured in Figure 1-7), was created with a program called Joomla!. Similar to WordPress, Joomla! offers many types of templates and add-ons to make it easier to create a dynamic Web site. These tools are ideal if you plan to create a large, complex site, especially one that you expect to grow to have hundreds or thousands of pages over time.

The advantages of a dynamic site include

- Easily updated: When you want to put new content into a dynamic Web site, you can simply add a new product or image to the database, and it automatically appears in all the corresponding pages in the site.
- Consistent look: When you create a dynamic site, you have to use templates, which help create a consistent look across a Web site. No matter how you build a site, being consistent is good practice when it comes to navigation buttons, banners, and other essential elements you want your visitors to find no matter which page they visit.
- Easier to redesign: All great Web sites grow and change over time, and as they get bigger, they become even more complex to redesign. With a dynamic site, you can simply update the templates, and the content will automatically be included in the new version of the site.



Figure 1-7: Online blogging and content management programs, such as WordPress and Joomla!, make it easier than ever to create magazine-style sites like Gardens to Tables.

Multimedia: You like to move it-move it . . .

I use the catch-all title "multimedia" to describe anything that moves on a Web page, but that's a lot of different things these days, and most people have trouble identifying the different ways you can make characters sing and dance on the Web. Multimedia should be considered distinct from static and dynamic sites because video, audio, and images can be added to both static and dynamic Web pages.

Today there are many ways to add multimedia to a Web page, and the same series of animated images could be created using video as an animation in Adobe Flash or as a simple animated GIF. One of the newest ways to add interactivity to a site is to use a technology called AJAX, which combines JavaScript and XML and is growing in popularity.

Fortunately, you don't have to worry too much about all the technical details to add multimedia to your Web pages. As you learn in Chapter 13, you can easily add many different kinds of audio and video formats using Adobe Dreamweaver, and you can even upload videos to a site like YouTube or Vimeo, and then insert them into any Web page with copy-and-paste ease.

Working with Different Kinds of Templates

The term *template* is used in many different ways for many different kinds of design work (on and off the Web), but essentially, a template is a shortcut in the design process. Think of a template as a set of design specifications that you can use to control the look and feel of your Web page. Templates can be used to set the background colors, how many columns (if any) your Web pages have, what font sizes and colors are used, how links are handled, and so on. Just about any aspect of the design or functionality can be set or adjusted by working with templates.

But not all templates are created equally. Although they all share those basic characteristics, many different kinds of templates are in use on the Web today. For example, most of the templates featured in this book were designed to create static Web sites with Dreamweaver, but they are quite different from the kinds of templates you would use if you were creating a blog with WordPress. You learn how to create a WordPress blog in Chapter 11, but before you start using any of these templates, I think it's helpful to better understand how they are different.

The templates featured in this book are

Dreamweaver templates (extension . dwt)

Dreamweaver templates offer many advantages without requiring advanced programming skills. When you create Dreamweaver templates with the .dwt extension, you can use XHTML and CSS to create relatively simple static Web sites that include high-end features found on dynamic sites, such as the ability to create new pages quickly and to update every page in your site with the click of a button.

Although you can use Dreamweaver to create templates that use advanced programming like PHP or Java, the .dwt Dreamweaver template is a much simpler option that is ideal for small- to medium-sized Web sites, which is why I used this template style for the profile, portfolio, small business, and family sites featured in Chapters 7–9.

You can even create your own Dreamweaver templates by following the instructions in Chapter 6, and you can download Dreamweaver templates from many different Web sites (some for free, others for a fee). If you have this book, you have everything you need to download the collection of templates specially designed for the tutorials in Chapters 7, 8, and 9. Just visit www. DigitalFamily.com/diy and follow the simple instructions to download the Dreamweaver Templates and image files included with them.

WordPress templates (extension: .php)

Templates such as the ones you get with a blogging program like WordPress use the extension . php because they are written in the PHP (Hypertext Preprocessor) programming language. WordPress templates offer many of the same benefits as Dreamweaver templates, except that templates for blogs like WordPress draw their content from a database. As a result, they include XHTML and CSS like the Dreamweaver templates, plus much more complicated programming in the PHP programming language.

When you design a blog or any other kind of *dynamic* site (explained in greater detail in the previous section), it's important to understand that the technology behind the scenes gets complicated very quickly. This may seem counter-intuitive because creating a blog on a site like WordPress.com is so easy, and updating a blog with new posts after it's been built is super easy.

But here's the rub: It is easy to create a basic blog with a WordPress template, but it's not easy to edit a WordPress template. Thus, if you want to be able to change the design of your blog pages, alter the fonts, colors, and other design features, things get complicated really quickly.

What kind of templates should you use?

Which templates are best for you depends on your goals and your technical skills, but it comes down to this. If you're creating a relatively small Web site (less than 50 pages), you'll probably have an easier time with Dreamweaver templates and the instructions in Chapters 7–9 for creating profile, portfolio, and small business sites.

Matching templates and technology

In addition to the WordPress and Dreamweaver templates featured in this book, there are many other kinds of templates in use on the Web. For example, if you download a template designed for Adobe Flash, you'll need a program that supports Flash to edit the pages. Flash templates end in the .swf extension, and you wouldn't be able to use a Flash template with WordPress blog, for example. Other kinds of templates in use on the Web today include templates for Microsoft ASP and ASP.NET sites, which use the .asp and .aspx extensions, respectively.

If a site is created using the Java or Pearl programming languages, the templates should end in .jsp or .prl, respectively.

The big lesson is this: Make sure you have the right kind of template for the kind of site or blog you are creating. If, however, you want to create an online journal or magazine that you will update often and expect to grow to hundreds or even thousands of pages, then creating a blog with WordPress is well worth the extra effort.

And here's where it gets really fun. Many people create both a Web site, say for their business portfolio, and a blog where they can add posts and other updates over time. Linking a blog and a Web site together is easy, and with this book, you have everything you need to create both.

Reviewing Web Design and Graphics Programs

I've chosen the most popular and powerful tools for you in this book. After years of testing Web design programs and building many different kinds of sites, I have found these to be the best options for the kinds of sites featured in this book. But that doesn't mean you can't substitute another program you prefer (or already have lying around your hard drive). For example, if you already have the full professional version of Adobe Photoshop, you can definitely use it with the lessons in the book. But because that program alone costs around \$600, I choose to feature Photoshop's little sister, Photoshop Elements, which has all the basic features you need, but with a simpler user interface (and a price tag of less than \$100).

When it comes to creating Web sites with XHTML and CSS, my first choice is Adobe Dreamweaver. If you're a Microsoft fan, I have to say I've also had good success with Microsoft Expression Web, and you can use that program to create all the sites featured in this book as well.

Both Dreamweaver and Expression Web sport graphic user interfaces that allow you to accomplish tasks through clicking and dragging instead of writing complicated CSS and XHTML tags. To help you appreciate the differences between these programs, you'll find a few more details in the last section of this chapter.

Although I believe that Photoshop Elements and Dreamweaver are the best programs for do-it-yourselfers just getting started on the Web, I include this general description of a few popular Web design and graphics programs on the market today to help you better appreciate your options. (You find descriptions of the most popular blogging programs, such as WordPress and TypePad, in Chapter 11.)

Comparing Web design programs

In the early days of the Web, people were using lots of different visual HTML editors. Today only a few major ones are in common use on the Web: Adobe Dreamweaver and Microsoft Expression Web. Both programs are available for download as trial versions.

Adobe Dreamweaver: By far the most popular choice among professional Web designers, this award-winning program offers high-end development tools, excellent design features, and valuable support for all the latest Internet technologies. Dreamweaver features a wide collection of customizable palettes,



floating dialog boxes, and toolbars, which makes it look more like an image editor than a word processor. If you're serious about Web design, this is *the* tool to use, which is why I chose Dreamweaver to feature in this book.

If you don't have a copy of Dreamweaver, you can download a fully functional 30-day trial version for free by visiting www.adobe.com/dreamweaver.

You find an introduction to Dreamweaver in Chapter 6 and step-by-step instructions for customizing the various templates featured in this book in Chapters 7, 8, and 9. When you're ready for more advanced design with Dreamweaver, you find a collection of online tutorials at www.Digital Family.com/dreamweaver (shown in Figure 1-8), including excerpts of my book *Dreamweaver CS4 For Dummies* (Wiley).

- ✓ Adobe Contribute: Contribute is designed to make it easy for anyone to "contribute" to a Web site. This reasonably priced program is easy and intuitive to use, but it's not a stand-alone program. Contribute isn't designed to create Web sites but to help you easily *update* an existing site. You need a program like Dreamweaver to create a Web site using the templates in this book, but if you want to enable others who know little or nothing about the Web to update the site, Contribute is a great option. You can download a free trial version at www.adobe.com/contribute.
- ✓ Microsoft Expression Web: Just because I loved Dreamweaver first doesn't mean I don't respect Expression Web. Microsoft has a lot to be proud of with this relatively new professional design program. Expression Web offers strong CSS support and follows standards better than FrontPage ever did. You can create XHTML and CSS with Expression Web, and you'll find special features for creating dynamic sites with ASP.NET. If you generally prefer Microsoft products and/or work with a developer who uses Visual Studio, you should appreciate the compatibility between Microsoft Visual Studio and Expression Web. You can download a free trial version at www.microsoft.com/expression.



Figure 1-8: You can find more tutorials for Dreamweaver and Expression Web on my Digital Family Web site.

Comparing image editing programs

You can find many choices in the world of image editing programs, from high-end programs, such as Adobe Photoshop, to "prosumer" (*professional consumer*) products, like Photoshop Elements, to simple programs that you can download for free over the Internet, such as Irfanview. Here's a quick comparison of image editing programs:

- Adobe Photoshop: By far the most popular image editing program in the history of computer design, Photoshop lets you create, edit, and manipulate images in myriad ways. It's a professional tool with a professional price tag (around \$600), so unless you have a big budget or you're a serious photographer or designer, Photoshop is probably more than you need (or want to pay for). You can download a 30-day free trial version at www.adobe.com/photoshop.
- Adobe Photoshop Elements: Photoshop Elements features many of the same powerful tools as Photoshop, but it's easier to use and costs less than \$100. Elements provides more than enough power for almost anything you need to do on a Web site, including optimizing images in the JPEG, GIF, or PNG format so that they download faster over the Internet. You find an introduction to Elements and instructions for creating and optimizing graphics for the Web in Chapter 5.



The difference between Photoshop and Photoshop Elements boils down to this: The expensive version is used by magazine editors and high-fashion photographers, for example, to perform painstaking, exacting work on their photos, to make flawless images that can be turned into four-color separations to run on million-dollar printing presses. (Given enough time, you can use Photoshop to make a mule look like a supermodel.) For the rest of us, who just want to edit photos or perhaps create the impression that Uncle Ernie's basset hound is driving the lawnmower, Photoshop Elements is all you need. You can download a 30-day free trial version at www.adobe.com/elements.

- ✓ Adobe Fireworks: Fireworks was designed specifically for creating and optimizing images on the Web. Fireworks is a favorite among many professional Web designers because you can create a complete page layout in Fireworks, and then use the program's slicing tool to optimize and export images for the Web while Fireworks automatically creates the necessary XHTML code for you. It's not a perfect science, but it's pretty impressive. And because Fireworks is integrated with Dreamweaver, you can move back and forth between the two programs, which makes it easier to make changes to designs that use lots of images. You can download a 30-day free trial version at www.adobe.com/fireworks.
- ✓ Free image editing programs: Search the Web for *free photo editor*, and you find many listed but only a few that are even worth downloading. If you're willing to settle for a more limited program to save money, consider the online editor at www.irfanview.com or download the popular GIMP (GNU Image Manipulation Program). You can find this open-source editor (available for Windows, Unix, and Linux) at www.gimp.org.

Chapter 2

Planning Makes Web Design Easier

In This Chapter

- Pinpointing your Web site goals
- Understanding the benefits of developing a plan
- Stepping through a project plan

.

- Accommodating new ideas while sticking to your plan
- Creating an organized, consistent design

f a potential partner approached you with a "great new business idea" guaranteed to make you money, you'd probably ask a lot of questions before you even considered writing a check to get things started. You'd probably also develop a business plan, or at least explore in detail how the new business would work, how much it would cost you, and how much money you could expect to make in return.

.

If you're considering creating a Web site, or redesigning the one you already have, I recommend taking the same cautious approach. After all, a good Web site is an extension of your business — and, in many cases, a new product, service, or store-front that deserves the same level of planning as any other serious business venture. Even if you're creating a site for a hobby, vacation photos, or pictures of your family, the principles covered in this chapter will help ensure that developing your site goes smoothly and the final result gains you all the approval and praise you deserve.

This chapter is designed to help you carefully consider the many aspects of planning a Web site before you start building. You'll also find a series of questions to help guide you through the early stages of the development process.



If you can complete the exercises in this chapter with a business partner or someone you trust to provide a reality check, I recommend it. You know what they say about decisions made in a vacuum: They generally suck. If you're reading this book, you're probably already convinced that you should create a Web site, and you may even have a pretty good idea about how you want to design it. Before you dive in, talk through the process with someone else who can provide a fresh perspective and help you consider aspects you may have overlooked. It's also a lot more fun to go through the exercises in this chapter and answer the questionnaires with a partner. Don't worry, though, if you're on your own (or you're determined to keep your project a secret until it's done). Consider me your virtual partner and let my questions and planning tips in this chapter serve as a guide to get you started.

Developing a Project Plan

As with most project plans, a good Web site plan is made up of a series of tasks, a budget, a timeline, and a list of the resources and materials you need. Taking the time to create a detailed project plan gives you a structure within which you can work with greater confidence, and a much better chance of meeting your original goals on time and on budget.

The following list provides a step-by-step approach to creating a project plan:

- 1. Define the goals and objectives of your site.
- 2. Create a content list.
- 3. Create a task list.
- 4. Set a timeline.
- 5. Establish a budget.
- 6. Assemble a team.
- 7. Create a site design and navigation structure.

In the sections that follow, you find out the details involved in each of these steps (with the exception of Step 7). Creating your design and navigation is such a big step that it gets a section all its own later in this chapter, "Designing Your Web Site."

In the sections that follow, you find out the details involved in each of these steps.

Defining goals and objectives

The series of questions in this section are designed to help you assess how a Web site can best serve you, your business, or organization. Taking the time to answer each question should help you define the goals of your site and create a guide that you can use as you organize and prioritize the development.

Before you start sketching out the *home page* (also called the *front page*), define the most important aspects of a Web site to identify what you really need. Remember that you can always start small and develop a Web site over time. And there's no rush to get the site up as fast as possible — the Web isn't going anywhere, and the best uses of the Web are the ones that will be around for a long time.

Before you even start, make sure that you and your staff (or friends and family) are clear about why you're creating a Web site and what it will take. Spend a little time answering each of the following questions, and use your responses to shape the planning and implementation of your Web site. Creating an outstanding Web site takes effort, and that effort can take time away from other things that are important. The more you plan, the more you have time left over for a little fun and relaxation (at least once in a while).
✓ Why is having a Web site important to you?

Separate the pipe from the dream and get clear on your true motivation.

✓ What are your objectives?

Determine whether you will use your Web site to promote your business, sell products or services, cut costs, showcase clients, provide customer support, stay in touch with friends and family, or do something that no one else has ever done.

As you go through the planning and development process, write down your top goals and refine them until you have two (at most, three) clear objectives for your site. Then keep your list somewhere that you're forced to look at your objectives regularly, like the edge of your computer monitor or the bathroom mirror. Whenever you have a question about any aspect of the design, content, or development of your site, refer to your list of goals and make sure that your decisions remain true to your objectives.

✓ How will you measure success?

You won't achieve success with your Web site project unless you can effectively measure its results, so be sure that you can voice your objectives in measurable ways. The more specific and quantifiable you can be, the better. For example, rather than just state, "The goal is reducing the telemarketing staff," assign an amount and a timeframe to make an objective quantifiable, such as, "The goal is reducing the telemarketing staff by 20 percent in six months." Doing so helps you make sure that you're taking the necessary steps to achieve that goal.

Whom do you want to visit your Web site?

Consider your audience above all else. If you're creating a sales site for real estate investors, you should probably take a different design approach than if you're creating a game site for 12-year-olds. If you're not sure what 12-year-olds want on a Web site, round some up and ask them.



Clarifying the target audience of your Web site should be a key factor in how you plan and develop your site, from the vocabulary you use to how public you make the information. For example, a site for doctors might include complex medical terms, whereas a site for patients needs more common language. Similarly, an architect might create a Web site with a public section where potential clients can view photos of completed projects and testimonials, and also create a password-protected section where current clients can view plans as they're being developed.

What do you want a user to gain from visiting your Web site?

One of my favorite benefits of a Web site is instant information at 1 a.m. without having to talk to anybody or wait on hold. Take time to consider what you want your visitors to learn from your site, and then make sure that the information is front and center in your design and development plans.

What do you want users to do after or on visits to your Web site?

The more specific you can be about what you want visitors to do on your site, the better. Do you want visitors to buy a product, hire you to perform a service, join an association, call and ask for an appointment, sign up for a newsletter, or just tell their friends and family how cool your Web site is? Whatever you desire, you want your site's design to encourage visitors to take that action and to make it as easy as possible for them to do so.

How does your idea for a Web site compare with others?

Taking the time to research what other people have done with their Web sites before you get too far into developing yours is an important part of the planning process. An afternoon spent surfing the Web for related businesses, and even unrelated businesses that have similar features, can help you identify things you may want to include on your own site and help ensure you're not starting a Web site in a category that's already so competitive you'll need to really distinguish yourself to attract an audience.

✓ Do you expect to make money on your Web site?

If your answer is, "Of course I do!" that goal should shape everything you do as you design the way visitors will use your site. Pay special attention to the section "Establishing a budget," later in this chapter, to help ensure you see a return on your investment.

Besides being potential cash generators, Web sites can help you be more competitive, advertise your store or services, schedule and inform staff, and reduce travel and other types of expenses. Web sites are a great way to introduce yourself to the world and help other people introduce you when they make a referral. Some of the most successful Web sites are designed to save money by reducing long distance phone charges and other customer support expenses.

Creating a content list

All the text, graphics, and multimedia that you want to display on the pages of your Web site are commonly referred to as the *content* of your site. To help guide your work and planning, your content list should include all the photos, graphics, biographies, product descriptions, maps, video files, and any other items that you might want to feature on your site.

The best way to start creating a content list is to brainstorm all the things you think you might want to include, such as contact information, product descriptions, logos, pictures of the staff, and biographies.

Pamela's Pet Services defined goals

To help you appreciate how the planning process for a Web site could work, I'll use the fictitious business, Pamela's Pet Services, as an example. After you complete the initial questionnaire earlier in this chapter, you should create a list of goals that looks something like this:

- Promote Pamela's dog walking, grooming, and other services.
- Describe and showcase Pamela's pet services.

- Help customers easily find Pamela's contact information, hours, and location.
- Encourage site visitors to register their pet's names, ages, and special needs.
- Sign up visitors for Pamela's Pet Tips e-mail newsletter.



Pamela's Pet Services content list

Continuing with Pamela's Pet Services as an example, a content list might look like this:

- Company logo
- Contact information
- Biography and photo of Pamela
- Photos of Pamela dogs and some of her client's pets
- Descriptive paragraph about each of her pet services: grooming, walking, and so on
- Pricing and scheduling information

- Credit and payment information and policies
- Photos that provide a tour of the grooming salon
- A map to the grooming salon
- A welcome message for the home page
- Description of the newsletter and invitation to sign up
- Company description for the About Us page
- Testimonials from current clients

Even if you think you already know what you want on your site, you may be surprised when you start brainstorming by the ideas you come up with, such as gathering testimonials from happy customers. Creating a detailed content list is well worth the time because it will serve as a valuable tool that you can refer to as you develop your project plan, site map, and task list. As you continue to develop the project plan and ultimately the site, you'll probably discover more things that you want to add to the content list, so make sure to create it in a way that's easy to add to and edit as you progress.



A program like Microsoft Word (or, if you prefer, Excel) is an excellent tool for this task because you can easily make additions and move content around as you develop your list.

Use the content list as you create the site map (covered later in this chapter, in the section "Creating a site map"), and you're likely to think of additions to the content list as you work on that step. For example, as Pamela creates the About Us page for her Pet Services site, she might realize that she wants to add a picture of her own dogs and a map to her grooming salon.

Creating a task list

The task list — the heart of your project plan — is a list of tasks that must be accomplished to meet your goals and launch your Web site. Your task list should include everything from registering your domain name to promoting your site after it's launched.

You can create a task list in many ways, including a few software programs designed to help with project management. If you're creating a relatively simple Web site and you're working alone or on a very small team, you might not need much more than a list with a few notes and dates attached to each task. If you're

working on a more complex project with a team, you might want to further define the task list by using a program like Microsoft Project, which includes a variety of features designed to make it easy to plan and track tasks.

When you create your task list, keep in mind that gathering your content is one of the most time-consuming aspects of any Web site project. Most people underestimate how much time they'll spend taking pictures (or finding the ones they already have); gathering digital versions of logos and other graphics; and writing all the text descriptions, biographies and other elements for their Web site. Creating a comprehensive content list at the beginning can serve as a great first step and an excellent guide to help you gauge how long it will take you to gather, create, and review all the contents of your site. Here are a few suggestions for breaking down the complex task of gathering the materials you'll need in your site:

- ✓ Gather existing content. You might already have much of the content you need in brochures, press releases, or other materials related to your company or organization. Start with the easy stuff; it will give you a sense of accomplishment right away and help you determine how much more you'll need to do.
- ✓ Digitize your text. If you're including existing content in your site, you might still have to do some work to get it all in *digital format*, where text is converted into a word processing or other text file. For example, you may have to retype text files to be able to use them on your Web site. If you have a lot of text, consider scanning the documents and using Optical Character Recognition (OCR) software to transform the scanned text into editable text.
- ✓ Digitize images. If you already have photos, a logo, or other graphics you want to use, those images might have to be scanned. Even if you already have digital photos, before you can add them to a Web page, they must be in the correct format and *optimized*, a process that helps them to be downloaded as quickly as possible over the Internet. (You can find step-by-step instructions for preparing and optimizing images for the Web in Chapter 5.)
- Create new content for your site. You might want to create a photo tour of your shop (to feature on the home page) or write or update biographies of key personnel.



If you hired a graphic designer to create your logo or brochure, you may want to go back to that person to ask for digital copies of the text and graphics, but don't expect to get it overnight. Plan ahead and request any materials you may need from other people early in the process so you'll be less likely to have to delay launching your site because you're still waiting for them.

Setting a timeline

With your task list ironed out, you're ready to create a timeline. Several popular task-management programs can help. Microsoft Project can help you define a task, specify how long it should take, and then associate it with other tasks on a timeline. If you don't want to spend the money on Microsoft Project or take the time to learn this somewhat complex program, you can create a simple project plan in any calendar program or even in a spreadsheet or word processing program. It's even okay to use the old-fashioned approach of writing your tasks on a printed calendar page. (I rather like having them up on the wall in my office for easy reference.)

Pamela's Pet Services task list

The following includes many common tasks you'll likely want to include in your own list.

- Register a domain name for the Web site.
- Evaluate and select a Web site-hosting company.
- Create a list of all the main sections and subsections of the site.
- Create and gather photos and graphics.
- Request photos or graphics other people (graphic designer, clients, and friends).
- Write the first e-mail newsletter to send to those who sign up.
- Request testimonials from current clients.
- Create a site map that details how the main sections and subsections will be linked.

- Download the templates from Janine's Web site that goes with this book (www. DigitalFamily.com/diy).
- Optimize images, graphics, and multimedia files to prepare them for the site.
- Use templates to create the home page, each main section front, and any special internal pages.
- Build out the pages of the site, adding content into the page templates.
- Test, test, and test some more.
- Publish your site on the Web.
- Tell everyone you know that your site is online and start working on the details of your marketing plan.



Your main goal is to create a timeline that can be adjusted if someone misses a deadline or if a project takes more (or less) time than expected.

Be sure to give yourself a realistic timeframe to do a good job, and factor in a little more time than you think you need, especially if you're new to Web design. Setting and enforcing deadlines can help you stick to your timeline: Even if you're working on a Web site by yourself, or with a very small team, setting deadlines can be one of the most important parts of your project plan — and your best chance of finishing. Most good Web sites are never-ending projects because you can always add more content and develop them further although you shouldn't let that keep you from getting your site launched. Set a deadline for at least the first phase of development, and then hold yourself to it.



Tying a deadline to a special event or occasion, even if you're creating a personal site, can help make you stick to the date. For example, set a launch date for a family Web site on an occasion like your grandma's birthday so that you can make it a surprise for her. Or, plan to publish the redesign for your small business site in time for a trade show or annual sales event. When a deadline has a specific date and a clear goal associated with it, it's easier to take the deadlines seriously.

Establishing a budget

"How much does a Web site cost?" is often the first question asked by someone who decides that they want a Web site. But, if you think about it, it's a little like asking how much it costs to build a house: "It depends." The answer depends on how many rooms you want, whether you want a marble or cement staircase, and whether you want a swimming pool in the backyard. You may have no idea how much it costs to build a home. After all, different contractors provide different price quotes based on how experienced they are or the kinds of materials they plan to use. If you're planning to build the house yourself, it becomes your job to figure out whether the features you want are reasonable and affordable.

Fortunately, most Web sites (at least the kind you're likely to build yourself with the templates and instructions provided in this book) don't cost nearly as much as a house (or even a dog house). Before you can set a realistic budget, though, you need to break down the project into pieces (by following the steps outlined earlier in this chapter) and then start adding prices to the task list in your project plan. Determining the cost of each element of a Web project helps you manage the cost and scope and estimate the overall costs. Among the key costs you can expect are the ones in this list:

- Web hosting: This service can cost as little as a few dollars per month or as much as a couple of hundred dollars (if you plan to include high-definition video files, which require more space on a server and more bandwidth to download).
 E-commerce features can also add to the cost of monthly hosting. (You find suggestions for choosing the best hosting service for your site in Chapter 3.)
- ✓ Domain names: A domain name costs between \$8 to \$20 per year, depending on the registration service you use and any special features you request, such as private registration, which is a lot like having an unlisted phone number. You can even register more than one domain name for the same site, but only if the name hasn't already been registered by someone else. (You find tips about, check the availability of domains, and register your own domain names in Chapter 3.)
- ✓ Software programs: The tools used to create a Web site can range from free to expensive. At the very least, consider getting an image editing program like Adobe Photoshop (\$650) or Photoshop Elements (\$99; a fine alternative if you're not a professional graphic designer). For Web design, I find that Adobe Dreamweaver (\$399) is well worth the price. However, Microsoft Expression Web is also a great Web design program, and Microsoft lowered the price of its most recent version to just \$149. You can use any of these programs with the templates and lessons in this book. You find a more detailed comparison of the options to help you find what's best for your site in Chapter 1.
- ✓ Your time: If you're building a site yourself, one of your biggest costs is likely to be the time you spend working on it. Don't underestimate the value of your own time if you run your own business. It may be well worth hiring a student or an assistant to help with time-consuming tasks, such as adding text and images to all the pages of your site, or scanning lots of photos and graphics.
- ✓ Consulting services: Another major cost for do-it-yourselfers is any consulting service you use to augment your own skills. For example, you might hire a graphic designer to create a logo; an editor to review text; or a programmer to create complex, interactive features, like a password-protected section where you keep clients informed as you work on their private projects.
- ✓ Shopping cart and e-commerce transaction features: If you want a shopping system, compare the costs of a few and then include a rough estimate until you make a final decision. (You find recommended services in Chapter 15.)
- Traffic reporting services: Most Web hosting companies provide basic traffic statistics about visitors to your Web site, but you will almost always get more detailed reports if you use a dedicated traffic service, such as Google Analytics, covered in Chapter 10.



As you put together your budget, start with the clear-cut costs, like paying for a domain name and hosting, and then move on to other items specific to your needs and include your best estimate. After you have a price quote for each element and begin putting the pieces together, you can distinguish the more expensive features and better decide which ones you can afford now and which ones you may want to add later.

Assembling a team

Don't go it alone! The best Web sites are developed by a team of people with a variety of skills, including writers, designers, programmers, and multimedia producers. If you're developing a relatively small, simple Web site, you might not need a lot of people with specialized skills on your team, but the more you can divide the work among experts, the better. Although the instructions and templates included with this book are designed to help you do it yourself, you occasionally still have to seek out specialists — like a good editor to ensure that your text is well written, or a programmer who can create advanced features, like password-protected sections of a Web site.

Throughout this book, I've worked hard to give you the best and easiest ways to create a Web site on your own, but I would be remiss not to point out that hiring a specialist or two once in a while can be a helpful way to complement the work you do yourself. Don't be afraid to ask for help if you need it.

Designing Your Web Site

No matter how technically sophisticated a Web site is or how creative its writing, most people notice a site's design first. If you want to make the most impact with your Web site, make sure that you leave plenty of time or reserve funds in the budget to develop (or buy) professional-looking graphics.

The best design is one that suits your audience — and that may or may not mean lots of fancy graphics and animations. To pinpoint the right design for your site, follow these guidelines:

- Before you develop the design, think about whom you want to attract to your Web site. A gaming Web site geared toward teenagers should look much different from a Web site with gardening tips or an online banking site for adults.
- ✓ Review other sites designed for your target market. A good way to determine what might work best for your audience is to study similar sites, taking note of how they use images, set up navigational links, and organize information. You don't want your site to look exactly like your competition because you want your site to stand out (and you shouldn't just copy someone else's design), but you can certainly gain useful ideas from reviewing other people's sites.
- ✓ Consider the limitations of mobile devices. Increasingly, people are visiting Web sites from cellphones, looking for things like a new restaurant for lunch while they're running errands or the address of a business they want to visit while they're driving there. Mobile devices are a great way to find what you need, when you need it, but only if the Web site you're trying to visit is designed to work on a mobile phone. As you create the design for your site, keep in mind the limitations of small screen sizes and how much harder it can

be to click links without a mouse. Today, you have two options if you care about visitors using mobile phones. Keep things relatively simple so they work on most devices or create a second, simplified version of your sites specifically for the mobile phone. To learn more about designing Web sites for cellphones and other mobile devices, read my upcoming book *Mobile Web Design For Dummies* (Wiley).

Keep in mind how your design decisions might affect download times. Consider your audience's time constraints, attention span, and (most importantly) goals. If you design your site to provide information to busy businesspeople, you want fast-loading pages with limited graphics, video, or other multimedia. If you design your site for entertainment, your audience is likely to wait a little longer for videos and other interactive features.

Creating a consistent design

Most Web sites work best, and are easiest to navigate, when they follow a consistent design. Here's a case in point: Most readers take for granted that books don't change their design from page to page and that newspapers don't change headline fonts and logos from day to day. Consistency is one of the primary tools used in books and newspapers to help readers easily distinguish different elements and follow a story or theme.

As you lay out your Web page, keep related items close to one another and be consistent about how you design similar content elements. Viewers should instantly understand which pieces of information are related to each other.

Here are a few good ways to distinguish different kinds of information:

✓ Design: To ensure a consistent style, define a set of colors, shapes, or other elements that you use throughout the site and then stick to them. Choose two or three fonts for your Web site and use them consistently. For example, a common practice is to use the Arial font for headlines and Times for the text in paragraphs. Then you might use a special font for a logo or for advertising so that it stands out on the page. Using too many fonts makes anything harder to read and confusing.



You can easily get dazzled by all the special effects you can add to a Web page. Don't fall into the trap of using fancy features just because you can. ("Look, Ma — I made the text on my Web page blink in neon pink!") Keep in mind that the most important thing is to make your photos and Web pages look good and download quickly on the Internet. A clean, classic design will almost always look more professional than a busy design loaded with blinking or animated images.

- ✓ Location: The position of elements on a page can strongly affect the amount of attention they receive. Many Internet studies have shown that text and images toward the top of the page get the most attention, which is why putting your most content toward the top of the page is best. Some things are commonly placed at the bottom of Web pages, including copyright information and links to legal notices, such as privacy information or terms and conditions.
- ✓ Prominence: Give elements of similar importance the same weight on a page, and change the prominence based on priority. If all your headlines are the same size, it's hard to tell what's most important, which is why most news sites and print publications use larger text for the biggest news stories and smaller and smaller headlines for less important news.



Here's the exception to the rule. Strive for consistency in your designs *except* when you're trying to be unpredictable. A little surprise here and there can keep your Web site lively. A touch of red or a special icon can bring attention to a special section or newly updated information.

Mapping the structure: Organization, navigation, and links

Helping visitors find their way around your site is a critical part of your site's design. As you start planning the organization of your home page and the main sections of your site, consider these questions:

- When visitors arrive at your home page, how will they find what's most important to them?
- ✓ How can you divide the information in your site into sections?
- \checkmark How will visitors move from one section of the site to another?
- ✓ How will you encourage visitors to find the information that you most want them to find or to take the action you want them to take (such as buying a product or ordering your services)?

A good way to help answer these questions is to imagine that you're a typical user of your site. For example, you might say, "If I were a busy attorney who came to my site looking for a new couch for my living room, what would make it easy for me to find the color and style I want in my office?" Or, "If I had a shaggy dog that needed a haircut every week, how could I easily find the scheduling and pricing information for the grooming salon?"

As you plan what appears on the first page of your site, draw on your answers to these questions, and revisit the exercise throughout the design process to make sure that your most important visitors can easily find what they need. In fact, here's a great practice professional designers use: Create a few profiles of typical users and then return to these profiles as you design the site.

Designing the home page and main sections

One of the biggest mistakes in Web design is cramming your home page so full of information that it's hard to find anything. Studies show it's better to guide people through a series of simple choices with two to five options each, than to overwhelm them with all options at once.



As you consider what information you want to appear on the home page and how to organize the information in your site into subsections, think about guiding your most important visitors through a series of choices. For example, Pamela's Pet Services site might include a few general service categories on the home page, such as grooming, boarding, and walking, and then link to subsections that offer more specific information, organized by the kind of pet or grooming service. As you plan your initial site structure, think also about where you're likely to add content down the road. Be sure to include these considerations in the planning process by asking questions, such as these:

- ✓ For a site that sells products: What will you do when you have more products to add? Where will you put new lines of products? How will you locate new product information pages or more detailed descriptions? How will you handle price changes or inventory fluctuations?
- ✓ For an online magazine: How will you handle breaking news? Where will you add new stories on a regular basis? How will you archive old stories? How will you connect related stories over time?
- For a service site, like my fictional Pamela's Pet Service: Where will you add new services? How will you add new photos of pets? Where will you include seasonal specials or discounts?



Whatever you do, never let users "get stuck" on a page because the link is broken or labeled Under Construction. Good Web sites are *always* under construction. Let visitors know that new treats are coming by putting notices on pages that already have content. You find more about creating links in Chapter 6 and tips about finding and fixing broken links in Chapter 10.

Setting up navigation links

After you determine how you're going to organize your information into sections on your site, you've done most of the work needed to create the navigational structure of your site. Creating a menu bar — or *navigation bar* — that includes links to each main section of your site is one of the most important ways you can make your site easy to navigate. Adding that same navigation bar to every page on your site makes it easy to access all of the main sections from anywhere within the site.

Here's an example of a navigation bar you might create with a row of links to the main sections of a small business site:



Home Page ~ About Us ~ Products ~ Services ~ Contact Info

A good Web site is designed so that users can easily access key information from more than one place in the site and can also move back and forth between the main sections.

As you plan the navigation of your site, make sure that visitors can

✓ Follow different paths to the same important information. Providing more than one link to the same page can seem repetitive but makes it easier for visitors to find their way around your site. For example, if you have a family history section, you might link to that page from pages throughout your site, such as the page about your daughter's wedding as well as the page about your grandparents.

- Move back and forth between pages and sections. Links that help users move forward and backward through a series of related pages can be especially useful in a slide show or an image gallery.
- ✓ Search your site. If your Web site is packed with content, users are likely to appreciate the ability to search through your pages. One simple solution is the Google Search tools, which you use for free by signing up at Google.com and copying a little bit of code from their site to yours. (You find instructions for adding Google AdSense to your pages, which works much like Google Search, in Chapter 14.)



Follow the *three-clicks rule*, which states that no important piece of information should ever be more than three clicks away from anywhere else on your Web site. And the most important information — such as contact information — should never be more than one click away.

Part I: Laying the Groundwork _____

Chapter 3

Securing a Domain Name and Web Host

In This Chapter

- Selecting a domain name
- Registering a domain name
- Understanding how Web hosting works
- Choosing a hosting service

schoolteacher once asked me: "When you talk about 'there' on the Internet, where's 'there?'" I knew immediately what she meant, but I've pondered her question ever since.

If you're still trying to understand "where" your Web site will live when you're ready to share it with the world — and how domain names and Web servers fit into your Web site plans — you've turned to the right chapter. Simply put, a *domain name* is the address for your Web site, and a *Web server* (often provided by a *host-ing service*) is a computer with special software that makes it possible for you to publish your site on the Web.

Although many companies offer both domain registration and Web servers, registering a domain name is very different from setting up a server to host your Web site. In this chapter, you find out how these two important aspects of Web development work and how to get the best domain and hosting service for your Web site.

In the first part of this chapter, you discover how domain name registration works, where you can search for domain names to see what's available, and what to do if the name you want is already taken. In the second part of this chapter, you find tips about choosing the best Web server so you can publish your site online.

Whether you're creating a Web site for your business, hobby, or family, you'll want to follow the steps in this chapter to register a domain name and select a Web server. Taking care of the preliminary steps in this chapter before you start creating your pages in Part II will help ensure that everything is set up when you're ready to launch your new Web site.

Finding and Registering Domain Names

The address for a Web site is its *domain name*, also called the URL or Uniform Resource Locator. For example, Wiley Publishing, the company that published this book, has a Web site with the domain name www.wiley.com. The company also has a Web site with the domain name www.dummies.com, for the *For Dummies* book series.

Even before you start building a Web site, I recommend that you register your own domain name. The process is simple and painless and costs less than \$10 per year at most domain registration services. If you don't register a domain name, your Web site's address will probably look something like this:

www.serviceprovider.com/users/yourname

If you register a domain name, your address should look more like this:

www.wiley.com

Choosing a good domain name



Your domain name is your calling card, and the best ones are short and sweet and easy to spell. If your Web address is too long or complex, it's hard for anyone to remember or type accurately on a keyboard. The best domain name for your site will be easy to remember and easy to convey: It can be said in one simple sentence.

A shortened version of your business name may seem like a better choice because it requires less typing, but if your customers know you by your full name, they may be confused. For example, I would never recommend a domain such as am-airlines. com for American Airlines. The official site for American Airlines is www.aa.com, which is a great domain because the company's initials are well known, and you couldn't possibly get a much shorter domain name. Because www.aa.com is an abbreviation, American Airlines was smart enough to recognize it might be confusing to visitors and to register more than one name (it's easy to do); if you type www.americanairlines.com, your browser goes to the same site.

When you're tossing around ideas for a domain name, keep these rules in mind:

✓ Domain names aren't case sensitive. For example, you can get to my Web design training site by entering digitalfamily.com or DigitalFamily. com. (See Figure 3-1.) I prefer to capitalize the *D* and *F* in my domain name when I print it on business cards or other collateral because it makes the domain name easier to read.



Figure 3-1: Both DigitalFamily.com and digitalfamily.com take you to the same Web site.

Any characters that appear after a domain name extension are case sensitive (the dot-com or dot-org part of the address, for example). Thus, www.DigitalFamily.com/books isn't the same address as www. DigitalFamily.com/Books.



- ✓ Use of the leading www depends on how the domain is configured on a server. You can set up a domain on a Web server to work with or without the www, or you can set it up to work either way. You can also set up subdomains if you own a domain. For example, you can find my personal profile at http://JCWarner. com, and you can find the Spanish version at http://spanish.JCWarner.com.
- ✓ The use of the http:// that appears at the very beginning of a domain name is optional. Most people no longer type these initial characters when entering a Web address because they're unnecessary, but it is helpful to include them when you're writing an address that doesn't include the www. Throughout this book, when I write a domain that does not include the 3ws, I include the http:// to avoid confusion.
- Although you can use a hyphen or an underscore in a domain name, it's generally simpler to use a combination of words run together. For example, you can register www.digital-family.com, but that's harder to convey verbally because you have to explain the hyphens in the middle. If you simply use www.digitalfamily.com, you can say, "My address is *Digital Family dot com*, all one word."
- Domain names cannot contain special characters. You can't use spaces, periods, apostrophes, or other punctuation or special characters, but you can use numbers and dashes.
- Make sure that your domain name doesn't violate a trademark. You can do a simple trademark search at www.uspto.gov. If you're starting a business or concerned about violating someone's trademark, consult an attorney.

Register your name

I tell all my friends that they should register their own names as domain names because "owning" your name is a key part of protecting your online reputation. A personal Web site serves as a great way to promote yourself, whether you're job hunting, developing a consulting business, or simply want to share your story with the world. And because search engines tend to give priority to keywords that match domain names, your site should score high when someone searches your name if you've registered the domain. And even if you don't plan to use your domain name right away, registering it will prevent anyone else from setting up a site with your name.

I registered my own name, JanineWarner. com, years ago. When I realized that many people misspell my first name, though, I decided to register a simpler alternative. The domain jwarner.com was already registered by a gentleman named John Warner when I got the idea, but he's been nice enough to keep a link on his site for me. I finally settled on JCWarner.com because it's easier for people to spell the domain using my middle initial than using my full first name. I know that even if someone misses the C in my domain, they still have a good chance to find my site thanks to the link on John's site. (Thanks, John!)

Searching for an available domain name

You can register any domain name that hasn't already been taken by someone else. Finding out whether a name is already in use is easy — and free. To see whether a domain name is already registered, do a simple search at any domain registration Web site. All domain registrars check the same master databases that track all domain names on the Web. Hundreds of sites offer the service; the following steps use Domain.com as an example, but most work the same way:

1. Use a Web browser to visit a domain name registrar.

In this example, I'm using Domain.com (www.domain.com).

2. In the Search area on the registrar's site, type the name you want to register.

In Figure 3-2, I'm searching for www.petservice.com.

3. Click to begin your search.

The results of your search are displayed. (If you use Domain.com, for example, you'll see a list that includes the name you searched for, as well as a list of variations. Most common names and phrases have already been registered, so it's no surprise that the status next to the name petservice.com shows that it's already taken. If you scroll down the list of alternatives shown in Figure 3-2, you see that petservice.us is still available, as is thepetservice.net.

4. If the name you want isn't available and you don't like the alternatives offered, you can enter another name to see whether it's available.

Domain registrars don't limit the number of names you can search for in any given search session.

🐨 C 🗙 🏠 👻 🌄 https:/	/secure.domain.com/dds4/index.	php		🔓 • 🚺 domain registration 🔎
DOMENI CODCH DECH TE DI 2020	Denas anad			
	Domining.	100 C 100 C 1		
porteening com	TAKEN	PERENT	make offer	SELECTED DOMAINS
persentire and	TakEn		male offer	remove all 9
priservice.org	TAKEN		note offer	no internanto selectioni
pateervice.infe	TAKEN		reals offer	→ CONTINUE
pateoreica.te	AVALABLE	829.928	aniact \$3	
Detervice.me	AVALABLE	\$21.50	aniect D	
patservice.mobi	AVALABLE	\$11.05	mainert #3	
pelsorvice.biz	TAKEN		make offer	
petservice.us	AVALABLE	\$7.45	select El	
potservice.name	Unknown			
🔄 petservice.jobs	AVAILABLE	\$154.95	select D	
petserwice.ws	AVARABLE	\$36.00	<u>19901 </u> E	
RECOMMENDED DOMAINS				
Brmain	Statum	Prio-6/Vr		
thepeteervice.net	AVAILABLE	\$9.95	select E	
🖳 pethanet	AVAILABLE	\$9.95	uninci 10	
putpython.net	AVALABLE	\$0.55	milect ID	
dogenerater.net	AVALABLE	\$0.92	minet D	
petserviceonline.com	AVAILABLE	\$9.85	colect El	
pythonpetservice.com	AVAILABLE	te 95	select El	
webpetservice.com	AVAILABLE	\$8.95	select El	
hsservice.tv	AVAILABLE	\$29.99	select,El	
mypetservice.tv	AVAILABLE	\$29.99	select E	
potserve.tv	AVAILABLE	\$29.99	10001.E3	





Don't get frustrated if you find that the domain name you want is already taken. You can almost always find a name that will serve you well if you get creative and try a few variations. Here are a few tips for finding a suitable variation:

- Add a word or phrase that indicates geographic location or makes the name more specific. For example, if www.news.com is taken, consider using www. PointReyesNews.com or www.WestMarinNews.com.
- Sometimes a different name that has similar meaning can work. For example, if every variation of news is taken, consider registering a similar name, such as www.PointReyesReports.com.
- Try looking for playful names. For example, www.Accountant.com is taken, but you might still find www.FunnyAccountants.com or www. FrugalAccountants.com.



Before you choose a close variation (or any domain name, for that matter), *always* check for sites whose names are similar to yours. It's generally not a good idea to choose a name that's too close to someone else's if that person is a competitor or runs a site you would be embarrassed to be associated with. Similarly, consider whether others have already set up sites with your domain name but a different domain name ending. It may seem like a good alternative to register FrugalAccountants.net if the .com version is already taken. However, because the .com ending is more common, you're likely to lose customers to FrugalAccounts.com if they offer a competitive service. If you really want a domain name that's been taken, check out the sidebar, "Disputing a domain name," later in this chapter, which explains how you can purchase a domain name that has already been registered from the owner (if he or she is willing to negotiate).

Understanding top-level domains

When you search for a domain name, you need to determine not only the first part of the name but also the ending, commonly called the *top-level domain*, or TLD. Table 3-1 provides a list of the most common domain name endings, their intended purposes, and their restrictions.

The .com domain has emerged as the most valuable because it's the best recognized and the one that people are most likely to remember. However, all these domains work the same way in terms of directing users to a Web site address. For example, www.smith.com, www.smith.net, and www.smith.org work the same way on the Internet and are used by three different Web sites.



The number of domain endings has been growing, and there are proposals to make the options nearly unlimited. Table 3-1 provides a list of the most common domain unrestricted names as well as the original list of restricted names. (ICANN controls all domain names and; only an entity that's approved to use a restricted ending can set up a domain name with that ending.)

Table 3-1	Domain Name Endings	
Top-Level Domain	Used By	Restrictions?
.com	Commercial organizations; by far the most popular domain ending	No
.net	Internet services; used increasingly by people who don't get the .com names they want	No
.org	Nonprofit organizations	No
.biz	Businesses; a newer domain, used increasingly by busi- nesses that don't get the .com domain names they want	No
.name	Individuals	No
.info	Informational sites	No
.mobi	Mobile sites	No
.aero	The air-transport industry	Yes
.coop	Cooperative associations	Yes
.museum	Museums	Yes
.gov	The United States government	Yes
.edu	Accredited colleges and universities	Yes
.mil	The United States military	Yes

Comparing country domains: .tv, .us, and .ws

Nearly every country in the world now has its own domain, such as .us for the United States, .am for Armenia, .br for Brazil, .uk for the United Kingdom, and .zw for Zimbabwe.

A few foreign country codes have become popular in the United States because they represent common acronyms, such as .tv. Many folks mistakenly assume that .tv stands for *television*, but it's really the domain name for the country of Tuvalu. Similarly, .ws is often assumed to mean *Web site* (and is even listed that way on some registrar sites), but it's really the country code for Western Samoa. You can register a name with the .ws or .tv domain even if you don't live in one of those countries, but some countries have restrictions, and country domains are generally more expensive to register than names that use .com, .net, or .org.

Registering your domain name

The specifics of registering a domain name vary among the services, but the basic domain registration process is similar. Typically, after you perform your search, you're given instructions for registering the name, as well as offers to buy other kinds

of services, such as Web hosting. You should never *have* to purchase additional services to register a domain name, but many companies offer discounts if you order multiple services. Common types of services, in addition to registration, are



- ✓ Hosting: Many registration services also offer Web site hosting (covered later in this chapter).
- ✓ E-mail: Typically, you have the option of creating one or more e-mail addresses associated with your domain name, but e-mail set-up is often better handled through your Web hosting service.
- Privacy: Most services allow you to choose whether your contact information as the owner of this domain name is readily available to others through a search on the Whois database (http://www.whois.net). Most services charge a fee for private registration, which is kind of like having an unlisted phone number.

Disputing a domain name

What if your name — either your personal name or your company name — is already taken, and you want to have it (or don't like what someone else is doing with it)?

Unless the owner has opted for private registration, you can find out who owns a domain name by searching the Whois database, a central registry of all domain registration sites include a More Info link in the results page if you search for a domain name that is already taken. Registration listings in the Whois database include the street address, phone number, and e-mail address of the person or business that registered the domain name in addition to information about the server or service provider that hosts the domain.

If you have your heart set on a domain name that is already registered, you can contact the owner and try negotiating. Many people have registered names that they aren't using, and if you find one that's registered but not in use, the owner might be willing to sell. I know many people who have picked up great domain names for \$500 to \$1,000, but some names have sold for as much as \$1 million.

There is no clear set of rules about the value of a domain name, but there are services at

registrations sites, such as www.godaddy. com and www.1and1.com, that will appraise a domain name or even broker an offer to the current owner.

To date, the courts seem to be applying the same laws to domain names that they apply to trademarks. For example, if you have a legal trademark such as Levi, and someone registers www.levi.com before you do, you can probably go to court and force the person to give you the domain name, although domain name disputes can be lengthy and expensive. If you don't have a trademark, you may have no alternative than to try to buy it from the person or choose another name instead.

If you think you have a case against someone who has taken your name, don't bother the registration service with your complaint. Domain registrars don't handle domain name disputes; they just register names on a first-come, first-served basis. Instead, talk to the guilty party directly. If that doesn't work, take the matter to court. If you can get a judge to rule that you're right, the domain registration service revokes the name and lets you have it.

Part I: Laying the Groundwork

In addition to registering your main domain name — the one you plan to hand out to colleagues and clients or friends and family — my best advice is to register every variation and misspelling of your name that you can think of and direct those domain names to your Web site. Just because some people didn't do well in the third grade spelling bee doesn't mean that they don't have money to buy your products or services online.

Directing more than one domain name to the same Web site is a relatively simple technical detail that you can arrange through your Internet service provider (ISP) or the company where you register the name. And, it's not that expensive. At the time of this writing, GoDaddy (www.godaddy.com) charges \$9.99 per year, Network Solutions (www.networksolutions.com) charge, \$14.99 per year, and 1&1 (www.land1.com) charges \$5.99 per year.

Also consider registering the same name with different domain endings, such as .org, .net — and, most important, .com. The educational Web site Whyville, for example, registered whyville.org (the domain ending used by most nonprofits), but it also registered whyville.com because many people will assume that's the address. Owning these additional domains can also prevent you or your visitors from potential embarrassment or misrepresentation.

Most people consider the .com version of a name the most valuable, but if the .com version is unavailable, registering the .net, .biz, or .info versions may be a fine alternative. Just make sure that the site that has the .com version isn't a direct competitor or a site that you would be embarrassed by if your visitors found it accidentally.



Technically, when you register a domain name, you are leasing it, not purchasing it, which means that it's possible to lose a domain name. Make sure that your registration remains valid by renewing it when your registration service requires. Many registrars offer auto-renewal options and discounts for registering a name for two or more years in advance.

Choosing a Web Hosting Service

Choosing a Web host is a little like choosing a cellphone company or a long distance carrier. In theory, all phone companies provide the same ability to make a phone call, but in practice, they offer different rate plans and different levels of service.

For the purposes of this book, I'm going to assume that you don't want to run your own Web server, which would be kind of like starting your own phone company when all you need is long-distance service. Unless you're running an extremely large Web site, you should definitely look for what's called "managed hosting."

Essentially, when you sign up with a Web host, you're renting a small portion of a big computer (a *Web server*) that's connected to the Internet. The host gives you access to your part of that computer's hard drive, and when you transfer your Web pages to their computer, they are "served" to the Internet.

Although you can use the same service to host your site that you used to register your domain name, I've had better experiences with companies that make Web hosting their top priority. For example, Liquid Web (as shown in Figure 3-3) offers 24/7 phone support, a service you won't find at all Web hosting companies.



Figure 3-3: Look for a company that makes Web hosting a priority and offers good technical support.

If you're looking for one of the cheapest Web hosting services, consider 1&1 or GoDaddy, both offer domain registration and a variety of low-cost Web hosting options, for as little as 4.99 per month. If you want to use one of the best hosting companies I've found to date and you're willing to pay between \$25 and \$100 per month for an account, consider www.rackspace.com.

So how do you find a Web host with the features you need for your Web site? And, how do you even know what to ask?

Before you select a Web host, consider what you want on your Web site and make sure that you find a service that meets your needs. Your goal is to find the provider with the best collection of services within your budget. The following sections highlight a few questions to ask as you explore your Web hosting options.

Finding the best host for your site

My best advice is to get a good start on the development plan for your site before you shop around for a service provider so that you know which kinds of services you need. (You can find more information about planning a Web project in Chapter 2.) You might decide, for example, that you want 24-hour technical support so that you can get help at night after work, but you don't want to pay extra for secure financial transactions because you don't plan to sell products online.

Here are a few of the common features to consider as you select a Web hosting service:

Bandwidth: Bandwidth measures the carrying capacity of a connection on the Internet. Compare bandwidth with a garden hose and its capacity to transport water: the larger the diameter of the hose, the more water it can carry. Bandwidth works the same way: the greater the bandwidth, the faster the transmission of information. Bandwidth gets expensive if lots of people visit your site because more visitors mean more use of the connection. If you want to offer streaming video or audio files, they can also use up a lot of bandwidth — and that means you'll have to pay a premium for hosting.

- ✓ Disk space: The bigger your site the more images and especially the more sound files, video, and animation files you include the more you'll pay for the disk space to host it. Because video files are much larger than images or text files, video takes up much more hard disk space and requires more bandwidth to be viewed. As a result, providing many hours of video on your site can be expensive.
- ✓ E-commerce: Some Web hosting packages include secure e-commerce capabilities and sophisticated programming options. Unless you're planning to sell products or services on your site or to publish large amounts of video or sound files, you'll probably do fine with the simplest or lowest-level Web hosting package your service provider offers.
- ✓ Blogs and other third-party services: You can install blogging software, such as WordPress (covered in Chapter 11) on almost any Web server, but many hosts include a feature that makes it easy to install blogging and other software. Some call this *one-click services;* others use a program called Fantastico, which is included in your Web hosting service. The advantage is that it makes it easy to set up a blog (and many other programs) on your own server, which is something that can get complicated if you have to do it yourself.
- ✓ Unix, Linux versus Microsoft Web hosting: Some service providers use Linux server software; others use Microsoft. If you use the templates included in this book, either type of server should work fine, but if you create a WordPress blog or other service or system that requires programming language, you'll want to make sure your server supports it. The most common technologies used in the Web these days are PHP, JSP, and Perl, which work well on Linux servers, and ASP or ASP.NET, which work only on Microsoft servers.
- Streaming media: If you want to offer audio, video, or Flash animations on your Web site, check whether your hosting service features the ability to stream your multimedia files. It's a nice option: Streaming is what enables site visitors to start playing a video or audio file while it is downloading, instead of having to wait for the entire file to download before it can start. Keep in mind, however, that you can use a third-party service to host your video, avoiding the potential cost and challenges of hosting video on your own server. YouTube offers free hosting for short videos and it's easy to insert videos hosted on YouTube on your own pages. You'll find a slightly higher-level service from Vimeo (www.vimeo.com). (You find more information about these and other services in Chapter 13.)



If your Web host sets a limit on bandwidth usage, you can end up with a big, unexpected bill if a video or audio file on your site becomes very popular. For example, I have a client on a premium Web host that offers excellent service but sets a limit on the bandwidth included in their monthly fee. If just one of their high-quality videos got popular enough to attract a million visitors in one month (which is not so unusual on the Web), they could get hit with a \$12,000 bill, just for that month of video hosting. That's why I recommend a dedicated video host for anyone who does video on their Web site. With www.vimeo. com, one of the most popular video services, you upload your videos to Vimeo and then simply copy a piece of code to your own site and then it plays within the page on your Web site. (You learn more about video hosting services, such as Vimeo and YouTube, in Chapter 13.)

Setting up e-commerce service

Many Web hosting services, such as those provided by Yahoo!, as shown in Figure 3-4, provide e-commerce features in addition to hosting and domain registration all in one place. If you're thinking of starting a business or taking your existing retail business online, you want to make sure your service provider can handle e-commerce transactions. If you plan to sell a lot of products, I also recommend using a *shopping cart* system, which is a program that enables visitors to add products to a checkout page that tracks and tallies selected items as a visitor moves through your site. You can buy shopping cart systems separately, but many service providers (such as Yahoo!) include shopping cart features as part of their online store services. (You can find more information about selling products on the Web in Chapter 14.)



Figure 3-4: Some Web hosting services, such as Yahoo!, provide e-commerce capabilities.

Hosting multiple sites with different domain names

As you compare options, you might notice that some providers charge more for packages that enable you to host multiple domain names. You might choose a package that supports multiple domain names if you want each member of the family to be able to register their own domain name and set up their own site separately or if you run multiple companies or information sites. For example, you can set up www. JeanDoherty.com, www.JoshDoherty.com, and www.TheDohertyFamily.com as separate sites on the same account if it supports multiple domains. Although a Web hosting package that supports multiple domain names is generally more expensive, it might save you money compared with the cost of setting up a different Web hosting account for each Web site you want to create.

Part I: Laying the Groundwork



Note the difference between hosting multiple domain names that point to different Web sites, as in the example in the preceding paragraph, and pointing two or more domain names to the same site. If you want two names (such as www.TheDohertyFamily.com and www.TheDohertys.com) to direct visitors to the same site, you can manage that situation with your domain name registrar and save the cost of a premium Web server account that supports multiple domain names. Check with your domain name registrar for more information on how to forward multiple domain names to the same Web server.

Chapter 4

Understanding Web Design

In This Chapter

- Understanding Web design and layout options
- Exploring HTML and XHTML
- Styling Web pages with CSS

n the early days of the Web, designers were limited to a few simple page layout options — you could center your text and images, or leave it all aligned to the left. As HTML evolved, creating great, more complex Web designs became possible, but finding the best solution became a lot more confusing.

.

If you've done any Web design in the past, you may have used tables, frames, or layers to create page layouts. Today, all those options are considered outdated and are generally no longer recommended except in very special cases.

Today, most professional designers agree that the best way to create a Web page design is to use XHTML (eXtensible HyperText Markup Language, a strict form of HTML) with Cascading Style Sheets (better known by the acronym CSS).

If you're starting to worry that this book is getting a lot more technical than you expected, relax. I assure you, you don't need to learn any advanced programming to create a Web site with the templates included with this book. That said, I find that many people like to know more about how all this works, and that's what this chapter is about — helping you better understand the choices, why CSS is better than almost any other design option and how CSS and XTHML work together.



If you're ready to dive in and start building your Web site right away, feel free to jump ahead to the chapter and templates for the site design you want to create. You can always come back here for more details later.

HTM-what? Exploring HTML and XHTML

Contrary to popular belief, HTML isn't a programming language. Rather, it's a *mark-up* language: That is, HTML is designed to "mark up" a page, or to provide instructions for how a Web page should look. HTML is written by using *tags*, markup instructions that tell a Web browser how the page should be displayed. For example, to make a section of text italic, you use the HTML tag , which stands for *emphasis*. Most tags in HTML include both an opening tag and a close tag, indicated by the forward slash /. Thus, to make the name of this book appear in italics, I would write the code like this:

Web Sites Do It Yourself For Dummies.

Building, testing, and publishing a Web site

In a nutshell, building a Web site involves creating a *home page* (often called the *front page*) that links to other pages representing different sections of the site. Those pages, in turn, can link to subsections that can then lead to additional subsections or individual pages. After you create a Web site, you can test all the links on your own hard drive and then upload the pages to a Web server when everything is ready and working well. You can read more about Web servers in Chapter 2 and how to upload your pages to a server in Chapter 10.

XHTML is a more strict version of HTML that is the recommended language to use to meet the highest standards of Web design today. Among the differences between the two languages, XHTML must be written in lowercase letters; in HTML, it doesn't matter whether tags are upper or lowercase. Similarly, XHTML requires that all tags include a close tag (more on that later in this chapter.) Rest assured all templates and code examples in this book follow the XHTML standard.

To see what the code behind a Web page looks like in most browsers, choose View=>Source. If you're using Dreamweaver, as shown in Figure 4-1, you can click the Split button (upper-left corner of the workspace) to see the code and the design areas of the program at the same time in *Split view*.

Split view in Dreamweaver is a useful way to keep an eye on what's going on behind the scenes and, as a bonus, you can learn a lot of XHTML as you go along.

Dreamweaver offers three view options:

- ✓ Code: In Code view, you see only the XHTML and other code.
- Split: In Split view, the page is divided so you can see the code in one part of the workspace, and a view of the how the page should be displayed in a Web browser in the other part.
- Design: In Design view, you only see the page as it should be displayed in a Web browser.

In Dreamweaver's Split view, Code and Design views are completely integrated, so if you select something in Design view, like the headline you see in Figure 4-1, the same text is highlighted in Code view, making it easy to find your place in the code.

If at first glance you think that XHTML code looks like hieroglyphics, don't give up too quickly. With just a little training, you can start to recognize at least some common tags, like the <h1> tag (heading 1 tag) that was used to format the head-line on the page shown in Figure 4-2.



To help distinguish the code in a Web page from the text, Dreamweaver displays the tags in a contrasting color, usually blue. You can change the size, color, font, and other features of the code in Dreamweaver's preferences.

... to view this



Select this . . .

Figure 4-1: Use the Split view option in Dreamweaver to display the page design and the code behind the page.



Figure 4-2: A heading 1 tag highlighted in Dreamweaver Code view.

A few points to help you better understand XHTML:

- ✓ In XHTML, all tags must include the closing slash. A few tags can stand alone, such as the
 tag, which adds a line break. XHTML tags must have a closing tag, even if there is only one tag, and close tags always contain a forward slash (/). As a result, the line break tag in HTML looks like
, but in XHTML, it looks like
.
- ✓ XHTML includes many tags that are designed to be hierarchical. Examples are the <h1> through <h6> (heading 6) tags, which are ideally suited to formatting text according to its importance on a Web page. Reserve the <h1> tag for the most important text on the page, such as the top headline. <h2> is ideal for subheads or secondary headings, <h3> for the third level of headings, and so on. A headline formatted with the <h1> tag looks like this:

<h1>This is a headline</h1>

How Web browsers work

Web browsers such as Internet Explorer, Firefox, Chrome, and Safari are designed to decipher HTML, XHTML, CSS, AJAX, and other code and display the corresponding text, images, and multimedia on a computer screen. Essentially, browsers read the code in a Web page and interpret how the page should be displayed to visitors. Unfortunately, because Web browsers are created by different companies and the code they display has evolved dramatically over the years, not all Web browsers display Web pages the same way. Differences in browser display can lead to unpredictable (and often frustrating) results because a page that looks good in one browser may be unreadable in another. For more information on browser differences and testing your pages to make sure they look good to all your visitors, see Chapter 10.

✓ Some tags are more complex, and the open and close tags don't always match. More complicated tags, such as the tags used to create links or insert images into pages, are more challenging to use because they include link information, and the close tag doesn't always match the open tag. For example, the code to create a link to another Web site looks like this:

This is a link to DigitalFamily.com



At its heart, XHTML is just text, and believe it or not, you can write XHTML in a plaintext editor as simple as Notepad, SimpleText, or TextEdit. If you ever try it, however, you have to be careful to type all the code perfectly because there is no room for error or typos in XHTML. After writing code yourself, even to create a simple page, you're sure to quickly appreciate programs — such as Dreamweaver — that write the code for you.

One of the great advantages of using Dreamweaver is that you can specify formatting by clicking buttons or using menu commands, and Dreamweaver takes care of writing the XHTML code for you. For this and many other reasons, I chose to use Dreamweaver in this book.



If you prefer to use Expression Web, a similar program created by Microsoft, you can apply most of the instructions in this book to that program, although some of the menu items and other features are located in different places. If you do choose to use Expression Web, you can download specially created templates and instructions for creating all the template designs in this book on the companion Web site at www. DigitalFamily.com/diy.

Comparing Tables, Frames, and Layers

If you've already done a little Web design, you may be wondering what happened to some of the old ways of creating Web page layouts. For years, Web designers used the HTML feature called Tables to create page layouts. Then, Frames came along, and many people were excited by the ability to display multiple pages in one browser window, which is possible when using Frames and iFrames. Then came Layers, which were especially popular among designers because they seemed to offer precise design control. Over the years, all these options have become less desirable except in a few special cases. In this section, you find a quick review of when Tables, Frames, and Layers may still be useful.

Creating page designs with HTML Tables

In the early days of Web design, most page layouts on the Web were created with tables. By merging and splitting table cells, and even adding background images, you can create complex Web designs with tables. CSS expands upon this concept by adding many new design options, including the ability to precisely add margins and padding around elements, and better control how and where background images appear.

Cascading Style Sheets, better known by the acronym CSS, also enables you to keep formatting information separate from content, making it possible to use less code and create pages with smaller file sizes that download more quickly. Using CSS also makes pages easier to update because you can change formatting in a more streamlined way. You can read more about CSS in the upcoming section, "Designing with Cascading Style Sheets."

Figure 4-3 provides an example of an old-school site created with the HTML table tag. To help you appreciate how this page was created, I altered the original design to display the table borders although most designers turn off table borders when using tables to create cleaner layouts. Setting the table border to 0 (instead of 2 as I did here to show you the borders), makes it possible to turn off the border of a table so that it doesn't interfere with the design.



If you visit the site at www.chocolategamerules.com, you can see how this same page was created using div tags and CSS. (I explain how div tags work within CSS in "Designing with Cascading Style Sheets" later in this chapter.)



Figure 4-3: In the old days, the only way you could create a complex Web page design was to use an HTML table to control text and image placement.

Although tables are no longer recommended for creating page layouts, they're still considered the best way to format tabular data like you'd find in a spreadsheet program. That means that you can use tables to format a consistent collection of information, such as the photos and names in the list of winners from the Chocolate Game Rules site shown in Figure 4-4.

Although I recommend that you redesign sites like the one shown in Figure 4-3 with CSS and div tags, I do understand that many designers still find it easier to create layouts with tables, and not everyone has time to redesign their Web sites right away. I have to admit, I've been guilty of leaving a few sites online designed with tables long after I knew better. That said, I recommend using only CSS today for all your Web page layouts except when you are creating a layout for tabular data. Even then, I still urge you to use CSS to add any styling, such as background colors or padding, that you might want in your tables.



Figure 4-4: Tables are still considered the best way to display tabular data like the information on this contest page.

Considering design options with HTML frames

You won't find any instructions in this book for creating Web sites that use frames, such as the Pink Flamingos site shown in Figure 4-5. Frames enable you to display multiple Web pages in one browser window. Among Web designers, Frames are a little like those plastic pink flamingos stuck in the front yards of so many homes in South Florida; some people love how kitsch they are, and others just think they are tacky. Although Frames are still used on the Web, most designers don't like them because they can make navigation confusing.



Frames are also problematic because when you use frames, the URL at the top of a Web browser does not change, even when you click links and change the pages displayed within frames. As a result, you can only bookmark, or create a link to, the first page of a site that uses frames. Worse yet, frames make it harder for search engines to index a site properly, which can diminish your search engine ranking.



Figure 4-5: Frames enable you to display multiple Web pages in one browser window.

Using Layers (or AP Divs) to create designs

Dreamweaver MX, MX 2004, and 8 had a button for the layer feature, and it offered an easy way to click and drag boxes using divs that were positioned with precision on a page. In later versions of Dreamweaver, the name was changed to AP Divs. *Divs* are simply XHTML tags that serve as *dividers* in a page. Essentially, they create boxes around content that make it easier to position sections of text or images independently. Don't be confused by the fact that I (and most other Web designers today) recommend using Div tags with CSS to create your page layouts. We just don't recommend that you do so with the AP Divs.

AP Divs, as the name implies, are Div tags that include styling information that adds absolute positioning. That means that when you place an AP Div in a Web page, it stays where you put it, no matter how much space you have in the browser window. That may seem like a good idea at first, and AP Divs were popular among some designers for a while because they are so easy to use and so similar to many of the features in desktop publishing programs (such as Adobe InDesign). But because layers create such inflexible layouts, they don't adapt well to the changing environment of the Web where different sized monitors and other display variations can lead to text getting cut off and other undesirable results. To cut down on the confusion caused by the term *layers*, Adobe changed the name of this feature from layers to AP Divs (short for Absolutely Positioned Div tags) in later versions of Dreamweaver, including CS3 and CS4. Many designers use AP Divs on occasion to add fixed position elements to a layout, but creating an entire design with this feature is no longer recommended.

Designing with Cascading Style Sheets

The concept of creating styles has been around since long before the Web. Desktop publishing programs (such as Adobe InDesign) and even word processing programs (such as Microsoft Word) have long used styles to manage the formatting and editing of text on printed pages. When using styles in a word processor, you can create and save styles for common features, such as headlines and captions. In print design, styles are great timesavers because they enable you to combine a collection of formatting options (such as Arial and bold and italic) into one style and then apply all those options at once to any selected text in your document by using only a single style. The advantage is that if you change a style, you can automatically apply the change everywhere you've used that style in a document.

On the Web, you can do all that and more with CSS because you can use style sheets for even more than just text formatting. For example, you can use CSS to create styles that align images to the left or right side of a page, add padding around text or images, and change background and link colors. You can even create more than one style sheet for the same page — say, one that makes your design look good on computers, another for cellphones, and a third for a printed page.

For all these reasons (and more), CSS has quickly become the preferred method of designing Web pages among professional Web designers. One of the most powerful aspects of CSS is how you can use it to make global style changes across an entire Web site. Suppose, for example, that you create a style for your headlines by redefining the <h1> tag to create large, blue, bold headlines. Then one fine day, you decide that all your headlines should be red instead of blue. If you aren't using CSS, changing all your headlines could be a huge undertaking — a matter of opening every Web page in your site to make changes to the font tags around your headlines. But, if you're using CSS in an external style sheet, you can simply change the style that controls the headline in the style sheet, and *voilà!* Your headlines all turn red automatically. If you ever have to redesign your site (and believe me, every good site goes through periodic redesigns), you can save hours or even days of work if you created your design with CSS.

Appreciating the advantages of CSS

A Web site designed with CSS separates content from design. Keeping the site content (such as the text and headings) separate from the instructions that tell a browser how the page should look benefits both the designers and your site visitors:

CSS simplifies design changes. For example, instead of formatting every headline in your site as 24-point Arial bold, you can create a style for the <h1> tag that contains all the formatting information in one place and then apply that style to the text in an XHTML file. CSS styles can be saved in the header section at the very top of an XHTML page, or they can be saved in a separate file that can be attached to multiple XHTML pages. One of the advantages of styles is that if you can use the same style to format many headlines and then you decide later that you want all your headlines to use the Garamond font instead of Arial, all you need to do is change the style for the <h1> tag once, and it automatically applies everywhere you've used the <h1> tag to format your headlines.

✓ Separating content from design enables you to create different style sheets for different audiences and devices. In the future, separating content from design is likely to become even more important as a growing number of people view Web pages on everything from giant, flat-screen monitors to tiny, cellphone screens. One of the coolest features in Adobe Dreamweaver is *Device Central*, where you can preview your page designs in a variety of handheld devices and cellphones to see just how different they can look when displayed on these small screens.

As you get more advanced with CSS, you can even create multiple style sheets for the same Web page. For example, you can create one that's ideally suited to a small screen like the one shown in Figure 4-6, another one that works best when the page is printed, and yet another designed with a larger font size for anyone who may have trouble reading the small print that is so common on Web pages.

✓ Using CSS makes your site comply with the current standards. Today, the W3C, which sets standards for the Internet, recommends using CSS for nearly every aspect of Web design because the best CSS designs are accessible, flexible, and adaptable.



Figure 4-6: Designing Web pages with CSS can help you create designs that display well on large or small screens.

✓ Web sites designed in CSS are accessible to more visitors. Today, there's a growing movement among some of the best designers in the world to get everyone to follow the same standards, create Web sites with CSS, and make sure they're accessible to everyone.

When Web designers talk about *accessibility*, they mean creating a site that can be accessed by anyone who might ever visit your pages — and that includes people with limited vision who use special browsers (often called *screen readers*) that read Web pages aloud, as well as many others who use specialized browsers for a variety of other reasons.

If you work for a university, a nonprofit, a government agency, or a similar organization, you may be required to create accessible designs. In Chapter 6, you find instructions for you alternative text with images and other features that can improve Web site accessibility. Even if you're not required to design for accessibility, it's still good practice because pages that meet accessibility standards also tend to score better in search engines because they're designed in a way that makes it easy for search engines to access and interpret their content.

Combining CSS and XHTML

Most professional Web designers today recommend creating Web page designs by combining XHTML and CSS. How the two work together can get a bit complicated, but you essentially:

- 1. Use XHTML to create the structure of a page with tags, such as division (div), heading (h1, h2), and paragraph (p).
- 2. Create styles in CSS that specify the size of these elements, where they appear on a page, and a variety of other formatting options.

Similarly, you use XHTML to insert images and create links, and then add styles to change formatting options, such as removing the underline from your links or changing the color that appears when someone rolls a cursor over a link.

Following standards

Following standards has become increasingly important as Web design has become more complex over the years.

Web technology has evolved to include new features, such as CSS, that provide greater design control than ever. Unfortunately, Web browsers (such as Internet Explorer and Firefox) don't always display the features of Web sites in the same way. As a result, the same Web page can look quite different from one browser to another, especially in older browsers. (Find more about browser differences and testing your designs in Chapter 10.) Enter standards, which help minimize the browser differences and enable Web pages to do their job of connecting people across the Internet. Today, it's easy to agree that if everyone who designed Web sites and everyone who created the browsers that displayed them followed the same rules, or standards, we'd all have a much easier time designing sites for the Internet.



All the templates featured in this book are written in XHTML and formatted with CSS following modern Web standards. In Chapters 7–9, you can find specific instructions for using Adobe Dreamweaver to edit the templates and customize them. I did everything I can to make these templates as versatile — and easy to use — as possible , but the more you understand about CSS and XHTML, the better you can customize the templates without changing them in a way that violates current standards or that will cause them to not display well in most Web browsers.

Creating page layouts with CSS and XHTML

The key to understanding how CSS works in page layout is to think in terms of designing with a series of infinitely adjustable containers, or *boxes*. Indeed, this approach to Web design is commonly referred to as the *box model*. Think of the box model this way: First you use HTML tags, such as the <div> (*division*) tag or (*p*aragraph) tag, to create a box around your content. Then you use CSS to style each box, using attributes to control the position and alignment of each box, and specify such settings as margins, padding, and borders.

Although you can use any XHTML tag as part of your page layout, the <div> tag is used most often to create the boxes for main sections of a page, such as the banner area, main content area, sidebars, and footer of a page. Think of <div> as a generic container — designed to hold text, images, or other content — or to make a division on the page, to separate one section of content from another. Unlike other HTML tags, <div> has no inherent formatting features. Unless CSS is applied to a <div> tag, it can seem invisible on a page, yet the tag has a powerful purpose because any content surrounded by opening and closing <div> tags becomes an object (or a box) that can be formatted with CSS.

I used the box model to create all the templates in this book. As a result, to change the size or positioning of a section of a Web page in one of the templates featured in Chapters 7–9, you need to edit the corresponding style. When you create or edit a style that corresponds to a <div> tag ID, you can specify properties such as alignment, border, margin, height, and width to control how the <div> tag is displayed on the page. In the template chapters, you find step-by-step instructions for adding your own images and text to these templates, and for making minor changes to the styles of the page. To edit the styles that control the positioning, width, and other display options of the <div> tags that make up these pages layouts, read Chapter 6, where you find instructions for editing a CSS layout.

Each <div> in the page templates has an ID, which corresponds to a style in the style sheet. The ID appears in the HTML within the <div> tag brackets so that the browser knows which style to use to control the formatting of that <div> when it displays the page. For example, all the templates have a <div> with the ID container that controls the overall size of the design area. If you look at the code, the <div> looks like this:

<div id="container"></div>

In the corresponding style sheet, which you can easily access through the CSS Panel in Dreamweaver, you'll find a style called #container, which controls the width and other settings for that <div>. If this all seems a bit confusing, don't

worry too much at this stage. When you put all this theory into practice with the templates in Chapters 7–9, it makes a lot more sense, and you find more detailed instructions for editing CSS layouts in Chapter 6.

To learn more about CSS, you can find many more lessons on how to create, define, and edit styles in my book *Dreamweaver CS4 For Dummies* (Wiley).

Understanding style selectors

One of the first things you need to understand when you create new styles is which selector to use for which job. The selector determines the kind of style you will create. Each selector option has different naming restrictions and purposes. If you're completely new to working with styles, this may not make much sense yet, but this is a fundamental part of work with styles, and I encourage you to read through all these descriptions of selectors so that you can appreciate your options before you move on.



Don't feel you have to memorize all this. Instead, consider folding down the corner on this page so you can refer to this list of selectors when you create and edit styles later.

Class selectors

The class selector is the most versatile selector option. *Class styles* can be used to format any element (from text to images to multimedia), and they can be used as many times as you like on any page in a Web site.

Class style names always begin with a period, and you can create class styles with any name as long as you don't use spaces or special characters. *Note:* Hyphens and dashes are okay. Thus, you could create a style called *caption* for the text that appears before your pictures.

.caption

Dreamweaver helps you with the opening period (or a dot). If you choose class as the selector type and forget to include a dot at the beginning of the name, Dreamweaver adds one for you. *Note:* Don't include any space between the dot and the style name, though.

One other thing that can make styles confusing is that when you *apply* a class style to text or another element, the dot doesn't appear in the name when it's added to your HTML code. Thus, if you applied the .caption style to a paragraph tag to format the text under an image, it would look like this:

This is a photo of an Egret in flight.



Class styles must be applied to an element, such as the paragraph tag shown in this example. Class tags can even be added to elements that are already defined by other styles.

When you create a class style in Dreamweaver, the style is displayed in the CSS Styles panel on the right side of the workspace (shown in Figure 4-7). You can apply class styles by using the CSS drop-down list, also shown in Figure 4-7.
New CSS	S Rule	
Selector	Туре:	
Choose a	contextual selector type for your CSS rule.	
	Class (can apply to any HTML element)	
	Class (can apply to any HTML element)	
Selector	ID (applies to only one HTML element) Tag (redefines an HTML element)	
Choose or	Compound (based on your selection)	



One more thing about styles for now: It's common to create styles to align images and other elements to the right or left of a page, and styles with the names .float-right and .float-left are included in all the templates included with this book. These styles commonly include margin spacing to create a little white space between an image and text when text is wrapped around the aligned image, as shown in Figure 4-7.

For more details and step-by-step instructions for creating and applying styles with class selectors, see Chapter 6.

1D selectors

Think of ID styles as the building blocks of most CSS layouts. What's special about ID styles is that they should be used only once per page. This makes them ideally suited to formatting <div> tags and other block-level elements that are used to create distinct sections in a design and only appear once per page.

ID styles must begin with a pound (#) character. Similar to class styles, Dreamweaver adds # to the beginning of the style name automatically if you forget to include it. And, like with a class style, don't include a space between # and the style name.

The ID selector option is a new addition to the CSS Rule dialog box in Dreamweaver CS4. (In CS3, you had to choose the Advanced option to create an ID style.) Similar to class styles, you can name ID styles anything you like as long as you don't use spaces or special characters (again hyphens and underscores are okay). An ID style used to identify the sidebar section of a page could look like this:

#sidebar

Similar to class styles, # isn't used in the HTML code when a style is applied to an element, such as a <div> tag like this:

In the predesigned CSS layouts included in Dreamweaver, all the designs are created by combining a series of <div> tags with ID styles using names like #container, #header, and #footer to identify the main sections of the design. In Figure 4-8, you can see how a collection of ID and class styles are displayed in the CSS Styles panel after they're created.

Part I: Laying the Groundwork



Class styles

Figure 4-8: Styles created with the ID selector should be used only once per page and are ideal for creating a CSS layout.

Tag selectors

The tag selector is used to redefine existing XHTML tags. Select this option if you want to change the appearance of an existing XHTML tag, such as the <h1> (heading 1) tag or the <u1> (unordered list) tag.

In many cases, redefining existing XHTML tags with CSS has advantages over creating new styles. For example, content formatted with the heading 1 tag is well recognized on the Web as the most important text on a page. For that reason, many search engines give priority to text formatted with the heading 1 tag. Similarly, the hierarchical structure of the <h1>-<h6> tags helps ensure that, even if a visitor to your site changes the text size in his Web browser, text formatted with the heading 1 tag is still larger relative to text formatted with an heading 2 tag, which is larger than text formatted with the heading 3 tag, and so on.

The ability to change the appearance of headings and other tags with CSS makes it possible to retain these advantages while still being able to use the font, size, color, spacing, and other formatting options that you prefer in your Web design. When you use the tag selector, the style definition is applied automatically to any text or other element that's been formatted with the corresponding tag. Thus, if you've formatted a headline with an <h1> tag and then create a new <h1> style, the formatting you used to define the style will apply automatically to the headline as soon as the style is created.

When you choose a tag selector type, all the XHTML tags become visible in a dropdown list in the New CSS Rule dialog, making it easy to choose the tag style you want to create, such as the H1 tag shown in Figure 4-9.

All Current	t	
All Rules		
⊟ diyCommon.c: — #contain — #header — #banner	ss er	^
#story #footer #video-b clear body a:link	1 DOX	E
-#leftSide a:visited a:hover a:active #hanner	ea:link	÷
#leftSide a:visited a:hover a:active #hanner Properties for "#:	ima sidebar 1"	-
+#leftSide 	ima sidebar 1" #E7EBE9	-
#leftSide a:visited a:hover a:active #hanner Properties for "#: background-color float	imn sidebar 1" #E7EBE9 left 90%	+
Properties for "#: background-color float font-size	e a:link imn sidebar 1" #E7EBE9 left 90% 130%	*
+#leftSide 	e a:link imn sidebar1" #E7EBE9 left 90% 130% 15px	-
#leftSide a:visited a:active #hanner Properties for "#: background-color float font-size line-height padding-bottom padding-left	e a:link sidebar1" get #E7EBE9 left 90% 130% 15px 10px	-
#leftSide a:visited a:visited a:active #banner Properties for "#: background-color float font-size line-height padding-bottom padding-left padding-right	e a:link sidebar 1" sidebar 1" #E7EBE9 left 90% 130% 15px 10px 5px	+
#leftSide a:visited a:visited a:active #banner Properties for "#s background-color float font-size line-height padding-bottom padding-left padding-right padding-top	e a:link sidebar1" sidebar1" eft 90% 130% 15px 10px 5px 0px	-



Figure 4-9: You can redefine the appearance of any XHTML tag by creating a style with a tag selector.

Creating compound styles

The compound selector can be used to combine two or more style rules to create a style definition that displays only when one style is contained within another. Compound styles are useful when you want to do something like use the heading 1 tag multiple times to format headlines in different ways on the same Web page. For example, you could create one style for headlines that appear in the main story area of a page and then create another style for headlines that appear in the sidebar on the page and still use the heading 1 tag to format both.

Compound styles are created by combining ID, class, or tag styles and look like this:

```
#sidebar1 h1
```

See Figure 4-10 for an example of how an <h1> style defined like this within a #sidebar1 ID style looks in the New CSS Rule dialog box. Note that you must

include a space between each name or tag in a compound style and that you don't include the brackets around tag in a style name. In this example, the style definition will apply only to <h1> tags that appear within another element, such as a <div> tag with an ID style #sidebar1.

Select	or Type:		ОК
Choose	a contextual selector type for your CSS rule.		Cancel
	Compound (based on your selection)		
elect	or Name:		
Thoose	or enter a name for your selector.		
	#sidebar1 h1	•	
	This selector name will apply your rule to all <h1> elements that are within any HTML elements with id "sidebar1".</h1>	*	
		-	
	4	. F	
	Less Specific More Specific		
Rule D	elinition:		
Thoose	where your rule will be defined.		

Figure 4-10: Use the compound style selector to combine styles.

If a compound style combines more than one tag, it's written like this:

#sidebar1 h1 a:link

Again, you must include a space between each name or tag. In this example, you see a style that defines the appearance of the active link tag only when the link is located inside an element formatted with the <h1> tag that's also inside an element formatted with the #sidebar1 ID. A compound style like this makes it possible to create links that look different when they appear in a headline in the sidebar of a page than when they appear in another part of the sidebar.

After you figure out the differences among these style selector options and when they're best used, you're well on your way to mastering the art of creating Web pages with CSS in Dreamweaver. (Find more information about compound styles in Chapter 6.)

Understanding rule definition options

In CSS, you have the option of creating internal, external, or inline styles. You can even use a combination of these options, or attach multiple external style sheets, to the same Web page. Here's an explanation of these options:

✓ Internal styles: If you create internal styles, the CSS code is stored in the <head> area at the top of the HTML page you're working on, and the styles can be applied only to the page in which they were created. If you're just creating a one-page Web site or you're creating styles that will be used only on one page, an internal style sheet is fine, but for most sites, external style sheets offer many advantages.

- ✓ External styles: If you save your styles in an external style sheet, they're stored in a separate file with a .css extension. External style sheets can be attached to any or all the pages in a Web site in much the same way that you can insert the same image into multiple pages. You can also attach multiple external style sheets to the same page. For example, you can create one style sheet for styles that format text and another for layout styles. You can also create external style sheets for different purposes, such as one for print and one for screen display. One of the biggest advantages of external style sheets is that they make it faster and easier to create new pages, and they make it possible to update styles across many pages at once.
- ✓ Inline styles: Inline styles are created within a document at the place that a style is used and only apply to the element they're attached to in the document. These are generally considered the least useful of the three style sheet options because any changes to the defined style must be made to the code that contains the element, which means you lose many of the benefits of styles, such as the ability to make global updates and create very clean, fast-loading code. For example, creating one style for all your headlines and saving it in an external style sheet is more efficient than applying the style formatting options to each headline separately.

At the bottom of the New CSS Rule dialog box, shown in Figure 4-11, you find a Rule Definition drop-down list. Use this list to specify where and how you want to save each new style that you define. The options are

- This Document Only: Create an internal style that can only be used in the open document.
- ✓ New Style Sheet file: Create the new style in an external style sheet and create a new external style sheet simultaneously.
- ✓ An existing external style sheet: Choose any existing external style sheet attached to the page by selecting the name of the style sheet from the Rule Definition drop-down list. In Figure 4-11, I am selecting an existing style sheet with the name main.css.



If you're creating a style that you'll likely want to use on more than one page in your site, saving the style to a new or existing external style sheet is your best choice. If you save a style in an internal style sheet and later decide you want to add it to an external style sheet, you can move the style by clicking and dragging the style into the external style sheet list in the CSS Styles panel.

Rule Del	Rule Definition:					
Choose w	here your rule will be defined.					
	main.css	-				
	(This document only) (New Style Sheet File)					
	main.css	2				



Why so many fonts?

Although you can specify any font you want for text on your Web pages, you don't have complete control over how that font appears on your visitor's computer because the font you apply is displayed properly only if your visitors have the same font on their hard drives. To help ensure that your text appears as you intend, Dreamweaver includes collections of the most common fonts on Windows and Macintosh computers, grouped together in families, such as Arial, Helvetica, sans serif, and Georgia, Times New Roman, Times, and serif.

Here's how it works. When you apply a collection of fonts like these, the browser displays the formatted text in the first font available in the list. For example, if you choose the font collection that starts with Georgia and your visitors have Georgia on their hard drives, they'll see your text in Georgia. If they don't have Georgia, the text is displayed in the next font on the list that your visitors do have - in this case, Times New Roman. If they don't have that font either, the text is displayed in Times; and if they don't even have Times (which would be very unusual), the browser looks for any serif font. (In case you're not familiar with font terms, serif describes fonts, such as Times, that have those little curly things on the edges of letters; *sans serif* means no curly things, which is what you get with a font like Arial.)

You can create your own font collections by selecting the Edit Font List option from the bottom of the Font-Family drop-down list in the Property inspector or the Type category of the CSS Rule definition dialog box. In the Edit Font List dialog box, shown here, use the plus and minus buttons at the top of the Edit Font List dialog box to add or remove a font collection. To add individual fonts to a collection, select the font name from the bottom right of the dialog box and use the double-left arrows to add it to a font list. (Use the double-right arrows to remove a font from a collection.)

The only way to ensure that text appears in the font you want is to create the text in a graphic in a program, such as Photoshop or Fireworks, and then insert the graphic with the text into your page. That's not a bad option for special text, such as banners or logos; but it's usually not a good option for all your text because graphics take longer to download than text and are harder to update later.

t d	Font list:			ОК
ucida Sans Unicode 15 Serif, New York, ucida Console, Mor omic Sans MS, cure	e, Lucida Grande, serif naco, monospace sive	sans-serif		Cancel
Saramond, Times Ne Onyx	ew Roman, sans-	serih	-	
Chosen fonts:	316	Available fonts:		
Onyx		OCR-A II Old English Text MT		
	<	OldgateLaneOutline		
		Orator Std	-	

Looking at the code behind the scenes

Even if you *prefer* not to look at the code behind your Web pages, it's helpful to at least have some familiarity with different kinds of tags, CSS, and other code that Dreamweaver creates for you when you design Web pages. The following examples show what the CSS code in an internal or external style sheet would look like in Dreamweaver for the following styles:

- ✓ An ID style created with the ID selector, that is named #container, and is defined as 780 pixels wide with the left and right margins set to auto (a cool trick for centering a CSS design, covered in Chapter 6).
- A style created with a class selector, that is named .caption, and is defined as Verdana, Arial, Helvetica, sans serif, small, italic, and bold.
- A style created with a tag selector to redefine the HTML tag <h1> as Arial, Helvetica, sans serif, large, and bold. (*Note:* Because the heading tags already include bold formatting, it's not necessary to include bold in the style definition.)

```
#container {
    width: 780px;
    margin-right: auto;
    margin-left: auto;
}
.caption {
    font-family: Verdana, Arial, Helvetica, sans-serif;
    font-size: small;
    font-style: italic;
    font-weight: bold;
}
H1 {
    font-family: Arial, Helvetica, sans-serif;
    font-size: large;
}
```

Part I: Laying the Groundwork _____

Part II Putting the Pages Together



Well, shoot–I know the animation's moving a mite too fast, but <u>dang</u> if I can find a 'mosey' function in the toolbox!"

<u>Chapter 5</u> Editing and Creating Web Graphics

Tasks Performed in This Chapter

Getting to know Photoshop Elements

6

- Cropping images
- Resizing images
- Optimizing photos as JPEGs
- Optimizing graphics in GIF format
- Combining photos and text in a new image
- Editing images with multiple layers

n this chapter, you discover some of the extraordinary things you can do with a program like Photoshop Elements. You find out how to create images (like banners and buttons) for Web pages and then resize, crop, and edit those images.

Perhaps most important in this book about creating Web sites, you find step-by-step instructions for creating and optimizing graphics that download quickly over the Web.

You can use a number of competing image-editing programs to complete the tasks in this book. I recommend Adobe Photoshop Elements because it's based on the industry standard in image editing, Adobe Photoshop, but is a lot easier to use and a lot less expensive. In this book, I use Elements 8, but if you use any of the last few versions of Photoshop or Photoshop Elements, you should have no trouble following along with the features covered in the step-by-step tasks.

Introducing Photoshop Elements

Although Photoshop Elements is a stripped-down version of its big-sister program, Adobe Photoshop, it's still a powerful tool. The workspace, shown in Figure 5-1, is clean and simple yet features many tools and panels — and it has loads of options for editing images and saving them for the Web. Adobe designed the interface of this program to keep the tools around the edge of the screen and to give you the largest possible workspace in the middle, although you can open and close panels and move them around the screen to suit your preferences.

When you first launch Photoshop Elements, you're greeted by a Welcome screen featuring six choices. To access the program's main editing features, which are covered in the following sections, choose Edit and Enhance Photos.





To help you become familiar with the program before you start on the tasks, the following sections introduce you to the way the workspace in Elements is organized and its main features: the Toolbox, Options bar, menu, and panels.

The Toolbox

One of the first things you have to get used to when you use graphics programs like Photoshop Elements is that before you can do anything, like crop an image, you have to select the correct tool from the Toolbox. This feature works much like the toolbox you may have in your garage: You choose a hammer when you want to pound a nail, or a screwdriver when you want to turn a screw.

Selecting a tool from the Toolbox is easy: Just click the icon that represents the tool you want, such as the T icon (for adding text to an image). The tricky part is knowing which tool to use for the job (which is similar to understanding the difference between flat-head and Phillips-head screwdrivers). Some tools are easy to identify: The Brush tool is for painting, for example. Other tools, such as the Clone Stamp tool, may seem confusing at first.

The list of tools shown in Figure 5-2 is designed to help you appreciate all your options in the Toolbox.



The Toolbox can appear in one long list down the side of the Workspace (refer to Figure 5-1), or you can drag it anywhere on the screen and adjust it to appear in two columns (see Figure 5-2).





71

Here's a hint: Some tools are hidden underneath other tools. If a Toolbox button has a small triangle in its lower-right corner, it means that multiple tools are accessible from the same button. To view these alternative tools, simply click and hold the visible tool until a small fly-out menu appears, as shown in Figure 5-3.



Figure 5-3: The fly-out menus reveal more options under some of the Toolbox items.

Although you use many of these tools in the step-by-step tasks in this book to create and edit images for the Web, I can't possibly cover all the ways you can use these great features in this introduction to Web graphics. In this book, I focus on the tools and features that are most important in Web design. If you want to find out more about creating and editing images, check out *Photoshop Elements & For Dummies*, by Barbara Obermeier and Ted Padova, or (for more advanced techniques) *Photoshop Bible*, by Laurie Ulrich Fuller and Robert C. Fuller (both from Wiley Publishing).

The Options bar

Running across the top of the Elements workspace is the Options bar, shown in Figure 5-4. The Options bar includes drop-down lists, check boxes, and radio buttons that you can use to adjust the settings for any selected tool. For example, when you select the Brush tool, options are available for changing the size and shape of the stroke that you make when you click and drag the Brush tool over an image. If you switch to the Text tool, the Options bar changes to feature font and size options.

The art of Undo and Redo

With all the features, filters, and editing options in Photoshop Elements, trial and error is often your best strategy — and it's easy when you can use Undo, Redo, and even Revert to restore any image to its lastsaved version.

If you make a change to an image and then change your mind, just choose Edit=>Undo to undo it. If you aren't quite sure whether you made an improvement, try Undo and then Redo (Editc>Redo) so that you can compare the image before and after the effect. Photoshop Elements includes many levels of Undo, so you can go back many steps and experiment until an image is just the way you want it.

If you're a keyboard shortcut fan, press Ctrl+Z to use Undo in Windows (or #+Z on the Mac); for Redo, press Ctrl+Y (or #+Y).



Figure 5-4: The Options bar provides easy access to settings for each tool, such as the font and size options that correspond to the Text tool.

The menu bar

No program is complete without a menu bar at the top of the workspace (shown in Figure 5-5). When you click the menu names, you can choose from a list of commands and editing options. If an ellipsis (...) follows the command name, the option launches a dialog box where you can apply a variety of features. Otherwise, the command kicks in automatically as soon as it's selected.

pse	E	 Sign In <u>Create New A</u> 	dobe	ID		
File	Edit	Image Enhance Layer Se	lect	Filter	View	v
	5	Undo Crop			Ctrl+Z	
	100	Redo 6			Ctrl+Y	1.
PF						
Þ.						
_						
1						
1						
Q						



The panels

As in every Adobe application, the Elements workspace is filled with *panels*, which are small windows that hold formatting options and other settings. The various

panels provide tools to help you edit and examine images. To open a panel, choose it from the Window menu. For example, choosing Window Color Swatches opens a panel with color options. Note that each panel has a More button; clicking More displays a list of additional commands.

A panel can remain in its column on the right side of the workspace, or you can drag panels anywhere on the screen, which is a handy way to get them closer to where you're working. To move a panel, click it and then drag it by its tab, and then release it where you like. After you detach a panel from the main application window, it gains its own title bar, which allows for easier moving and identification.

In Figure 5-6, I'm using the Layer Styles in the Special Effects panel to add a drop shadow to my text, a common way to add depth and make text appear to float on a page.



Figure 5-6: You can move a panel so that it's closer to whatever you're working on.



If you ever want to get back to the original workspace layout in Photoshop Elements, just choose Window Reset Panels, and all the panels and bins magically rearrange themselves to their original positions.

Creating and opening images in Elements

You can open existing images in Photoshop Elements or create completely new images, and you can have multiple images open at a time, which makes it easier to combine images and create complex designs. When you create a new image, you can specify many settings, including size, resolution, and color.

To create a new document, choose File New, and in the New File dialog box that appears, specify the height, width, resolution, color mode, and background color. You can alter any of the settings after you create an image. To open an existing image, choose File Open, find the image you want on your hard drive, click to select it, and then click Open. The image appears in a new window, ready for you to edit.

If you try to open an image and don't see it in a folder on your hard drive when you know that it should be there, change the Files of Type field (at the bottom of the Open dialog box) to All Formats. Every image in the folder should now appear in the file list.

Cropping an Image

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Photoshop Elements (or a similar program)
- 🛩 A digital image

Time needed:

Less than half an hour Because photos on the Web are generally small, one way to ensure that important features are visible is to crop out any material that's not essential. The best strategy when cropping an image for the Web is to focus on the key elements in the image. You can cut off the top, bottom, or sides, as much or as little as you like, with the adjustable edges of the Crop tool.

In this step-by-step task, you see how using the Crop tool to remove the background helps focus attention on the subject.

Whenever you crop, edit, or resize an image, it's good practice to first save a copy of the image to edit. That way you can always go back to the original image if you're not happy with the results of your edits.

1. With an image open in Elements, select the Crop tool from the Tools panel. Because you can't retrieve cropped parts of an image after you save and close the image file, you likely want to work with a copy of your original image.





 Click and drag within the image to define the area you want to crop. As you drag, a crop box appears. Everything outside the crop box is removed when you complete the crop. To increase or decrease the size of the crop box, drag the handles at the corners or edges of the box.

Part II: Putting the Pages Together



3. To complete the crop, double-click in the middle of the selected area or click the Commit icon (the green check mark) in the lower-right corner of the crop box. To cancel the Crop tool without cropping the image, click the Cancel button (the red circle with a line through it).

4. When you complete the crop, the areas of the image outside the crop box are removed, and the overall size of the image is reduced proportionately. The Crop tool remains active until you select a different tool from the Toolbox.





Repeat Steps 2 through 4 to make an additional crop. Choose Edit=>Undo Crop to restore the image if you're unhappy with the crop. When you save the image, your changes become permanent.

76

Resizing an Image

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Photoshop Elements (or a similar program)
- 🛩 A digital image

Time needed:

Less than half an hour Resizing is important for two reasons: The images must be small enough to display well on a computer monitor, and you want them to download quickly to a user's computer. The smaller the image is, the faster it will download. There are two steps to reducing the size of an image you want to use on the Web.

The first step is to reduce the physical size of an image by reducing its dimensions. You want to size your images to fit well in a browser window and to work within the design of your site. And remember, the smaller you make the image, the faster it downloads to a user's computer.

The second step is a bit more complex to understand at first. It has to do with reducing the resolution of an image, which changes the number of pixels in the image, but won't alter the size the image appears on a computer screen. When you're working with images for the Web, you want to reduce the resolution to 72 pixels per inch (or ppi). (If you're wondering why 72, see the sidebar that's appropriately named "Why only 72 ppi?")

Follow these steps to reduce the size of an image and lower the resolution:

 With an image open in Elements, choose Image⁺>Resize. If you don't want your original image to lose quality, make a copy of it by choosing File⁺>Save As and giving the copy a new name. Then resize the *copy* for your Web site.

e. Mode Convert Color Profile Magic Extractor... AlteShiftet UNC Cancel Help

2. Before you change the resolution of an image, make sure to deselect the Resample Image check box at the bottom of the Image Size dialog box (you should always make sure the resample check box is deselected when you change resolution). Then highlight the number in the Resolution field and replace it by typing in the number 72. (Note that with the Resample Image check box deselected, you can't change the Pixel dimensions.)





Part II: Putting the Pages Together

📴 Image Size	e		×
🌻 Learn m	ore about: I		ОК
□ Pixel Dim	ensions: 39	93.8K(was 1.33M)	Cancel
Width:	500	pixels 🔻 🚽	
Height:	269	percent	
_ Documen	t Size: —		
Width:	6.944	inches 🗾 🖉	
Height:	3.734	inches T	
Resolution:	72	pixels/inch 🔹	
🗸 Scale St <u>y</u> le:	5		
🔽 <u>C</u> onstrain F	proportions		
🗸 Resample <u>I</u>	image:		
Bicubic (E	pest for smoo	th gradients) 🔹 🔻	

3. Before you change the dimensions of an image, make sure to select the Resample Image check box (you always want the Resample box selected when you resize), and also select the Scale Styles and Constrain Proportions check boxes to maintain the height and width ratio in the image. In this example, I am changing the width of this image to 500 pixels, and the height automatically adjusts to 269 pixels to maintain the proportions. When you're resizing an image for the Web, it's best to use the fields in the Pixel Dimensions area, at the top of the dialog box. Using these options, you can alter the height and width of an image to a specified size in pixels or enlarge or reduce the image by any percentage.

4. Click OK to resize the image. If you want to return the image to its previous size, choose Edit → Undo. When you save the image, the changes become permanent. Notice that the file size is reduced from 1.33MB to 393.8K.



Why only 72 ppi?

When you save images for the Web, you should save them at a resolution of 72 pixels per inch (better known as *ppi*). Most computer monitors display no more than 72 ppi, so any number higher than that is wasted on the Web because you're making your visitors download more pixels than

they can see. However, if you want to print an image, you want all the pixels you can get, usually at least 200 ppi or higher, which is why most images you see on the Web look terrible if you try to print them in a large size.

Optimizing Photos as JPEGs



Time needed:

Less than half an hour The JPEG format is the best choice for images with many colors, such as photographs or images that include shading or gradients. You can save any image in GIF, PNG, or JPEG format by using the Save for Web dialog box, but you produce the best results if you choose the best format for each image. That's because the best way to *optimize* images (make them download faster over the Web) depends on how many colors appear in the image.

It's always best to edit an image in the highest resolution possible and then resize the image and reduce the resolution (as you do in the previous task) just before optimizing it for the Web.

Also note that even if a photograph is already in the JPEG format, you can almost always reduce its file size (and increase its download speed) by using the Save for Web dialog box to optimize the image, as you see in the following steps:

1. Create a new image or open an existing image in any format in Photoshop Elements. Because you create a copy of the image when you use the Save for Web dialog box, you don't need to worry about altering your original image.





When you're optimizing an image for the Web, it always comes down to balancing quality with file size. You want your images to download fast, but not if that means they don't look good when they arrive.



3. If the image, like the one shown in this example, is larger than the preview area in the Save for Web dialog box, choose the Hand tool from the upper-left corner of the dialog box. Then click the image and drag to position the most important elements in the image where you can see a better preview. You can also change the image's display by right-clicking directly over the preview image and choosing Fit on Screen or any of the magnification settings.

2. Choose File⇒Save for Web, and in the Save for Web dialog box, select JPEG from the Optimized File Format drop-down list. Note: The original version of the image appears on the left side of the dialog box, and the version on the right is a preview of how the image will look with the specified settings.





4. To reduce the size of a JPEG image, use the slider to alter the Quality setting or enter a number, up to 100. Compression is measured as a percentage: The lower the number, the higher the compression and the smaller the file size.

Original: "930:500_fathion_8.jpg" 612K	10F.G 34.74K 13 sec @ 28.8 Kbps	80 quality
---	---------------------------------------	------------

5. Notice in the bottom of the Save for Web dialog box that the original file size appears under the preview of the image on the left, and the optimized file size appears under the preview on the right. In this example, you can see that when the Quality field is set to 80, the image is reduced from 612K to 34.74K.



6. Alter the Quality setting until the image uses the greatest amount of compression (the greater the compression, the lower the number in the Quality field), without degrading the appearance of the image too much. In this example, I reduced the Quality setting to 60, creating a file size of 28.28K.

7. Keep a close eye on the preview screen as you adjust the Quality option. If you reduce the quality too far, you degrade the image's appearance noticeably.



8. In this example, I decided I wanted to preserve as much quality as possible (reducing it to 60 made it look a little pixilated), so I've changed it to 80. After all the image settings are the way you want them, click OK, and in the Save dialog box, give the image a new name and specify where you want to save it on your hard drive. Then click Save to save a new version of the JPEG with the specified settings and preserve the original unchanged.

Optimizing Graphics in GIF or PNG Format

Stuff You Need to Know



an hour

The GIF format has long been considered best for drawings, cartoons, and other images that have only a few bands of solid color, although many Web designers now prefer the PNG format. (As described in the previous section, the JPEG format is ideal for photographs and other images with millions of colors.) GIFs and PNGs are also the best format to use when you want to create images that use a transparent background, a trick that makes images appear to float on a Web page. As the Web has matured, the PNG format has gained popularity. PNGs are superior to GIFs in all ways except one: GIFs are better supported by Web browsers older than Internet Explorer 6.0, especially in the area of transparency.

If your goal is to ensure that your pages display well to *anyone* who may ever visit your site, GIF is the safer option. If you want your images to look their best with the smallest file sizes, you produce better results with the PNG format. Also, you can rest assured that very few people are still using browsers so old that they don't support PNG. In the step-by-step exercise that follows, I chose the PNG format, but the process is the same for both options. This task shows you the best way to reduce the number of colors in any image when you save it in either the PNG or GIF format using Photoshop Elements.

 Create a new image or open an existing image in any format in Photoshop Elements. Because you save a copy of an image when you use the Save for Web option, you don't have to worry about altering your original image (just don't save over the original).





When you use the PNG or GIF formats, you can reduce download time by decreasing the total number of colors used in the image, which makes it ideal for graphics that need only a few colors in order to display well, such as cartoons or simple logo designs. When you reduce the number of colors in a PNG or GIF image, you're essentially removing colors you don't need. If you take away too many colors, however, the change can be drastic (and look terrible); but if you limit the image to only the number of colors that are necessary, you might not even notice the difference, and the image will download much faster.

83

2. Choose File⇒Save for Web. In the Save for Web dialog box, choose PNG-8 from the Optimized File Format drop-down list. (PNG-24 supports color and alpha transparency better, but with a much higher file size, so you're almost always better off with PNG-8.)



Preset:	- Custom			0	
PNG-8			nterlaced		
Perceptual	-	Colors:	256	-	
		Dither:	100%		
🗸 Transpa	irency	Matte:			
	None				
Imi C	Eyedropper Color				
	White		W		
F	Black				
	Other				

- **3.** If you're creating an image with a transparent background, select the Transparency check box and then specify a matte color. The matte color should match the background color of the Web page where the image will be displayed. Using a matching matte color helps prevent "jaggies" from appearing around the edges of the image. To change this color, first select the eyedropper from the upper-left corner of the dialog box. Then click in the Matte field to open the color panel where you can select the Eyedropper Color option to apply the color you just sampled with the Eyedropper tool. You can also select any of the other color options in the drop-down list.
- **4.** To reduce the size of the image, lower the number of colors by entering a number less than 256 in the Colors field or by selecting a preset number from the Colors drop-down list. In this example, the image is reduced from 256 (the maximum number of colors a GIF can have) to 32. You can change the numbers to see the results in the preview and then change them again if you're not happy with the results, as I do in the next step).



Part II: Putting the Pages Together

5. Notice at the bottom of the Save for Web dialog box that the original file size appears under the preview of the image on the top and the optimized file size appears under the preview on the bottom. Compare these numbers to see how much smaller the image is with the number of colors reduced from 256 to 64. In this example, you can see that by reducing the number of colors, the image has been reduced from 183K to 4.452K.

6. Reduce the number of colors further to make the file size even smaller — but don't go too far. In this example, you can see that when the image is reduced to only two colors, the text gets jagged and the detail is lost in the image of the eye. That's because even though the image appears to use only a few colors, along the edge of the letters, many variations of the main colors are used to create a clean line between the text and the background. With only two colors in the image, those color variations are lost and the smooth edge becomes jagged.





- 7. Adjust the number of colors and other settings until the image uses the smallest number of colors (and therefore has the smallest file size) without degrading the appearance of the image. In this example, I was able to reduce the image to 64 colors without a noticeable loss of quality.
- **8.** After all the image settings are the way you want them, click OK. In the Save dialog box, name the image, and specify where you want to save it on your hard drive. Then click Save.



When you use the Save for Web dialog box, Elements automatically saves a copy of the image in the new format and leaves the original image unchanged.

Combining Photos and Text in a New Image



lavers)

Digital images



About half an hour (unless you get carried away) Creating a new image with photos and text is almost as easy as editing an existing image, such as the banners and buttons included in the templates in this book.

In general, I find that the best method is to create a new image in Photoshop Elements and then copy any photos or other graphics into the new image file. After the images are in place, you can easily add text to pull it all together. Just follow these steps to create your own banners and buttons:

1. In Photoshop Elements, choose Files→News> Blank File to create a new image. In the New dialog box, specify the size, resolution, and background color. In this task, I'm creating an image that's 760 pixels wide by 410 pixels high with a resolution of 72 ppi, in RGB color with a white background. (For the Web, the color mode is always RGB for JPEG images.)





2. If the Layers panel isn't already open on the side of the workspace, choose Window Layers to open the Layers panel. (It must be open if you want to keep track of the layers as they're automatically created when you copy in images or add text to the image.)

86



3. Open any image or images that you want to add to the new file by choosing File Open and selecting the image from your hard drive. You can open as many images as you want at once in Photoshop or Photoshop Elements (or as many as your computer's memory can support) in any of the many supported formats, including JPEG, GIF, TIF, and PSD.

4. When you're working with multiple images in Photoshop Elements, you may want to open the Project Bin, at the bottom of the workspace: If it isn't already open, choose Window ↔ Open the Project Bin. You can select any open image by double-clicking its thumbnail image in the Project Bin.





5. To copy an open image into the new file, first click to select the Move tool from the upper-left corner of the Toolbox. Then click anywhere on an open image to make it active and choose Select⇔All.

pse 💷 🔹 Sign In <u>Create New Adobe ID</u>								
File	Edit	Image	Enhance	Layer	Select	Filter	View	W
*								
++								
Þ.								
	m	Сору	N				Ctrl+C	
<u> </u>			lerged					
3		Paste					Ctrl+V	
1								

7. Here's the tricky part: You need to select the file where you want to add the image before you paste it. If the Project Bin is open at the bottom of the workspace, you can select the destination image there. You can also select any image that's visible in the workspace by clicking it. In both Photoshop and Photoshop Elements, you can also select any open image by choosing the name of the file from the bottom of the Window menu.

- ×

Ctrl+V Shift+Ctrl+V File Edit Shage Enhance Layer Sele Wate Editestayer & Bookfairding Book

8. If any of the open images are in your way, you can minimize them, keeping them open and available in the Project Bin, but out of the workspace.

9. With your new, blank image active in the workspace, choose File⇔Paste, or use the key combinations Ctrl+V (on Windows) or ₩+V (on the Mac), to paste the copied image into the new image.

6. With the image selected, choose File^tCopy or press the key combination Ctrl+C (on Windows) or ₩+C (on the Mac).





10. To position the pasted image, click to select it and then drag it to the place where you want it to appear in the new image. For more precise images, use the arrow keys — you can adjust a selected layer pixel-by-pixel in any direction. You can resize an image with the Move tool by clicking and dragging any corner to adjust the height and width.





11. To add and position additional images, repeat Steps 6 through 10. Notice in this example that the Layers palette displays three layers — the white background layer and a separate layer for each photo pasted into the image. As I added those images, Photoshop Elements added the layers automatically.

12. To add text to an image (whether or not it already has multiple layers, like this one does), you must first select the Text tool from the Toolbox.



$_$ Chapter 5: Editing and Creating Web Graphics



13. When you select the Text tool, a new collection of options appears at the top of the workspace. On the Options bar, you can change such text options as the color (shown in this figure), by clicking the color well to open the color selection palette and then clicking any color in the palette. Use the scroll bar, to the right of the palette window, to display more colors.

14. With the Text tool selected, you can also use the Text tool options at the top of the workspace to change the font size, face, and alignment.





15. To add text to the image, click to place your cursor where you want it and then type. You can add as much text as you want to an image and press the Enter (or Return) key to add line breaks.

16. You can also use the text options at the top of the workspace to edit the text after you type it. To do so, simply select the text you want to change, and then choose any of the formatting options to alter the color, font, size, or other settings. To edit the words, click to select the text and then delete or type to replace it.



Part II: Putting the Pages Together

17. When you add text, Photoshop automatically places it on a new layer, which appears in the Layers palette. To move or edit a layer, you must first select the Move tool from the Toolbox. Photoshop Elements automatically selects a layer when you click it, and then you can click and drag to position it on the page. To move a layer so that it appears in front of another layer, click and drag it above the other layer in the Layers palette.





18. You can continue to add text layers and images, and edit and adjust them, forever by repeating this set of steps. One of the best ways to become comfortable with using Photoshop Elements is to take time to experiment with combining and rearranging text and images in multiple layers.

As you create more and more layers in an image, it's good practice to give your layers names as you create them so that you can better identify a layer when you want to edit it later.

Turning layers on and off or rearranging them

Sometimes when you're working on an image with many layers, it's handy to turn them on and off so that you can experiment with different combinations or clear the workspace while you work on a detail. By clicking the small eye icon to the left of any layer, you can make the layer invisible in the workspace. Don't worry — you can turn the layer back on by simply clicking in the same field again to make the eye icon reappear. That's the beauty of this feature: Now you see it, now you don't.

You can also rearrange the order of layers in the Layers panel, which is how you can control which layer is on top in the image. To change the stacking order, click to drag the layer up or down in the Layers panel. The higher the layer is in the panel, the higher its position is in the stacking order in the file.

Editing Images with Multiple Layers

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Photoshop Elements (or a similar program that supports layers)
- A digital image with multiple layers

Time needed:



Less than half an hour One of the most confusing features in a program like Photoshop Elements is the way it divides different parts of an image into layers. In the previous task, Photoshop automatically created a new layer each time you added a new image or text to the file. Keeping each element of an image on a separate layer is a bit like keeping a bunch of sticky notes on your desk. If each photo or piece of text is on a separate layer, you can move them around independently, much like you might rearrange your priorities by changing the order of the sticky notes.

Using Layers to separate one image into multiple sections makes it possible for you to do things like edit text without changing the photo underneath it or move separate images around a photo montage until you get them just the way you want them.

Without layers, text would become stuck on a photo in a banner, like the one shown in this task, and you couldn't edit the text again after you added it to the image. The layers feature is especially useful for customizing the banners and other graphic elements included in the templates used in this book.

When you open an image that has many layers, such as the image templates included with this book, it's a good idea to open up the Layers panel by choosing Window Layers (if it's not open already).

Before you can edit any text or image contained in a layer, you have to first select the appropriate tool from the Toolbox and then select the corresponding layer. That's where the Layers panel comes in, as you see in this task.



1. Open an existing image in Photoshop Elements that includes multiple layers, such as the banner shown in this task. 2. Choose Window ⇒ Layers to open the Layers panel. In the Layers panel, click to select the layer you want to edit. In this example, I selected the layer that corresponds to the words Hollywood Bar Secrets.





3. In the Toolbox, select the tool that you need in order to edit the contents of the layer. In this example, I selected the Text tool so that I can edit the words.

4. Use the selected tool to alter the selected image. In this example, I double-clicked the name *Hollywood* to select it and then typed the name *Los Angeles* in its place.



Chapter 5: Editing and Creating Web Graphics



5. To edit text in another layer, you must again select the corresponding layer in the Layers panel. In this example, I selected the layer that contains the text in the second line of the banner image. Because I had already selected the Text tool, after the layer was selected, I simply selected the text I wanted to edit and replaced it by typing new text.

6. After you make changes to the text, choose File ⇒Save As and give the image a new name. This step saves the changes without altering the original image.



Enlarging and reducing image display

As you're working on images in Photoshop Elements, it's often helpful to enlarge or reduce the display size of the image so that you can view more of it on the screen or to zoom in on details you want to edit. You can use the Zoom tool to increase or decrease the size at which the image appears on your screen.

First, click to select the Zoom tool from the Toolbox; then click anywhere on the image to increase its display size. Alt+click (in Windows) or Option+click (on the Mac) to decrease the display size. *Tip:* By changing the display size, you can figure out how much you may need to change the actual size of your image to make it appear the way you want on a computer screen. To do so, use the Zoom tool to size the image the way you want in your Web page, and then notice the percentage (displayed at the top of the screen, next to the filename). Then you know the number you need to enter in the Size field in the Image Size dialog box when you resize it using a percentage.

To redisplay the image in its true size on your monitor, double-click the Zoom tool.

Part II: Putting the Pages Together _____
Chapter 6 Getting Started with Dreamweaver

Description of the second seco

- Setting up a new or existing site
- Defining a Web site in Dreamweaver
- Creating new Web pages
- Setting links in Dreamweaver
- Changing page-wide settings with page properties
- Adding meta tags for search engines
- Adding code from YouTube, Google, and other sites in Dreamweaver

he high-end features in Dreamweaver make it the preferred choice for professional Web designers, but its easy-to-use graphical interface makes it popular among novices and hobbyists as well. This book is designed to help you create a Web site as quickly as possible by providing you with templates for a variety of common Web sites and instructions for how to customize those templates in Dreamweaver. If you're eager to get started, feel free to jump ahead to Chapters 7, 8, or 9, where you find instructions for using Dreamweaver to customize the ready-to-use templates that come with this book.

Before you do, though, I suggest that you at least skim through this chapter so that you have some familiarity with the most important features in Dreamweaver, how I've used Dreamweaver's advanced template features to help you create sites quickly, and how you can edit those templates with this great Web design program. This chapter is designed to introduce you to Dreamweaver and to show you how to do some the most common tasks with this popular design program, such as creating new pages, inserting images, setting links, and defining CSS styles.



At the beginning of this chapter, you find detailed instructions for one of the most important features in Dreamweaver: the Site Definition dialog box. Defining a site in Dreamweaver is important whether you use one of the templates featured later in this book or create your own, custom design using the instructions in the rest of this chapter. Before you work on any Web site in Dreamweaver, you should start with the site-definition process.



In my effort to keep things simple in this book, I cover only a small portion of the features in this complex program. You can read lots more about Dreamweaver in my book *Dreamweaver CS4 For Dummies* (Wiley).

Setting Up a New or Existing Site

As a general rule, when you create a Web site, you first create all the pages on your computer's hard drive, where you can preview your pages in a Web browser and

test the site before it's visible on the Internet. Then, when the site is ready, you transfer the files to your *Web server*, a computer with a permanent connection to the Internet that uses special software to communicate with Web browsers, such as Internet Explorer, Safari, Chrome, and Firefox.

Because all the files you work with on your hard drive must be in the same *relative* location on the Web server, you need to store all your site's resources in one folder on your hard drive and identify that folder as the *local root* folder in Dreamweaver.

As you progress through the site-definition process in the following task, you can create a new folder on your hard drive and designate it as your local root folder, or you can identify an existing folder if you're updating or redesigning a site. The location where you save the local root folder on your hard drive doesn't matter, as long as you identify it as the main folder for your Web site in Dreamweaver. *Note:* If you move the local root folder, you have to go through the site setup process again so that Dreamweaver knows where to find it.

When you're ready to publish a completed site, you can transfer it to your Web server by using the Dreamweaver built-in *File Transfer Protocol* (or *FTP*) features. You find detailed instructions for testing and publishing a Web site in Chapter 10.



Throughout this book, I use Adobe Dreamweaver CS4, but most of the features I cover have not changed much in the last few versions, so even if you're using another version of Dreamweaver, such as 8 or CS3, you should be able to follow most of these instructions with few, if any, adjustments. Just be aware that some panels and other options may be in different locations in earlier versions.

Working with an existing Web site

If you're working on redesigning or editing an existing site, your first challenge is to get a copy of the site on your hard drive. Fortunately, Dreamweaver can help you download an existing site off a Web server with the same features you use to publish a site. All you need is the login information, username, and password to access the Web server.

To download an existing site, first complete the site setup process featured at the beginning of this chapter. Then create a new, blank folder where you can store all files in the Web site on your local hard drive. Follow the instructions in the section "Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver" in Chapter 10 to connect Dreamweaver with your server. After you establish a connection, just select all the files on the server and click the Get button (also shown in Chapter 10) to download all files in the existing site.

After you have your site on your hard drive, you can edit and add pages using Dreamweaver just like you would edit any other files on your computer, even if the site was created in another Web design program. Keep in mind, however, that if you're doing a major redesign of an existing site, you might be better off to start from scratch. In that case, you can download the existing site into one folder, and then create a new site in another root folder in Dreamweaver. With both the old and new versions of a site on your hard drive, it's easy to copy the existing text, images, and other materials into the new pages as you create the new site.

Defining a Web Site in Dreamweaver

Browse icon



If the site-definition process seems a little confusing at first, don't worry; it's a quick, relatively painless process, and you have to do it only once for each site. Just trust me — don't skip this preliminary step.

Whether you're creating a new site or working on an existing site, the following steps walk you through the process of defining a local root folder for your Web site.



ac Advanced		
Lategory	Local Info	
ocal tofo temote Info Testing Server Testing Cantrol Tosting Testing Notes Testing Not	Sito name: Innoned Setter Local root holder: C:{Likers\Artesian Media PC\Documents\Linnemed Default images folder: Links relative to: @ Document Site root HTIP address: Mitp:// This address is used for site relative links, and for the Link hedder to dotted HTIP links that refer to your own site Case-sensitive links: Use case sensitive link cheding Case: @ Inchie cache The cache maintains file and asset information in the site. This gate up the first panel and link management features.	
	OK Cancel	Help

- Choose Site ⇒New Site to open the Site Definition dialog box.
- **2.** Click the Advanced tab. *Note:* If you prefer, you can use the basic wizard that steps you through the setup process, but I find it faster and easier to view all the options at once from the Advanced tab.

3. In the Category box on the left, make sure that the Local Info category is selected so that you can specify the location of the folder on your local hard drive. This category should be open by default when you click the Advanced tab. (You find instructions for setting up the options in the Remote category so that you can publish your site to a Web server in Chapter 10.)



Site Definition for F	Site Definition for Pamela's Pet Services					
Basic Advanced						
Category	Local Info					
Local Info Remote Info						
Testing Server	Site name: amela's Pet Services					
Version Control Cloaking	Local root folder: C:\Users\Artesian Media PC\Docu					

5. Click the Browse icon next to the Local Root Folder text box to locate the folder on your hard drive that you want to serve as the main folder for all files in your Web site. (*Hint:* The Browse icon in Dreamweaver always looks like a small, yellow file folder and is usually located at the right side of a text field.) If you're setting up a new site, create a new folder on your hard drive, using the Create New Folder icon in the Choose Local Folder dialog, and then select that folder as the local root folder. If you're setting up an existing Web site, select the folder that contains the files for that site to designate it as the Local Root Folder.

Select	Pame	📙 Pamela's Pet Services 🔹 🔻				P 🛄 🔻		
23	Name	Date mo	Турс	Size	Tags			
ent Places	-							
esktop								
RC PC								
omputer								
							-	Open

7. For the Links Relative To radio buttons, leave the Document option selected unless you know that you want your links to be set up relative to the root level of your site. This setting controls how the path is set in links. If you're working on a site with other developers and you're not sure, check with your colleagues. If you're working alone on your own site, Links Relative to Document is the simplest option and should already be selected because it's the default option in Dreamweaver.

4. In the Site Name text box, type a name for your site. You can call your site whatever you like; this name is used only to help you keep track of your sites. Many people work on more than one site in Dreamweaver, and this feature enables you to keep track of them by name. The name you enter here appears in the drop-down list in the Files panel and in the Manage Sites dialog box. You use this list to select the site you want to work on when you open Dreamweaver. In this example, I named the new site Pamela's Pet Services.

Local Info		
Site name:	Samela's Pet Service	
Local root folder:	C:\Users\Artesian Media PC\Documents\web sites	R
Default images folder:		

6. Click the Browse icon next to the Default Images folder field and then select the images folder in an existing Web site. If you're creating a new site, create a new folder inside your local root folder, name it images, and select it. Although you don't *have* to identify an images folder, it has some advantages. For example, if you ever insert an image that isn't located in your local root folder, Dreamweaver copies it into the images folder you identify during the site setup process. If you create an images folder, Dreamweaver copies images into the main folder. (You can also store images in other folders within your local root folder.)



Chapter 6: Getting Started with Dreamweaver

at the end.

8. In the HTTP Address text box, type the URL of your Web site. The *HTTP address* is the URL, or Web address, that your site will have when it's published on a Web server (see Chapter 2). If you don't yet know the Web address for your site or you don't plan to publish it on a Web server, you can leave this box blank. If you do fill it in, include http:// at the beginning and /

Links relative to:	💿 Document 🛛 🔘 Site root
HTTP address:	http://www.pamelaspetservices.com]
	This address is used for site relative links, and for the Link Checker to detect HTTP links that refer to your own site

9. Select the Use Case-Sensitive Link Checking check box. Unless you know for sure that you don't have to worry about the case of your filenames, selecting this box makes Dreamweaver ensure that the case matches for all your site's links (which many Web hosting services require).

Case-sensitive links: Use case-sensitive link checking Cache: Enable cache

Case-sensitive links: 🔽 Use case-sensitive link checking Cache: 🔀 Enable cache The cache maintains file and asset information in the site. This speeds up the Asset panel and link management features.

- **10.** Select the Enable Cache option. Dreamweaver creates a local cache of your site to quickly reference the location of files in your site. The local cache speeds up many site management features of the program and takes only a few seconds to create.
- **11.** Click OK to close the Site Definition dialog box and save your settings. If the folder you selected as your local site folder already contains files or subfolders, they're automatically cached and any files or folders in your site are displayed in the Files panel. In this example, because I'm creating a new site, only the images subfolder is displayed. If you haven't checked the Enable Cache option, a message box appears, asking whether you want to create a cache for the site. Doing so is good practice because it helps Dreamweaver work more efficiently.





You can make changes and additions to a site by choosing Site Anage Sites, selecting the site name in the Manage Sites dialog box, and then clicking the Edit button. The defined site then opens in the Site Definition dialog box, where you can make changes to any setting, such as selecting a different images folder or local root folder. Remember that if you move the local root folder on your hard drive, you need to edit the site definition to identify the new folder location.

100 Part II: Putting the Pages Together



12. If you work on more than one site in Dreamweaver, be sure to define each site the first time you work on it. After that, you can easily switch among defined sites by selecting the one you want to work on in the Files panel. You can define as many sites as you like in Dreamweaver. To load a different site into the Files panel, click the drop-down arrow next to the site name and choose the name of the site you want to display. In this figure, you can see that I'm opening the site named Pamela's Pet Services by selecting it from a long list of defined sites.

Naming Web pages

Filenames are especially important in Web sites because they're included in the HTML code when you set links. Over the years, I have received more e-mail messages from panicked Web designers because of broken links caused by filename conflicts than almost any other issue. Because these problems usually don't occur until after a Web site is published on a server, they can be especially confusing and difficult to understand. Following a few simple pointers can help you avoid or troubleshoot filename-related problems:

When you save Web pages, images, and other files for your site, the basic rule is to not use blank spaces or special characters in a filename. For example, don't name a Web page with an apostrophe, such as cat's page.html. If you want to separate words, you can use an underscore (_) or a hyphen (-). For example, cat-page.html is an acceptable filename. Numbers are okay in most cases, and capital letters don't generally matter, as long as the filename and the code in the link match.

The potentially misleading point is that links with spaces and special characters work just fine when you test pages on a Mac or PC, but the software used on many of the Web servers on the Internet don't accept spaces or special characters in links. Thus, links that don't follow these rules can be broken when you publish the site to a Web server.

- All files in a Web site must also include an extension at the end of the filename to identify the file type (such as .html for HTML files or .jpg for JPEG images). Dreamweaver automatically adds the .html file extension to the end of HTML files, but you may need to change your Windows settings if you want to be able to see the extension. Similarly, programs like Photoshop automatically add the extension on Windows computers; if you're using a Macintosh, you may need to add the extensions manually.
- Another confusing rule, and one of the most important, is that the main page (or front page) of your Web site must be named index.html or default.html, depending on your Web server. Most Web servers are set up to serve the index.html page first. To ensure that you use the correct name, check with your service provider or system administrator. (Some servers are set up to handle home.html, or default.asp for dynamic sites, but most commercial service providers serve index.html before any other page in any folder in a site.) The rest of the pages in your site can be named anything you like, as long as they don't include spaces or special characters (except for the dash or underscore).

Creating New Pages in Dreamweaver



Time needed:

Less than half an

hour

In this task, I show you how easy it is to create a new page in Dreamweaver and add and format text. Whether you're creating a simple design or a complex one, it's almost always easier to start with one of the prestyled Cascading Style Sheet (CSS) layouts included in Dreamweaver. You can use Dreamweaver's collection of layouts to create a variety of one, two, and three-column designs using CSS, and as you see in the steps that follow, you can customize these layouts in many ways. Before you rush off to take a look at all the layouts included with Dreamweaver, let me warn you that they're not much to look at when you first open them. They're intentionally designed with a basic, gray color scheme. Fortunately, though, color styles are some of the easiest to alter in CSS.

If you're new to CSS, altering one of these layouts may seem confusing at first, but it's certainly easier than starting a page layout from scratch yourself. In this chapter, I focus on a simple, one-column design, a great way to practice the basics before you get into the steps you'll need to follow to customize the more complex layouts included in the templates later in this book. Before you begin creating new pages, make sure that you complete the site setup process covered in the preceding task in this chapter.

 To create a new page, choose File⁴> New. In the New Document dialog box that opens, choose Blank Page from the options on the far left (as shown here). Under the Page Type column, you can now select from many different file types, including HTML, XML, and PHP. To create a simple Web page, like the one I use throughout this book, choose HTML.





A fixed layout is generally an easier option to start with, but "liquid" designs have advantages because they're more flexible. You can find a longer description of the layout types in the Dreamweaver Help files, but essentially here are the options. *Liquid layouts* are designed to expand and contract, depending upon the size of the browser window; *fixed layouts* are centered within the browser and set to a width of 780 pixels (easy to change); *elastic layouts* use the EMs measurement to adapt to different text sizes and other variations in display; and *hybrid layouts* use a mix of options.

2. When HTML is selected in the New Document dialog box, a list of CSS layouts appears in the Layout Column. In the close-up view of this dialog box, shown in this figure, you can see that I selected a design that creates a onecolumn fixed layout with a header and footer. The rest of the options in this dialog are optional, so keep things simple and just click the Create button.



Dw	٥.	₩.						
File Edit	View	Insert	Modify	Format	Commands	Site	Window	Help
index.html ×	(Path: C:VU	sers\Art	esian Medi	a PC\Documents\we
Code	도. Split	De De	sign j	Elive View	▼ Stives		Title: Pa	amela's Pet Services
:110	50	100	150	200	250 300	35	0 400	450

3. Get into the (excellent) habit of saving a new page as soon as it's created. Choose File⇔Save and give the file a name. Remember, don't use any spaces or special characters in the filename, and be sure to retain the .html extension. I named this file index.html because it will serve as the first page of my site. As soon as you save the file, it's also good practice to add a title right away by replacing the words Untitled Page with your own title at the top of the workspace, as you see in this figure.

4. Adding or editing text in a new page in Dreamweaver is relatively simple. For example, if you want to change the text at the top of the page, just select the word Header and type in the text you want to use to replace it. In this case, I entered Pamela's Pet Services. Because I selected the Header first, the font, style, and size of the text in the original layout are preserved. Replace the subheadings and main text in the page in the same way.



Inserting text from another program

Dreamweaver gives you many options for maintaining formatting when you copy and paste text from another program. You can change the default method for how Dreamweaver handles formatting when you choose Editt Paste and alter the preferences in the Copy/Paste category. And, you can choose Editt Paste Special to make all options available each time you paste new content. Here are your six options:

- Text Only: Dreamweaver strips any formatting and inserts plain text.
- Text with Structure: Dreamweaver includes paragraphs, lists, tables, and other structural formatting options.
- Text with Structure Plus Basic Formatting: Dreamweaver includes structural formatting as well as basic formatting, such as bold and italic.

- Text with Structure Plus Full Formatting: In addition to the previous options, Dreamweaver includes formatting created by style sheets in programs such as Microsoft Word.
- Retain Line Breaks: Selecting this check box ensures that line breaks are preserved, even if you don't keep other formatting options.
- Clean Up Word Paragraph Spacing: This option is designed to address a common problem in the way Microsoft Word paragraph spacing is converted when content is pasted into an HTML file.

5. All Dreamweaver layouts include a collection of corresponding styles. As a result, to edit many of the elements, such as the background color of the header area, you must edit the corresponding style. First, open the CSS Styles panel (if it's not already open) by choosing Windowt>CSS Styles, and then click the plus (+) sign next to <style> (or whatever the external style sheet is named) to open it. Dreamweaver displays all styles that correspond to the style sheet associated with this page. (*Tip:* Make sure that the All button is selected at the top of the CSS Styles panel to display all styles.)

CSS STYLES AP EL	EMENTS		•			
All Current						
All Rules						
Style> body -oneColFix	CtrHdr #c	ontainer				
oneColFix(CtrHdr #h CtrHdr #n CtrHdr #fi CtrHdr #fi	eader hi nainConte ooter ooter p	ช nt			
Properties for ".one	ColFixCt	rHdr #hea	ader"			
background	#DDDDD	D				
padding	0 10px 0	20px				
Add Property						
ä≡ Az↓**↓		🐵 🖯	01			

6. To change the color or other style options for the header, double-click the style named .oneColFixCtrHdr #header to open it in the CSS Rule Definition dialog box. Click to select the Background category, and use the color palette to change the background color. Choose the Type category to access font, size, and other text options. Click Apply to see how the settings look, and then click OK to save them and close the dialog box.



CSS STYLES A	P ELEMENTS	*
All Curre	nt	
All Rules		
⊟ <style></style>		

7. To change the width of the one-column layout, you need to edit the Div tag that surrounds all the content on the page. By following the common practice of using Div tags to "contain" elements on a page and styles, to describe how they should be displayed, Dreamweaver includes a Div identified as container in every layout. The container controls the overall width of the design area; to change the width of your design, you need to change the corresponding style. To do so, double-click the style named .oneColFixCtrHdr #container to open it in the CSS Rule Definition dialog box. (The Div is the foundation of the box model, which I explain in Chapter 4.)



This is an advanced tip. If you don't like the compound styles used in Dreamweaver layouts, you can simplify them. Dreamweaver includes a body class for each of these layouts and includes it in the name of each style. In this case, the body class is oneColFixCtrHdr. You can remove the body class by deleting .oneColFixCtrHdr from the front of each style name, but if you do so, you must also delete it from the body tag in the HTML code. To do so, first click the Split View button at the top of the workspace to open the HTML code, and then search for the body tag and delete class="oneColFixCtrHdr". Although removing the class style is optional, it simplifies the rest of the style names by making them all shorter, which many designers find easier when working with style sheets. To save you from having to find the body tag in the HTML code, I leave the longer style names the way Dreamweaver creates them in this task.

Chapter 6: Getting Started with Dreamweaver

8. In the CSS Rule Definition dialog, choose Box from the Category list (left) and then use the width field to change the width as desired. In this case, I'm changing the width from 780 pixels to 980 by replacing the number in the Width field. Limiting the width of your page to 780 pixels is good practice if you want your page to display well in an 800 x 600 resolution monitor, but most Web designers today design for a monitor resolution of 1024×786 and a width of 980 is well suited to that size, leaving just enough room for scrollbars and other elements of the browser that take up space on the screen. Click Apply to preview your changes, and then click OK to save your changes and close the dialog box.

width:	950	r [px •	Float:		•
Height:	63	px +	Clear:		-
Padding			Margin		
	Same for a	1		Same for	all
Top:	+	рк 😁	Top:	0 +	-
Right:		px ~	Right:	auto 🝷	px ~
Bottom:		px =	Bottom:	0 •	•
Left:		рх =	Left:	auto -	px =
	Width: Height: Padding Top: Rught: Bottom: Left:	Hoight: Padding Visene for a Top: Right: Buttom: Left:	Writh: 990 • [px • Height: • px • Padding [V] Same for all • px • Top: • px • • • • Right: • px • <	Wilth: 990 px Finat: Height: px Clear: Padding IV/Sene for all Top: Top: px Top: Right: px Right: Bulton: px Bulton: Left: px Left:	Width: 950 Image: The second

Category	Туре
Type Deckaround Block Block Block Bock Bock Bock Ust Positioning Extensions	Pont-family: Verdana, Geneva, sans-serif Font size: georga, times New Koman, times, serif Courier New, Courier, monospace Font-style: Arisi, Holvelkou, sans-serif Tahoma, Geneva, sans-serif Line-Ingi/ht: Trebudnet MS, Arial, Helvetika, sans-serif Arial Hack, Gadper, sans-serif Text-decuratu Imes New Koman, times, serif Luido Sans Uhicodo, Luida Grande, sans serif MS Serif, Now York, sorif Luido Console, Monaso, monospace Curit, Sans MS, cursier Garamond, Times New Roman, sans-serif Edit Font List

9. You can also change the font or color of any or all text on a page by changing the corresponding styles. If you aren't familiar with HTML, you may not guess that to change the font style for the entire page, you need to alter the Body style. That's because the <body> tag controls pagewide settings, like font face and link styles. You can use multiple fonts on a page by changing the font style for a specific section of text, but to change the default font for the entire page, double-click Body in the CSS Styles panel, choose the Type category and use the Fontfamily drop-down list to select a font collection.



If the body tag isn't already defined with a style, you might find it easier to use the Page Properties dialog box, described in the section, "Changing Page-Wide Settings with Page Properties," later in this chapter. For more information on font collections and using XHTML and CSS together, see Chapter 4.

Adding paragraphs and line breaks

When you create page designs for the Web, you must work within many limitations that might be confusing at first, even if they serve a purpose. How you create paragraph and line breaks is a good example.

If you're working in Design view in Dreamweaver and press Enter (Windows) or Return (Mac), Dreamweaver inserts a (Paragraph) tag in the code, which creates a line break followed by a blank line. If you want a line break without the extra blank line, hold down the Shift key and press Enter or Return; Dreamweaver inserts the
 tag into the code, to create a single line break.

If you want to add a lot of space, press Enter or Return multiple times to have

Dreamweaver insert . These Open and Close paragraph tags have a nonbreaking space in the middle.

You can also add space to a page by using margins or padding settings in CSS styles. You find instructions for working with these style options in the section, "Creating New Pages in Dreamweaver," earlier in this chapter.

Note that you can add as much space as you like to HTML code without changing the page design. If you're working in Code view in Dreamweaver, you can add space within the code by pressing Enter or Return without affecting the way the page appears in a Web browser.

Inserting Images in Dreamweaver

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver CS4
- A Web site with a root folder defined in Dreamweaver
- A GIF or JPEG image (sample images are available at this book's companion Web site at www. DigitalFamily. com/diy)



Time needed:

Less than half an hour

You can add images in the JPEG, PNG, or GIF format to your pages in Dreamweaver. In Chapter 5, you discover how to optimize images for the Web. In this task, you learn how to insert image into a Web page in Dreamweaver.



1. For many designs, such as the one featured in this task for Pamela's Pet Services, you may want to use a graphic instead of text in the Header. First, simply delete the text in the Header area, and then choose Insert⇔Image to select the graphic you want to use in its place. If you insert a graphic that's not in your local root folder, Dreamweaver automatically copies it into your images folder. Unless you have Accessibility Attributes turned off in the Dreamweaver preferences, you're also prompted to enter alternate text. Type a description of your image in the Alternate text field in the Image Tag Accessibility Attributes dialog box. Alternatively, you can click to select any image and type a description into the Alt field in the Property Inspector.



Alternate text, which is displayed if an image isn't visible, provides a description of the image for visitors who are visually impaired and use special browsers that "read" Web pages aloud. Including key words in Alt text can also make your page more search engine friendly.



- **2.** Although I changed the width of the layout to match the width of my banner (in the previous task), the banner didn't line up properly when I inserted it into the header. That's because the header is styled for text and includes padding to better position the text away from the sides of the layout. To make an image, such as this banner fit in the header properly, you need to remove the extra space. First, click the style named .oneColFixCtrHdr #header in the CSS Styles panel. Then expand the Styles panel to display the Properties for the #header style and delete everything in the padding field by selecting it and pressing the Delete key.
- **3.** Even after deleting the padding, you're still likely to have extra space at the top and bottom of the banner; this space is caused by the H1 tag attributes that make the header text large and bold. If you deleted the H1 tag when you deleted the text, you won't have this problem, but it's easy to leave the H1 tag behind. Here's a good way to remove any unwanted HTML formatting. First, click to place your cursor in the Header area. (It doesn't matter whether you select the image). Then in the tag selector at the bottom of the workspace, right-click the H1 tag and choose Remove Tag.

. Quisque or	Remove Tag		
arri ieo pede, Suenendisse	Quick Tag Editor		P
eaet purus. 1	Set Class	٠	
et, cursus et	Set ID	•	þ
nec nec liber	Code Navigator		1
	Convert Inline CSS to Rule		
	Collapse Full Tag		
	Collapse Outside Full Tag		h

File Edit View	Insert Modify Format	Commands Site
ndex.html ×	Tag	Ctrl+E
	Image N	Ctrl+Alt+I
	Image Objects ゆ Media	*
	Table Table Objects Layout Objects	Ctrl+Alt+T ▶
	Form	•
Pet B	Hyperlink Email Link	Ctrl +Alt +A
nulla fer commod	n Date	

4. To insert an image in an area of the page where you have text, click to place your cursor where you want the image to appear and then choose Insert → Image. Find the image you want to insert on your hard drive and double-click to select it. If it's not already in your root folder, click Yes to let Dreamweaver copy it into the main folder of your site. Finally, add a text description in the Alternative text field in the Image Tag Accessibility dialog and then click OK. The image appears in the page, forcing any text down below it.

5. To align an image to the right or left and wrap the text around it, your best option is to use a CSS style. In all the templates included with this book, and in many of the CSS Layouts included with Dreamweaver, you'll find styles with the name fltrt (or float-right) for aligning images to the right, and fltlft (or float-left), for aligning images to the left. To use these styles, first click to select the image. Then, in the Property Inspector, click the Class drop-down list and choose the alignment style you want to use. In this example, I selected fltlft.



CSS STYLES AP E	
All Current	
All Rules	
<pre><style></style></pre>	

6. The alignment styles, such as float-right and float-left, include a margin setting of 8 pixels (px) to create a small margin between an image and any text that wraps around it when it's aligned to the left or right of a page. You can change the margin settings to increase or decrease this space by clicking to select the style in the CSS Styles panel, and then changing the number of pixels in the Properties pane. Alternatively, you can double-click the style name to open the CSS Rule definition dialog and change the margin settings in the Box category.



You can adjust the margins and padding around images, Div tags, and other elements to control spacing and positioning. The simplest way to understand padding and margins is to remember this statement: Padding adds space to the inside of an element, and margins add space to the outside. The same statement is true whether the element is a Div tag, an image, a table cell, or anything else. If you want more space around a photo, for example, add margin space. If you want a gap between the edge of a Div tag and its contents, add padding. Here's an advanced tip: When you add padding, you increase the overall size of the element. For example, a photo that's 200 px wide and has 10 px of padding on each side expands to fill 220 px of space in the design.

Setting Links to Other Pages in Your Site

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver CS4
- A Web site with a root folder defined in Dreamweaver and more than one page that you can set the link to



Time needed:

Less than 15 minutes Dreamweaver is truly a dream when it comes to setting links. The most important thing to keep in mind is that a link is essentially an address (a URL) that tells a visitor's browser which page to open when the visitor clicks the text or image containing the link.

If the page you want to link to is within your Web site, you can create a *relative* link, which includes a path describing how to get from the current page to the linked page. A relative link doesn't need to include the domain name of the site — just the instructions for a browser to move from one page within your site to another. (If you want to link to a page outside your site, see the next section, "Linking to Another Web Site.")

When you link from one page to another page in your Web site, the most important thing to remember is to save your pages in your site's root folder (as described in "Defining a Web Site in Dreamweaver," earlier in this chapter) before you start setting links. Here's how to create a link from one page to another within a Web site:



1. In Dreamweaver, open the page where you want to create a link. Select the text or image that you want to serve as the link (the text or image that a user clicks to trigger the link). Click and drag to highlight text, or click once to select an image. In this example, I select the text Learn more about our boarding services, and I want to link it to a page named boarding.html located in a folder named services. Note that all these files and folders are located inside the local root folder that I defined for this site in Dreamweaver.



2. To set the link, click the Link icon on the Common Insert panel to open the Hyperlink dialog box. (Alternatively, you can choose Insert + Hyperlink.)

Chapter 6: Getting Started with Dreamweaver 111

3. In the Hyperlink dialog box, click the Browse icon (the yellow file folder) to the right of the Link field. In the Select File dialog box that appears, navigate on your hard drive to the page to which you want to link your image or text. Click to select the filename of the page, and then click OK (in Windows) or Choose (on a Mac). The rest of the settings in this dialog box are optional. (See sidebar on "Targeting how links open".)

Text:	Learn more about our board	ing se	ОК
Link:	services/boarding.html	- 0	Cancel
Target:	•		Help
Title:			
Access key:			
Tab index:			



Pet Boarding Services

At Pamela's Pet Services, we pamper your afternoon or for an extended vacation.

Our trained staff delight in playing with yo only well fed, but that they get plenty of e

Learn more about our boarding services

Pamper Your Pet with Our

We offer a luxury bath and trim service, will your pet. 4. The link is automatically set, and the dialog box closes. If you create a link by using text, as I do in this example, the text changes to reflect the style for a link. By default, Active links appear underlined and in dark blue. To test your links, you must view the page in a Web browser. Choose File⊕Preview in Browser and then choose any browser you associated with Dreamweaver to preview the page and test the link. For more detailed instructions on previewing a page in a Web browser, see Chapter 10.



If you haven't already saved your page, a message box opens, explaining that you can create a relative link only after you save the page. Always save the page you're working on before you set links.

Targeting how links open

When you create a link in Dreamweaver, you can specify the Target options by using the Target drop-down menu in the Properties inspector, or by selecting a Target option when you set the link in the Hyperlink dialog. These are the target options and their effect:

- _blank: Opens the linked page in a new browser window.
- _parent: Opens the linked page in the parent frameset or window that contains the link.
- __self: Opens the linked page into the same frame or window as the link. This is the default, so if you don't specify a target, it should open in the same window.
- _top: Opens the linked page into a full browser window, which removes any frames if they are in use.

Linking to Another Web Site



- 2. In the Link text box in the Property Inspector, type the URL of the page you want your text or image to link to, and then press Enter (in Windows) or Return (on the Mac). You can also copy and paste a URL from the address bar in a Web browser, which is an excellent way to ensure that you don't enter the address incorrectly. You must always use the full URL, including the http:// part, when you create an external link in HTML. Otherwise, the browser can't find the correct external site address.
- 3. The link is set automatically, and the text changes to indicate that it's an active link. To test a link to another Web site, you must view your page in a browser and be connected to the Internet. Choose File⇔Preview in Browser and then choose any browser you've associated with Dreamweaver to preview the page and test the link. For more detailed instructions on previewing your page in a browser, see Chapter 10.

Setting a Link to an E-Mail Address



Another common link option directs site visitors to an e-mail address. Visitors can send you messages easily with e-mail links. I always recommend that you invite visitors to contact you because they can point out mistakes in your site and give you valuable feedback about how you can further develop your site. Adding contact information also lends credibility to a Web site because it shows that you're accessible and open to being contacted.

Setting a link to an e-mail address is just as easy as setting a link to another Web page. All you need to know is the e-mail address you want to link to and which text or image you want to use when you set the link.

Pamper Your Pet with Our Grooming Services

We offer luxury bath, trim, and other grooming services. Keeping your pet healthy and safe is the most important part of any groomming session.

Making your pet comfortable and happy is our top priority. Dressing them in business suits is optional.

We also offer free pick up and delivery for your pet on certain days! For more information or to schedule a pickup, email us at info@pamelaspetservices.com





To create an e-mail link, select the

text that you want to serve as

2. With the text selected, click the Email Link icon on the Common Insert panel. Alternatively, you can choose Insert Demail Link.



1.

the link.

When visitors to your Web site click an e-mail link, the visitor's computer system automatically launches the default e-mail program and creates a blank e-mail message to the specified e-mail address. This is a cool trick, but it can be disconcerting to users who don't expect it to happen, and it doesn't work if they don't have an e-mail program on their computer. That's why I always try to let users know when I use an e-mail link. For example, rather than just link the words *Contact Janine*, I link the words *Email Janine*. Even better, I often link the actual e-mail address.

3. In the Email Link dialog box that opens, enter the e-mail address in the E-Mail field and click OK. The dialog box closes and the text automatically changes to the style for an active link.

Email Li	nk	
Text:	info@pamelaspetservices.com	Cancel
E-Mail:	info@pamelaspetservices.com	Help



4. The Email Link dialog box works only with text. If you want to use an image as an e-mail link, you must select the image and then enter the e-mail address, preceded by mailto: in the Link field in the Property Inspector. In this example, the image is selected, and the e-mail link has been created by entering mailto:info@pamelaspetservices.com.



When you create an e-mail link on a Web page to be displayed on the public Internet, you open yourself to spammers, some of whom use automated programs to "lift" e-mail addresses off Web pages. That's why many sites don't include e-mail links, but instead use text such as "Send e-mail to Janine at jcwarner dot-com." You can also use a form to get around this potential problem. By setting up a form with a script that delivers the form's contents to an e-mail address, you can shield your e-mail address from spammers while still making it easy for visitors to your site to send comments. A relatively new alternative is offered by the Web site AddressMunger.com, which you can use to create a special script that shields your e-mail address from spammers. You can find more information in Chapter 15 about AddressMunger.com and other services that you can use to enhance your Web site.

Changing Page-Wide Settings with Page Properties



You can change many individual elements on a page in the Property Inspector, but if you want to make changes that affect the entire page, such as changing the background color of the entire page or changing the way links and text are formatted, you can use the Page Properties dialog box. Although you can apply global settings, such as text size and color, in the Page Properties dialog box, you can override those settings with other formatting options in specific instances. For example, you can set all text to the Helvetica font in the page properties and then change the font for an individual headline to Verdana via the Font field in the Property Inspector. To change the font settings, background and text colors, and link colors for an entire page, follow these steps:

 Choose Modify⇒Page Properties or click the Page Properties button in the Property Inspector to open the Page Properties dialog box. Select the Appearance (CSS) category, click the Page Font drop-down list, and choose the font collection you want to serve as the main font for the text on your page. (See the earlier sidebar "Why so many fonts?" in Chapter 4.)





2. In the Size drop-down list, specify the font size you want for the text on your page. (In this example, I selected 100%, but you can choose from a variety of size settings.) Click the Text Color swatch box to reveal the color palette. Choose any color you want for the text color on the page. The color you select fills the color swatch box but doesn't change the text color on the page until you click Apply or OK.



When you change the background, text, or link colors, make sure that the colors look good together and that your text is still readable. As a general rule, go for high contrast pairings: light text is best displayed on a dark background, and dark text is best displayed on a light background.

116 Part II: Putting the Pages Together

3. Click the Background Color swatch box and choose a color if you want to fill the background of the page with a solid color. If you want to insert a graphic into the background of your page, as I did here, click the Browse button next to the Background Image box, and in the Select Image Source dialog box that appears, select an image and click OK to return to the Page Properties dialog box. When you insert a background image, it automatically repeats (or *tiles*) across and down the page unless you choose the no-repeat option from the Repeat drop-down list or use CSS to further define the display.



4. Use the margin options at the bottom of the dialog box to change the left, right, top, or bottom margins of your page. Entering **0** in all four fields removes the default margin settings, which automatically add margin space at the top and left side of a Web page, enabling you to create designs whose edges begin flush with the edge of a browser. Most professional designers prefer to set the margins to 0 and then use other CSS settings to control the positioning of the design within a browser window.





5. To alter the display of links on a page, first select the Links (CSS) category from the left side of the Page Properties dialog box. Specify the font face and size you want for the links on your page. If you don't specify a font, links appear in the same font and size that are specified for the text in your document.



Although you can vary the link styles to suit the design of your site, it's good practice to use the same link styles throughout your site so that your visitors can easily identify links.

- 6. To the right of the Link Font drop-down list, click the B or *I* icon if you want all links on your page to appear in bold or italic, respectively. Specify a color for any link option (or all link options) by clicking the color palette and selecting a color for each of the link states separately. The color you select is applied to links on your page based on the link state. All four link states can be displayed in the same or different colors:
 - *Link Color*: This option controls the color in which a link appears when it's first displayed on a page.
 - *Visited Links:* This option controls the color of links that a visitor has already clicked, or visited.
 - *Rollover Links:* A link changes to this color when a user rolls the cursor over the link (also known as *hovering*).
 - *Active Links:* A link changes to this color briefly while a user is actively clicking it.
- 7. In the Underline Style drop-down list, specify whether you want links underlined. By default, all links on a Web page appear underlined in a browser, but many designers find the underline distracting and prefer to turn it off by selecting Never Underline. You can also choose Show Underline Only on Rollover to make the underline appear when a user moves a cursor over a link. Hide Underline on Rollover causes the underline to disappear when a user moves a cursor over a cursor over a link.





Category	Links (CSS)								
Appearance (CSS) Appearance (HTML)	Link font:	(Sa	me as page f	ont)			٠	B	I
Headings (CSS)	Size:		-	px =					
Tracing Image	Link color:	L,	#009	Rollover links:	F.	#FC3			
	Visited links:	Ŀ	#333	Active links:		#FC3			
	Underline style:	Never underline							

8. As you alter the different settings, you can click the Apply button to see how the changes appear on your page. After you specify all the settings, click OK to finish and close the Page Properties dialog box.

Defining New Styles in Dreamweaver

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver CS4
- A page or Web site you where you want to add a new style

Time needed:

About 15 minutes

Whether you create a new, blank page in Dreamweaver or start with one of the Dreamweaver CSS layouts, as described in an earlier task in this chapter, you can create your own styles to format text, images, and other elements in your pages.

As you move through the steps to create a new style in Dreamweaver, you might be surprised by the number of options in the numerous panels and dialog boxes available for creating CSS. As you explore the possibilities, remember that you can leave attributes unspecified if you don't want to use them and that you can always go back and edit styles after you create them.

To define a new style, either create a new document or open an existing Web page in Dreamweaver and follow these steps:

1. Choose Format与CSS Styles⇒New.



New CSS Rule	
Selector Type:	
Choose a contextual selector type for your CSS rule.	
Class (can apply to any HTML element)	
Selector Name:	
Choose or enter a name for your selector.	
imagecaption	•
This selector name will apply your rule to	*

2. In the New CSS Rule dialog box, choose the type of CSS selector you want to create from the Selector Type drop-down menu. (If you need a refresher on the four selector options and choosing selector types, see Chapter 4.) In this example, I'm creating a class style that I will use to format the captions for my images. In the Selector Name field, type a name. Because class styles must begin with a period (.), I named this style .imagecaption.

3. In the Rule Definition area at the bottom of the New CSS Rule dialog box, select where you want to define your new style. Choose This Document Only from the drop-down menu to create an internal style sheet. In this example, I'm adding my new style to an external style sheet that's already attached to my page (design.css). To create an external style sheet, click to select the name of the style sheet, or choose New Style Sheet File to create a new style sheet file as you create the style. If you choose to create a new style sheet, enter a name in the Save Style Sheet File As dialog box and then click Save to continue. Usually, you want to add a style to an external style sheet; see Chapter 4 for details about internal versus external style sheets.

Rule D	efinition:	
Choose	where your rule will be defined.	
	design.css	7
	(This document only)	1
	(New Style Sheet File)	_

Category	Туре						
Type Dackground Block	Font-family:	Georgia, Tim	es New	Roman	, Times, serif		•
Box Border	Font size:	small -	px.	-	Font-weight:	bold	-
List Positioning	Font-style:		-		Font-variant:	normal bold	N
Lxtensions	Line-height:		px.	-	Text-transform:	lighter	Lig
	Text-decoratio	n: 🕅 underlin	ie		Color: 📘	100 200 300	
		ine-thr	: ough			400 500	
		E blink				700	
		none				900	

4. In the CSS Rule Definition dialog box, choose a category on the left. For this example, I chose the Type category to specify font options for this style because I want the font to be different from the main page font. As you can see in this figure, I chose the Georgia, Times New Roman, Times, serif font collection; set the Font size to Small; and set the Font weight to Bold. (See Chapter 4 for more information about font collections.) Click OK to save the style and close the dialog box.

panel.

CSS STYLES AP ELEMENTS *= All Current **All Rules** 🗉 design.css ×. -body #container -#header -#mainContent -#mainContent2 #footer #footer p Ħ #navbar #navbar ul *5.* The new style appears at the bottom of the #navbar li #navbar a CSS Styles panel. You can change the order h1 of styles by clicking to select a style name h2 and dragging it to another position in the h3 -.fltrt -. fltlft .imagecaption Properties for ".imagecaption" font-size small line-height 110% Add Property :≣≘ Az + **+ 1 / m



6. To apply a new class style, like the one I created in this task, select a section of text in a Web page and then use the Class drop-down list to select and apply the style. For more information on how to apply other kinds of styles, see Chapter 4.

Creating and Using Templates



After all the time you spend creating a page design in Dreamweaver, you might be pleased to know about templates. When you save a file as a Dreamweaver Web Template, it becomes available from the New File dialog box, which makes it easy to use to create new pages quickly. But the greatest time-saving benefit of Dreamweaver's Web Templates becomes evident when you want to make changes to a design after you use it to create numerous pages because you can use templates to make global updates across many pages at once.

Most of the templates included with this book use the Dreamweaver Web Template features. Reading through this task not only shows you how to create your own templates but also helps you better understand how to use and edit the templates that you can download to use with this book. To find the templates, just go to www.DigitalFamily.com/diy.

In this task, you learn how to save any page as a template, use the template to create new pages, and then edit the template to make global updates to those pages.

 To create a new template, choose File⇔New. In the New Document dialog box that appears, choose Blank Template and then choose the Type and Layout just as you would to create a new page. (See the "Creating New Pages in Dreamweaver" task earlier in this chapter.) You also can turn any existing page in Dreamweaver into a template by using the Save As Template option. In this task, I build on a page from an earlier task by turning it into a template. To do so, open any Web page in Dreamweaver and choose File⇔Save As Template.



122 Part II: Putting the Pages Together

2. In the Save As Template dialog box, make sure that the site you're working on is displayed in the Site field. (This should happen automatically if you completed the site definition process; if you haven't, make sure to do so by following the steps in the first task in this chapter.) You can name the template anything you like as long as you don't use spaces or punctuation. When you're prompted by the Update Links dialog box, choose Yes to preserve any links to pages or images in the file.

Site:	Pamela's Pet Services 🔹 👻	Save
Existing templates:	(no templates)	Cancel
Description:		
boschpdom		



3. When you create a Web Template, Dreamweaver automatically adds the .dwt extension. In this case, my file is named services.dwt. As you can see in the Files panel shown in this figure, Dreamweaver automatically stores the new template in a folder named Templates. If you don't already have a Templates folder in your local root folder, Dreamweaver creates one for you when you save your first template. If Dreamweaver prompts you to update links as you save the page as a template, click Yes.



Although the Dreamweaver layouts are designed to display CSS and other formatting options according to contemporary standards, not all Web browsers support CSS the same way, so it's always wise to test your designs in a variety of Web browsers before you publish them. And here's a tip: Internet Explorer and Safari do not display Dreamweaver Web Templates, but Firefox does. Thus, if you're working on a template and want to preview your work as you go along, choose File Preview in Browser and then choose Firefox from the list of browsers. (You find more detailed instructions in Chapter 10 for previewing your pages in multiple Web browsers and for adding new browsers to the preview list in Dreamweaver.)



4. Before you use your template to create new pages, you need to create *editable* regions in the template: areas of the template that can be edited in new pages created from the template. You create editable regions where you want to be able to add unique content to a new page created from the template, such as the photos and stories you will want to use in the main part of each page. To create an editable region, first select a container, such as the mainContent div, that contains the text and image in the middle of this page. To select the mainContent div, I place my cursor in the content and then clicked the mainContent tag in the tag selector at the bottom of the page.



Any area that's not an editable region can only be edited in the template itself, and any edits you make to a part of the page that isn't designated as editable will automatically be updated on all the pages created from the page. For example, I wouldn't make the banner at the top of this page an editable region because I want to use the same banner at the top of every page in this site. **5.** With a container selected, such as the mainContent div, choose Insert Template Objects ⇒Editable Region.

Insert	Modify Format	Commands Site	e Window Help
Т	ag	Ctrl+E	⁰C\Documents\web sites 1-09\Pamela
I	mage	Ctrl+Alt+I	
I	mage Objects	•	Titles Damela's Det Services
Ν	/ledia	+	50 400 450 500
Т	able	Ctrl+Alt+T	casper >
Т	able Objects	•	150 8
L	ayout Objects	•	your loved ones
F	orm	•	-
F	Hyperlink Imail Link		
4	Vamed Anchor	Ctrl+Alt+A	
C)ate		
S	Server-Side Include		f pet services,
C	Comment		
F	HTML	+	
Т	emplate Objects	Þ	Make Template
F	lecent Snippets	•	Make Nested Template
S	òpry	•	Editable Region
I	nContext Editing	+	Optional Region
۵)ata Objects	+	Repeating Region
C	Customize Favorites		Editable Optional Region
0	Get More Objects		Repeating Table



- **6.** In the New Editable Region dialog box that opens, give the region a name (no spaces or special characters!), and then click OK. I enter the name Main in this example. If you don't have visual aids turned off, Dreamweaver will distinguish the editable region by surrounding it with a blue line and including a small tab at the top with the name you gave the region. Repeat Steps 4, 5, and 6, selecting different containers in turn to create additional editable regions.
- 7. After you define all editable regions, choose File Save to save the template. When you're ready to create a new page from the template, choose File New, just as you would do to create any new page in Dreamweaver. In the New Document dialog box, choose Page from Template from the left-hand column, choose the site you're working on from the middle column, and then choose the template you want from the right column. Notice that Dreamweaver includes a preview of the template at the far right side of the dialog box.



8. Always save a new page before you start editing it by choosing File⁺>Save, just as you would save any other new file in Dreamweaver. You can then edit any of the editable regions in a page created from a template, adding images and text to the editable regions, such as this cat photo and text. Remember, however, that you can't alter any of the areas that aren't editable, such as the banner image at the top of the page, which can only be changed in the template.





9. At any time, you can go back to the template to make changes to any area of the template that isn't an editable region, and those changes will automatically be applied to any pages created from the template. In this example, I included copyright information in the footer of the page. Because it's not an editable region, I can now change the year from 2009 to 2010, and the footer will automatically be updated on every page in the site created from the template.

10. To save your changes and update any pages created from the template at the same time, choose File⇔Save. In the Update Template Files dialog box, click Update. Dreamweaver lists all pages created from the template in this dialog box so that you can see exactly which pages will change. If you don't want to apply the changes to your pages, choose Don't Update. All new pages created from the template will include the changes you made.



Adding Meta Tags for Search Engines



Less than half

an hour

If you've heard of meta tags, you probably correctly associate them with search engines. Although meta tags are used for a variety of purposes, the most common is to provide special text that doesn't appear in the body of your page but is read by crawlers, bots, and other programs that scour the Web, reading the code behind Web pages and cataloging and ranking those pages for Bing, Google, and a long list of other search-related sites.

Some search engines read meta tags for keywords and descriptions. The keyword meta tag enables site designers to specify a list of keywords that match the content on their Web sites when someone types the same keywords into a search engine. The meta description tag is designed to let you include a written description of your Web site, and search engines often display its content as the brief description that appears in search results pages, so including a meta description in all your pages is definitely worthwhile. Follow these steps to fill in the meta description tag:

 Open the page where you want to add a meta description. You can use meta descriptions on any page, or all pages, on your Web site. Choose Insert ⇒ HTML ⇒ Head Tags ⇒ Description. In the Description text box, enter the text you want for your page description. (Don't add any HTML code in this box). When you click OK, the meta description is automatically added to the HTML code behind the page.





2. To view or edit the Meta description after you create it, choose either the Split or Code view option by clicking the corresponding button at the top of the workspace. In this example, I selected Split so that both Code view and Design view are visible. To edit the meta description, locate it in the HTML code, and then you can delete, change, or add text as you would in Design view. The description text you enter is inserted into the Head area at the top of the page in the HTML code. Meta content doesn't appear in the body of the page.

If you want to add keywords, repeat Steps 1 and 2 and choose Insert HTML Head Tags Keywords in Step 1.

Inserting Code into a Web Page in Dreamweaver

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver CS4
- A Web browser, such as Internet Explorer or Firefox
- A snippet of code from a site like Google
- A Web page where you want to add the code



Time needed: About half an hour

1. The easiest way to add code to a page in Dreamweaver is click the Split View button in the upper-left corner of the workspace to display the code behind the page in the top part of the workspace. The advantage of using Split view is that you can see Design and Code views at the same time. *Here's a tip:* When you're working on code that adds a visible element to your page, click any element in Design view, such as the Copyright information in the footer at the bottom of this page, and Dreamweaver automatically highlights the corresponding code so that you can find your place more easily.

Code	solt	U Design	2 LM	e View	hidh		T	tie: Pa	imela's Pe	t Services	_	<u>٨</u> ٩.	62	e	Π.	B.	b ⁰
3 30		iiv.id=	"foo	ter"	P<	all card		-				1.04.	<i>.</i>	-		~~~	
40 E			yrig	111 12	ana.	TEAT	Sel.	ght	nitrer	menor	1.0	Pam	ela	s ·I	Pet	•	
	Serv	vices.															
: 41		·<1 ·e	end -#	foot	er	->¶											
42		/div>¶															
# 43	• • < ;	·end	i-#co	ntai	ner	-> </td <td>/di</td> <td>P<v.< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></v.<></td>	/di	P <v.< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></v.<>									
44	<td>ody>¶</td> <td></td> <td>- 1</td>	ody>¶															- 1
45	<td>P<1m:</td> <td></td> <td>- 1</td>	P<1m:															- 1
* 46	9																
	Enter Enter text h	Third b text here ere. Enter	eadlin Enter text h	ne text h ere. Er	ere. E ater te	nter tex	st he	ere. E	nter	Add.C	Captio	on H	ere				
	eht 20	10. All rig	hts res	erved	Pame	la's Pet	t Ser	vices									



One of the most confusing aspects of adding code to your site is that sometimes you see it in the design and other times you don't. For example, when you add Google Analytics code to a page in Dreamweaver, no visible change takes place on the page in Design view because the analytics code is only used to measure traffic to the page with nothing visible to your visitors. However, some kinds of code, such as Google AdSense which displays ads in a Web page, can be viewed, but only when you preview a page in a Web browser. Another point that trips up new Web designers is that, for the code to take effect, you'll need to upload the page to a Web server so that Google can find the AdSense code and begin tracking your traffic. You find instructions for publishing your pages in Dreamweaver and more about how to use Google Analytics in Chapter 10.

Many of the services featured in this book, including Google AdSense, PayPal Buttons, and Google Analytics, require that you add a snippet of HTML code or JavaScript to your Web pages.

In many cases, you need to add the same code to one or more pages in a site. In the example featured in this task, I'm adding the code needed for Google Analytics, which measures traffic to a Web site and needs to be included at the bottom of every page on a site. In this case, the most efficient way to add the code is to insert it into the template page. Adding code to a template will add the code to every page created from the template simultaneously.

When you open Dreamweaver to add your code, leave your Web browser open so that it displays the page where you copied the code, in case you want to make changes or need to copy the code again. You can easily switch between two programs on your computer by pressing Alt+Tab (Windows) or \Re +Tab (Mac).

128 Part II: Putting the Pages Together

84	••¶
85 P	<script·type="text javascript"="">¶</script·type="text>
86	<pre>var gaJsHost = (("https:" == document.location.protocol) ? </pre>
	"https://ssl."·:·"http://www.");¶
87	document.write(unescape("%3Cscript·src='"·+·gaJsHost·+·
	"google-analytics.com/ga.js'·
	type='text/javascript'%3E%3C/script%3E"));¶
88	¶
89	<script·type="text javascript"="">¶</script·type="text>
90	try · (¶
91	<pre>var ·pageTracker ·= ·_gatgetTracker ("UA-10602150-1");¶</pre>
92	pageTrackertrackPageview();¶
93 🖬	} ·catch(err) ·{ }¶
94	¶
95	¶
96	91

2. Find the exact place where you want to add the code. Google Analytics should be added just above the </body> tag at the very end of a page. Click to place the cursor in the code; then choose Edit+>Paste to insert the code you copied from a Web site (like Google Analytics) into your page. Notice that the Google code is surrounded by <script> and </script> tags. If you ever want to delete or replace this code, make sure when you select the code that you include everything between and including the <script> tags.



The code you copy from a site like Google may include a script or other code that isn't in basic HTML. This issue shouldn't matter as long as you copy the code exactly as Google (or any other Web site) instructs you to and you paste all the code into the HTML in your Web page. For example, if the code begins with a <script> tag, it should include a closing </script> tag.

Chapter 7 Creating a Profile or Portfolio Site



A Web site about yourself is a powerful tool that can help you land your dream job, attract high-profile clients, or even reconnect with long-lost friends and family.

Perhaps the biggest challenge to creating a profile or portfolio site is determining the best way to summarize your life experience, talents, and body of work:

- If you're an artist, you can photograph your paintings or sculptures to create a visual portfolio of your work to display online.
- If you're a consultant, you can develop a collection of case studies describing your success with previous clients or featuring your best designs.
- If you're a writer, you can include a collection of published articles or showcase writing that hasn't been published anywhere else — after all, a Web site enables you to become your own publisher.

No matter what you do, you probably want to create a biography about yourself. Whether your bio is serious or silly, trying to sum up your own life in a few paragraphs is likely to be one of the most challenging things you will ever write (which is why I include a few tips for writing a great biography in the sidebar "Telling your own tale.")

In this chapter, you also discover the basics of bringing your ideas to life on the Web. Working in Photoshop and Dreamweaver, you can transform the templates featured in this chapter into a Web site that best showcases your work. If you start working in this chapter and realize you still have a lot of work ahead of you to gather all the images, text, and other elements you need for your site, consider jumping to Chapter 2 and using the content check list and other resources to help you with the planning process.

Starting with Profile or Portfolio Templates

The instructions in this chapter are designed to be used with the templates and images provided on the Web site for this book (www.DigitalFamily.com/diy). You can choose a profile template or a portfolio template, depending on the type of site you want to create. To download a template, just check the Web site for this chapter number and template name listed in the Toolbox and then follow the simple instructions on the site to download the files. The step-by-step instructions in this chapter explain how to edit the template images as well as change colors, fonts, and other style options in the Web page templates.

If you're new to working with Dreamweaver, you might want to first read Chapter 6 to become familiar with the basics of working with Dreamweaver before you dive into creating a site with a template. If you know a little bit about Web design and you're ready to customize one of the templates featured in this chapter, you find everything you need in the following pages.

Introducing the profile template

If you want to showcase your personal or professional experience, the profile template is designed to make it easy to create a simple Web site that features your biography and samples of your work or hobbies in one quick and easy-to-design Web page. The first task in this chapter is the simplest of the template designs in this book. However, you can still alter the design as much or as little as you like, and you can always add more pages.

If you want to create a profile site with multiple pages, you can save copies of the page design and create links to as many pages as you need. If you know that you want to create a site with multiple sections, you may want to use the portfolio site template featured in the second half of this chapter because it's already set up for a multiple page design, with a portfolio section that already includes a collection of linked pages. (See the next section for an introduction to the portfolio template.)

These are the templates and the main pages you get when you download the Profile template folder from www.DigitalFamily.com/diy:

- index.html is for the main Web page.
- banner-graphic.jpg is for the graphic banner that appears at the top of the page.

Figure 7-1 shows an example of a design created using the first template featured in this chapter. In the section "Designing a Winning Online Profile," you find instructions for customizing the profile template text, banners, and other features. The site shown on the right, the freelance writer profile featured in this chapter, is an example of how you can customize the profile template.


Figure 7-1: You can create your own personalized version of the profile site by altering the colors, headlines, and text in this template.

Creating a multipage portfolio site

If you're an artist, a photographer, a graphic designer, or another creative professional, the portfolio site is for you! This template is designed to showcase a portfolio with an image gallery, and thus includes six main pages: one for the front page (shown in Figure 7-2), a second for an About page (which can also be used for a biography), and finally, four pages (one each) for the four galleries. The links among the main pages have already been created in the template files, making it easy to develop your own multipage site, like the one shown in the Figure 7-2.







If you're a photographer with hundreds or thousands of photos that you want to share online, you might be better served by one of the many photo-sharing sites on the Web (such as Flickr) or a professional photography site (such as Advanced Photo Websites at www.ifp3.com). You find a list of photo sites in the nearby sidebar, "Many ways to share your photos."

Because the portfolio site is more complex than the profile site featured in the first part of this chapter, you find three separate tasks designed to help you fully customize this site:

- ✓ The first task, in the section "Customizing Banner Graphics," shows you how to edit the banner graphic (the image that appears at the top of this page design) using Photoshop Elements. However, you can edit the graphics included with the template files in any image editor that supports Layers, including Adobe Photoshop. (Note: If you prefer to use text for the banner, you can simply delete the placeholder graphic at the top of the page and enter text in its place.)
- ✓ The second task, in the section "Customizing the Portfolio Home Page," shows you how to use Dreamweaver to replace the text and images in these templates and how to make basic color and style changes.
- The third task, in the section "Creating and Linking Pages using the Gallery" Templates," covers how to create new pages from Dynamic Web Templates in Dreamweaver, set links to new pages, and use these templates to make global changes across the pages you create.

To help you get started and to make it easy for you to build a complete site quickly, I created five template pages for your portfolio site — one for each of the gallery pages and another for the front and about page designs. You can use these templates to generate as many pages as you like for the site. Because these templates use Dreamweaver's Dynamic Web Template features, however, you will find restrictions on what can be altered in pages generated from the templates because some areas of the templates are locked, a feature that makes it possible to make global changes across all pages created from a template. You find detailed instructions on how to work with templates and locked regions in the tasks that follow.

To help you get started with this site and to ensure that the links on the navigation bars work properly, I created pages for each of the main sections from the templates. You can easily add or delete pages, change the number of galleries, and adjust the design to accommodate images of many different sizes.

These are the templates and the main pages you find in the site when you first download the template folder from www.DigitalFamily.com/diy:

- index.html is the home page of the site, which was not created with a template because it is a unique design. The home page is set up to display a banner image at the top of the page, a large main image in the middle, and four smaller images along the bottom, each linking to a different gallery.
- about.html is designed for a biography or other general information, but you can use it (or save copies of it) to create any page with images and text. It was created from the main.dwt template.
- photo1.html in the gallery1 folder is for the first page of the first gallery of the site and was created from the gallery1.dwt template. It's set up to display a banner at the top of the page, a large main image, and eight smaller images along the bottom.
- photo1.html in the gallery2 folder is for the first page of the second gallery of the site and was created from the gallery2.dwt template. It's set up like the first, but saved as a separate file so that you can alter each gallery independently.

- photol.html in the gallery3 folder is for the first page of the third gallery of the site and was created from the gallery3.dwt template. Again set up like the first, but saved as a separate file so that you can alter it independently.
- photol.html in the gallery4 folder is for the first page of the fourth gallery of the site and was created from the gallery4.dwt template. Again set up like the first, but saved as a separate file so that you can alter it independently.



Naming your files so that they correspond to their contents, as I have here, makes it easier to identify the pages later when you want to edit them.

Many ways to share your photos

You can find many excellent photo-sharing Web sites on the Internet, including the ones highlighted in this list:

Flickr: Flickr (www.flickr.com) is one the most sophisticated online photo sites, offering a wide range of services, including the ability to manage lots and lots of pictures in multiple personal albums. You also get more advanced options for adding captions and other text to your online album.

If you blog, you might appreciate the Flickr features that make it easy to add photos to a blog or online journal. You can even search through photos from other Flickr users and add their photos to your albums. (Sharing is optional: You can keep your albums private or make any or all of your images viewable by anyone who uses the site.)

Photobucket: You can manage large numbers of photos at Photobucket (www.photobucket.com) and also upload and share video. One feature that makes this site extremely popular is the ease with which you can add photos and videos that are hosted at Photobucket to your blog or your profile on sites like MySpace and Facebook.

Kodak EasyShare Gallery: The Kodak Gallery site (www.kodakgallery.com) is easy to use. You can upload photos you take using any digital camera, phone, or film; share your photos with friends, family, or whomever; and print your favorite pictures and shop for photo keepsakes and gifts, such as magnets, mugs, and coasters. Folks who look at your photos can sign a guestbook so that you know they've been there.

Apple MobileMe: If you use an Apple Macintosh computer, you won't find an easier way to share photos than iPhoto and MobileMe (www.apple.com/mobileme). With iPhoto, you can create photocasts to share any photo album with friends and family. When you use this free service, your photos are automatically uploaded to MobileMe, and your friends and family receive an e-mail message with a special link. When they click the link, they automatically receive your photocast. Best of all, when you update your photos, your friends and family receive updates automatically.

Shutterfly: Similar to Kodak EasyShare Gallery, Shutterfly (www.shutterfly.com) makes it easy to post and share photos for free, offers simple photo-editing tools, and sells printing services that you can use to create a variety of gift items and prints, including poster-size enlargements. Shutterfly has an intuitive interface, and you can use its specialized printing options to turn your pictures into greeting cards, bound photo albums, personalized calendars, coffee mugs, T-shirts, and tote bags that you can send to your friends and family.

IFP3 Advanced Photo Websites: If you're a professional photographer and want to create a Web site where you can sell photos online, consider a site like www.ifp3.com, designed to make it easy to upload and display photos as well as manage online sales.

Customizing Banner Graphics

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Photoshop Elements
- The banner graphic from the profile or portfolio templates (from www. DigitalFamily. com/diy)
- Your own text and images to personalize the template banner

Time needed:

About an hour

1. Launch a graphics program, such as Photoshop Elements (shown here), and choose File⇔Open to open one of the template banners.



You can edit the banner graphics used at both the top of the portfolio and profile templates by following the steps in this task. Change the colors and add your own text and images to make these banner graphics work best for your Web site. You can edit these graphics in any image editor that supports Layers, including Adobe Photoshop and Photoshop Elements, which is used in this task. The process is nearly the same with either program in all the most recent versions. The profile banner graphic, like all the other template images featured in this book, is designed with Layers to make it easy for you to customize the images, as you do in this task:

File	Edit Image E	nhance	Layer	Se	lect I	Filter	View
	New			۲			
_ 🗁	Open		Ctrl+O		-allas	Mode:	Nor
	Open As 😽	Alt	+Ctrl+O				
	Open Recently E	dited File		۲			

2. In this example, I'm opening the Profile-Banner.tif template image file. (You find this file in the images folder inside the Profile template folder that you download from the www.DigitalFamily.com/diy Web site.) **3.** Open the Layers palette by choosing Window Layers. The Layers palette displays the five layers in this banner image: one for the background, one for the text Profile Name, one for the smaller text that appears below the name, as well as layers that contain the colored bar and the bottom of the banner and the colored box that appears at the right. Because each section of text is on a separate layer, you can edit the text separately. For example, you can change the color of the words Profile Name without changing the color of the other text or affecting the background color.





4. To edit the text in any image in Photoshop or Photoshop Elements, first select the Type tool in the Toolbox.



5. With the Type tool active, click and drag to select a section of text and then type to replace the words. Adjust the Type tool settings on the Options bar at the top of the work area to change the color, font face, size, or other options. In this figure, I'm adjusting the font for the selected text, which I changed to read Jenny Hontz. If you don't have the font I used in this template, Photoshop may give you a warning that the font is missing, but it's easy to fix. Just select any font available on your computer.

6. To reposition the text on the banner, click to select the Move tool from the Toolbox. (In Photoshop Elements, the Move tool is represented by the double-headed, crossed-arrow icon at the top of the Toolbox.) Then click and drag a section of text to adjust it. Note that if you click and drag a corner, you change the size of the text; if you click in the middle of a text area and drag, you move the text.





7. If you have trouble selecting text in the image, you can click to select its layer in the Layers panel to make it active in the workspace.

8. To change the background color of this image, first click to select the Move tool from the Toolbox, and then click in the Layers palette on the right side of the screen to select the Background layer. Choose Edit⇔Fill to open the Fill Layer dialog box, choose Color from the Use drop-down list, and then select a new background color. To change the color of a section of an image, such as the blue bar at the bottom of this template image, first click the layer to make it active in the Layers panel. Then click to select the Marquee selection tool and use it to click and drag, selecting just the area you want to change before choosing Edit=>Fill and selecting a color.





- 9. Each of the templates includes its own banner image, but you can mix and match them and you can add your own photos to any of them like this: First open both the photograph you want to add and the banner image from the template folder (here you see the Portfolio banner from the Portfolio template). You can open as many images at once as your computer's memory will allow by choosing File⇔Open and selecting each image in turn from your hard drive.
- 10. Make sure the photo you want to add to your banner is the active image in the workspace; choose Select=>All to select the image, and choose Edit=>Copy to copy it. Then click anywhere on the banner image to make it the active image in the workspace; if an image isn't visible in the workspace, you can make it active by clicking its thumbnail in the Project Bin at the bottom of the workspace or by choosing Window and then selecting the name of any open image listed at the bottom of the menu. With the image you want to add the photo to active, choose Edit=>Paste to insert the photo. The photo appears on a new layer. Select the layer, and click and drag to adjust the photograph's placement on the banner.





11. After you make these changes to the banner image, choose File Save to save it before saving a copy that is optimized for the Web. To prepare any image for your Web pages, choose File=⇒Save for Web. In the Save for Web dialog box, choose JPEG or PNG-8 from the Optimized File Format drop-down list in the upper-right corner. The JPEG format is best for images that use millions of colors, such as photographs. If this banner had a solid background and only a few colors like this one, the GIF or PNG formats are better options. (You find details about the settings in the Save for Web dialog box in Chapter 5.)

Designing a Winning Online Profile

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver
- The Profile Template
 (from www.
 DigitalFamily.
 com/diy)
- Your own text and images, to personalize the profile

Time needed: About half a day

 In Dreamweaver, choose Site⇔New Site. In the Site Definition dialog box that appears, click the Advanced tab. In the Site Name text box, type a name for your site. In this example I'm creating for my journalist friend, Jenny, I entered Jenny Hontz Web Site. (For more detailed instructions on the site set-up process, see Chapter 6.)



When you have your images and content ready to go, you're ready to download the profile template from the www.DigitalFamily.com/ diy Web site and get started. If you need help writing your own biography, check out the nearby sidebar, "Telling your own tale." Follow these steps to customize the template for your profile:

Category	Local Info		
Local Info Remote Info Testing Server Version Control Cloaking Design Notes File View Columns	Site name: Local root folder: Default images folder:	Jenny Hontz Web SR > Sites\Templates\dh6-templates\Unnamed Site 2\	0220
Contribute Templates	Links relative to:	Document Site root	_
Spry	HTTP address:	http://	
		This address is used for site relative links, and for the Link Checker to detect HITTP links that reter to your own site	
	Case sensitive links:	Use case-sensitive link checking	
	Cache:	Enable cache	
		The cache maintains file and asset information in the site. This speeds up the Asset panel and link management features.	

2. Click the Browse icon next to the Local Root Folder field. In the Choose Local Root Folder dialog box that appears, locate the folder on your hard drive that contains the profile template you downloaded from www.Digital Family.com/diy. (Note: The folder is named Profile-Template, but you can rename it, if you like.) Click Open and then click Select to select the folder and return to the Site Definition dialog box. Then click the Browse icon next to the Default Images Folder field and select the Images folder inside the profile template folder. Leave the rest of the options in this dialog box alone for now, and then click OK to close the Site Definition dialog box and save your settings. If you haven't selected the Enable Cache check box, a message box appears, asking whether you want to create a cache for the site. Click Yes to speed up some of the Dreamweaver display features.

Telling your own tale

Writing your own biography may seem like an easy task. After all, you're arguably the best expert in the world on the topic of you. But if you sit down to write your own story and find that the words don't come easily, rest assured that you're not alone. Summing up your life in a few words or paragraphs can make the most experienced writers want to procrastinate with a run to the fridge for a little snack or the inexplicable impulse to organize a desk or closet.

To help you get started, here are a few suggestions for writing your own biography:

- Brainstorm a list of all accomplishments or key points that you want to include without worrying about writing them well or putting them in order. Then check each one off the list as you work it into your written biography.
- Ask friends or colleagues how they describe you and what they consider your best skills, and then use their ideas in your biography. This strategy is also a good way to get testimonials for your Web site.
- Decide whether you want to create a professional biography or a personal one. Then set the tone based on that decision. Consider your goals. When visitors to your Web site read your bio, do you want them to take you seriously, or do you want them to appreciate your creative vision? Do you want to focus on achievements or use humor to bring out

your personality? Chapter 1 discusses in more detail how to plan goals for a site.

- Professional biographies are often written in the third person ("she" rather than "you" or "I") and in a more formal style. If you're writing a professional biography, imagine that an emcee will use it to introduce you before you give a speech to an audience who has never met you.
- Personal biographies can be much more informal, and are more likely to be written in the first person ("I" rather than "he" or "you"). In this case, you might imagine that you're writing to a new penpal and introducing yourself for the first time.

Remember that you can combine these two approaches, using the first person with a more formal style, for example, or using the third person with a sprinkle of humor and silliness.

Start your biography with your most important accomplishment, a short list of skills or titles, or a brief anecdote that captures something important about who you are. Your goal is to give readers a good sense of who you are or what you do even if they read only the first sentence or two.

When you're finished, make sure to have someone you trust review your biography to make sure it reads well and covers the most important points before you add it to your Web site.

3. When you complete the site setup process, the files and folders in the profile template are displayed in the Files panel in Dreamweaver, to the side of the workspace. Double-click the profile-template. html file to open the profile page design in Dreamweaver.





4. Choose File Save As and name the page index.html. (See the sidebar "Creating new pages in a profile site" for details on why the main file of a site should be named index.) Then change the page title by replacing the text in the Title field, at the very top of the Dreamweaver workspace. (Note: The page title isn't displayed in the body of the Web page; this is the text that appears on the title bar at the top of the browser window.)

5. To insert an image in the top of this design, click to select the graphic that reads My Profile and then click the Browse button (the yellow folder icon) for the Src field of the Property Inspector.



Select file na	me from: 💿 File	system	Site B	sot			
	🗇 Dət	a sources	Serve				Image preview
.ook in: 🔒	images		- (000	.		
łame	Date taken	Tags	Size		ю	*	
							Jenny Hontz
			1		1		
Jenny-blu	ejpg J	enny-Hontz.	pngr Jenr	-Hontz-200.		-	960 x 127 PNG, 11K / 2 sec
Jenny-blu	ie.jpg Ja Jenny-Hontz.p	enny-Hontz. ng	pna Jenr	y-Hontz-200.	ОК.	-	960 x 127 PNG, 11K / 2 sec
Jenny-blu Jenny-blu le name: les of type:	Jenny-Hontzp	enny-Hontz na gif:".jpg:".jpej	pnor Jenn a.".png:".psd)	y-Hontz-200.	OK Cancel	-	960 x 127 PNG, 11K / 2 sec
Jenny-blu le name: les of type: RL;	Jenny-Hontz, p Jenny-Hontz, p Image Files (*. images/Jenny	ng gf.".jpg.".jpg Hontz.png	Jenr Jenr progr.pod)		OK Dancel	-	960 x 127 (%G, 11K / 2 sec
Jenny-blu le name: les of type: RL: elative to:	e.jpg J Jerny-Horkz.p Image Files (*. mages/Jerny Document	ng Hon ng gifi [*] ipg [*] ipg Hontz.png index.ht	png:".png:".psd)	y-Hontz-200.	OK Dancel	-	960 x 127 PNG, 11K / 2 sec

6. In the Select Image Source dialog box that appears, navigate your hard drive to find the image you want to insert and then double-click the image filename to select it. If the photo or other image you select in Step 6 isn't already located in the local root folder of your site, Dreamweaver offers to copy the file into the root folder. (You find more detailed instructions for adding images in Chapter 6.)

7. If the Image Tag Accessibility Attributes dialog box opens, type a brief description of the image in the Alternate Text box. (This text will appear on the page if the image isn't visible.) You can use the Long Description field to link to a longer description of the image in a separate file. Click OK when you're done.

Alternate text:	Jenny Hontz 👻		OK
ong description:	http.//	0	Cancel
		_	Help
you don't want biects, change t	to enter this information when insertion the Accessibility preferences,	y	



8. You can add more images by clicking to select any of the placeholder images and using the Browse button (the yellow folder icon) in the Property Inspector to replace an image. You can also add images by clicking to place your cursor where you want the image to appear, and then choosing Insert⇔Image to insert any image. In this example, I'm adding a copy of the cover of a magazine from Jenny's portfolio.

9. To align an image so that text wraps around next to it, click to select the image. Then, in the Property Inspector, use the Class dropdown menu to select float-right or float-left to align the image. (*Note:* These are styles that I created when I created this template. You find similar styles with every template because aligning images and other elements to the left or right is a common option. These styles were created using the Float left and right options in CSS You find more about CSS in Chapters 4 and 6.)

Does Privacy Exist?

Add case studies, samples of your ork, testimonials, etc.

Replace this Latin text with your biography. Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipisicing elit, sed do eiusmod tempor incididunt ut labore et dolore magna aliqua. Ut enim ad minim veniam, quis nostrud exercitation ullamco laboris nisi ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis aute irure dolor in reprehenderit in voluptate velit esse

cillum dolore eu fugiat nulla pariatur. Excepteur sint occaecat cupidatat non proident, sunt in culpa qui officia deserunt mollit anim id est laborum.

Headline Text

- **10.** To edit the text on the page, click and drag to select a headline or other section of text, and then type to replace it. Note that you can also use copy and paste to replace this text with text from another file, such as a word processing document.

11. It's good practice to use CSS styles for all your formatting, especially if you use the same styling consistently, but if you just want to add a little formatting to a few words, you can use the formatting icons in the Property Inspector (at the bottom of the work area) to add bold, italic, and other formatting options. To remove bold or italic formatting, simply highlight the formatted text and then click the Bold or Italic button.







12. This template is designed with a set of heading styles. If you want to add more headings or change the formatting of a heading, click and drag to select the text you want in your heading and then choose one of the Heading styles.



SS Rule Defin	ition for h1 in sty	es.css					236	CSS STYLLS	AP LI LIMIN	15 *1
Category	Type							All Curr	nent	
ype								All Rules		
ackground lock	Font-family:	Verdana	, Arial	, Helve	etica, s	ans-serif	•	#artic	deContent ol	
order	Font-size:	large	٠	pic.	÷	Font-weight:	•	- #mide -h1	decol	1
ositioning	Font-style:		•			Font-variant:	•	h2 #right	bcol	-
Xtensions	Line-height:		*	pix .	Ŧ	Text-transform:	•		head to	
	Text-decoratio	n: 🗐 uni	derline	0		Color: 🖳	#18459E	-a:link	to p	
		10 ov	erine			r42.		Properties for	"h1"	
		100		1				color		1B459E
		1.10.10	s-chros	ign				font-family	Verda	ma, Arial, Helvetic
		bir	sk.					font-size	large	
		nor	ne					margin-bottom	6px	
								margin-left	Opx.	
								margin-right	Opx	
								margin-top	Opx	
	Help				OK	Cancel	Apply	padding	Opx.	
	the second second			-				Add Property		

13. This template includes CSS styles that control the font, color, and size of the text when you apply Heading sizes 1, 2, and 3. To change these options, in the CSS Styles panel (choose Window ⇔CSS to open it), double-click to select the h1 or h2 style. The CSS Rule Definition dialog box appears, where you can edit the style settings, such as color and font face. You find more details on editing and creating styles in Chapters 4 and 6.

14. To change the colored stripe down the right side of this template design, you need to remove or replace the background image that is set in the style called #mainContent. The advantage of creating this stripe of color with a background image the way I did in this design is that it automatically adjusts to fill the column whether you have a little text or a lot of text in the other two columns on the page. To change the background image, double-click the style named #mainContent in the CSS Styles panel and then choose the Background category in the CSS Rule Definition dialog box.

Category	Background	All Current
Туре		All Rules
Notigenand Block L Llox Border List Positioning Extensions	Background-color: FFFFFF Background-repeat: Background-strachment: Background-strachment: Background-strachment: Background-position (10: pis - Background-position (10: pis - Background-position (11: pis - pis - pis - Background-position (11: pis - pis - pis - pis - pis - Background-position (11: pis - pis -	Styles.css Acontainer Container Secontainer2 Alboader Acontainer2 Alboader Arboader A

15. I included three different background images that you can choose from - backgroundblue.png, background-red.png, and background-grey.png — but you can create your own background image using any color. (*Tip:* To ensure that the background fits this design, open the file background.tif in Photoshop or Photoshop Elements and replace just the colored region in the image.)

Select file na	me from 🧕 File 🔘 Dati	system a sources	Site Ro Server	Dete sources Server					
Look in: 🔒	images		- 6	Ø 12 11-					
Name	Date taken	Tags	Size		»» *				
background	- b	ckaround-a	back						
backgrouns File name:	blue, ba	ckground-g ue.png	back	ground-red	-	960 x 19 PNG, 4K / 1 sec			
backgrouns File name: Files of type:	background-bl	ckground-g ve.png gif:".[pg:".[pe]	back p:".png:".psd)	around-red OK	+	960 x 19 PNG, 4K / 1 sec			
backgrouns File name: Files of type: URL:	background bi	ckground-g ue.png gif.*.ipg.*.ipe; ste/mayas/i	back g.* png.* pad) background blues	ground-red OK T	-	960 x 19 PNG, 4K / 1 see			



16. To view how your page will appear in a Web browser. choose File⇔Preview in Browser and select any browser you've associated with Dreamweaver. It's always good practice to test your work in a variety of Web browsers. (You find instructions for previewing in different Web browsers and adding browsers to Dreamweaver in Chapter 10.)

Creating new pages in a profile site

The main page of any Web site should be named index.html.(If you use a Windows server, you may need to change the name to default.html.) The rest of the pages can be named anything you like, as long as you don't use spaces or special characters (hyphens [-] and underscores [] are okay), and you include the .html extension at the end of every page. (Dreamweaver adds the extension for you automatically when you create and save pages in Dreamweaver.)

You can create new or additional pages for your site from the profile template featured in this chapter by simply choosing File⇔Save As and giving the file a new name. (Just be sure that you don't delete the extension.)

144

Customizing the Portfolio Home Page

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver
- The portfolio template (portfolio.zip from www. DigitalFamily. com/diy)
- Your own text and images, to personalize the template banner



Time needed:

About half a day

After you edit the image that will appear at the top of your page design, you're ready to start working on the template by adding your own text and images to make the site your own. If you followed the planning steps in Chapter 1, think of this step as the one where you get to add all the content you collected at the beginning of this book. If you skipped that chapter, don't worry: You just have to do more preparation to get your own content ready before you can follow all the steps in this section.

The portfolio template created for this chapter is made up of several pages, including five template files that can be used to generate additional pages. The template files are saved in the Templates folder, which is inside the main Portfolio Template folder. These template files are special because they use the Dreamweaver Dynamic Web Template features, which is why the filenames end in .dwt rather than .html, like the other pages in this site. One of the biggest benefits of using Dynamic Web Templates (as you see in the following steps) is that when you make a change to a template file and then save it, that change is automatically applied to all pages in the Web site that were created from the template file. You find instructions for how to create and edit templates like these in Chapter 6.

In this task, you find instructions for editing the portfolio template files to add the banner image to all pages in this site, as well as how to edit the front page of the site. To set up your portfolio site in Dreamweaver and edit the home page, follow these steps:

 In Dreamweaver, choose Site-> New Site. In the Site Definition dialog box that appears, click the Advanced tab. In the Site Name text box, type a name for your site. In this example, I entered Jasper Johal Photography.

Category	Local Info	
Local Info Remote Info Testing Server Version Control Cloaking Design Notes File View Columns Contribute Templates	Sito name: Basper Johal Photog Local rook holder: C:(I) kers\2/ktresien Media PC\Documents\DTV V Default images folder: Links relative to: @ Document: © Sito root	web S 🕞
⇒bry	HTIP address: http:// This address is used for site relative links, and the Link (hockier to dotect HTIP links that refer your own site Case-sensitive links: I use case sensitive link checking Cache: I how case sensitive link checking Cache: I have cash maintains file and asset information the site. This speeds up the Asset panel and lin management features.	or to
	OK Cancel	Help

2. Click the Browse icon next to the Local Root Folder text box and locate the folder on your hard drive that contains the portfolio template files you downloaded from www.DigitalFamily.com/diy. Then click the Browse icon next to the Default Images Folder field and select the Images folder. Leave the rest of the options in this dialog box alone for now, and then click OK to close the Site Definition dialog box and save your settings. If you haven't selected the Enable Cache option, a message box appears, asking whether you want to create a cache for the site. Click Yes to speed up some of the Dreamweaver display features. (For more detailed instructions on the site setup process, see Chapter 6.)

Local Info		
Site name:	Johal Photography	
Local root folder:	C:\Users\Artesian Media PC\Documents\web sites	(T



3. After you complete the site setup process, the files and folders in the template are displayed in the Files panel in Dreamweaver, to the side of the workspace. To open a folder in the Files panel and display its contents, click the plus (+) sign to the left of the folder. In this figure, you can see five templates in the Templates folder. To create the first page in this template site, choose Filer⇒New to open the New Document dialog box.

4. In the New Document dialog box that appears, choose Page from Template from the far left. Then choose main from the list of templates. A preview of the template is displayed in the far right of the dialog box window. Click Create to create a new page using the selected template.





5. You can replace any of the images in this page design except the banner. Just double-click the gray box that serves as an image placeholder for the image; in the Select Image Source dialog box, click to select the image you want to use in its place. (If you use this method, be sure to then click to select the image; then, in the Property Inspector at the bottom of the page, change the text in the Alt field by deleting the word Photo and typing in a text description of your image.) For the best results, insert images that are the height and width specified in the image placeholders so that they fit within this Web page design. If you want to use larger images, you may need to change the width settings in the corresponding styles. See Chapter 5 for help resizing and optimizing images for the Web.

6. Repeat Step 5 until you replace or delete all the images except the banner. (Don't worry: You'll get to the banner soon.) If you don't want to use images in all three boxes, you can delete any of the image placeholders by first clicking to select the image and then pressing the Delete or Backspace key on your keyboard. Then simply enter any other image or text in its place. Note that when an image is selected, the options for that image appear in the Property Inspector.



ਹੈ Live Code	Title:	Portfolio			Jû.	6.
300 39	50	400	450	500	550	600
	0	Port	folio (S	960 x 6	5)	

7. If you try to select the banner image at the top of any page created from a template like this, you may be frustrated that you can't edit it in a page created from the template, such as this index.html file. That's because it's in a locked region and can be changed only in the template file. You can tell the difference between locked and unlocked regions because when you click anything in a locked region, the cursor changes to a circle with a line through it — the universal symbol for "You can't do that." Among the many benefits of locking a region, such as this banner, in a template in Dreamweaver is that when you edit the banner in the template file, you can automatically update all the pages created from that template.

8. To change the banner image in the template, first open the template file named main.dwt, which is saved in the Templates folder. You can open a template file like you would open any other page in Dreamweaver, by double-clicking its name in the Files panel or by choosing File⇔Open and selecting the file.



9. With the template file open, you can change the banner image at the top of the page by double-clicking the banner image and then using the Select Image Source dialog box to select the image you want to use in its place. In this case, I replaced the placeholder image with the template banner that I customized in the first task in this chapter, "Customizing the Banner Graphics." (Remember that you should click to select the image after it's inserted and then enter a text description of the image in the Alt field in the Property Inspector.)

Select image Source	
Select Ne name from: File system Data sources Server	Image preview
Look in: 🔒 images 🔹 🗸 🚱 🧊 🔛 🖬 🕶	
Name Date taken Tags Size »	
File name: Jasper-Johal-Photography.png Dimensions: 94 File name: Jasper-Johal-Photography.png Size: 4.30 KB Files of type: Image Files (*.git.*.jsg.*.jsgg.*.png.*.png) Cancel	0 × 59
URL:/mages:/Jasper-Johal-Photography.png Relative to: Document • front.dwt	
Change default Link Belative To in the site definition	



10. When you save the template file with the new banner, Dreamweaver launches the Update Template Files dialog box with a list of all files created with the open template. In this case, only the index page was created from this template, so it's the only one listed. To apply this change to the index page, click the Update button. If the template had been used to create many pages, this process would update all pages created from the template — a useful time-saver when you're working with many similar files, such as the gallery sections of this Web site.

Chapter 7: Creating a Profile or Portfolio Site

Creating and Linking Pages using the Gallery Templates

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- 🛩 Adobe Dreamweaver
- The portfolio template (portfolio.zip from www. DigitalFamily. com/diy)
- Your own text and images, to personalize the template pages
 - **Time needed:** About half a day

The Portfolio template features four Dynamic Web Template files that can be used to generate additional pages. I've given you four gallery templates, and you can create as many as you need to manage as many galleries as you want to feature in your site. In this task, you create new pages from the gallery1 template and make global changes to the pages in the first gallery by editing the gallery1 template file.

Because the gallery pages in this Web site include many thumbnail images that are repeated on every page of the gallery, this is an ideal use for templates. I find it simplest to start by creating all the gallery pages from the gallery1 template and inserting the big image (the only image that changes from page to page). Then I go back and insert the corresponding thumbnails and set the links in the gallery file itself because it's always easier to set a link when you already have pages created to link to. The thumbnails in these gallery pages are intentionally saved in a region that can be edited only in the template itself so that you add them all just once in the template, and they automatically update in all the pages created from the gallery. You see how this works in the following task.

Before you can complete this task, you must complete the site setup process to load this entire template folder into Dreamweaver. If you completed the preceding task, "Customizing the Portfolio Home Page," you should be ready to go; if not, you first need to complete Steps 1–3 in the previous task. (For more detailed instructions on the site set-up process, see Chapter 6.)

1. Start by creating a new page from the gallery1.dwt template by choosing File⇔New. In the New Document dialog box that appears, choose Page from Template from the far left. Then choose gallery1 from the list of templates. A preview of the template is displayed in the far right of the dialog box. Note this template is designed to create a gallery with eight thumbnail images and one large image in the main area of the page, but you can alter the design by adding or removing image placeholders or by replacing them with images of different sizes. Click Create to create a new page using the selected template.

	Site:	Template for Site "Portfolio Tem	plate":
Blank Page Blank Template	☆ Eclectic Film Sales ▲ ☆ Experimental Musical : ☆ Fallow Deer ☆ Family Template ☆ Flamingos	galery1 galery2 galery3 galery4 man	ndent Mit eth.
Page from Template	益 Frank Vera 孟 Jasper for DIY		- anishingu 1988 - 1989
Page from Sample	道 Jasper Johal Photogra 武 X Warner 通 Jenny Hontz		
🍠 Other	a Joomla sandbox 动 Karen Ward 动 Loos Family 动 MakesYouCrazy.com 动 Mark Jenkins 실 Matthew Mitchell		DocType: [JH174, 1.0 Iranstona]
	Michael York Cur Warner Family Cur Warner Family Cur Warner Family An Pamela's Pet Services Proble Template Cur Warner Family Cur Warner F		😨 Update page when template changes

Chapter 7: Creating a Profile or Portfolio Site

2. Keep each collection of gallery pages in a separate folder so you don't have to worry about duplicate file names. In this example, I created a new folder called gallery1 and saved the file with the name photo1.html. (You can create a new folder similar to how you save a file in Dreamweaver: Clicking the New folder icon in the Save As dialog box.)

3446 243							6
Save in:	lyrəlleg 📕			-	01	200-	
(P)	Name	Date mo	Type	Size	Tags	Create New Folder	1
Recent Places				This folder	is empty.		,
Desktop							
The second							
rtesian Media PC							
Computer							
comparen							
N .	File name:	photo1	html			•	Save
Network	Save as type:	All Doc	uments (".ht	m,".html;".shtm;	".shtml;".hta;"	.htc;".xhtml;". 🔻	Cancel
Site Root							
Site Root Unicode No	rmalization Forr	m: C(Can	onical Deco	mposition, follow	nea by Cana	T	



3. To replace the image placeholder in the middle of the page with a photograph, double-click to select the placeholder image. Then, in the Select Image Source dialog box, click to select a photograph to insert into the page in its place. Click to select the image after it's inserted and enter a text description of the image in the Alt field in the Property Inspector. To add a caption, click to place your cursor beneath the photo and then type to enter text. (Don't worry about the banner image at the top of the page or the thumbnail images across the bottom. You replace those images in Step 5.)



Add a unique title to the top of each page as you create it by replacing the text in the Title field at the very top of the page. Using specific titles with keywords can improve search engine results for pages in your site.

151

4. To create additional pages for the gallery, repeat Steps 1–3, saving all the files in each gallery with a new name, such as photo2.html, photo3.html, and so on in the same gallery1 folder. In this site for Jasper, I used eight thumbnails and eight pages in each gallery. If you use eight images the same size as the ones I used, you can use this template exactly as I created it. If you delete or add images, or if you change the sizes, you may need to make adjustments to the designs in the CSS. (You learn more about editing CSS and templates in Chapters 4 and 6.)





5. In the gallery templates, the banner graphic is in a locked region at the top of the template, and the thumbnails and copyright information are in a locked region at the bottom. To edit these images, first open the gallery1.dwt file, located in the Templates folder. Replacing the banner at the top of all these gallery pages is easy. Double-click the placeholder image at the top and select the banner image you created for your site. (Find instructions for customizing a banner image in the first task in this chapter.) After I add the banner image to the template, I choose FilesSave to save the template, and Dreamweaver prompts me to update only the eight pages I created with this template.

6. Adding and linking all the thumbnail images at the bottom of each gallery template will take a little time, but it works the same whether you're adding four thumbnail images to the home page design or eight to each of the gallery templates. Because you're adding the thumbnails images and links to the template, Dreamweaver will add them to all the pages in your galleries automatically, saving you having to set all those links multiple times, and making it easy to add or remove images to all the pages later. To replace each thumbnail, double-click the placeholder image in the template and select an image sized to fit this template design and saved in the PNG or JPEG format. (You find instructions for resizing and optimizing images before you insert them into a template in Chapter 5.)



	Select Rename from: Wile system Site Reat O D Site cources Serves
	Look in 🕌 galkiy1 - 🧿 🎓 💷 -
	Nené Datemo Tjoe Size Toas indes.html photo2.html
	płotoś Arteni płotoś Arteni płotoś Arteni płotoś Arteni
	Files of type: All Files (1) Concel
HOME FASHION	UBL /oakev1/photo2.html Parameters
	Réalite II: Decement v galeyi del Charge defaut Link Relative To in the sto definition

7. Link each thumbnail image to its corresponding page by first clicking to select the thumbnail image in the page and then choosing Insert Hyperlink; or, click the Browse button (the yellow folder icon) next to the Link field in the Property Inspector. In the Select File dialog box that appears, click to select the page you want to link the thumbnail image to, and then click OK to set the link. Repeat this step for each thumbnail. After I add and link all the thumbnails, I save the page again, and again click Update in the Update Template files dialog box to add the thumbnails to all the pages.

Chapter 7: Creating a Profile or Portfolio Site

8. To test the links, double-click to open the photo1.html page in the gallery1 folder. Choose any of the pages you created in the gallery1 folder, click the Preview in Browser icon at the top of the workspace (it looks like a globe), and then choose the browser you want to use to test the page. You can also choose File Preview in Browser and then select a browser.





9. Click each thumbnail image in turn to make sure that you set the links properly. If you find one that doesn't link to the correct page, open the template again in Dreamweaver and correct the link in the template. When you save the template, the corrected link will be updated in all related gallery pages.

10. To test the links on each thumbnail, preview the page in a Web browser by clicking on the Browser icon at the top of the workspace or by choosing File Preview in Browser and then selecting a browser. Clicking the each thumbnail in turn across the bottom of the gallery and each thumbnail should link you to the next page in the sequence. If you find that you missed one or need to fix a link, just open the file again in Dreamweaver, click the graphic, and re-create the link as you did in Step 7.



Chapter 8 Creating a Business Web Site

Tasks Performed in This Chapter

- Editing images for templates
- Putting together a business home page in Dreamweaver
- Creating other pages from a Web template
- Using background images in Web designs

nce in a while, I still meet small-business owners who ask, "Do I really need to have a Web site?" Today, the answer is easy: "Yes." And, increasingly, the owners of even the smallest businesses have caught on to the many advantages of creating, or extending, their business online: Creating a site for a business can help sell more of its products, attract more customers, and better serve the existing customers.

Whether you're creating a site for the first time or redesigning a site, you can customize the templates featured in this book to create nearly any kind of Web site, whether you want a site for your carpentry business, law firm, photography studio, or nearly anything else you can imagine promoting online.

In this chapter, you walk through the steps of customizing templates designed to meet the needs of many small businesses.

Introducing the Business Site Templates

Although every business is different, most good business Web sites have some things in common: basic information about the business or service, photos, sample work, contact information, and so on. A testimonials page is another good idea for any business, such as the one my friend, actor Yuval David, features on his site, shown in Figure 8-1. By altering the template used in this chapter (shown in Figure 8-2), you can create a site for your own business with all these features and a design as professional-looking as Yuval's.







Figure 8-2: This template can be altered to create a site for many kinds of businesses or professionals.

By altering the names of the sections in this template, you can quickly create a similar Web site that fits the needs of your Web project, and you can use the template to create new pages and build a bigger Web site, like I did for my friend's acting site, which includes videos, photo galleries, and other special sections. (You can download all the templates featured in this book from the companion Web site at www.DigitalFamily.com/diy.)

The Business Template, included with this chapter, comprises the following files:

- images: All your template image files are in this folder, in TIFF format. These image files include layers, which makes it easy to edit them in a program like Photoshop or Photoshop Elements. You also find in this folder optimized JPEG files that you can use if you want to practice as you go through these tasks. (You learn more about resizing and optimizing your own images for the Web in Chapter 5.)
- index.html: The main page of any Web site should be named index. You can alter the basic template design to use multiple images or to include more text, but it's always good to include a clear description of what your site is about on the home page.
- about.html: This is a good place to include a description of your business, your biography, or other background information. A larger business can expand this into a series of pages that make up a Who We Are section for staff, executives, board of directors, and so on.
- news.html: The news or press section can feature your latest activities. You can even link to a blog. You find out how to set up a blog in Chapter 11.
- work.html: This section can include videos, case studies, articles you've written, or other samples of your work.
- gallery.html: List additional information or create a new section of your site, such as a listing of products, services, or photos.
- contact.html: Making it easy for customers to reach you is always good, but be careful about giving away too much information on your Web site. If you work at home, for example, you may want to leave off your street address and just include an e-mail address on your contact page. Figure 8-3 shows a contact page.

You also find subfolders in this Business template. The images folder contains the starter image for the banner for this site and is a good place for you to save any new images you want to add to the site. You also find the Templates folder, which is where Dreamweaver saves the Template file that goes with these page designs. (Flip to Chapter 6 for a refresher on Dreamweaver template files.)



If you want to rename any of the files or folders in this template site, be sure to do so in the Dreamweaver Files panel to ensure that Dreamweaver automatically adjusts the links that correspond to the files. You can add pages to the Business template site by following the instructions in the section "Creating and Editing Pages with a Web Template in Dreamweaver," later in this chapter.



Figure 8-3: You can change these template pages a little or a lot to create more dramatic pages, such as this contact page with a long background image.

Editing and Sizing Images for the Template

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Photoshop Elements
- The starter images Banner-Template. tif and FrontPage-Template.tif, located in the images folder in the Business template from this book's companion Web site (www.Digital Family.com/diy)
- Your own text and images, to personalize the designs

Time needed: About an hour

I generally start my design work in a program like Photoshop and recommend you prepare at least some of your images in a program like Photoshop or Photoshop Elements before you start working on the templates in Dreamweaver.

To help you get your images ready for this business site, I included three *starter images:* one for the banner, one that can serve as a photo frame, and one for the home page. These graphics files are composed of different layers, each containing a separate element in the design, so you can change the text, colors, and even add more photos. I've included all the starter images in the images folder so all you have to do is add your own text and photos.

In this task, I use Photoshop Elements to transform the starter images into the images for the actor site, but you can follow these same steps in whatever program you prefer (or have handy), including Photoshop, Photoshop Elements, or Fireworks. After you prepare each image, you use the Save for Web option to optimize them for the Web. (You find more about creating and optimizing images for the Web in Chapter 5.)

 Launch a graphics program, such as Photoshop or Photoshop Elements (shown here); choose File Open; and open the file named Banner-Template.tif.





- 2. You can copy and paste images into this template by choosing File⇔ Open and selecting any image from your hard drive. In this example, I opened a photo of Yuval, which I want to use in the banner at the top of his page. To copy an image into the template, first choose Selects All to select the image and then choose File⇔Copy to copy it. Click anywhere on the template image to make it active in the workspace. (If the template image is hidden by the new image, choose Windows Banner-Template.tif to bring the template to the front of the workspace before you paste.) Choose File⇔Paste to insert the new image into the template.
- **3.** After you paste an image, like this photo, you can click anywhere within the image and drag to adjust its placement. You can also click and drag a corner to adjust the size of the image. And here's an advanced Photoshop tip (that also works in Elements): If you hold your cursor just outside the corner of an image, the arrow becomes curved like the one in this figure, indicating that you can rotate the image, to set it off at an angle, as I've done to position this photo in its frame. You can also rotate an image by choosing Edit⁴ Transform⁴ Rotate.





If the image you're adding to a template is significantly larger than the template file, resize the new image before you copy and paste it into the template image. The image size for each image is displayed in the template. You can change the resolution and dimensions of an image by choosing Image=>Size and adjusting the settings. You can make minor changes to the size of an image by clicking and dragging any corner of an image after it's inserted into the template image. (You can find more detailed instructions for resizing and optimizing images in Chapter 5.)

4. To edit the text, select the Text tool from the Toolbox. Then click and drag to select the text and type to replace it. Use the options at the top of the workspace to change the font, size, and color. In this example, I clicked the color well at the top of the page to change the text color. *Tip:* To reposition text on the page, click to select the Move tool from the Toolbox. (In Photoshop, the Move tool is represented by the double-headed crossed arrow icon at the top of the Toolbox.) Then click and drag any section of text.





5. When you're done customizing the banner image for your Web page, choose File⇔Save for Web and use the settings to optimize the image. In this case, because the banner includes a photo, I'm saving it as a JPEG. (You find more about the options for optimizing images in Chapter 5.)



6. You can insert images of many different sizes into the templates in this business site and align them to the left or right so that text can wrap around them. To dress up your images, you can use a background as a frame. I've included a starter image called Photo-Frame-Template.tif in the images folder for you.

7. Because this site is for an actor, I thought it would be fun to use a frame around the photos that makes them look like they're stills in a film strip. I start by adding the filmstrip image to serve as the background.



Chapter 8: Creating a Business Web Site

8. When you layer images like this, make sure the right image is on top in the Layers panel, because that controls how the final image looks. In this case, I need to make sure the image with the photo is above the background image with the filmstrip.





9. With a photo like this positioned above a background image, like this filmstrip, you can use the Move tool to click and drag the image into position, change the size, and adjust the alignment until you get it framed just the way you want it.

10. When you have everything set the way you want it, choose File⇔Save for Web to optimize the image as a JPEG or PNG file. (You find more about the options for optimizing images in Chapter 5.)



11. You can create images as large as you want. Just beware that the more you put on a Web page, the longer it takes to download. If you're going to create a page like the home page design my friend Davi Cheng created for Yuval's acting site, you need to limit what else you put on the page. If you're going to use a large image on a page, that's probably all you should put on that page. In this case, I created one, big layered image by copying in each image (and cropping out the main photo).





12. Even large, layered images like this one can be optimized for the Web so that they load fairly quickly. Because this is the only image I'm placing on the home page of his site, it should load quickly at only 84K in size.



When you use the Save for Web dialog box, you create a copy of the image in its new, optimized format. As a result, after you close the Save for Web dialog box, the original image remains open and unchanged in Photoshop Elements.

164

Putting the Pages Together in Dreamweaver

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver
- The Business template (from this book's companion site at www. DigitalFamily. com/diy)
- Text and other materials to customize the site
- Images you've resized and optimized in a program such as Photoshop Elements, covered in the previous task

Time needed: About half a day

In this task, you set up a new Web site using the Business template and start customizing the pages.

As you work through the following steps, remember that you can alter this template a little (by simply adding your own text and images) or a lot (by changing the colors, font options, and other style settings) to make the design more your own. Also notice that by using a large photo on the home page and a smaller, banner photo on the inside pages, I can create a very different look for the home page with the same template I use for the inside pages.

Category Local Info Remote Info Texking Server Warsan Cantrol Chaling Design Notes File Yeav Columns Chaling Design Notes File Yeav Columns Controbute Implates Spry Links relative to: Defout Images holder: Cillusers/intesian Media PC(Documents/DIY Web 5 Cirlusers/intesian Media PC(Documents/DIY Web 5 Cirlusers) Links relative to: Defout Images holder: HI IP address http:// This address is used for she relative links and for	sic Advanced						
Deck Info Ston name: Dusiness Site Temple Tesking Server Ston name: Dusiness Site Temple Version Control Cloaking Local root holder: C:Ukers(Artesian Media PC(Documents(DIY Web 1)) Default images holder: C:Ukers(Artesian Media PC(Documents(DIY Web 1)) Controbute Default images holder: C:Ukers(Artesian Media PC(Documents(DIY Web 1)) Spry Links relative to: O Document Sto root The Address is used for after on the colorise in used for after colorise links, and for This address is used for after colorise links, and for	Category	Local Info					
the Link Chocker to dotoct HI TIP larks that refer to your own site Case-sensitive links: Use case sensitive link chocking Cache: I Line cache maintains file and asset information in the cache maintains file and asset information in the site. This speeds up the Asset panel and link management features.	des Info Remote Info Texing Server Versing Control Tooking Design Notes Tier View Columns Controluce I emplates Spry	Sito name: Dusiness Site Templa Local root holder: C-(Ukers)Artiesian Merlia PC(Documents)OPT V Default images holder: C-(Ukers)Artiesian Merlia PC(Documents)OPT V Links relative to: Document: Site root HTTP address: http:// This address is used for site relative links, and the Link Checker to detect HTTP inits that refer your own site Case-sensitive Inits: Use case sensitive link checking Cache: This speeds up the Asset panel and in management features.					

1. In Dreamweaver, choose Site⇔New Site. In the Site Definition dialog box, click the Advanced tab. In the Site Name text box, type a name for your site. In this example, I entered Business Site Template. Click the Browse icon next to the Local Root Folder text box and locate on your hard drive the folder that contains the Business template files. (*Note:* You can rename the folder.) Click the Browse icon next to the Default Images folder field and select the Images folder in the Business template folder. Then click OK. If you haven't yet selected the Enable Cache option, a message box appears, asking whether you want to create a cache for the site. Click Yes to speed up some of the Dreamweaver display features. (For more detailed instructions on the site setup process, see Chapter 6.)

2. When you complete the site setup process, the files and folders in the template are displayed in the Files panel in Dreamweaver, at the side of the workspace. Double-click the index.html file in the Files panel to open the home page in Dreamweaver.



- Title: Official Site of Actor Yuval Day 👫 😱 450 500 5 Doument Title 65
- 3. At the top of the home page, you can change the page title, as I'm doing here, by replacing the text in the Title field. Enter your name or business name or a brief description to identify your site, such as I did in this example, with the words Official Site of Actor Yuval *David.* The *page title* is the text that appears in the title bar at the top of the browser window when someone views a page online; this text is saved in a list of sites if someone bookmarks the page.
- **4.** You can replace any of the image placeholders with images you prepared for your site. To insert an image, double-click any image, such as the banner at the top to open the Select Image Source dialog box. Navigate on your hard drive to find the image you want to insert and then double-click the image filename to select it. As you see in this example, I'm inserting the home page image I created and optimized in the previous task. If the image you select isn't already located in your root site, Dreamweaver offers to copy the file into the root folder after you select it.


5. The way this template is made, the design expands to fit images of any height, but the width should not exceed the overall width of this design, which is set to 970 pixels wide. Because this home page is just one big image, it's one of the easiest pages to create in Dreamweaver. Simply delete any text you don't want in the template and save the page. (Remember, the home page should always be named index.html.)





6. On the rest of the pages in this site, I use a smaller banner image at the top of the template to leave room for text and images I want to include on these pages. This template is set up to let you use a different banner on each page, which enabled me to use different photos of Yuval throughout the site, but you can use just one banner if you prefer.



The links in all the pages in this Business template can be changed only in the template file used to create these pages. That makes it possible to set the main links on all the pages at once, as you do in the next task.



7. You can add text by typing it into any part of the page, but be careful not to delete the formatting when you delete the Latin (Lorem ipsum) text, which is included as filler in the template. If you have trouble adding text without altering the format, use Undo (Ctrl+Z on Windows, or \mathfrak{H}+Z on Mac) to back up a step and try again, making sure to select just what you want to replace on the page.

8. You can insert images anywhere in the main area of the template by clicking to place your cursor where you want the image to appear and then choosing Insert ⇒ Image. You can align images to the left or right of a page and wrap text by using the class styles, float-left and floatright, included with this template. First click to select the image; then use the Class drop-down list in the Property Inspector to select the alignment option you want for your image.



9. To change the text size or color in these templates, you need to edit the style that controls the elements. To do so, open the CSS Styles panel (if it's not open already) by choosing Windows CSS Styles. In this template, to change the style of the headlines, you need to change the corresponding styles I've defined for Heading tags 1 and 2. The h1 is the largest heading style; h2 provides a second-level heading. To change the Heading 1 style, double-click the h1 option in the CSS Styles panel, and change the text settings in the CSS Rule Definition dialog box. Click OK when you're done to return to the Dreamweaver workspace.

All Curren	t	
All Rules		
#contain #DemoC #mainCo #MainRid #InsideC #InsideC #header	ier ontainer ontent ght Container Content	•
Properties for "#	container"	
color	#242542	
margin-bottom	10px	
margin-left	auto	
margin-right	auto	
margin-top	0	
padding	0px	
text-align	left	=
Colorence.	970 🔻 px 🔻	
widen		

Chapter 8: Creating a Business Web Site





- **10.** To apply the heading styles to text in the page, select the text and then use the Format drop-down list in the Property Inspector to choose a Heading size.
- 11. To change the layout of the page, you need to change other styles, such as the width of the style named #container, which controls the overall width of the page in this template. You can double-click the name of a style in the CSS Styles panel to open the style in the CSS Rule Definition dialog box and edit it there. Or make changes in the lower half of the CSS Styles panel as you see in this figure.



12. You can change the layout dramatically from page to page using the same template in a Web site simply by using images in different sizes and aligning them differently on the page. In this example, I'm adding a big image with three separate photos to fill most of the width of the page.

13. To test your work in a Web browser, choose File⁺>Preview in Browser and select any browser on your hard drive. For best results, test your work in a variety of Web browsers to ensure that your pages' designs look good for all visitors. In this figure, the page is displayed in Internet Explorer. For more instructions on working with CSS, see Chapter 6. For instructions on how to upload your site to a Web server, see Chapter 10.





You can change the width of the page, but I've designed this template to be 970 pixels wide because that size is a good width if you're designing for a screen resolution of 1024 x 768, a common resolution on 15- and 17-inch monitors, considered the most common in use on the Web today.

Creating and Editing Pages with a Web Template in Dreamweaver



As described in the previous task, you can add your own images and text to the pages of the Business template to create a variety of different looks for your site. When it comes to editing the main links and copyright information that appear on every page, however, you need to change those in the template file itself. Although this requirement may seem limiting at first, the benefit is that you edit these links in only one place to update the main navigation links on all the pages in the site.

Dreamweaver templates are designed so that some regions of the page can be edited in pages created from the template, and other regions can be edited only in the template itself. The navigation links that appear above the banner in this template and again at the bottom of the page with the copyright information can be edited only in the template.

In this task, you make global changes to pages by editing the template file, and you create new pages from a Dreamweaver Web Template. Before you can complete this task, you must complete the site setup process in Dreamweaver, covered at the beginning of the preceding task.

1. To give you a head start on this Web site design, the Business template folder has several pages that are already linked together. You can edit any of these pages, such as the work.html page, by simply double-clicking the name in the Files panel to open it. It's common practice to include a page on your Web site that showcases what you do, like you see in this figure, and it's easy to add images, text, and even video files to this page that was created from the template.



RATING MARKET AND A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACT OF

2. If you try to click the links or the copyright information on the work.html page or any of the other HTML pages that were created from this template, your cursor turns into a circle with a line through it, and you can't make any changes in the HTML file. To edit this part of the page, you need to open the template. **3.** To edit the template itself, double-click the name in the Files panel. In this Business template site, the template is called Business-Template.dwt and it's in the Templates folder.



4. You can edit anything in the template file, but you should do it carefully so as not to disturb the formatting and links that surround the text. For example, to change the name of a section (at the top or bottom of the page), click to select the section of text, such as About Us, and replace it by typing the text you want to in its place. In this example, I changed About Us to Biography. As you can see in the Property Inspector at the bottom of the screen, when the text is selected, the link is displayed in the Link field. To change or reset the link, click the Browse button (it looks like a little vellow folder) next to the Link field in the Property Inspector.

		Hor	ne	About L	Js New	8	W	ork		Gallery		Contact			
4		_		_	m	_			_	_	_	_			,
dy> <dw#< td=""><td>footer> <c< td=""><td>iv.navbar∦na</td><td>ivbar> <i< td=""><td>il> di> 🤜</td><td>D)</td><td></td><td></td><td>•</td><td>09</td><td>100%</td><td>~ 762</td><td>× 484 ~</td><td>9K/2 sec</td><td>Unicode (</td><td>JTF-8)</td></i<></td></c<></td></dw#<>	footer> <c< td=""><td>iv.navbar∦na</td><td>ivbar> <i< td=""><td>il> di> 🤜</td><td>D)</td><td></td><td></td><td>•</td><td>09</td><td>100%</td><td>~ 762</td><td>× 484 ~</td><td>9K/2 sec</td><td>Unicode (</td><td>JTF-8)</td></i<></td></c<>	iv.navbar∦na	ivbar> <i< td=""><td>il> di> 🤜</td><td>D)</td><td></td><td></td><td>•</td><td>09</td><td>100%</td><td>~ 762</td><td>× 484 ~</td><td>9K/2 sec</td><td>Unicode (</td><td>JTF-8)</td></i<>	il> di> 🤜	D)			•	09	100%	~ 762	× 484 ~	9K/2 sec	Unicode (JTF-8)
OPERTIES						_	_								11.
LITTLE	Format	None	-	Class	navbar	•	B	I	=;	E 48 48	1	itie			
 uniter 		None		Link.	/about.html				* 6		Tar	get	•		
b CSS	ID														

pdate all files based on this template?	Update
contact.html	
about.html	Dont Upda
gallery.html	
news.html	
work.html	
index.html	

5. To apply a change in the template to all the pages created from the template, just save the template file and Dreamweaver prompts you with a dialog box that lists all the pages that will be updated. Click Update to complete the changes.

6. Changing the text links doesn't alter the filenames, but you can change those as well by clicking to select the name of a file in the Files panel and typing to replace the name. Change file or folder names only in the Files panel to ensure that Dreamweaver updates any links that go to that page. As you see here, when I changed the about.html page to bio.html, Dreamweaver prompted me with another update dialog box listing all the pages that link to the about.html page. *Remember:* Folder and filenames used in Web sites shouldn't include spaces or special characters except the dash (–).





7. To add a new page to this Web site by using the template, choose File⇔New. Then, in the New Document dialog box, choose Page from Template (from the options on the left), make sure that the Web site you're working on is selected in the middle column, and choose Business-Template from the right column. (Notice that a preview of the selected template is displayed on the far right side of this dialog box.) Click Create to generate a page from the template.

8. Before you do anything else, always save the new page by choosing Filer Save and name the page as you save it. I named this page videos.html. You can then change the page title (the text that appears in the title bar of a Web browser window) by clicking to select the text at the top of the workspace and typing in any title you choose. In this case, I entered Actor Yuval David's Videos.

Bu	siness-Temp	olate.dvvt* ×	videos.html* ×
itle:	Actor Yuva	l David's Videos	T
	400 49	500 500	Document Tit
	News	Work	Gallery

9. Like all the other pages created from this template, you can replace the text and image placeholders with your own text, images, and even multimedia files. In this example, I've added code from the Vimeo video hosting service to insert a video into this page. You find out more about how to use video services, such as YouTube and Vimeo, in Chapter 13.





10. To play multimedia, such as this video file, you need to preview your page in a Web browser by choosing File⇔Preview in Browser and selecting a Web browser, such as Firefox. With a page open in a browser, you can click the links to test your work and play videos and other multimedia files.



Many Web browsers don't display Dreamweaver Web Templates well, so if you try to preview the .dwt template page, you may get an error message. To test any changes you make to a template, open one of the pages created from the template and then preview that page in a browser and test the links and other features.

Using Background Images in Page Layouts

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver
- The Background template from www. DigitalFamily. com/diy
- Your own text and images, to personalize the pages



Time needed:

About half a day

Whether you're working with one of the templates included in this book or you want to dress up a page you create with your own custom design, using background images can provide a great short cut to creating a distinct, professional-looking site — even if you're not a professional designer.

The best part about this trick is that you can find so much great artwork on stock image sites like www.istockphoto.com, where I got the filmstrip background image for the site. Web sites like iStockphoto.com license the rights to images, often with some restrictions. For example, for a few dollars, I bought the right to use this background image in a Web site and even feature images of that Web site in this book. If you want to use this image, or another image from iStockphoto.com, you have to buy the rights to the image for your own site. The good news is that you can choose from millions of photographs and illustrations on stock image sites and the licensing fee is a small price to pay for the professional look you get from a well-designed background. With a little creativity, you can create your own background images in a program like Photoshop or Photoshop Elements (see Chapter 5 for more on creating your own images).

 Stock image Web sites, like www. istockphoto.com shown here, offer rights to photographs, illustrations, flash videos, and animations. You can search among many different keywords and when you find an image, you simply click to download. Most reputable sites that offer good quality images do charge for the service, but sites like iStockphoto offer images for as little as \$1 each.





When you're designing for the Web, you don't usually need a big, high-resolution image (the higher the resolution, they more expensive it is), but you do need to make sure you get a big enough version that it will fill the entire background of your page. Because most designers are creating sites for a 1024 x 768 monitor these days, the image should be at least 1024 pixels wide. You can always reduce the size of an image, but enlarging it can lead to a loss of quality.

2. After you've created or downloaded an image to serve as the background of your Web page, you can combine it with other images and text in a program like Photoshop Elements, shown here. In this example, by placing the big image behind the text I was able to create a layered effect. You should edit and resize your background image and then use the Save for Web dialog box to save an optimized version for your Web site.



3. You can add any image to the background of the entire page by choosing Modify Page Properties and using the Browse button next to the Background Image field to select the image.





4. Another way to use background images is in the background of a <div> tag in your page layout. In all the templates featured in this book, the designs are centered and they float on the screen so that they appear in the middle of the browser window no matter how big or small the monitor. If you use one of my templates, or create your own centered design like the one featured in this example, your best bet is to add the background image to the main div, in this case the <div> tag named #container that surrounds all the other content on this page. To do so, double-click the #container style in the CSS Styles panel; in the CSS Rule Definition dialog box that appears, choose the Background category and then click Browse button to the right of the Background field and select your desired background image file.

Chapter 8: Creating a Business Web Site 177

5. To view the full impact of your background image, preview your page in different Web browsers and try out the design on large and smalls screens to make sure it displays well on a variety of computers. Chapter 10 explains site testing in more detail.





6. After you've set up a background image for one page, it's easy to use the same design for any or all of the other pages in your site as well. When you add an image to the background of the page, you can add other images, text, or even multimedia files above the background to create a layered effect that can create a rich, full design effect.

Chapter 9 Creating a Family, Vacation, or Hobby Site

Tasks Performed in This Chapter

8

- Working with the templates
- Designing a site for your family, hobby, or vacation
- Editing image templates

here are many excellent reasons to create a Web site, slide show, or photo gallery. From the announcement of a new baby to sharing the latest vacation snapshots to coordinating the games for your little league team, digital designs are a great way to keep in touch with family and friends.

The best family sites include room for everyone in the clan, and as you see in the sample family site–creation tasks in this chapter, you can easily adapt this design to create sections for each member of your family, club, or organization.

Getting Started with the Family or Group Site Templates

The templates featured in this chapter are designed to showcase a lot of images and would work well for any family Web site, as well as for an art or photo collection, to illustrate business services or products, or to share vacation photos with family and friends.

For this site, you can download templates to create the pages in Dreamweaver as well as starter images designed to be used in an image editor, such as Photoshop, Photoshop Elements, or Fireworks.



All the templates featured in this book can be downloaded for free from the companion Web site that goes with this book. Just visit www.DigitalFamily.com/ diy and follow the instructions to download the various graphic and Web page templates. As you follow the instructions for creating the family site featured in this chapter, you'll see how to customize pages, as shown in Figure 9-1, and how to add or remove pages to create smaller or larger versions of this site. You also find instructions for creating interactive features in Dreamweaver, including image maps. Because customizing this site involves editing graphics as well as HTML files, you find separate tasks for each section of the site:

- The first task shows you how to customize the banner, text, and images by using Photoshop Elements. (I'm using Photoshop Elements 8.) You also find out how to add and position images to create the page designs for each section of the site.
- The second task shows you how to set up a site in Dreamweaver and how to edit the front page.
- The third task covers how to edit Dynamic Web Templates in Dreamweaver, make changes across many pages at once, set links to pages and remove pages from the design.





Before you get started with these tasks, here's a quick overview of the template and files used in this chapter. You can download the family template with all these files from the companion Web site for this book at www.DigitalFamily.com/diy.

To help you get started with this site, and to ensure that the links on the navigation bars work properly, this template includes starter pages for each of the main sections of this site. Although you can add or remove pages and change links as necessary, this list describes the files and folders that get you started when you first open the Family template:

index.html: This is the name of the front page of the Web site. The main page of any Web site should be named index; the rest of the pages can be named anything you like, as long as you don't use spaces or special characters.

- ✓ images: You find all starter image files in TIFF format in this folder. You can create your own banner by editing the text and images in the TIFF file. You also find optimized JPEG files in the images folder that you can use as you follow along with the tasks. (You find instructions for editing the TIFF images and optimizing them in the JPEG format in the first task. You find more detailed instructions for editing images in Chapter 5.)
- \checkmark css: You find the external style sheets that are attached to the template files in this folder.
- ✓ Templates: In this folder, you find the dynamic Web templates used to create the files in this site.
- pages: This folder stores all the pages for the individuals in your site and includes these ready-to-use pages:
 - mom.html: For a parent
 - dad.html: For a parent
 - child-1.html: For the first child
 - child-2.html: For the second child
 - child-3.html: For the third child
 - child-4.html: For the fourth child
 - other.html: For anyone else you want to add



You can rename files by using the Dreamweaver Files panel, as you see in the task "Designing a Web Page for the Entire Family." The Files panel lists all pages in a Web site; when you make changes in this panel, Dreamweaver automatically adjusts any corresponding links already set in the Web site template. If you stick to changing only filenames or folders in the Files panel, you never have to worry about breaking links.

Getting everyone working on your Web site

As you consider all the ways you can share stories and photos with family members and friends in your own family Web site, make sure to include your entire family in the planning-and-development process. Here are a few ways you can get family members of all ages involved:

- Ask older family members to write about special occasions and family traditions.
- Scan artwork from younger family members, and include those images on the site.
- Invite the family historian to help create a family tree and other historical records.

- Scan photos from old photo albums (and don't forget to sort through those boxes of old photos in your attic and closets).
- Include links to clubs, associations, and hobby sites to showcase your family's favorite activities.
- Keep the site updated with photos from everyone in the family, by sharing an online photo album at Flickr, Shutterfly, or the Kodak Gallery. It's simple and free to share photos on any of these sites, as I explain in Chapter 7.

Editing Starter Image Templates

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Photoshop Elements
- ✓ The Home-Page-Starter-Image. tif file from the Family Web Site template (see the Introduction for details)
- Your own text and images, to personalize the template banner

Time needed:

About three hours

1. Launch a graphics program, such as Photoshop Elements (shown in

open the template graphic file Home-Page-Starter-Image.

The starter images for this template are designed to showcase images, so most of the work in creating this site is best done in an image-editing program, such as Photoshop Elements. The trick is to size and prepare all images before optimizing them for the Web and putting the pages together in Dreamweaver. In this task, you find instructions for adding your own images and text to the starter images included in the Family template.

This home page starter image has several elements — photos and text — and these files can be altered in many ways. In the following steps, I show you how to resize and add a photo and then edit the text by changing its font size, color, and spacing. After you insert and resize all images the way you want on your front page, you find instructions for using the Save for Web feature in Photoshop to optimize your images and save them as JPEGs so they're ready to insert into the template files in Dreamweaver.





tif.

You can edit the image templates in any image editor that supports layers, including Adobe Photoshop and Fireworks. Photoshop Elements 8 is shown in this exercise. You will need to make minor adjustments if you use a different version of Photoshop Elements or you use the professional version of Photoshop, but these steps will be very similar in all recent versions of Photoshop and Elements.



2. This starter image is made up of many layers, which makes it possible to edit each piece of text and delete or replace each image independently. You can view a list of layers by opening the Layers palette. Choose Window CLavers to open the Layers panel. As you see in this figure, this starter image has many layers, each named to correspond to a section of text or an image placeholder in the template. Tip: You can select a layer by clicking it in the Layers panel. If you select the Auto Select Layer check box (at the top of the workspace), you can also select layers by simply clicking the image placeholder or text in the starter image.

3. To edit the text in any image in Photoshop Elements, first click to select the Type tool in the Toolbox. (Look for the capital T.)





If, when you open this starter image, you see the error message Some text layers contain fonts that are missing, your computer's hard drive doesn't have the fonts I used in the starter image. If you choose the Text tool in Photoshop or Photoshop Elements and start to edit the text in this file, the program automatically changes the text to a font that's on your hard drive. You can then click and drag to select the text and use the options at the top of the workspace to change the font, size, and color to best suit your design. I used the Times New Roman font in this design, but you can use any font you prefer. You can purchase and download fonts from any number of sites on the Web; just search for Free Fonts in any search engine.

4. With the Type tool active, click and drag to select a section of text and then type to replace the words. (If you're prompted with the message Font substitution will occur, click OK to continue, and Photoshop automatically changes the text to a similar font on your hard drive.)



6. To reposition text or images on the page, click to select the Move tool from the Toolbox. (In Photoshop Elements, the Move tool is represented by the double-headed, crossed arrow icon at the top of the Toolbox). Then click and drag any section of text. Remember: If you click and drag a corner, you change the size of the text or image; if you click in the middle of a text area or image and drag, you move the selected item.



5. To change the font, color, size, or other text options, select the text you want to change and adjust the Type tool settings on the Options bar, at the top of the work area. In this figure, I'm adjusting the font size for the selected text.





7. To add a photograph to a layer, you must first open the photograph as a separate file. While the starter image is still open, choose File¢Open and select any image from your hard drive. In this example, I opened a photo of Mark, Mary, and Zoe Loos, which I want to add to the banner image at the top of the page.

- 8. Before you copy a photo into the starter image, it's helpful to resize it so that it will fit the design. I'm going to use this image in the banner at the top of the page, so I want to resize it to about 225 pixels wide. *Hint:* each placeholder image includes recommended dimensions. To resize an image, choose Imageç>Resize<>Image Size and then change the Pixel Dimensions. (You find more detailed instructions for resizing images in Chapter 5.)
- 9. To copy an image into the template, first click anywhere on the image you want to copy, to make it active in the workspace. Choose Select ⇒ All to select the image, and then choose Edit ⇒ Copy to copy it. Next, click anywhere on the starter image (to make it active in the workspace) and then choose File ⇒ Paste to insert the new image into the template. After you paste an image, you can click anywhere within the image and drag to adjust its placement. You can also click and drag a corner to change the size of the image. (*Note:* Make sure the Move tool is selected. See Step 6 for a refresher.)







10. As you add more images, you can adjust the layers by positioning one image in front of another, which is important when images overlap or when one image is obstructed by another. To move one layer in front of another, click and drag the layer to a higher position in the Layers panel, or right-click (Option-click on a Mac) and select an option to bring the layer forward or back. To delete an image or text, click to select it and then press the Delete key.

11. Continue to open photos you want to add to the design, resize them as necessary, and then copy and paste them into the starter image. In this design, I used three small images on the left, with larger versions in the main section of the design, but you'll need to crop a vertical image to get it to fit into the small space on the left. To cut a section off of an image that you've inserted into the design, select the Rectangular Marquee tool; then click and drag over the portion of the image you want to remove, creating a box around the part you want to delete, and press the Delete key.





You can add as many images as you like, and you can resize them and drag them around the page to change the layout. The more you alter this design in Photoshop, however, the more you need to alter it in Dreamweaver. For the purposes of this task, I show you how to edit images into these starter images just as it's designed so that you can easily reconstruct them in Dreamweaver. As you get more adept in both Photoshop and Dreamweaver, you can make more significant changes.

Chapter 9: Creating a Family, Vacation, or Hobby Site

12. After you make all the changes you want to the starter image, be sure to save your work by choosing File Save. Then save the file again by choosing File Save As and name the new file something like My-Family-Front-Page. That way, you have a backup copy of the completed design before you start slicing up the image to save each piece separately, which you do in the steps that follow. *Hint:* If you ever want to go back to the original starter image included in the template, you can always download another copy from the Web site.



13. One of the challenges when you design a page like this one in Photoshop is deciding how to save each of the images as separate files that you can insert into your Web pages in Dreamweaver. A good place to start is the banner. Banners (including this one) typically appear at the top of every page in the site, but thanks to the magic of Dreamweaver Templates, you need only one copy of the image. To prepare the banner image for the Web, first choose the Crop tool from the Toolbox, and then click and drag to fit just the top banner area inside the cropping area.



14. You can drag the corners of the crop outline to adjust how the banner will be cropped. To complete the crop, just double-click in the middle of the crop area or click the Crop tool again and click Crop in the confirmation dialog box that appears.



- Dse Sign In Create New Ac File Edit Image Enhance Layer Se New Open... Ctrl+O Open As... Alt+Ctrl+O Open Recently Edited File Duplicate... Ctrl+W H Save Ctrl+S Shift+Ctrl+S Save As... Save for Web... Alt+Shift+Ctrl+S File Info...
- **15.** After you crop out just the banner image, choose File⇔Save for Web to save the cropped portion as a new file optimized for the Web.

187

16. In the Save for Web dialog box that appears, choose JPEG from the Optimized File Format drop-down list. JPEG format works best for images that use millions of colors, such as photographs. Adjust other settings, such as compression, and click OK. Then, in the Save Optimized As dialog box, enter a name for the new image, make sure to save the image into the images folder in the Family Web Site template folder, and click Save. (You find more detailed instructions for optimizing images with the Save for Web dialog box in Chapter 5.)



pse		- s	ign In C	reate Ne	w Adobe	e ID		
File	Edit	Image	Enhance	Layer	Select	Filter	View	Wi
	5	Undo C	rop				Ctrl+Z	
	-	Redo	2				Ctrl+Y	£. 1
++		Revert						
Þ.								
	助	Сору					Ctrl+C	

17. Now for the part that may seem tricky at first but will save you lots of time after you get the hang of it. After you save a new version of the banner optimized for the Web, you will see the original image you cropped still open in Photoshop. Choose Edit Undo Crop to restore the full image. Now you can crop the next part of the image you want to save for your Web site.

18. Save each cropped section of the image in turn, using the Save for Web dialog box. After you save all the pieces of your design, you're ready to move on to the next task and put them all together using Dreamweaver.



Designing a Web Site for the Entire Family



In this task, you set up a new Web site with the Family Web Site template, which can be used to create any site that features multiple people or sections. As you work through the following steps, remember that you can alter this template a little (by simply adding your own text and images) or alter the design a lot by changing the colors, font options, and other style settings to make the design more your own.

 In Dreamweaver, choose Site⇒New Site. In the Site Definition dialog box, click the Advanced tab. In the Site Name text box, type a name for your site. In this example, I entered Loos Family. Click the Browse icon next to the Local Root Folder text box and locate on your hard drive the folder that contains the Family Web Site template.





If you want to rename the folder that contains the Family Web Site Template, do so before completing the site definition process. If you change the name of the main root folder of a Web site after you complete the site setup process, you have to repeat the setup steps to identify the renamed folder as the local root folder in Dreamweaver.

2. Click the Browse icon next to the Default Images folder field. In the Choose Local Images Folder dialog box that appears, select the Images folder in the Family template site and click Open. Back in the Site Definition dialog box, leave the rest of the options alone for now, and click OK. If you haven't selected the Enable Cache check box, a message box appears, asking whether you want to create a cache for the site. Click Yes to speed up some of the Dreamweaver display features.





4. Double-click the index.html file in the Files panel to open the home page. The home page of this site is designed to showcase photos and text created in an image program, as you do in the previous task using Photoshop Elements. You can replace any of the image placeholders with images you've prepared for the Web.

3. When you complete the site setup process, the files and folders in the Family Web Site template are displayed in the Files panel in Dreamweaver, at the side of the workspace. If the Files panel isn't visible, choose Windowt-Files to open it. (For more detailed instructions on the site setup process, see Chapter 6.)

File Edit: View Incent Modify Formi	t Commanda Site Window Help	
ndestilini X	Polis, C. Carre Wearan Meda RCConstructure (U) VAda Stan Depaider Construction Field Veda 1997	IPEART
10 St 100 St 20 R0	SO 30 50 40 51 50 50 Mil 80 70	CESSINES AF HIMMES
	Our Family	Local Fires Set - Local Fundy (C) (Local Area Set - Local Fires Set - Local Fires Descent Factor Factor (C) (Local Area Descent Factor Factor (C)) Descent Factor Factor (C)
Photos (240 x 125)		Loss Fartily-barner, Isg Her Is Loss Fartily-barner, Isg Her Issuing Her Issuing
Photos (240 x 125)	mainPhoto (315 x 410)	Constant Constant
∃ < bode> <dv#tontane></dv#tontane>		dber html
PROPERTIES		nder.htm
	Otess fame → B / E E 11 11 Tile	

190

5. At the very top of the home page, change the page title by replacing the text in the Title field. Include your name or a brief title to identify your page. (The *page title* is the text that appears at the very top of the browser window when a page is viewed online and the text that's saved when someone bookmarks your page.)

Windo	w Help	p		
esian Me	edia PC\Do	cuments\£	NY Web S	ites\Ter
Title:	The Loos I	Family		Jĵ.
<u></u>	400 ····	450	500 l	550 l.



7. To add or replace other images, repeat Step 6. To delete an image or placeholder, select it and press the Delete key.





You want images on your site to download quickly and display well on-screen, so make sure that you optimize your images and save them in GIF, PNG, or JPEG format before adding them to your Web pages. You find instructions for editing the starter image for this template in the first part of this chapter and you find detailed instructions for saving images for the Web in Chapter 5.

Creating and Linking New Pages

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- 🛩 Adobe Dreamweaver
- The Family template files from this book's companion site at www.Digital Family.com/diy
- Note: You should have already completed the preceding tasks in this chapter

Time needed:

) About

About two hours

 Before you create a new page in a site, make sure you've completed the site set up process in Dreamweaver, which is covered in the previous task. To create a new page from a template, choose File⇔New.

Adding more pages to your family, business, or other Web site, is easy when you use Dreamweaver templates, like the ones I created for this book. And once you've added pages, you can use the template to automatically link the new page to all of the other pages. This family template, like all of the other templates featured in this book, includes a few pages to get you started, but you can always add more by following the instructions in this task.

In this task, you discover how to create a new page from a Dreamweaver template and link that page to all of the other pages in the site:

Dw	File Ed	dit View	Insert	Modify	Format	С
index.	Ne	w N			Ctrl+N	
Sourc	Op	oen ko			Ctrl+O	
	Bro	owse in Bri	dge	C	trl+Alt+O	
	Ор	en Recent				F.
	Ор	en in Fram	ie	Ct	rl+Shift+O	
Ĩ	Clo	ose			Ctrl+W	
	Clo	ose All		Ctr	I+Shift+₩	
	Sha	are My Scr	een			

	Ster	Template for Site "Loos Family":	
 Blank Page Blank Template Page from Template Page from Sample Other 	State Backgrounds Backgrounds Backgrounds California Widtle Pho Backgrounds ChoroloteGameRules Backgrounds David Design Studio Backgrounds David Design Studio Backgrounds David Design Studio Backgrounds DigtalFamily 1-09 Backgrounds Dependental Musical Backgrounds Family Web Site Tenc; Basper Schal Photogra Basper Schal Photogra Backgrounds Loper Bandy Backgrounds Basper Schal Photogra Backgrounds Basper Schal Photogra Backgrounds Basper Schal Photogra Basper Sch	Template for size cook ramy :	<image/> <image/> <section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><text><text></text></text></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header>
Units Destaurs			

2. In the left side of New Document dialog box, choose Page from Template, in the Site section, make sure that the site you are working on is selected, and then choose the template you want to use to create your new page. A preview of the template is displayed in the right side of the dialog window. Click Create to create a new page and close the dialog box.



3. It's always good practice to save a new page as soon as it's created in Dreamweaver. It's also a good idea to include a brief description with a few key words specific to the content of each page in the Title field. In this example, I named the page news.html and I changed the title to News from The Loos Family.

4. You can edit or add text to any editable regions of the new page, which are identified with a light green box and an editable heading, such as the mainContent region shown here. Anything within the editable region is easy to change, such as the headline which I changed by selecting the text "H1 level heading" and replaced by typing in "New from the Loos Family." Remember, you can't change content in the locked regions of the page, such as the banner region at the top of the page or the links and copyright information at the bottom. Those areas can be changed only in the template. If you roll your cursor over a locked region, the cursor arrow changes to a circle with a line through it, indicating it can be edited only in the template itself.



Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer adipiscing elit. Praese convallis luctus rutrum, erat nulla fermentum diam, at nonummy Maecenas urna purus, fermentum id, molestie in, commodo port quam ut lacus. Quisque ornare risus quis ligula. Phasellus tristid condimentum adipiscing. Aenean sagittis. Etiam leo pede, rhond vulputate at, odio. Donec et ipsum et sapien vehicula nonummy Fusce varius urna id quam. Sed neque mi, varius eget, tincidunt

5. To add images to an editable region of a page, simply click to place your cursor where you want to add a new image and choose Insert=>Image. In the Select Image Source dialog window, navigate your hard drive to find the image you want to add and then doubleclick the image name to select it, close the dialog, and insert it into the page. After you insert an image into a page, click to select the image and you can use the Property Inspector at the bottom of the workspace to make additional changes, such as aligning the image to the right or left, which you can do by choosing float-right or float-left from the Class drop-down list.



LOOK III.	🗼 Template	es		•	G 🗊 🛤		
e.	Name	Date mo	Туре	Size	Tags		
Recent Places	🍌 _notes			inside-	pages.dwl		
Desktop							
TR.							
rtesian Media PC							
Computer							
compater							
N	File name:	inside-p	ages.dwt			•	Open
Network	Files of type:	All Doc	uments (*.htr	n;*.html;*.shtm;*	.shtml;*.hta;*.ht	o;".shtml;". 🔹	Cancel

6. If you want to make changes to all the pages created from a template, such as adding a link to your new page, you must first open the Dreamweaver template itself by choosing Filet Open and then opening the .dwt template file, which is stored in the Templates folder in the main root folder of your Web site. In the family template, the Dreamweaver template file is called inside-pages.dwt.

194

R	· · ·		1011
		-	
E	nten i	h (
- Ну	perlin	k	-3
	₽ <u>`</u> Hy]• []	Hyperlin	Hyperlink (

7. You can add a link to the bottom of this template by simply typing in the text you want to serve as the link. To make the text a link, click and drag to select the text and then click the link icon in the Common Insert menu (or choose Insert Hyperlink).

8. In the Select File dialog box, navigate to find the file to which you want to link. In this example, I selected the news.html page, which I created in the first part of this task. Click to select the file and then click OK to create the link and close the dialog box.

Select file na	ime from: 🧿 File sysl 🕐 Data sc	tem ources	Site Root Server				
.ook in: 🔒	Loos Family		- 0 🕫	• 🗈 🖽 •			
Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	Tags			
findent	Inc	10	Transfer to have 1				
news.ht	tml		j index.ntmi				
ile name:	news.html		j index.ntmi				ОК
ile name:	news.html		index.ntmi			•]	OK Cancel
ile name: iles of type:	news.html All Files (".")/news.html		index.ntmi	Paramete	28	•	OK Cancel



9. When you save the template file, Dreamweaver automatically opens the Update Template Files dialog box and lists all the pages created from the template. Click Update to add the new link to all the pages. 10. To test your links, preview the page in a Web browser by choosing File⇔Preview in Browser and then selecting any browser you have associated with Dreamweaver. When you view the pages in a browser, even on your local computer, you can easily follow the links by clicking them just as you would on a Web page that has been published on the Internet. You learn more about previewing your Web pages and publishing your site to a Web server in Chapter 10.





You can find many more tips and tutorials for working with Dreamweaver, including advanced techniques like creating rollover images with Dreamweaver, at www.DigitalFamily.com/dreamweaver.

Chapter 10

Testing and Publishing a Web Site



t's a shocking scenario: You create a page design that looks just perfect in your favorite Web browser on your own computer. You publish it on the Internet and tell all your friends. And the next thing you know, your cousin in Iowa and your friends in Brazil are telling you that it looks terrible, the text is unreadable, and your Flash files don't play at all.

Don't let this happen to you. Take time to test your work before you publish the site for the entire world to see so you can make sure that it will work well in all the different Web browsers, operating systems, and monitor sizes that your visitors are likely to use.

Before you "go live" with your site, preview your pages in as many Web browsers as possible to make sure that your site looks the way you intend in the many different browsers in use on the Internet. If you don't have that many browsers on your own computer, don't worry. You can find many tips in this chapter to help you, including a collection of online services where you can test how your site will display in dozens of Web browsers on four different operating systems.

And, as you'll discover in the tasks in this chapter, it's a relatively simple step to use the many Dreamweaver testing features to ensure that all your links work properly, and to check for common compatibility problems that can lead to differences in browser display.

In the first part of this chapter, you find detailed instructions for previewing pages and using the Dreamweaver testing tools. In the second part of the chapter, you find out how to use the built-in Dreamweaver File Transfer Protocol (FTP) features to copy your Web site from your hard drive to a Web server on the Internet. And finally, you find instructions for adding Google Analytics (and other traffic-tracking services) to your site so you can see how many people visit your pages, where they come from, and how they get there — all of which play an important part of gauging the effectiveness of your site.



If you haven't been there already, check out Chapter 3 for recommendations and tips for choosing the best Web hosting and registering a domain name.

Understanding How Web Pages Look on Different Computers

One of the more confusing and frustrating aspects of Web design is that you can create a page that looks great in Dreamweaver and test it in a browser to confirm that it looks fine only to discover later that it looks terrible in a different browser or on a different computer system. Web pages can look different from one system to another for many reasons, but the following issues are the most common culprits:

- ✓ Browser differences: Today, dozens of browsers are in use on the Web, not counting the different versions of each browser. For example, at the time of this writing, Internet Explorer (IE) 8 is the newest release from Microsoft, but a significant percentage of Web users haven't upgraded yet and are still using IE6 or even earlier versions. (More on browser differences in the next section.)
- Hardware differences: Another challenge comes from the differences between Macintosh and Windows computers. For example, most fonts appear smaller on a Macintosh than on a PC (Times 12 on a PC looks like Times 10 on a Mac). Image colors can also vary from one computer to another.
- ✓ Individual resolution settings: In addition, the same Web page may look very different on a 21" monitor than it does on a 15" monitor. And even on the same monitor, different resolution settings can alter the way a page looks. On a PC, a common resolution is 1024 x 768; on a Mac, the resolution is generally set much higher, making the design look much smaller, even if the monitor sizes are the same.

As a result of all these differences, the same Web page can look very different to the many people who visit a Web site. For example, Figure 10-1 shows a Web page in Internet Explorer on a PC, and Figure 10-2 shows the same page in Safari on a Macintosh. Notice that the text displays in a larger font size on the PC, changing how the text wraps around the photo in the left column.

This challenging aspect of the Web is at the root of many of the limitations and complications of creating good Web designs. With patience, testing, and an understanding of the tags and styles that are most problematic, you can create great Web sites that look good to most, if not all, of the people who visit your Web site.



Figure 10-1: A Web page displayed in IE 6 on a PC with the monitor set to 1024 x 768 resolution. Note that the right column has been bumped down below the left column, a common problem in IE6.



Figure 10-2: The same Web page displayed in Safari 3 on a Mac with the monitor set to 1280 x 800. This is how the designer expected the site to look.

Understanding How Browsers Affect a Site's Appearance

Of the many reasons why Web pages can look different from one browser to another, it boils down to this: Web browsers have evolved over the years to support new technologies on the Web. Thus, many older browsers still in use have trouble displaying some of the advanced features you can use on your Web pages today. Compounding this problem, the companies that make Web browsers including Microsoft, Google, and Apple — don't all agree or follow the same rules (although most are getting better at complying with the same set of standards in their latest browser versions). Dozens of browsers are now in use on the Web, not counting the different versions of each browser. For example, as I mention earlier, IE8 is the newest release from Microsoft (at the time of this writing), but a significant percentage of Web users haven't yet upgraded and are still using IE7 or even IE6, which is notoriously bad at displaying CSS (Cascading Style Sheets) and other modern Web features.

The result is that the same Web page can look significantly different to the many people who visit a Web site. The differences can become even more pronounced in older browsers or in monitors of different sizes.

This challenging aspect of Web design is at the root of many of the limitations and complications of creating Web sites that look good to everyone who may visit your pages. HTML was designed to help ensure that Web pages look good on every computer on the planet, and as a result, some of the rules of Web design may seem strange or limiting at first. Despite these efforts, and a growing movement toward more standardized Web development, getting your pages to look exactly the same on every computer on the planet is difficult if not impossible. As a result, most designers strive to create pages that look as good as possible on as many browsers as they consider important, even if the same pages don't look *exactly* the same on all browsers.

Which browsers you should design for depends on your audience. If you have the luxury of having accurate reports on the visitors to your site, you can see a list of all browsers used by visitors to your site. (At the end of this chapter is information about using Web-statistic services that include browser usage information.) For example, your Web statistics may reveal that 27 percent of your audience uses IE7, 18 percent uses IE6, 25 percent uses Firefox 3, 23 percent uses Firefox 2, 5 percent uses Chrome, and 2 percent uses Safari. With those numbers in mind, you may decide that your pages should look attractive in IE and Firefox, but you'll settle for them not looking quite as good in Safari and Chrome, which at this point have lesser percent of your audience and display some features quite differently.

Entire books and Web sites are dedicated to the differences among browsers, and how to best design for everyone on the Web. To help keep things simple for you, I include templates in this book that are designed to look best in the most recent and most commonly used browsers on the Web, including IE8 and IE7, and Firefox 3 and 2. However, you should note that making significant changes to these designs may result in unpredictable results, which is another important reason to test your work thoroughly before you publish your site.

Previewing Web Pages in Multiple Browsers

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- ✓ Adobe Dreamweaver
- Microsoft Internet Explorer
- Mozilla Firefox
- Apple Safari, Google
- Chrome, or another Web browser
- **Completed Web pages**

Time needed:



Previewing your Web pages in a variety of Web browsers is the simplest way to make sure that they look suitable to at least most of your visitors. The following task walks you through the process of adding browsers to Dreamweaver for easy previewing and for viewing the same Web page in multiple browsers.



1. Open a Web page that you want to preview in Dreamweaver, choose File Preview in Browser, and choose a Web browser from the list of browser options. (You find out how to add more browsers to this list in Steps 3 and 6.)



2. Study the page carefully, testing all the links, rollovers, and any other special effects to make sure that the page appears how you want in this browser.

3. Return to Dreamweaver to make any changes you want to the page. Then test the same page in other Web browsers. To add browsers to the preview list, choose File Preview in Browser and then choose Edit Browser List.

Category	Preview in Browser	
General Accessibility AP Elements Code Coloring Code Format Code Hints Code Rewriting	Browsers:	Edk
Copy/Paste CSS Styles	Add Browser	
File Compare File Types / Editors Fonks Highlighting Trvisible Benenits New Document President in Browser Site Status Bar Validator	Nome: Application: Defaults: Primary browser Secondary browser OK	Drowse
	this option, note that deselecting to previewing XSLT, which always use	nis option ages not apply to a temporary file.
	Hinks	OK Cencel

5. Find the browser you want to add on your hard drive, click to select it, and then click Open to add it to the browser list in Dreamweaver. Note: You can add only those browsers to Dreamweaver that are on your hard drive. (See the nearby sidebar "Downloading new browsers" to find out more about finding and downloading new browsers for testing.) Look for the browser's executable file (with an .exe extension) rather than a shortcut on your desktop that you may use to launch the browser.





4. After the Preferences dialog box opens to the Preview in Browser settings, click the plus (+) sign at the top of the dialog box to open the Add Browser dialog box. Enter a name for the browser. (I like to include the version number as well as the name, as I have here, with Firefox 3.) Then click the Browse button.

Select Brow	193				
Look in:	🏭 Mozilla Firefox			- 🗿 🗊 🗁 🛄 -	
Recent Places Desktop Artesian Media PC Computer	Name chrome extension res uninstal	Date mo Type	Size compo diction grepre plugin search e crashr update	nents arties 75 3 gilugins polytenexe cr.exe	
N	File name:	firefox.exe			Open
			Executable Files I" exel		

6. Repeat Steps 3–5 to add more browsers to the list. You can then designate which browser you want as your primary browser: the browser that's launched when the F12 key is first pressed. You can also designate a secondary browser, which appears second on the list and will launch and display the same Web page if you press Ctrl+F12 on Windows or \+F12 on a Mac.


7. You can also preview a page in a browser by clicking the Preview/ Debug in Browser icon (it looks like a globe), at the top of the workspace, and selecting any browser from the list.

8. Adobe Device Central is available in Dreamweaver versions CS3 and CS4. (You don't have this option if you'reusing an older version of Dreamweaver.) Device Central is designed to help you create and test Web sites for mobile devices, such as cell phones. Using Device Central, you can preview your Web pages in many different cell phone models by first clicking the plus sign next to the device type and then any of the devices listed within each group.



Downloading new browsers

So how do you put new browsers on your hard drive so that you can preview your pages with them? The simplest way to get the latest versions is to visit the Web sites of the companies that create the most popular browsers:

- Microsoft Internet Explorer: www.microsoft.com/ie
- Mozilla Firefox: www.firefox.com
- Apple Safari (Mac only): www.apple.com/safari
- Google Chrome: www.google.com/chrome

Testing Sites with Online Browser Emulators

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- A Web site that has been published to a Web server
- Firefox, IE, Chrome, or Safari Web browser

Time needed: About half

an hour

Unless you own a dozen computers with different operating systems and a vast collection of Web browsers, you can't fully test your Web site on your own. Fortunately, a growing number of online services are available to help you preview your pages on many different operating systems and browsers, without having to manage multiple computers and browsers yourself.

Here are some of the best places to test your Web site online:

Xenocode Browser Sandbox (www.xenocode.com/Browsers). The Xenocode browser sandbox makes it easy for you to test a site using any of the eight most popular browsers without having to install them all on your system. You simply download and install a plug-in from the Xenocode site and then click the browser you want to use. After the selected browser launches, you can surf the Web as if the browser were installed on your computer. The service is free (at the time of this writing). And because you can surf through the browsers, you can interact with Web sites, testing all your pages, as well as JavaScript, AJAX, and other interactive features.

Adobe Browser Labs (https://browserlab.adobe.com). Adobe Browser Labs makes it possible for you to test any Web page on the Internet in the most common browsers. At the time of this writing, that includes IE versions 6 and 7, Mozilla Firefox versions 2 and 3, and Apple Safari version 3. You can also test pages on different operating systems, such as Windows XP and Mac OS X. When you use this service, the result is a screenshot with a preview of the page, which offers a quick and easy way to test pages' display. Small downside: You can't test interactive features, and you can test in only two browsers at a time.

Cross Browser Testing (www.crossbrowsertesting.com). The Cross Browser Testing site takes Web site-testing to another level. Instead of simply providing screenshots of a Web page in different browsers, or letting you launch a few browsers to test pages in, this site lets you take over other computers connected to the Internet so that you can test interactive features using a variety of browsers and operating systems. For example, if you use a computer that runs Windows Vista and you want to see what your site will look like on a Mac, you can choose to use a computer with the Mac OS and then view your site in any of a dozen browsers on the Mac system. The advantage is that you get more than snapshots, and you also can test interactive features, such as JavaScript, AJAX, forms, and more. This service requires that you purchase a monthly subscription.

Browsershots (www.browsershots.org). Browsershots is a popular online testing tool. You simply enter a page's URL and choose the options you want to use for testing. Browsershots then tests the page you submitted on each computer system selected with the specified browser and takes a screenshot. Although you can't test interactive features with this service, it's one of the easiest options and provides the largest collection of browsers to choose from. (You find instructions for using Browsershots in this task.) The basic service is free, but it can take a few minutes or a few hours to complete testing. If you don't like waiting, you can upgrade to "priority processing" for a fee.

En	ter UNL Hend http://cak	submit				
Linux		No drws			Mar 08	2 BSD
11511	Habohukary 0.5	Avant117	Model # 0.2	E Opera 0.28	III Firston 0.0	00 DHH 2.0
E1 989 2.8	Kosięuwice 3.5	EI Chumed 2	Minister 2.0	EI Opena 9-27	INI Satas 40	INT Fastor 2.0
M 121 2.1	Kon guesos 4.2	EI Chume 1.8	III MORE 4.0	Dp+ta 9.58	W3 <markup></markup>	MI Galeos 3.6
Epiphany 2.22	Internet22	Chume 2.3	MISTE 5.0	Dp+189.51	rec .	Kate hakate 0.5
E Rietos 1.0	DE MEMORINA 2.0	Chune 3.3	Mark 1.5	Dpeta 9.52	000 a	SwaMarkey 1.1
E FINISH 1.5	E Blair galor 18 C	F Befox 0.18	MOIN B.D	El Elperta B.D.B.	IXHIML	
E Rinks 2.0	C apera 10.0	F Belos 1.0	M318 7.0	Dpeta 8.01	And the Contract of Contract	
Firebox 2.0	C 9 per a 0.00	Finaliza 2.0	MILE NO.	Dpress D.80	for your designs	
Firebas 2.1	C pers 0.02	Finning 2.0	Marri paker 18/3	Dpress D.80		
Finder 3.4	🖉 apara ama	Fighter 2.3	Malanay a R.A.	Dpuss D.M.L	MyVectorStore*	1000
E flock 12	CoatMankey 1.1	Firefor 3.6	D 9ers 0.27	Eateri 3.0	2,000+ Stock Vectors	
Calere 20	CoaMarshey 2.0	The D	Dpens 10.0	E Saturi 3.1	🥖 🖓 🖻 🦺 🖆	
logape 1.1	Shiretako 3.1	Finde 1.1	Dpens 7.0	Catari 3.2		WEIR HOUSTS
inereased 2.0	C Shiretako 3.5	E Fire 12	D Opena 7.11	🕅 Satas 40		
D fremework 0.0		The2.5	D 0pens 7.64	E Seathforkey 1.1	7 9 1000000	TOPHOSTS.COM
		Pine 2.5	Dpung 0.0	E Seahforkey 2.8		
		Fine 0.0	D 0 pers 0.50	Childole 3.1		
		E Kindsloce 1.1	E 0pers 9.54	E Childole 3.5		
		Katalace 1.5	Deep 9.25			

Chapter 10: Testing and Publishing a Web Site

- 1. At www.browsershots.org, enter the URL of the page you want to test in the Enter URL Here field. (*Note:* You can test only those pages that are published on a Web server, but you can test any of those pages. For example, I can test www.californiawildlife photography.com (as I'm doing here), and I can also test www.californiawildlife photography.com/gallery to (test the gallery page separately). Browsershots can test only one page at a time.
- 2. Browsershots offers an exhaustive array of browser options (more than 92 different Web browsers and versions to choose from), and you can choose to test any browser available on any or all of the major operating systems, including Linux, Windows, Mac OS, and BSD. You can't, however, select specific versions of these operating systems. Place a check mark next to each browser you want to test, but keep in mind that the more options you choose, the longer it will take.

≈ ∆Linux		A Windows		
Dilb 0.8	🕅 Kazehakase 0.5	Avait 117	Misafield 8.2	Cpera 0.26
Dillo 2.0	Vangeator 3.6	Dhoma 0.2	Misefield S.8	Opera 0.27
Dilla 2.1	Kangawor 42	🔽 Chame 1 🛙	MSIE 4.0	Cpera 9.50
Epiphany 2.22	I Minetiel d 2.2	🐷 Ebame 2 II	NISIE 6.0	Cpets 9.61
E Firefox 1.0	Minefield 3.0	😨 Bhiome 3 🛙 .	Male 5.0	🔲 Opera 8.62
Firefox 1.5	Navigator 0.0	Firefox 0.9	MISIE 0.0	Cpera 0.60
Firefax 2.0	🕑 Opera 10.0	💟 Firefas 1.6	MBIE 7.0	Dps12 9.81
Firefax 3.0	C 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Virwfax 2 II	Misie e a	Cpera 9.62
E Firefox 2.1	🔲 Opens © 22	📰 Firefox 2.0	Navigators D	Cpera 9 83
Firefax 3.5	Coeta 8 54	Firefox 3.1	Netsape 8.1	Coera 9.04



4. Click any of the thumbnail images to see a slightly larger version. If you find that a page doesn't display properly in a browser, such as the one shown here in IE6, you can then use Dreamweaver to make adjustments to the page layout and test it again to see whether the display improves.

3. The result is a collection of thumbnail screenshots that give you a literal snapshot of how your page looks across many different browsers and systems. It can take a few minutes or a few hours to complete testing, depending on how busy the service is and how many options you choose.



Designing for mobile devices

With the rising popularity of Internetenabled mobile devices, a new audience of Web page visitors has emerged. Some high-end mobile devices (think iPhone and BlackBerry Storm) are capable of loading Web pages and do so reasonably well. However, the screen is much smaller, and the interactions with the Web browser is much different - specifically, navigating by touch. Lower-end regular mobile devices that make up the vast majority of the market often have small screens, reduced color display, and allow only minimal interaction.

To best manage the dramatic differences on mobile devices, my best recommendation is that you create a second version of your Web site designed to best serve the limited display options of mobile devices and link to the alternate design from your main site. If you have experience writing server scripts (or can hire someone to do it for you), you can create an auto-detect script that can determine whether a visitor to your site is using a mobile phone or a computer and direct them to the best version of your site automatically.

Here are a few important tips to consider when designing for mobile devices:

- Because download times are much slower on mobile devices, adjust the number of features you offer to mobile devices, and keep the number of images and style minimal.
- Use CSS for the design and layout of the Web page. Outdated HTML styling and layout options (such as frames) may not display at all on mobile devices.
- Screen size on a mobile device is extremely limited, with less width and more height than traditional computer monitors. (The view is more rectangular than square.) Optimize your content and design accordingly.
- There is no mouse on the mobile phone - only up and down arrows, and

at best a touch screen. Adjust your design to require as little scrolling and user movement as possible.

- Always validate your Web page code (numerous validation services are online, such as the one at http://validator. w3.org). Mobile browsers are even less forgiving than traditional Web site browsers about errors in your code.
- ✓ Very few mobile devices support JavaScript, so don't use it in the mobile version of a Web site.
- ✓ Not all mobile devices support Flash or other multimedia formats. Use multimedia sparingly and make sure to include links to alternative content for visitors who may not be able to view these features.
- Test with mobile phone emulators, such as Dreamweaver's Device Central (featured in the first task in this chapter), and the online emulators available at http://ready.mobi and http:// mtld.mobi/emulator.php.
- Test interactive features on a variety of mobile phones. If you can't afford to buy several phones (and who can?), ask your friends and coworkers to test your site on their phones.
- ✓ Visit stores that sell mobile phones and ask for a demo of the phone's Web browser capabilities; then make sure to view your own site while you're testing the phone. Although it can take some time to run around town visiting mobile phone stores and doing demos, it's a cheap way to test in a variety of modern devices, and you might even find your new favorite phone.

To read more about designing for mobile devices, check out my book Mobile Web Design For Dummies (Wiley).

Using the Dreamweaver Link-Testing Features



Test, test, and test some more. To help you ensure that all the bells and whistles on your Web site ring and ding the way they should, a variety of Dreamweaver features make it easy to test your pages for broken links and other potential problems. In the task that follows, you find instructions for using some of these high-powered testing tools on a completed Web page.

1. Make sure that the site you want to test is selected and active in the Files panel. (To open the Files panel, choose Window⇔Files.) If you haven't yet completed the site setup process, see Chapter 6 to take care of this important initial step.



lie Edit view Insert Modify Format Commands	Site	window Help	
dex.html* × Patri C.Wisers\Artesie Source Code styles.css preload.js		New Site Manage Sites	
😡 Code 🚭 Split 🛃 Design 🥖 Live View 👻 🖏 Dyg G		Get	Ctrl+Shift+D
250 300 350 400 450 500 51		Check Out	Ctrl+Alt+Shift+D
		Put	Ctrl+Shift+U
ATTOM		Check In	Ctrl+Alt+Shift+U
		Undo Check Out	
		Show Checked Out By	
		Locate in Site	
		Reports	
		Synchronize Sitewide	
		Check Links Sitewide	Ctrl+F8
		Change Link Sitewide	
		Advanced	

2. To test the links in a Web site, choose Site=>Check Links Sitewide. 3. The report from the Check Links feature is displayed at the bottom of the workspace. If Dreamweaver reports a broken link, like the one shown here (to the about me.html file), double-click the filename. Dreamweaver highlights the corresponding text or image with the broken link so that you can easily see where you need to fix the link.





RH	ERENKE	WARDATION	INCASER	COMPATIBLITY.	LIPHK CHECKER	SITE REPORTS.	FTF LOG	SERVER DEBUG
	Show:	External Links	÷	(links to pages or	eside ste. not d	hecked)		
₽.,	Files	Broken Links					External	Links
9	T/abo	ou Orphaned Files	13				http://ww	ww.ticschool.com
0	- /abo	witching					http://ww	ww.mystressolutions.com
	- /abo	hat had					http://w	ww.conquestmedia.com
	/app	ointments.html					http://ww	ww.conquestmedia.com
	1cha	ir_massage.html					http://ww	ww.mystressolutions.com
	1/cha	ir_massage.html					http://ww	ww.mystressolutions.com
	-			and a second			6 444	

4. You can fix broken links in a number of ways; the simplest is to reset the link by following the same steps you find in Chapter 6 for creating links. As in the example shown here, where I'm fixing a link from one page in a Web site to another page in the same site, start by making sure that the linked text is selected. Then click the Browse button (the yellow file folder icon next to the Link field) in the Property Inspector to locate the correct filename. (For more detailed instructions on creating links, see Chapter 6.)

5. In addition to identifying broken links to pages within a Web site, the Dreamweaver link report lists other kinds of links. For example, you can use the drop-down list shown here to view all the external links, or links in a site that go to other Web sites. This makes it easy to test links to other sites to make sure that the Web site address hasn't changed. Note that to check external links, you must preview a page in a browser on a computer with an active Internet connection. You also display a list of unused files in a site by choosing Orphaned files from the drop-down menu. *Orphaned* files are HTML pages that aren't linked to any other pages, as well as images and multimedia files that aren't inserted into any pages in your site.

Setting Up FTP in Dreamweaver

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver
- A Web site ready to be published
- A Web server or hosting service

Time needed:

About half an hour Okay, you created a Web site and tested it, and you're ready to upload it to the Web. It's time to put the Dreamweaver publishing tools to work. If you're using a commercial service provider, you most likely need the Dreamweaver FTP features, covered in detail in this task and the remaining tasks in this chapter.

Note that you must complete the site setup process, covered in the beginning of Chapter 6, before you can configure the site for uploading. You also need the following information from your Web hosting service (find tips for choosing a Web host in Chapter 3):

- ✓ The FTP host name
- The path to the Web directory (optional but useful, and should look similar to this: /web/htdocs/jcwarner)
- ✓ An FTP login or user name
- An FTP password

After you gather all your FTP information and complete the site setup, you're ready to access the Dreamweaver publishing tools and prepare the program to upload your Web site. In this task, you set up Dreamweaver to connect to your server via FTP, a process you need to do only once for each site you work on. In the next task, you use Dreamweaver to upload pages to your server by using the connection you establish in this task. Follow these steps:



 Choose Site ⇒Manage Sites to open the Manage Sites dialog box. Alternatively, you can choose Manage Sites from the Site drop-down list in the Files panel.



2. In the list of defined sites, select the site you want to publish. Then click the Edit button.

3. Select the Advanced tab at the top of the Site Definition dialog box, and then select the Remote Info category from the left side.

Site Definition for A	Austin Massage	
Basic Advanced		
Category	Remote Info	
Local Info Testing Server Version Control Cloaking Design Notes File View Columns Contribute Templates Spry	Access:	None



4. Click the arrow for the Access drop-down list box, and then choose the publishing option best suited to your Web server and development environment. If you're using a commercial Web host (the most common option for small do-ityourself sites), choose FTP. If you're working at a university, a large company, or an organization that has its own Web servers, refer to the nearby sidebar, "The multiple Dreamweaver publishing options," to understand your choices here, and check with your system administrator to find out which option is best for your system.

Remote Info	
Access:	FTP
FTP host:	ftp.austinrelax.com
Host directory:	/web/austinrelax/
Login:	austin Test
Password:	•••••
	Use passive FTP

5. In the FTP Host text box, type the host name of your Web server. In my example, I used ftp.austinrelax.com. In the Host Directory text box, type the directory on the remote site in which documents visible to the public are stored. In my example, I used /web/austinrelax/. The information you enter in this field depends on your server. In some cases, you can leave the field blank if you log in directly to your site; in other cases, you use a different path, such as users/mysite/domain. Check with your service provider or site administrator to find out how your server is set up.

- **6.** Enter your login name and password. Web services require a username and password to gain access to your Web server to ensure that you're the only person who can make changes to your Web site. If you select the Save check box, Dreamweaver stores the information on your local computer and you don't have to retype it every time you log in to your Web server. Click the Test button to make sure that you entered every-thing correctly. If there are no problems, Dreamweaver responds with the message Adobe Dreamweaver CS4 connected to your Web server successfully.
- 7. Select the Use Passive FTP option or the Use Firewall option only if your service provider or site administrator instructs you to do so. If you use a commercial Web hosting service, you shouldn't need to select any remaining options in this section of the dialog box. Select the use Secure FTP check box if you have a secure Web server, but be aware that not all hosts support secure FTP. If you select this option and see an error message when you press the Test button, deselect the option and test again.



The multiple Dreamweaver publishing options

In the Remote Info category of the Site Definition dialog box, you find the following options when you click the Access drop-down list. The following list briefly describes when you should select each choice. (If you're using a commercial Web hosting service, the FTP option should be your best choice.)

- None: When you aren't uploading your site to a server or when you aren't yet ready to fill in these settings.
- FTP: When you're using the built-in Dreamweaver File Transfer Protocol features, which are covered in detail in the following section. You're most likely to need these settings if you're using a commercial Web hosting service.

- Local/Network: When you're using a Web server on a local network, such as your company or university server. For specific settings and requirements, check with your system administrator.
- WebDAV (Web-based Distributed Authoring and Versioning): When you're using a server with the WebDAV protocol, such as Microsoft IIS.
- RDS (Remote Development Services): When you're using ColdFusion on a remote server.
- Microsoft Visual SourceSafe: When you're using Microsoft Visual SourceSafe. (This option is available only in Windows.)

212 Part II: Putting the Pages Together

Site Definition for	Austin Massage 🏼 🐼
Rasic Advanced	
Category	Remote Info
Local Info Remote Info Testing Server Version Control Cloaking Design Notes File View Columns Contribute Templates Spry	Access: FTP FTP host: ftp.austinrelax.com Host directory: /weh/sites/htdors Login: austin Test Password: •••••• V Save I Ise passive FTP Use IPv6 transfer mode Use firewall Firewall Settings Use Secure FTP (SFTP) Server Compatibility V Maintain synchronization information Automatically upload files to server on save Enable file check in and check out
	OK S Cancel Help

- **8.** Select the Maintain Synchronization Information check box; Dreamweaver then automatically keeps track of any changes you make to pages on your local computer that haven't been uploaded to the server. *Note:* I never recommend that you select the Automatically Upload Files to Server on Save check box because I think that you should test your pages on your local computer before you publish them to the local site. Leaving this box deselected prevents the possibility of accidentally uploading errors automatically every time you save a page on your local computer. The Enable File Check In and Check Out option opens an advanced feature that can be used to track files when multiple people are working on a Web site. You can find more information on this and other site management features in my book *Dreamweaver CS4 For Dummies* (Wiley).
- **9.** Click OK to save your Web server information settings and close the Site Definition dialog box. You're ready to start using the Dreamweaver FTP features, covered in the next section.



If you try to connect to your server and see the message An FTP error occurred, it usually means that you entered characters incorrectly. Be very careful as you type your username, password, and other information because most servers are case sensitive and require that these fields be filled in with the exact host, directory, login, and password information. If you still have trouble, contact your service provider or site administrator to ensure that you have all the correct information for connecting to your server. Setting up all this information correctly the first time can be tricky, and each service provider is different.

Uploading Files with the Dreamweaver FTP Features



After you enter all your Web server and login information into Dreamweaver (as you do in the previous task), you can upload files to your server and retrieve them at any time by using the built-in FTP capabilities of Dreamweaver.

To transfer files between your hard drive and a remote server, follow these steps:

 Make sure that the site you want to upload is selected and visible in the Files panel and that you entered all the FTP settings described in the previous section. Then, in the upper-left corner of the Files panel, click the Connects to Remote Host icon. (It looks like a plug and an outlet.)





If you're not already connected to the Internet, the Connects to Remote Host icon attempts to start your dialup connection. If you have trouble connecting this way, try establishing your Internet connection as usual to check e-mail or surf the Web, and then return to Dreamweaver and click the Connects to Remote Host icon after establishing your Internet connection. When your computer is online, Dreamweaver should have no trouble automatically establishing an FTP connection with your host server.

2. When the connection is established, the blue Connects to Remote Host icon changes to look like the plugs are connected (or, dare I say, plugged in). After the connection is established, you can view the files and folders on your Web server by choosing Remote View from the drop-down list in the upper-right corner. (It's shown open in this figure.) Using the drop-down arrow, you can easily switch between Local view (displays the files and folders in the root site folder on your local hard drive) and Remote view by selecting each one in turn.



Demoke Cite	Cine Ture	Madifierd	Level Files		Gradita	Mar differed
Control austineelay/	Size Type	Inodified		e - Austin Massage	Folder	8/1/2009 3:39 PM
			E 🖨	images	Folder	8/1/2009 10:23 4
			0 🗀	script	Folder	8/1/2009 10:21 #
			10	about.html	4KB Firefox D	2/12/2009 9:08 P
				appointments.html	3KB Firefux D	2/12/2009 9:08 P
				Denefits of Frequ	621KD PDF File	2/10/2009 6:30 F
			10	chair_massage.html	SKB Firefox D	2/12/2009 9:08 1
			8	Client Intake For	34KB PD∉ File	3/4/2009 7:46 PI
			0	contact.php	GKD PHP File	2/12/2009 9:09 8
			1	corporate_rewar	2KB Firefox D	2/5/2009 9:20 Pf
				index.html	4KB Firefox D	8/1/2009 3:39 Pi
			- 10	links.html	GKD Firefox D	6/7/2009 6:50 PI
				map.html	7KB Firehox D	4/1/2009 6:01 Pf
			0	new_clients.html	8KB Firefox D	2/12/2009 9:09 8
			- 0	policies.html	4KB Firefux D	4/6/2009 9:14 PM
				rates.html	1KB Firchox D	3/22/2009 1:17 [
				styles.css	7KB CSS Doc	2/7/2009 10:52/
			Ø	treatments.html	7KB Firefox D	2/12/2009 9:10 F

3. To see both Local and Remote views simultaneously, expand the Files panel by clicking the Expand icon, in the upper-right corner of the Files panel. With the panel expanded, you can upload and download files by dragging them from one pane to the other. To minimize the Files panel, click the same icon again. In this figure, the Files panel is expanded and the cursor is hovering over the icon, which is labeled Collapse when the Files panel is expanded.

Show: 🧰 Austin Massage 🛛 🖌 🖾 🔛 📴 🔛 🕸	AT CONTRACT	7 (12)	
<u>Remote Site</u> <u>Size Type Modified</u>	Local fries "" Comparison of the second of	Size Type Folder Folder Folder AKB Frefox D SKB Frefox D SKB Frefox D SKB Frefox D SKB Frefox D KKB Frefox D	Modified \$(1/2003 3:39 PM \$(1/2003 1:32 A/ 2(1/2/2009 9:08 PP 2(1/2/2009 9:08 PP 2(1/2/2009 9:08 PP 2(1/2/2009 9:08 PP 2(1/2/2009 9:08 PP 2(1/2/2009 9:08 PP 2(1/2/2009 9:09 PP 4(1/2009 0:01 PM 4(1/2009 0:01 PM 4(1/2009 9:09 PP 4(6/2009 9:19 PP 2(1/2/2009 9:19 PP 2(1/2/2009 9:10 PP 2(1/2/2009 9:10 PP
e ,	•		

4. To upload a file (transfer a file from your hard drive to your Web server), select the file from the Local View panel (which displays the files on your hard drive) and click the Put Files icon (the up arrow) in the Files panel. If a dialog box appears with the message Put dependent files, choose No to upload only the selected file. Choose Yes, and Dreamweaver uploads the selected file, plus any files that appear within that file, such as images or multimedia files that are inserted into a page.



5. Files are copied to your server when you transfer them, leaving the file on the local computer untouched. You can select multiple files or folders to be transferred simultaneously.



When you copy files to or from your server, the files you're transferring overwrite the files already at the destination. Dreamweaver notifies you about the overwriting if it notices that you're replacing a newer version of a file with an old one, but it's always a good idea to double-check before you overwrite a file. **6.** To *download* files or folders (transfer files or folders from your Web server to your hard drive), select the files or folders from the Remote Site panel (which displays the files on your server) and click the Get Files button (the down arrow) in the Files panel. The files are automatically copied to your hard drive when you transfer them.



After you upload files to your server, test your work by using a Web browser to view the pages online. Sometimes, things that look and work fine on your computer don't work on the server, so you should always test the pages on the server right away.

Using dedicated FTP programs

If you prefer to use a dedicated FTP program rather than the built-in Dreamweaver features, you can download one of these popular FTP programs for the Mac or PC:

- FireFTP: A Firefox add-on that you can download for free from http:// fireftp.mozdev.org.
- WS_FTP: On a PC, you can find this program with the unusual name at www. ipswitch.com.
- CuteFTP: Download this Windows program from www.cuteftp.com.

- Fetch: If you use a Macintosh computer, check out this program, available at www.fetchsoftworks.com.
- Transmit: You can download this program, also for the Mac, at www.panic. com/transmit.
- FileZilla: This is a great open-source FTP program available for PC, Linux, or Mac at http://filezilla-project.org.

Adding Google Analytics to your Site



One of the greatest advantages of publishing information on the Web is that you can track how people use that information, how they find it, where they come from, and more. There are many ways to gather data about visitors to your Web site. Most Web hosting services provide access to some kind of server logs that include basic information, such as how many people visit your site every day, week, month, or year.

If you want more information, consider using one of the third-party statistic services, such as Google Analytics, covered in the next task, or any of the similar services included in the sidebar, "Using online Web-traffic services." Google Analytics is the most popular Web traffic–reporting software available on the Web today. And it's no surprise. Google Analytics is powerful, comprehensive, remarkably easy to use — and free!

Follow these steps to add Google Analytics to your site.

1. Sign up for an account at Google Analytics (www.google.com/ analytics). If you already have a Google account, such as one you use for Gmail, just click the big blue Access Analytics button, and you can use your existing account as you sign up for Analytics. If you're new to Google, click the Sign Up Now link and create a new account when you sign up for Analytics.





2. After you set up an account, just enter your user name and password to access your account. When you log into Google Analytics, if you already have sites set up with tracking, you'll see them listed on the Overview page. To set up a new site, click the Add Website Profile link at the bottom of the Overview page.

3. On the Create New Website Profile page that appears, select Add a Profile for a New Domain if you're setting tracking for the first time, or select Add a Profile for an Existing Domain if you want to track a domain with a second profile. Enter the URL of the site you want to track, select the country and time zone from the drop-down lists, and then click the Finish button at the bottom of the page.

Google Analytic	s	and the second s
alytics Settings View Reports	Click to select Website Profile 👻	My Analytic
alytics Settings • Create New We	absite Profile	
Create New Website Pro	ofile	
Choose Website Profile Typ	e	
Please decide if you would like to	create an additional profile for an existing domain, or cre	rate a profile to track a new domain.
Add a Profile for a new domain of the profile for a new dom	ain OR Oradia Profile for an existing domain	
Plassa provide the LIPL of the cit	Pain to you would like to track	
Frease provide the Oric of the sh	log.com	
http:// - mobilewebdesignb		
Examples, www.mywebsite.com Note: You can add more profiles	after you add this profile	
Examples: www.mywobsite.com Note: You can add more profiles Time zone country or territory.	after you add this profile United States -	

racking Status Inf	ormation
Profile Name:	mabilewebdesignblag.com
Website URL:	htp://mobilewebdesignblog.com
Web Property ID 👔 :	UA-3932535-6
Tracking Status:	Tracking Not Installed (Last checked Aug 1, 2009 4.33.27 FM) The Google Analytic Instalming to de has not aven detected on your website's home page. For Analytics to Anaton, your web administrator must add the odd to ach page of your website.
New Tracking	Code (ga.js) Legacy Tracking Code (urchin.js)
opythe following co	Gode (gajs) Legacy Tracking Code (urchinjs) te Nock into every webpage you want to track immediately before the -//ooty-fag. coller/tou can use a common include or a template Learning or
opy the following co your site has dynami	Gode (gajs) Legacy Tracking Code (urchinjs) te Nock into every webpage you want to track immediately before the -zhody-fag. cotter (you can use a common include or a template. Learning or to gan access to 5 wide range of exciting new features as they become available. cotter is to be one of the state
ony the following col your site has dynami use this tracking code care full coperato are galations - focument, vs. ite	Gode (gal) Legacy Tracking Code (urchinjs) He block into every webpage you want to track immediately before the -choogo-tag. content you can use a common include or a temptate. Learn More Is gain access to a web range of exciting new features as they become available. excitation of the temptation of the temptate of the temptation of temptation of the temptation of temptation of the temptation of the temptation of the temptation of temptatio
envice the following col- your site has dynamic as this tracking code as this tracking code as this tracking code as this tracking code as the system decrement, write to decrement, write	Gode (ga,js) Legacy Tracking Code (urchin.js) te block into every webpage you want to track immediately before the -//loops-tag. content you can use a common incluse or a terrolate. Learning or to gan access to a vide range of exciting new features as they become available. rec/pawaece top:// ("https://or unescase ("societations is common.loops.com") // "https://or unescase ("societations is common.loops.com") // "https://or unescase ("societations is common.loops.com") // "https://or unescase ("societations is common.loops.com")
New Tracking opythe following cod (your site has dynami Jse this tracking code (secial): type that gaddidet (secial): site (secial): site (se	Gode (g8,js) Legacy Tracking Code (urchinjs) te block into every webpage you seart to track immediately before the -
The With a constraint of the c	Gode (gal)s) Legacy Tracking Code (urchin.js) te block into every webpage you want to track immediately hotore the

4. Google Analytics provides you with two options: New Tracking Code (ga.js) or Legacy Tracking Code (urchin.js). I recommend using the new tracking code so you have access to the latest and greatest new features that aren't available via the legacy code. Select the entire code block in the input box and copy it. Then click the Finish button at the bottom of the page to return to the Overview. 5. To add the code to a page in Dreamweaver, click the Code button at the top left of the workspace, and then scroll down to the bottom of the Web page where you want to add the code. With the cursor or mouse, select the line immediately before the </body> tag and then press Enter on your keyboard. Choose Edit=>Paste, and the previously copied tracking code from Google Analytics is added to your Web page. Save your changes.





6. To add Google Analytics code to a WordPress blog, log into the Administrative tools for your blog (as if you're going to add a new post) and then choose Appearance from the left side of the Dashboard. Under Appearance, choose Editor; then, on the right side of the page, under Templates, choose Footer (footer.php). Scroll down to the bottom of the page code; just above the close body tag </body>, paste the code from Google Analytics. Click Update File, and all the pages in your blog will be tracked automatically.



If you use Dreamweaver's . dwt template feature in your Web site, add your Google Analytics to the template in an uneditable region, and it will automatically be added to all the pages created from the template. See Chapter 6 for more information on templates and adding code to your pages in Dreamweaver.

Using online Web-traffic services

Although Google Analytics is the most popular online traffic service, there are several alternatives, including:

Clicky (www.getclicky.com). Clicky is a hosted, real-time Web analytics service that provides statistics as they occur (unlike most other Web site statistics services). Clicky focuses more on current trends as opposed to historical data, which is also available. Clicky offers both free and paid services, and most noticeably offers a developer API, Twitter analytics, and dedicated mobile and iPhone versions. Clicky also works on browsers without JavaScript enabled. None of these services are offered by Google Analytics.

Yahoo! Web Analytics (http://web. analytics.yahoo.com). Yahoo! Web Analytics was created by IndexTools, a leading provider of Web analytics software that was acquired by Yahoo!. Data is collected in "near" real-time, which means most data is available within minutes or seconds of a Web site visit. Yahoo! Web Analytics is free, offers customizable dashboards, segmentation tools for data analysis, and campaign management features similar to Google Analytics.

AWStats(http://awstats.sourceforge. net). AWStats is a free, open source program that you can install on your Web server. If you prefer to keep all your stats on your own server, you may prefer this option over Google Analytics and other online services. This program generates advanced Web, streaming, FTP, or mail server statistics with great graphics. Setting up AWStats is a bit more complicated than using a service like Google Analytics because you need access to the Web server log files and specific scripts on your Web server. AWStats offers data similar to Google Analytics, but the presentation isn't as nice.

Piwik (www.piwik.org). **Piwik is a PHP**/ MySQL software program that you download and install on your own Web server. Piwik positions itself as the open source alternative to Google Analytics. Piwik takes about five minutes to install, and then you copy and paste JavaScript code on Web pages you want to track, much like you do with Google Analytics. The graphs, presentation, and navigation of Piwik are more polished than AWStats, but still not as advanced as those at Google Analytics.

Part III Going Web 2.0



'As a web site designer I never thought I'd say this, but I don't think your site has enough bells and whistles."

Chapter 11 Designing a Blog

Tasks Performed in This Chapter

- Starting a blog with WordPress.com
- Customizing your blog template to match your content

8

Writing and styling posts with panache t was only a few years ago that blogs (short for *Web log*) were considered the wild and crazy new kid on the block. Next thing, it seemed like everyone had a blog. And most people didn't seem to know why they had a blog — they just knew that everyone was saying that you had to have one.

After a few introductory posts to play with this new toy, statistics from the blog search engine Technorati show that about 95 percent of people abandoned them. And that's a shame because blogging tools can be used for so much more than some lonely 14-year-old's gushing paean to sparkly vampires or a basementdwelling conspiracy theorist warning about alien mind-control rays.

Savvy technology shoppers read blogs like Gizmodo (http://gizmodo.com) and Engadget (www.engagdget.com) to figure out if the newest techno-toy lives up to the hype. Dooce (http://dooce.com) and Suburban Turmoil (http://suburban turmoil.blogspot.com) write about motherhood and child-rearing issues in a laugh-out-loud voice. Deadspin (http://deadspin.com) and Total Pro Sports (www.totalprosports.com/blog) cover the stories behind the stories on the sports page.

At its heart, blogging software allows you to post information to the Web in a quick and easy way. After you have the blog set up, all you really have to do is type (into the right boxes) what you want the world to read, click to select multimedia assets (photos, videos, audio files), and click the Publish button. The blog displays the content in reverse chronological order, sorted by category or date, and allows readers to leave comments or trackback links to add to the discussion with the writer or other readers. The format of the site, after it's set, doesn't change. That is, you don't have to choose how many columns of information you want, what the background color is, what the fonts are, or any of the other variables to designing a Web page.

In this chapter, I'll demonstrate how to use WordPress, which is a sophisticated blogging tool that can grow with you as you get more comfortable with the blogosphere. WordPress is free to use, and comes in two "flavors." You can get free hosting at WordPress.com, or you can download the software package from WordPress.org and install it on your own server. Each approach has advantages and disadvantages. I start with the simplest approach of having someone else host it for you, and then take a look at how to take total control of things yourself.

Starting a Blog at WordPress.com



An updated Web browser, such as Internet Explorer 8.0 or Firefox 3.5

🛩 An e-mail address

Time needed:



Less than half an hour Your blogging software options are as numerous as the function keys at the top of your keyboard, so how do you choose one service over another — or know what they do in the first place? Although I can't help you with your function keys, blogging software is another matter: One of the quickest and most flexible services is available at WordPress.com. WordPress has practically become the industry standard blogging tool in the last couple of years because the open-source community has dedicated itself to developing thousands of themes and plug-ins to allow blog owners to customize and extend the basic blog concept in almost infinite ways.

If you aren't sure that you want to blog or you're thinking of using other software down the road (or you're just curious), WordPress.com is an excellent place to become familiar with how blogging software works, while offering you almost endless possibilities to expand beyond simple blogging to running a sophisticated e-commerce site or database-driven video-hosting service.

In this step-by-step task, you can see how easy it is to sign up for a blog and get started:

1. Open your Web browser, point it to www.wordpress.com, and click the Sign Up Now button.



Get you	ır own WordPress.com account in seconds
Fill out this one-	step form and you'll be blogging seconds later!
Username	lollywoodBartender
	(Must be at least 4 characters, letters and numbers only.)
Password	
Confirm	•••••
	Use upper and lower case characters, numbers and symbols like / %3% ^6(in your
	Password Strength:
	Good

2. In the sign-up page, type the name you want to use in the Username field. This can be your name, an online identity (*handle*), or the name you would like for the blog. In this case, I used HollywoodBartender. Next, type a password. WordPress advises users to choose a password that mixes uppercase and lowercase characters as well as numbers and symbols. An example of this kind of mixture would be P@ssW0rd789. Retype the password in the Confirm box.

Email Address	/wood@yahoo.com
Legal flotsam	$[\ensuremath{\mathbb{Z}}]$ These read and agree to the fastinating terms of service
	 Gimme a blagt (Like usemanne wordpress.com) Just a usemanne, please.
Next	

- _ Chapter 11: Designing a Blog
- 3. In the next box down, type in your e-mail address. Like the online warning says, triplecheck that you have the spelling correct. If you ever forget your password, a new one will be e-mailed to this address. You can use your existing e-mail account; or, if you want to establish an entirely new identity just to deal with your blog, you can create a new e-mail identity at a free e-mail site. Make sure that the I Have Read and Agree to the Fascinating Terms of Service check box is selected. (Please click the link and do read the terms of service before agreeing to them.) Select the Gimme a Blog! radio button, and then click Next.
- This next page is where you pick your domain 4. name and the title of your blog. You will need to think carefully and maybe try a number of options in this next step. Type in the domain name you want for your blog. This isn't necessarily going to be the name of your blog, but it should be as close to it as you can get. If your name is already in use by another blogger, you'll be prompted to try another domain name. The default name here is the same as your Username. Try to keep this name short and sweet so that your readers can type it as easily as possible. In this instance, I chose to keep it the same as the Username, so the resulting URL for the blog is http://www. hollywoodbartender.wordpress.com. *Remember:* Like the site says, after you choose this Web address, it can't be changed. You can, however, start all over later if you come up with a genius idea for a domain name.

Blog Domain

woodbartender Wour address will be demain.wordpress.com. It must be at least 4 characters, letters an immers only. It cannot be charged on choose accel/bh



You have to remember your password, so don't get too exotic with your made-up combinations just to please the strength bar. (The Password strength bar beneath the password entry box shows how your password suggestion ranks in terms of un-guess-ability.) A password that rates as Good is probably enough for anything other than a banking/financial information site or a Department of Defense nuclear secrets site.

226 Part III: Going Web 2.0 .

5. In the next box down, give your blog a name in the Blog Title field. Most people try to come up with something memorable. Unlike the URL, you can change and tweak the blog title later. In this case, I wanted to build on the words Hollywood Bartender that appear in the URL, so the blog title is "The Secret Life of a Hollywood Bartender."

Blog Title The Secret Life of a Hollywc The blog tille can be changed al any lime.

en - English	•
en - English	*
eo - Esperanto	
es - Español	
et - Eesti	
eu - Euskara	
فارسی - fa	
fi - Suomi	
fil - Filipino	
fo - Føroyskt	-
fr - Français	
tur - Hurlan	
fy - Frysk	Ξ
ga - Gaeilge	
gl - Galego	
gn - Avañeë	-
gu - ગુજરાતા	
he - עברית	
hi - हिन्दी	
hr - Hrvatski	
hu - Magyar	
hy - Armenian	
ia - Interlingua	
id Roboco Indonacio	

6. Choose the language you will be blogging in. This list will set the default character set available for your text. That is, if you're going to blog in Hindu or Farsi, choose that language so the characters show up how they're supposed to (rather than appearing as blank spaces and random punctuation).

7. Leave the Privacy check box selected if you want your blog to show up in search engines. (Um, clear the check box if you don't want to be listed in search engines or WordPress.) However, clearing this check box doesn't mean that your blog will be totally invisible and private — just that you're not going out of your way to publicize it and try to drive traffic to it. Click the Signup button when you're satisfied with your choices. *Remember:* After you click this button, you cannot change the URL: You can only start over and pick a new URL.

	nome sign op
Blog Domain	woodbartender.wordpress.com
	(Your address will be domain wordpress.com, it must be atleast 4 characters, letters and numbers only. It cannot be charged so choose carefully)
Blog Title	The Secret Life of a Hollywc
	The blog title can be changed at any time.
Language	What language will you be primanly blogging in?
	en - English 👻
Privacy	I would like my blog to appear in search engines like Google and Technarali, and in public listings around WordPress.com.

8. WordPress sends a message to the e-mail account you entered. Go to your e-mail inbox and check for the message. You must click the link in the message (or cut and paste it into the browser navigation bar) to activate your blog. It may take up to 30 minutes for the confirmation message to arrive, so be patient if it doesn't show up immediately. However, you must confirm this activation e-mail within two days, or WordPress will assume that you entered an incorrect e-mail address and then delete your blog.

Howdy,

Thank you for signing up with WordPress.com. You are one step away from blogging at hollywoodbartender.wordpress.com. Please click this link to activate your blog:

http://wordpress.com/activate/d65801ae792149ac

--The WordPress.com Team

(If clicking the link in this message does not work, copy and paste it into the address bar of your browser.)

Your account i	is now active!	
	Username:	Password:
	hollywoodbartender	*******

9. If you haven't received your confirmation e-mail yet, scroll down to see some other options. You can click Contact Support, or re-enter your e-mail address. When you do click the link that you receive in your e-mail, you are taken to a page that says Your Account is Now Active! Your username and password should already appear in the blanks on that page.

10. You are prompted to update your profile. You can do this now, or get back to it later. If you want to do it now, enter your first and last name, and write a short description about yourself and why you are blogging. Click the Save Profile button after you're done. Don't worry — you can go back and change it if you later don't like it. You will be taken to the Login screen.

First Name:	Hollywood	
Last Name:	Bartender	
About Yourself:	I serve frothy cocktails to the nch, famous and barely clothed. It's a glamorous job - and an absurd one.	



11. If the fields in the Login screen aren't filled in, enter your username and password; then click the Log In button. You can select the Remember Me check box if you're on your own computer and want to have it fill in the blanks for you.

sername	
nollywoodbar	tender
assword	
Remember Me	Log In

🕈 My Account • Ny				Search WantPress.com Blogs	care
🕥 The Secret L	ife of a Hollywood Bartender 📼	itsina Na	w Past 1	Howdy, hollywoodbartender Turbo Lo	
🏠 Dashboard 🛛 🔻	👚 Dashboard			Screen Options V	telp (
Blog Stats	WordPress announcement: SoundC	lloud			
Blog Surfer					
Ny Commente	Right Now		QuickPre	22	
Readomattic Tao Surfer	At a Glance		Title		
Subscriptions	1 Post	1 Comment		Lieland/Torrat E II E & @	
Ny Blogs	1 Page	1 Approved	Content		
@ Upgrades	1 Cabegory	O Pending	CONCORE		
*	O Tags	O Spam			
Posts	Theme Kubrick with 0 Widgets	Change Theme	Taos		
🗐 Media				Save Draft Reset Publish	
& Links	Akismet blocks spam from getting to y nothing in your spam queue at the mo	rour blog, but there's ment.			
D Pages			Recent Dr	rafts	
Comments	Recent Comments	Recent Comments		no drafts at the moment	
Ratings	From Mr WordPress on He	allo world! #			
Polls	Hi, this is a comment. To del log in, and view the posts' of	ete a comment, just omments, there you	Stats		
*	will have		20	ws par day	
Appearance					
		Converse B.	16 -		_

12. When you login, you will be taken to the Dashboard. This is where you have an overview of all the controls you can use on your blog. Start by customizing your template, which is the focus of the next task.

Blogging software options

I talk extensively about WordPress in this chapter, but it is by no means the only blogging solution out there. If a blog is an important part of your Web plans, spend time researching the available solutions to find the one that fits both your plans and your pocketbook.

Here are two other hosted solutions you can take a look at:

TypePad, at www.typepad.com, has three pricing levels, depending on the level of functionality you want. TypePad is proving to be the platform of choice for busy professionals who want the convenience of a hosted service with more support and a larger feature set.

Blogger is Google's blogging software. If you already have a Gmail account, you can use Blogger. Like WordPress, it's free. Although it's quite easy to use, it doesn't have as many plug-ins and features as WordPress offers. Sign up for Blogger at www.blogger.com.

If you want to install software on your own Web server, here's a description of the major players:

Movable Type is the granddaddy of blogging software, the gold standard to which all others are compared. It has tons of helpful features, and if you develop the proper skills, you can make this software jump through hoops for you. Check it out at www. movabletype.com. Joomla! is an extremely powerful and extensible content management system (CMS). This program offers far more than just blogging tools and is great for online magazines and other complex sites. Joomla! is also increasingly used by many power bloggers. They point out that you can't beat the features it offers for the price: it's free. This software is open source, so many plug-ins, extensions, and themes are available. If you plan to build a blog that can hold up under heavy traffic, or that can be customized to do things beyond what a normal blog can handle, this excellent choice is available at www.joomla.org.

ExpressionEngine, at www.expression engine.com, has its roots in blogging software but is evolving into a fully featured CMS with excellent blogging tools. Throw in extras like photo galleries, shopping cart modules, forums, polls, and great customer support, and you can use this product to run your blog *and* some of the biggest and most complex Web sites on the Internet.

I mention only these blogging options here, but you can check out dozens, including many on social networking sites like MySpace or Facebook. Carefully consider your needs, as well as what you might like to do in the future as you make your decision to find just the right set of features for your situation.

Customizing Your Blog Template

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

An updated Web browser, such as Internet Explorer 8.0 or Firefox 3.5

 A blog on WordPress.com

Time needed:



Half an hour to an hour One of the greatest strengths of WordPress is the stunning number and variety of templates available. A template sets the look and feel of your blog: the size and position of the banner, the typefaces and font sizes, how many columns appear, what the comment system looks like, and much more. The templates help you show off photos, videos, music, and almost anything else you can upload to the Internet. You can create your own template with Web design tools, but to start, it might be best to play around with the free themes to get a feel for what the various design and blogging choices mean.

For example, a blog with only one big column works great for photographers wanting to show off their shots in the biggest possible format for maximum visual impact. A blog with multiple narrow columns works for an organization trying to present multiple threads of complex information: say, a school that offers parents a way to see a calendar of events, the school lunch menu, and a recap of the last PTA meeting.

You can spend hours browsing through all the possibilities available for free on WordPress.com. Also hundreds of designers are willing and eager to sell you customized templates that use Flash, Silverlight, and other multimedia technologies to make your blog stand out from the crowd.

> **1.** Log in to your WordPress account. On the Dashboard page, scroll down until you see the Appearance drop-down list. Click the Appearance button to open up that menu.





2. Under Appearance, click Themes to navigate to the directory of free themes available through WordPress. You can scroll through multiple pages to find one that suits you. Click the thumbnails to open a window showing a mock-up of what your blog would look like. When you find a design you like, click Install to make that your template. *Note:* You can always change your template later.

® Upgrades	ht-sidebar
Browse Themes	

3. I'm using a theme called MistyLook as an example here because it offers a couple of easyto-control features and allows me to show off interesting widgets. After the theme is installed, it appears on top of your Manage Themes page.

4. Start the customization by working in the Header Image first. Click the Custom Header link. I prepared an image to replace the picture of the trees and bridge over the pond. You can use any photo-editing program to make a similar Header Image, as long as it fits in with the size requirements. In this case, you can crop an image to fit; or if you have one that's 760 x 190 pixels, you can use it as is. Click the Browse button to navigate to where your image is stored. When you find it, click to select it and then click Open. Then click the Upload button.





You should settle on the general look and feel of your blog within the first week or so. Making too radical of a change after you create many blog posts can be problematic because of differing photo widths, font colors, and other elements that work great under one blog theme but can "break the page" when applied to another theme. For example, say your photo blog shows off some of your breathtaking landscape shots 800 pixels wide on a white background. Then you decide to switch to a 4-column blog where each column is only 200 pixels wide to show off more photos at a time, against a black background. Unless you re-size all the photos you've uploaded, your photos will either overlap and cover up your other content, or worse yet, the conflicting standards will cause your blog to refuse to load and visitors will see only an error message. And if you've specified that some of your text appear in black, it will be invisible against the black background unless once again – you guessed it – you go back into every blog post you've ever done and laboriously track down and adjust the custom text color.

m The Secr	et Li	fe of a Hollywood Bartender Vizietsits
🙆 Dashboard	¥.	Header complete!
Dashboard Blog Stats		 Visit your site and you should see the new header now.

5. You see a message that reads Header complete! Click the Visit Site button to see what your new blog header looks like.

6. Check out your new blog header. You can go back and edit the source picture if you're not happy with the way it looks (using a photoediting program like Photoshop). Click My Dashboard (top of the window) to go back to the control panel to customize a couple other things about your blog's appearance.



I Settings	Ŧ
General	
Writing	
Reading	
Discussion	
Media	
Privacy	
Delete Blog	
OpenID	
Domains	

7. Under the Settings panel, click General. These settings control the title of your blog, the tagline, time zone, e-mail address, and other basic data.

- **8.** Because I customized the image to include the title of the blog, I'd like to get rid of the redundant words that appear above the banner. I clicked here and deleted the words that were in the Blog Title and Tagline text boxes. You can also use this page to change the title and tagline, if you want. Click in the text boxes to make your changes; then click Save Changes at the bottom of the page to make the changes take effect on your blog. Click Visit Site (up at the top of the page, next to the title of your blog) to see what the changes you have made look like. Your tagline can be a longer explanation of what your blog is about, a favorite quotation, a joke or you can go without one.
 - **9.** As you can see in the figure, I removed the distracting words above my nice new banner. Now it's time to customize what appears in your sidebar(s). (You likely noticed by now those boxes running down the side columns, depending on your layout and the features that come with your template.)
- II General Settings The Secret Life of a Hollywood Bartender Blog Picture / Icon Blog Title 2 Just another WordPress.com weblog Tagline Upload a picture (jpeg or png) to be used In a few words, explain what this blog is about. as your blog image across WordPress.com We will let you crop it after you upload. en - English Language Browse Language this blog is primarily written in. You can also modify the interface language in your Upload Image > profile. bartenderhollywood@yahoo.com E-mail address This address is used only for admin purposes. If you change this we will send you an email at your new address to confirm it. The new address will not become active until confirmed.





10. Click on the Dashboard button in the top left corner of the page to return to your Dashboard page, and scroll down to the Appearance panel. Click to open the Appearance panel if it's not already open and then click Widgets.



Widgets are little pieces of code that make things happen on your blog, such as making your calendar appear, showing how many spam comments have been blocked, displaying photos that you have posted on other places around the Web, like Flickr.com, or letting your readers see your most recent Twitter updates.

11. You navigate to the Widgets control panel. Click a widget that you like and drag it to one of your sidebars. *Hint:* If you have multiple columns in your blog layout, you will have multiple sidebars to choose from.

Sidebar 1 🔹 🔻
Akismet
Title:
Remove Close Save
Flickr
Title:
Flickr RSS LIRL *
How many photos would you like to display? 3 -
* Your RSS feed can be found on your Flickr homepage. Scroll down to the bottom of the page until you see the <i>Feed</i> link and copy that into the box above.
Leave the Flickr RSS URL blank to display interesting Flickr photos.
Remove Close Save

Available Widgets	v
Drag widgets from here to a sidebar on the right to a Drag widgets back here to deactivate them and delete	ctivate them. e their settings.
Akismet	
Akismet	
Archives	
A monthly archive of your blog's posts	
Authors	
Authors	
Blog Stats	
Blog Stats	
Box.net file sharing	
Box.net file sharing	
Calendar	
A calendar of your blog's posts	

12. A four-pointed icon appears over the title bar to the widgets that you're dragging. This means that you can drag the widget to your sidebar, or drag it out of your sidebar, if you don't like how it looks or acts. You can also reorder the widgets by dragging them up or down in the sidebar. Some widgets will have boxes for you to fill in with information, such as the title you'd like to appear above your most recent posts, or the URL to a Flickr account. When you're done making entries and you want to see how the new sidebar looks, click Visit Site at the top of the page.

LAST ROUND Hello world! Search SPAM BLOCKED Spam comments FLICKR PHOTOS

13. You see the new widgets as they appear in the sidebar on your page. If you don't like how they look, navigate back to the widget page and either adjust them or drag them out of your sidebar.



14. In the Appearance box, click on Themes to navigate to the Manage Themes page. The last, and most complicated option for customizing your theme, is Edit CSS. This is most definitely not for beginners. You will need to purchase a Custom CSS upgrade, which will cost you about \$15 per year per blog that you want to totally customize. With this option, though, you can control the fonts, colors, sizes, arrangements, line thickness — basically everything in your layout. You can make one change here without having to pay: setting the maximum width for media files in your blog so that pictures or videos don't overflow your columns and mess up the look of your blog. If you are going to embed videos on your page, your columns should be at least 360 pixels wide. Most basic videos are 320 pixels wide. If you want to display higher-quality videos, they are 640 pixels wide, so your layout should be at least 680 pixels wide, to allow some breathing room. The total width of your blog is up to you; but most Web designers try to keep their pages under 970 pixels wide so they display well on monitors set to a 1024x768 resolution.

Posting to Your Blog

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- ✓ An updated Web browser, such as Internet Explorer 8.0 or Firefox 3.5
- A blog on WordPress. com



Time needed: Less than half

an hour (unless you're a slow writer!) Updates to your blog are called *posts*, or *entries*. Blog posts are generally short (although they don't have to be) and can be composed directly in the blogging software or written in more traditional word processing software and then pasted into the composition window. (For advice on creating a readable, interesting blog post, read the following sidebar, "Writing for your blog.")

Nearly all blogging software works similarly to word processing software, or even e-mail software. After typing an entry, you can use handy formatting icons in the publishing interface to create text styles. Blog software also has icons you can click to accomplish simple HTML tasks, such as inserting links, photos, or videos.

Creating a new post is easy to do. In fact, if you can write an e-mail message, you can write a blog post! Follow these steps:

 Log in to your blog at www.wordpress.com. Scroll down to the Posts button and click it to open its drop-down list.



📌 Posts	T
Edit	
Add New_lbs	
Post Tags	
Categories	

2. Click Add New to open the Add New Post page.

3. The Add New Post Page looks complicated, but after you work with it a few times, the basic functions are pretty intuitive. First, write a snappy headline for your post. Click in the text field at the top of the page and type in a short description of what you want to say. Then press Enter (Windows)/ Return (Mac).

🖉 Add New Post			
	Publish		
	Save Dra	Preview	
Upload/Insert 🗉 🔜 🎜 🔹 🎯 Visual HT	Status: Draf	t Edit	
	Visibility: Pul	Visibility: Public Edit	
	📅 Publish in	nmediately <u>Edit</u>	
		Publish	
	Post Tags		
Pate	Add new ta	Add DbA	
word count: 0	Separate taj	Separate tags with commas.	
Excerpt	Choose from Tags	n the most used tags in Post	

4. A URL and a couple of buttons appear below the headline text box. The URL, or *Permalink*, is the address where your post will appear when you finally publish it. You will see the Web address of your blog, followed by the date and the word(s) in your headline. You can click Edit to change the words in the Permalink if you want to make them different from your headline. Or, if you're planning on sharing your post via e-mail, or social network sites like Facebook and Twitter, click Get Shortlink, and WordPress will automatically compress the post's URL to a combination of letters and numbers.

Upluad/Ins	sert 🖃 🔜 🎜 🕷 🍥	Visual	HIML
B I A Paragraph	₩ Ξ Ξ ₩ Ε Ξ Ξ ∞ 0 ▼ <u>U</u> Ξ <u>A</u> ▼ 🛅 🛍 2 Ω		
If you don' If you don' If you won	t want a bartender to ignore you for the t want your friends to mock you mercil	e rest of the night essly -	E
conversati Then you r	on - weed to avoid the following 10 deadly H	ollywood Bar sin:	s:
^p ath: p			
Word count: 85	Draft Saved at 6:20:04 am. Last edited Au	by hollywoodbarte gust 22, 2009 at 1	ender on J

6. The five buttons at the top of the Upload/Insert area allow you to insert some very special content. From left to right, they allow you to add an image, insert video, add audio/music, add media (kind of a catch-all), or add a poll. Clicking each button opens a window that prompts you to choose files on your local hard drive, or that are at a URL on the Internet. WordPress does enforce some space limitations (3GB of content comes free, but you can upgrade to up to 25GB of storage) although it does offer upgrades where you can buy additional storage and bandwidth.

Top 10 Mistakes When Ordering a Drink

Permalink: http://hollywoodbartender.wordpress.com/2009/08/22/top-10mistake...doring a drink/ Edit Cet Shortlink

5. In the Upload/Insert area, type the text of your blog post, using the formatting icons to choose fonts, create lists and links, and customize other layout styles. *Hint:* To apply formatting to the text, select the text you want to affect, and then click the icon for the style you want to apply. You can choose font options, bold, italics, text color, text alignment, bulleted or numbered lists, special characters, and more. If you don't see all these options, click the Show/Hide Kitchen Sink button on the far right or press Alt+Shift+Z (Windows)/ (Mac) to open what WordPress calls "The Kitchen Sink." This is the second row of buttons that includes such functions as pasting from Microsoft Word (a handy feature that allows you to avoid contaminating your blog post with Word's formatting), or designating something with the various Heading, Paragraph or Address tags.





All kinds of considerations make writing a good headline for your post one of the most important things you do on a blog. Search engines pay special attention to the words in headlines, and a well-written description can help drive traffic to your blog. (Do a little research on search engine optimization as a primer.) Readers are also attracted to funny, shocking, or strange headlines — and Top 10 lists.

Part III: Going Web 2.0

7. To insert an image into your blog entry, click the Add Image icon (looks like a rectangle inside another rectangle). (To find out how to prepare images for use on the Web, read Chapter 5.) The Add an Image window appears, where you can choose from a handful of methods: Choose an image on your computer and upload it, provide the Web address (URL) for an image on another Web site, or add an image from your Media Library. Just click the tab you want at the top and follow the directions that appear on screen.

From Computer From U	L Media Library	
Add media files fr	om your computer	
Allowed file types: jpg, jpe	g, png, gif, pdf, doc, ppt, odt, p	ptx, docx.
Choose files to upload	Select Files Cancel	Upload
You are using the Flash up	loader, Problems? Try the Brows	ser uploader instead.
211.1 kB used, 3.0 GB (1 audio files and increase yo	00.0%) upload space remaining ur available space with a <u>Space</u>	 You can upload mp3, m4a, wav, ogg Upgrade. You can upload videos and



- 8. To add a link, first select the text that you want readers to click to find the link. Then simply click the Link icon (the link of chain) or press Alt+Shift+A. When the URL window opens, copy and paste the Web address for the link into the window. Note: You need to use the full URL, including the http://part, to create a working link.
- **9.** You can also add tags to your blog post. *Tags* are keywords that describe the blog post, and search engines pay special attention to tags so that they can better sort your content into search result listings. To add a tag, simply type it in the Add New Tag text box, just to the right of where you entered your post. Click the link below this box to choose from a list of tags that you frequently use so that you don't have to spend time typing in the same old words over and over again. Click each tag, and it will appear under the Add New Tag box. Click on the gray "X" next to the tag if you made a mistake, and want to delete it.

Post Tags		
deadly sins, hollywood, bar Add		
Separate tags with commas,		
<u>Choose from the most used tags in Post</u> <u>Tags</u>		



The Media Library option is particularly handy if you want to add a company logo or other image to every post; you don't have to keep uploading the same thing because WordPress allows you to navigate through your uploads and pick the one you want.
10. Click the Check Spelling icon (looks like a check mark on top of the letters ABC) to have spelling errors underlined in red in your blog post. Click any error to select from a list of corrections. You can choose the language you want the spellcheck to work in by clicking on the triangle next to the ABC checkmark button to open up the drop-down menu. You can then click on the language that you want spellcheck to operate in when checking the spelling in your post. Spellcheck will then underline words that are misspelled in that languages and you're not sure about the spelling, this feature can come in handy because you can spellcheck in one language and then do it again in another language.



11. Before you post your entry, click the Preview button, in the upper-right corner of the Add New Post page, to see how your chosen styles look. This opens another browser window with your post in it as it will look when it is published. You can return to Editing mode by closing this window. If you decide (after previewing) to remove formatting, simply highlight any element with a style you want to remove and click the Remove Formatting icon. (It looks like an eraser.)

Publish	T
Save Draft	Preview
Status: Draft <u>Edit</u>	_
Visibility: Public Edit	
📅 Publish immediately	Edit
Delete	Publish

Publish
Save Draft Preview
Status: Draft OK <u>Cancel</u>
Visibility: Public Public Stick this post to the front page Password protected Private OK <u>Cancel</u>
Image: Second state in the second
Delete Publish

12. Click the Edit link next to Publish Immediately to see options for setting the date and time of your post. Click Edit next to Visibility: Public to control how the post is seen. You can choose to make this post always appear on the front page of your blog, password-protect it so that only people you authorize see it, or make it private so that only you can see the contents. Click Edit next to Status: Draft to make this blog entry either a draft; or mark it as Pending Review if you are collaborating with others and are waiting for them to look it over. You can leave all the options expanded, as shown in the figure, but you need to click OK in each area for the settings to take effect.

Categories		\mathbf{v}
All Categories	Most Used	_
 ✓ Uncategoria □ Deadly Sins □ Top 10 	zed	
+ Add New Categ		
Parent category		- -
Add		

- **13.** Click Add New Category in the Categories section. A text box opens where you can type in new categories, or select check boxes next to existing categories. This is a simple but powerful tool that allows your users to sort your blog posts based on categories that they are interested in, without them having to search through all your pages in chronological order to find the topics they are interested in. For example, a user who wants to see all the posts you've written that are Top 10 lists would click Top 10 under the Categories section of your blog to make your blog generate a page containing only posts that you have categorized as being Top 10 lists – or related to Top 10 lists.
- **14.** The Excerpt area allows you to choose what sentences or paragraphs will appear in the RSS feed of your subscribers, or that will be weighted more heavily by search engines. You can either pick your best and most descriptive writing, or you can sum up what you have to say.

Excerpt

Never order a frothy pink drink with fruit punch in it, umbrellas sticking out and a little plastic monkey on the side, unless you're planning to give it to someone else. Show some dignity, man!

Excerpts are optional hand-crafted summaries of your content that can be used in your theme. Learn more about manual excerpts.

🔊 Edit Post
Post updated. <u>View post</u>
Bartender psyche

15. When everything looks right, click the Publish button. The system then confirms that your post has been published. After you publish your post, click the Visit Site link at the top of the page, or View Post, to ensure that your post was published successfully and looks the way you want.



You can assign multiple categories to your posts. If you are writing about a piano-playing cat, for example, you can assign the post into the categories "cat," "piano," and "funny." Then, when users come to your blog and want to see only posts that are cat-related, they can click on the "cat" category to zero in on only content that falls in that category. Another user wanting to read about pianos might click on the piano category, and your same post would appear in that list – along with posts about pianos that don't include cats.



If you've read other chapters in this book, chances are you learned quite a bit of HTML. If you feel comfortable using HTML, you can actually use it right in the blog post window of WordPress. (As with regular text, you can write HTML directly in the window, or create your code in another application and copy and paste it into the blog post window.) If you want to use code, click the HTML tab of the composition window to switch from Visual mode.



After your blog is up and running, you can make updates by using e-mail. Updating in this way requires you to set up a special e-mail address that you are urged to keep secret. From the WordPress Dashboard, click the MyBlogs link and then click the Enable button under the Post-by-Email column. A special e-mail address will pop up in that column. Click the drop-down menu, choose Enable Post by Email, and then click Apply. Copy the e-mail address and save it in a secure location (such as a document on your computer's hard drive). When setup is complete, simply cut and paste the e-mail address you just set up, choose a title by typing it in the Subject field, and then create a blog post in the body of your message. When you click Send, the message wings its way to WordPress and onto your blog.

Writing for your blog

Blog style is generally conversational and informal in tone and style. You should address the reader directly to play up this aspect of blogging, almost as though you're talking to a good friend on the phone or writing an e-mail message.

I don't mean that you have to throw out the rules of grammar and spelling although many bloggers do so. You'll find that many readers appreciate carefully crafted sentences when they read blogs as much as they do when they read books. Why make yourself hard to understand?

Many writing coaches say that being rigorous about spelling and grammar is a good way to sharpen your thinking. And, of course, it's true — the more attention you pay to writing well, the better your results, even if you're just blogging about the terrific play you saw last night, or the way your friends always seem to call just when you get in the shower.

Don't forget that blogging doesn't have to mean all writing, all the time. Many terrific blogs are devoted to displaying a photograph every day, or to video blogging. Numerous others combine text, photos, audio, and video, which keeps them fun and interesting for readers — and for the blogger.

Promoting your blog

Many bloggers subscribe to the idea that,"If I publish it, they will come." Let me be the first (or not) to burst that bubble: Blogs need to be promoted as much as any other Web site if you're trying to appeal to an audience that doesn't already know and love you. (Is it considered promotion when you e-mail everyone in your family to tell them about your blog?)

The good news is that at a very technical level, the setup of blogs helps them show up well in search engine results. And, of course, search engines love sites with fresh content, so a frequently updated blog truly has an edge over one that sees new content once in a blue moon.

Here's a quick batch of things you should do to make the most of your new blog:

Ensure that your blog has an RSS or Atom feed. A *feed* is essentially a syndication mechanism for your blog: a coded presentation of your updates that can be picked up and read by newsreaders, feed aggregators, and blog search engines, which in turn pass whatever they receive from the feed to humans visiting other Web sites. The result: eyeballs on your content and links to your blog. Most blog software can generate automatic feeds, but you should ensure that the feature is turned on and functioning. (WordPress automatically generates an RSS feed.)

Turn on trackbacks and pings. Trackbacks are a little hard to describe, but I'll try: Essentially, a *trackback* is a way for blog software to communicate in the background and build links to other blogs. It goes like this: Blogger A posts interesting material on his blog. Blogger B reads that post, and has more to say about the same topic on her blog. Using the trackback URL on Blogger A's post, Blogger B's blog software notifies Blogger A's software about the new post. Blogger A's software then automatically builds, in the original post, a link to the new post. At the end of this (alphabet soup) process, Blogger A's readers see the link to Blogger B's post and visit her site to read it.

Pings work similarly but are basically a "heads-up" notification service sent to some of the bigger blog search engines and indexers. When you let these Web sites know that your blog has been updated, your listings are included in the results that are displayed the next time someone performs a search, and again, more readers are directed to your site.

Many blog software packages offer both trackbacks and pings, and by simply turning on these settings, you receive the benefit with little to no work each time you post to your blog.

Remember that your blog posts are an important part of promoting yourself. Keep the material you write interesting and topical. For example, if you choose to blog about a subject that's in the news headlines, you can attract readers who might never have visited your blog otherwise. Keep track of what's going on in the world, and think about how you can relate your topic to the broader context of discussion in the blogosphere.

Use social media to alert friends and colleagues. One of the best ways to keep people coming back to your blog is to remind people who already know you on Facebook, MySpace, Twitter, hi5, Beebo and other sites, that you have produced something new and interesting. This is where the shortened URLs often come in handy. You can also integrate material that you or your friends post on these sites into your blog, via the handy RSS feeds that every social networking site maintains.

Chapter 12 Podcasting Your Own Show

Tasks Performed in This Chapter

Preparing a podcast

8

- Recording a podcast
- Editing an audio file

Publishing a podcast

f you haven't been hiding in a cave on Mars, you've probably already heard the term *podcasting*. It's one of the hotter Internet buzzwords of recent years, and many people have scrambled like mad to incorporate podcasts onto Web sites.

The techie explanation is that a *podcast* is any audio file stored on the Internet that can be downloaded and played later on either a computer or a portable device. In real terms, a podcast is a radio show that you can take anywhere on a portable device, such as an iPod, or play on any computer that's connected to the Internet.

Podcasts are better than radio programs because you can start, stop, and rewind whenever you want. You can play them any time, anywhere. Podcasts enable you to connect with your site visitors or community through music or talk or both, enriching the experience or content your site has to offer. You find examples of how sites put podcasting to use in the nearby sidebar "Who's podcasting?"

A good podcast can consist of a live interview that's available to listeners for as long as a Web site hosts it, a lecture by a Nobel prize-winning professor that students can use to help them study, or the wail of a newborn infant taking her first breaths. A podcast can be a long-winded blogger's rant that will be heard only by a close circle of fans, or a stirring national address that will be cherished by an entire nation.

Podcasting is limited only by your imagination. As with so many other topics, a library of books could be filled with the bottomless depths of technical specifications that can be involved in recording, editing, and posting a podcast. Fortunately, you don't need to know all that to get started. In this chapter, you find the most basic, cost-effective way to produce a professional-quality podcast, using free and easily available tools and programs.

Who's podcasting?

This list briefly describes some of the groups of people who are podcasting nowadays:

Musicians who want to connect with fans and promote their bands: Some forwardthinking bands use podcasts to share excerpts from live shows, hype concert tours, and reward fan club members with exclusive content.

Families who want to remain connected across distances: Recordings of a baby's first words, grandpa's story time, or a raucous family reunion aren't proper substitutes for being there, but they can at least allow people to get a flavor for what they missed.

Amateur DJs and novice broadcasters who want to show off their skills: A tight, wellproduced podcast can be an invaluable calling card to a beginner hoping to take the next step up the career ladder.

Companies that provide training and management updates, especially to employees in far-flung offices: One of the fastestgrowing usages of multimedia is corporate communications. CEOs use podcasts to reach out to customers and reassure them in tumultuous times, and HR managers find spoken-word explanations of the latest change in corporate strategy that show up in employees' e-mail inboxes helps maintain consistent corporate culture, and adds the kind of "human touch" that relaxes and reassures employees.

Churches that make their weekly sermons available: Congregation members who are ill or traveling or who otherwise can't physically attend church can still hear the weekly services.

Bloggers who want to augment their content: Audio clips from interviews are increasingly popular, as are stream-of-consciousness rants that provoke controversy and build up page traffic.

Radio producers and other professionals: Many excellent radio programs that are now available online as podcasts ensure that you never miss your favorite show. Listening to professional podcasts is one of the best ways to get new ideas for how best to create your own.

Preparing a Podcast

Be sure to take the time before you record your podcast to plan what you want to say and how you want to say it. Even trained on-air personalities rarely try to make live, improvisational recordings. After a few minutes, an interviewer who doesn't have at least an outline or some good questions for a guest runs out of things to say, and the session can turn into a nightmare of "um" and "uh."

You don't have to strictly follow a script, however, and stick to every little comma and pause. One thing that makes listeners respond and come back for more is the feeling that you're talking *to* them rather than *at* them (like a late-night infomercial). And, one of the most difficult challenges I can imagine is to make yourself sound natural and relaxed while giving a monologue.

A good place to start as you plan a podcast is to think about creating a distinct beginning, middle, and end. A good show usually starts with some kind of introduction of the host and any guests, moves on to the main topic, and then concludes with a tease to the next show you plan to produce. This outline for a music podcast gives you some ideas for what you might include — make your outline as detailed as you like:

- 1. Play an introductory music clip.
- 2. Greet the audience, introduce yourself, and state the number or date of the podcast.
- 3. Briefly explain the theme or topic of the podcast.
- 4. Mention any guests or special announcements.
- 5. Play new songs.
- 6. Provide any necessary additional explanation of the theme or topic.
- 7. Play more new songs.
- 8. Sum up the theme or topic.
- 9. Say goodbye, and "tease" the topic of the next podcast.



Although a podcast can theoretically last for hours, in practice, large audio files become unwieldy very quickly. Listener patience isn't infinite, either, so unless you have an absolutely fanatical audience, limit your podcasts to a half-hour or less. Some of my favorite podcasts are only two to five minutes long, and they're designed so that you can listen to as many in a row as you like. If you have a ton of material, breaking it up into smaller chunks is definitely the way to go.

The many ways to record sound

An increasing number of portable devices have audio-recording capabilities. Most smartphones record audio, laptops have built-in microphones, and MP3 players either record or use after-market add-ons. Professional radio reporters have long used minidisc recorders to capture high-quality audio, whereas some old-school podcasters just use cables to hook tape recorder headphone output into their computers' microphone input.

Podcasters are increasingly conducting interviews or round-table discussions using Internet telephone services like Skype or Vonage. These Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) services allow users to digitally record conversations without having to resort to recording conversations over plain old telephone lines (and entangling themselves in wires and iffy legal ground). However, because VoIP conversations are monaural and most listeners are used to high-quality stereo, podcasters are using workaround methods to conduct interviews over the phone. For example, each party to a conversation simultaneously records it into a high-quality stereo microphone. Then, at the end of the interview, both parties edit and clean up the audio, e-mail their audio file to each other, and then stitch together the files to get both (or more) sides of the conversation.

Even if you can't get high-quality recordings of both ends of a conversation, the host should record into a microphone even while the rest of the conversation is recorded over a phone line or VoIP connection.

Recording a Podcast

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Audacity (a free audio program available at http://audacity. sourceforge.net)
- A microphone
- Your own voice (and anyone else's you want to invite)
- A script, if you want to be more formal; or at least, a good outline



Time needed:

Varies, depending upon how much material you want to record Recording an audio file can be as simple as speaking into the microphone on a computer headset or as complicated as setting up a dozen high-end microphones and a mixing board to get clean sound from every instrument in a chamber orchestra. Either way, the basic principles I cover in this chapter are the same.

Many audio professionals believe that the most important link in the chain is this first one: that using a bad or inappropriate microphone taints the audio from the get-go. The old computer industry axiom "Garbage in, garbage out" applies here as well. The good news is that quality microphones are more affordable than ever, and a microphone that costs less than \$100 online or in a basic electronics store fulfills all but the most demanding needs. The bottom line: You can use your computer's built-in microphone, but a good external mic provides better sound quality.

A simple option is to record directly into your computer, which is easy enough because most newer computers sport a microphone port. (It's usually red or pink and located next to the green port where you plug in headphones.) An even simpler option is to use a USB microphone. Although USB microphones aren't ideal for recording music, they are a snap to use and configure, and often come integrated into headphones, making it easy to record while also monitoring sound. Whatever you choose, just plug in a mic and then follow these steps to start recording.

1. Launch a sound-recording program, such as Audacity, as shown here. You find a list of some of the more popular software choices in the sidebar at the end of this step list. I chose Audacity for this chapter because it has enough features to empower beginners to produce decentsounding podcasts, it works on both Macintosh and Windows computers, and it's free. (You can download it at http://audacity.sourceforge. net and use it to follow along with this task. If your copy of Audacity is a different version, you might see minor screen differences.)



SURRNING!

Before you begin recording, make sure that neither the computer nor the microphone is muted. This advice sounds simple, but even seasoned professionals can tell stories about apparently recording beautiful sounds, only to find (too late!) that their files contained silence.

2. Don't be overwhelmed by the mass of buttons, bars, menus, icons, and level meters that make up this program. In the upper-left area of the workspace, under the menu bar, are some familiar buttons: left to right, you've got Skip to Start, Play, Record, Pause, Stop, and Fast Skip to End. If your microphone is ready to record, just click the red Record button (the one with the big red circle) and say something into the microphone. (Sing a song, recite a poem, or act like you're creating your first radio show!)





3. As you record, you see the sound represented as a spectrum across an audio track. Notice the two volume meters in the top-right corner of the workspace: The one on the left (the little speaker icon) shows the playback volume; the one on the right (the microphone icon) shows the volume of the microphone you're using to record. Under the volume controls, the drop-down menu enables you to pick from a list of sources, including microphone, line-in, aux(iliary), CD player, or stereo mix. Click the Stop button to stop recording, or click the Pause button to pause. (Be aware that Audacity will automatically rearrange the position of the various buttons and control panels, depending on how you size the window. So if your screen shows the buttons in one row, two rows or whatever, click and drag on the handle in the lower right corner of the screen to make your window match the screenshots here.)



Many beginners erroneously assume that louder is better when recording. Like a teenager with a new car stereo, they want to crank the noise to 11 on a scale of 10. If you record with the volume set to its highest level, you get distortion — or worse, listeners unsubscribing from your podcast feed.

4. When you're done recording, click the Stop button. Then click the Play button to play back what you recorded. Use the volume controls to adjust the playback sound. *Remember:* Make sure you click the Stop button and not just the Pause button. With the recording set to Pause, you won't be able to play it back or to save it.



File	Edit View Project Generate	Effect Anal	yze Help
	New	Ctrl+N	100
	Open	Ctrl+O	
	Close	Ctrl+W	+
	Save Project	Ctrl+S	
	Save Project As 68		R R
	Recent Files	×	-
	Export As WAV		
	Export Selection As WAV		11
	Export As MP3		K-CA
	Export Selection As MP3		
	Export As Ogg Vorbis		-

6. When you're ready to publish your recording to the Web, use Audacity's export features. To export an Audacity file, choose File and then choose from any of the export options: WAV, MP3, or Ogg Vorbis. If you plan to publish your recording on the Web, your best option is MP3. Choose File⇔Export As MP3 and name your file. Congratulations! You just took the first step toward having your own podcast. In the next task, you find instructions for editing a podcast.

5. To save the recording, choose File⇔Save Project and then name your file. This step saves your sound file in an Audacity format (.aup) and preserves your recording in the best format for editing in Audacity. To create a new file in Audacity, choose File⇔New, and you're ready to start recording again in a new window.

)	Audac	ity				
File	Edit	View	Project	Generate	Effect	Analyze
	New				Ctrl	+N
	Open.				Ctrl	+0
	Close				Ctrl	+W -
	Save P	^o roject			Ctr	1+5
	Save F	project /	۹s			2
	Recen	it Files				•
	Export	t As WA				×7
	Export	t Selecti	on As WA	W		-
	Export	t As MP	3 N			N.
	Export	t Selecti	on As MP	3		
	Export	t As Og	g Vorbis			
	Export	t Selecti	on As Og	g Vorbis		
	Export	t Labels				
	Export	t Multip	le			
	Page	Setup				
	Print.					
	Exit					

Audio recording programs

The programs you can use to record and edit sound files range from free to quite expensive, depending on the level of control you want and whether you want to be able to compose original music. This list describes some of the most popular programs among podcasters and audio editors:

- Audacity: This popular audio-editing program has more than enough features to produce a great-sounding podcast, and it's available for Mac, Windows, and Linux systems (which is why it's featured in this book). Audacity is free.
- GarageBand: Included on new Macintosh computers (OS X only), GarageBand is used by many podcasters who are looking for a quick and automated solution that's easily integrated with iTunes. GarageBand is free.
- Adobe Soundbooth: A more powerful and professional editing tool, Soundbooth comes bundled with other media programs in the Adobe CS4 suite. Soundbooth is aimed at people who want to be able to control a few aspects of their sounds but want menus with simple, easy-to-understand choices. Solo, the program costs \$199 and has a free 30-day trial period.

- Adobe Audition: You can use this tool, intended for full-fledged audio engineers, to compose music and adjust and filter voices using complex and exacting processes. It costs \$399 and has a free 30-day trial period.
- Propaganda: Propaganda is designed to help record and distribute podcasts. Although it has simplified sound-editing tools, you can preview your recording on your iPod or mobile device, and it writes the RSS code for you. Propaganda costs \$49 and has a free 30-day trial period.
- SnapKast: SnapKast (\$79) bills itself as a "one-click" podcasting solution that not only records and edits sounds but also creates RSS and handles the uploading and syndication chores.
- MyPodcast Recorder: Offered as a free download from MyPodcast.com, this simple recorder offers one-click installation and a very stripped-down interface. The drawback is that you have to put up with its ads on the site as well as the ads that are inserted into your final podcast.



If you're prompted to install the file <code>lame_enc.dll</code> to complete MP3 encoding, just return to the <code>http://audacity.sourceforge.net</code> site and search for "lame_enc.dll" to find the necessary file and simple instructions for downloading and selecting it in Audacity.

Editing a Recording

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- 🛩 Audacity
- A recording that can be opened in Audacity

Time needed:

A couple of hours

In this task, you perform basic sound editing to clean up a recording. You don't have to use editing tools. In fact, some podcasters wear their rough-and-scratchy recordings as badges of honor as proof that they're part of an insurgent media that rejects (what they perceive as) smooth, polished, and fake corporate style. If this is your ethos, then by all means, don't edit your sound files.

Most people, however, prefer to listen to recordings that don't sound like they were made in a gravel-sorting machine. And, if you ever venture into the field to do interviews or record your child's solo in the school play, you'll probably need to fix the volume or noise level or the big, scratchy thud of Aunt Edna's elbow knocking the microphone off the table.

Here are some basic sound-editing tips to help you reduce noise in your recordings, cut and paste segments, and *normalize* your recordings (make the too-soft parts louder and the too-loud parts softer). I encourage you to explore beyond these simple steps.

1. If your sound-recording program (such as Audacity, shown here) isn't open already, launch it and then create a recording or open an existing one.

File] Edit View Project Genera	ate Effect Analyze	Help
	New	Ctrl+N	
	Open	Ctrl+O	
	Close 6	Ctrl+W	+
	Save Project	Ctrl+S	
	Save Project As	1	22
	Recent Files	2	.0



Most audio programs have tutorials and Help files to explain what all the arcane jargon means (although if you can explain to me under which circumstances I would want to use a Hilbert transformer rather than a Dyson compressor and a transient mangler, I'm all ears).



3. To listen to a portion of the recording, click anywhere on the recording in the audio track area, and you will see a vertical dotted line appear across that portion of the recording. Click the Play button; the recording will start from the location of your marker on the track.



4. You can rearrange or delete sections of sound to make a better or shorter recording. Each of the following steps begins with selecting part of the sound file. Look in the small toolbox at the top of the workspace. (The toolbox has six tools, including Zoom and Time Shift.) Click the Selection Tool (which looks like an I-beam) to make it active before the next step.

2. To listen to the entire recording, click the Play button at the top of the workspace. You should hear your voice (or whatever you just recorded) playing back. Notice that every time you hear noise in the recording, you see a corresponding spike on the graph in the Audio track.





5. To delete a noise (such as a sneeze), click and drag to select that section, and then press the Delete key. Or you can choose Edit⁴>Delete, or press Ctrl+K (Windows)/Option+K (Mac). You can also delete "non-noise," like a pause. Read more about this in the sidebar, "Getting rid of 'dead air'." You can easily recognize silence in the audio track by its flat line in the sound spectrum graph. To adjust the selection, click and drag on either side of the selected area to enlarge or reduce the selection.

🔒 Auda	acity		
File Ed	lit View Project	Generate Effect	Analyze Help
I P	Undo Record Can't Redo	Ctrl+Z Ctrl+Y	
= +0	Cut	Ctrl+X	· · · ·
	Copy Paste Trim	Ctrl+C Ctrl+V Ctrl+T	
Mor	Delete	Ctrl+K	
16- Mur	Silence	Ctrl+L	A A A
 L	Split Duplicate	Ctrl+D	
1.1	Select	•	

6. To cut or copy a section of sound, click and drag to select the section in the audio track, and then choose Edit → Cut (or Copy). Click and drag on either side of the selected area to enlarge or reduce the selection.

7. To move the cut or copied sound to another part of the recording, click to place the cursor where you want to add the sound in the audio track, and then choose Edit⇔Paste. The word or phrase is pasted into that point in the recording.

A	udac	ity					
File	Edit	View	Project	Generate	Effect	Analyze	Help
I		Undo R	lecord	C	trl+Z	100	100
P		Can't R	edo	C	trl+Y	"	•
= +)		Cut		C	trl+X		+.
/ull-		Сору		C	trl+C		0
- og.		Paste		N (trl+V	PP	14
		Trim		63 (itrl+T	5,0	<u> </u>
Mor		Delete		C	trl+K		
16-		Silence		(Strl+L	1	
-		Split					
1		Duplica	ate	C	trl+D	I	
		Select			×		0
		Find Ze	ro Crossii	ngs	Z		



8. To hear the results of your editing, click to place the cursor where you want to begin playback, and then click the Play button.



To listen to only a particular section of the recording, click and drag to select the section and then click Play. You can then adjust the selection in the recording until you have just the part you want to cut, copy, or delete.

Chapter 12: Podcasting Your Own Show

9. Audacity includes many effects to improve or alter your sound recordings. To apply an effect, you must first select the part of the recording you want to apply it to. Click and drag to select a portion of the recording, or choose Edit⁻Select⁻All to select the entire open recording.

File Ed	t View Project Gen	erate Effect	Analyze Help	
I Q	Undo Record Can't Redo	Ctrl+Z Ctrl+Y	•)	N R
4))	Cut	Ctrl+X		
-11/1-	Сору	Ctrl+C	<u> </u>	
ማ	Pasle	Ctrl+V	P F# F4	2.0
	Trim	Ctrl+T	<u> </u>	<u>ь.u</u>
Mor	Delete	Ctrl+K		
16-	Silence	Ctrl+L		ALL A
- Mur	Split			
1	Duplicate	Ctrl +D	1 N 1	
	Select	•	All	Ctrl+A
	Find Zero Crossings	Z	Start to Curso	or
	Selection Save		Cursor to End	t



10. One of the more commonly used options on the Effect menu is Normalize. When you *normalize* a recording, you balance out the highs and lows, to make the overall volume more consistent. To apply the Normalize effect, select the part of the recording you want to apply it to and then choose Effect⇔Normalize.

11. In the Normalize dialog box, mark both check boxes for default normalization. Click Preview to test how the effect will alter the sound of your recording. If you're happy with the result, click OK to apply the effect.



12. Experiment with the effects, and remember that you can apply them to any selected part or all of the recording. Click Play to test your work, and if you don't like the results of an effect, just choose Edit⇔Undo to remove it.



13. When you're done, choose File=>Save Project to save the recording in Audacity format. Then choose File=>Export to save the recording in a suitable format, such as MP3, before you publish your podcast to the Web.

Getting rid of "dead air"

Even with only the most basic understanding of audio editing, you can move a song from the beginning of your podcast to the end, or move the response to an interview question to the beginning, to use as a "teaser."

Your goal should be to interest listeners immediately and then keep them interested. One of the best ways to do that is to delete all "dead air," such as pauses and other quiet spots. This skill is essential for producing a tight, efficient podcast. Remember that listeners have lives too, and if you ask them to wait around for a couple of minutes while you fumble, they will become frustrated. Some podcasters who are obsessed with deleting all the dead air between words review their recordings repeatedly, to shorten the spaces between words as much as possible. Although it's sometimes helpful to remove the extra breaths and any instances of "um" and "uh" between sentences, if you go too far, your recording sounds like you drank too much coffee and are babbling like a tobacco auctioneer.

Try to strike a balance. You want your recordings to sound natural, like a conversation you're having with your listeners (with all the boring parts cut out). Experience will gradually teach you the sweet spot.

Publishing a Podcast

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- A recording saved in a Web format, such as MP3
- An Internet connection
- An account with a blog, Web site, or podcasting hosting service

Time needed:

About an hour

How you publish your podcast depends mostly on where you plan to publish it.

In the early days of podcasting, sites offering to host your files for free were springing up all over. Unfortunately, some of the sites were used to facilitate music piracy. Multimillion-dollar lawsuits filed by the recording industry have caused many sites that hosted podcasts to drastically restrict their offerings, or go completely out of business. Gcast (www.gcast.com) is an intriguing site that's still standing, offering not only free hosting for your podcast but also integrated access to podcast-safe music (that is, music you can use without getting into copyright trouble) at its sister site, www.garageband.com.

If you have a blog on one of the popular blogging sites, such as TypePad or Blogger, you find instructions and features designed to help you add a podcast almost as easily as you add a post.

Find out more about creating and publishing podcasts at these online services and other resources:

- ✓ Apple iTunes: (www.itunes.com) One of the most popular podcasting sites on the Web, iTunes makes it easy to download and play podcasts from a broad range of sources. And, you can use iTunes with a PC; you don't have to use a Macintosh or an iPod.
- ✓ The Podcast Network: (www.thepodcastnetwork.com) This site features an international collection of podcasters, useful tutorials, and helpful tips and tricks about podcasting. However, they are asking their audience to contribute \$20 per month just to listen to podcasts, and require that you already have an audience of at least 500+ listeners before they will consider hosting your podcast.
- Podcasting Tools: (www.podcasting-tools.com) Filled with tutorials and links to audio, editing, and other types of tools, you can find many excellent resources on this site.
- Podcast Alley: (www.podcastalley.com) Find a wide variety of podcasts, podcast software, and instructions for creating and publishing podcasts at Podcast Alley.
- ✓ SolidCasts: (www.solidcasts.com) Here you can find free hosting for your podcasts although only about 100MB of space. Because even a low-quality, half-hour podcast can run about 15MB, this is a good place to start, but if you're serious about podcasting, you will quickly either run out of room or have to start shelling out money to upgrade to more storage space and bandwidth.



Mixing in music

You don't have to be a wannabe DJ to include music in your podcast. Even if you're participating in hard-hitting investigative reporting or archiving your dad's favorite fishing story, music can spice up the recording and make it seem more professional.

You can also add funny sound effects or snippets of dialogue from TV shows or old movies. Just make sure that you have the legal right to use any music or other type of recording. Type free music into any search engine to find places where you can download sound files. Be careful, however, because many of the sites that used to be free have started charging for the music, and don't hit you with the fees until you try to download.

Here are a few sites where you can still find free music (or at least low-cost royalty-free **music**): Musicalley.com, GarageBand. com, Netlabelindex.com, Magnatune. com, CCmixter.org, SoundClick.com, and Freemusicarchive.org.

You can add a music track to a sound file in a program like Audacity by using the Import feature, listed on the Project menu. Adding a basic audio track isn't difficult, but managing all the format options, permissions, and settings can become complicated, and is well beyond the scope of this book. However, you'll find many great books and online resources if you want to become more proficient in podcasting. One place to start is Expert Podcasting Practices For Dummies, by Tee Morris and Evo Terra (Wiley).

Chapter 13 Multimedia: Adding Flash, Audio, and Video

Tasks Performed in This Chapter

Adding a Flash animation

0

- Inserting Flash video
- Comparing audio and video formats
- Uploading videos to YouTube
- Inserting a YouTube video into a Web page

ake your Web pages sing and dance by adding audio, video, and other multimedia to your pages. If you want to provide a richer experience for your users, to *show* rather than just to *tell*, or to entertain as well as inform, add animation or video. Not only does multimedia help tell stories more vividly, it can also make you look more professional.

And adding animation or video isn't as hard as you might think. One simple way to add video to a Web page is to upload a video file to YouTube (or search for video already on YouTube) and then insert it into your page. You find detailed instructions in this chapter for using video on YouTube, Vimeo, and other video hosting and social networking sites. You also find step-by-step instructions for using Dreamweaver to insert Flash animations and videos in into your Web pages.

Perhaps the most complicated aspect of multimedia on the Web is choosing the best format for your audience, which is why this chapter starts with a primer on audio and video formats and how multimedia works on the Web today.

Playing Animation and Video on the Web

When you add video or any other kind of multimedia to a Web site, your visitors may need a special player to play your files. A *player* is a small program that works alone or with a Web browser to add support for functions such as playing audio, video, or animation files. Among the best-known multimedia players are Adobe Flash Player, Windows Media Player, and Apple QuickTime.

The challenge is that not everyone on the Web uses the same player, and your site visitors must have the correct player to view your multimedia files. If your visitors don't have the right player, your video or animation file won't be displayed at all. If your multimedia file can't be displayed, you can include information on where to

download most players for free, but many visitors find these messages confusing or irritating. As a result, many Web developers help out by doing one or more of the following:

- ✓ Use Flash: By far the most widely used multimedia player, Flash supports video, audio, and animation.
- ✓ Offer audio and video in two or three formats: For example, you can insert a video in the Flash format and then include links to the video in Windows Media Video and Quicktime so that visitors can choose the format that best fits the player they already have.
- ✓ The same multimedia files in different file sizes: Including multiple versions of the same video in different sizes enables visitors with slower connection speeds to get the video file faster, while still providing a higher quality version for visitors who do have high-bandwidth connections.
- ✓ Information about where to find the necessary player: It's always good practice to include instructions about where visitors can download any player needed to view files, but keep in mind that won't work for everyone. Many people surf the Web from offices, libraries, and other locations where they are unable to download and install new players (which is why choosing the popular Flash player or providing multiple versions are the safest options).

Comparing popular video formats

One challenge to working with video on the Web is choosing the best format. This list briefly describes the most common digital video formats and their file extensions and supplies a Web address where you can find out more about each program.

Flash Video: Because the Flash Player is so commonly used on the Web, many developers consider Flash one of the best options for sharing video on the Web. Videos can be converted into the Adobe Flash Video format (which uses the .flv extension) with the Adobe Media Encoder (www.adobe.com).

Windows Media Video: Developed by Microsoft and popular on PCs, Windows Media Video is another popular format which uses the .wmv extension. See www. microsoft.com/windows/windowsmedia.

QuickTime: The QuickTime video format, which uses the .mov extension, is popular

among Macintosh users because the player is built into the Mac operating system (although QuickTime files can be viewed on Windows computers with the QuickTime player). See www.quicktime.com.

AVI: Created by Microsoft, the Audio Video Interleave (AVI; .avi) format is one the most common video formats on Windows computers, and it can play on most common video players. AVI works well if you're viewing video on a CD or on your hard drive, where the file doesn't have to be downloaded, but you can't optimize AVI files well for use on the Internet. If your files are in AVI format, you should convert them to one of the other formats before adding them to your Web site. Otherwise, you force visitors to download unnecessarily large video files. You can find more information if you search for **AVI** at www.microsoft.com.



No matter which player and format you choose, I recommend that you

- ✓ Make it easy for people to turn off sound. Remember that many people surf the Web in libraries, offices, and other places where unexpected sound can be jarring, disruptive, or worse. If you get someone in trouble for surfing the Web in their cubical, they may never come back to your Web site. I recommend you always warn people before you play video or audio, and always provide a way to turn off the sound quickly and easily if necessary.
- ✓ Optimize your video for faster downloads. Optimizing multimedia for the Web works much like it does with images: the smaller the file size, the lower the quality but the faster the file download. One task in this chapter shows you how to optimize a video with the free Adobe Media Encoder.

Working with Adobe Flash

Most of the tasks in this chapter focus on techniques using the Flash video and animation formats because Flash has clearly emerged as one of the most popular technologies for creating animations as well as videos for the Web. Indicative of its popularity, YouTube converts videos into the Flash format for display on its Web site.

Flash animation files use the file extension . swf. Flash video uses the .flv extension. You can easily insert Flash animations and Flash videos into your pages using Dreamweaver.



Before you choose Flash, though, you should be aware of its few downsides:

- Flash isn't supported by most mobile devices, including the iPhone and Blackberry. (Check the iPhone and Blackberry Web sites for updates as this may change in the future, but as of the writing of this book, if you visit a site built in Flash with an iPhone, you just get a blank page.)
- Flash doesn't always print well. Many people like to print Web pages, especially pages that include instructions, directions, and other important reference material. If you include that information in a Flash animation which can't be printed, consider including a simple XHTML version as an alternative.
- ✓ Flash can cause accessibility problems for visitors with disabilities unless you create an alternate text option for Flash files. Similarly, text included in Flash files isn't easily read by search engines (although including alternative text can help with this limitation, too). You can add Alternative text to a Flash file in Dreamweaver by clicking to select the Flash file, and then entering a text description in the Alt field in the Property Inspector.
- Some people deliberately block Flash files because they're often used for advertising or to create animated introduction screens that look pretty but don't offer much value to site visitors. (You may want to describe what they're missing.)

Despite these downsides, adding a little Flash video or animation can add a lot of life to your site. And, if you're not designing your entire site in Flash, it's generally a safe format choice for adding a little video, audio, or animation to your Web site.

Inserting a Flash Animation File into a Web Page

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver
- A Flash file in the SWF format (sample file available for download from www.Digital Family.com/diy)



Flash animation files are relatively easy to insert into a Web page when you use Dreamweaver. In this section, I assume that you have a completed Flash animation file and that you want to add it to your Web page. To create a Flash file, you need Adobe Flash or a similar program that supports the Flash format. (If you want to know how to create Flash files, check out *Adobe Flash CS4 For Dummies*, by Ellen Finkelstein and Gurdy Leete, from Wiley.)

You insert a Flash file in much the same way as you insert an image file, but because Flash can do so much more than a still image, you choose from a variety of settings and options for controlling how your Flash file plays. Before you start, make sure to move or save the Flash file into the main root folder of your Web site (see Chapter 6 for detailed instructions about setting up a site in Dreamweaver and identifying the root folder). If you like, you can create a subfolder to store your Flash files inside your main site folder, just as you might create an images folder for images.

To add a Flash file to a Web site, first open an existing page or create a new document and save the file, and then follow these steps:

 In Dreamweaver, click to insert the cursor where you want the Flash file to appear on your Web page. In this example, I'm inserting it into a div tag in the middle of the page. You can read more about div tags in Chapter 6.



ile Edit View	Insert Modify Format	Commands Site	Window Help
fico-market.html ×	Tag	Ctrl+E	sers\Artesian Media PC/Documents\web s
ource Code	Image	Ctrl+Alt+I	
Code and sole	Image Objects	•	
	Media	*	SWF Ctrl+Alt+F
	Table	Ctrl+Alt+T	FlashPaper
	Table Objects		FLV
	Layout Objects	,	Shockwave
	Form		Applet
	Hyperlink		ActiveX
	Email Link		Plugin

2. Choose Insert ⇒ Media ⇒ SWF from the menu. You can also choose Common from the Insert bar, if it isn't already selected, and then choose SWF from the Media drop-down list. (Note, if you are inserting a Flash video file, you would choose FLV.)

3. In the Select File dialog box that opens, browse your hard drive to locate the Flash file that you want to insert in your page, click to select the file, and then click OK. You can also double-click to select the file.

Select file nar	me from. 💿 File sys	lem	Site Roo	ł	
	💮 Data so	ources	Server		
Look in: 🚺	flash		• 0	1 🕫 🗔	•
Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	Tags	
Dancing	_Russian_Dog_iSto	ock.zip 👖	Russian-Dan	icing-Dog.fla	
🕎 Russian-	Dancing-Dog.swf		Russian-Dan	ring-Dog.bt	
Russian-	-Dancing-Dog-v2.f	1a 💆	Russian-Dan	icing-Dog-v2.	swf
The Russian-	-Dancing-Dog-v2.f	1a 💆	Russian-Dan	icing-Dog-v2.	swf
📷 Russian-	-Dancing-Dog-v2.f	1a 🔁	Russian-Dan	icing-Dog-v2.	swf
The name:	Dancing-Dog-v2.f	Dog swf	Russian-Dan	iding-Dog-v2.	
The name:	Dancing-Dog-v2.f Russian-Dancing- All Files (".")	la 💆	Russian-Dan	nding-Dog-v2.	OK Cancel
File name: Files of type: URL:	Dancing-Dog-v2.f Russian-Dancing- (All Files (".") flash/Russian-Dai	Dog swf	Russian-Dan	rcing-Dog-v2.	OK Cancel
File name: Files of type: URL: Relative to:	Dencing-Dog-v2.f Russian-Dancing- (All Files (".") flash/Russian-Dai [Document -	Dog swf ncing-Dog sw rflea-mark	Russian-Dan f et.html	rding-Dog-v2. ▼ Param	OK Cancel



4. If you haven't turned accessibility options off in Dreamweaver's Preferences dialog, you're prompted to add alternative text to describe the Flash file. Enter a short description or name for the Flash file. Use of the Tab Index and Access Key options is optional. Leave these blank unless you want to include a special key command to control the file. Click OK; the dialog box closes, and the Flash file is inserted into your document.



Because Flash is an open standard, you can create Flash files with a variety of programs, including Adobe Photoshop Elements (which uses the Flash format when you create Web galleries in Elements), and Adobe Illustrator (which has an Export to SWF option).

262 Part III: Going Web 2.0

5. Dreamweaver displays Flash as a solid, gray box that represents the width and height of the Flash file. Click the gray box to display the Flash options in the Property Inspector at the bottom of the workspace.





- **6.** Click the Play button in the Property Inspector to play the Flash file. In this example, the Flash file is a dancing dog I purchased from iStockPhoto.com, so pressing the Play button causes the cartoon dog to dance on the screen. (*Note:* When the Play button has been activated, the button text changes to *Stop*.)
- 7. Choose File Save to save the page. You'll be prompted to also save the related script files. Dreamweaver saves the files into a folder named Scripts in your main site folder. *Remember:* You must upload this entire folder to your Web server for your Flash file to work properly when the page is published to the Web.

8. You can make a number of adjustments to the way a Flash file is displayed by changing the settings in the Property Inspector: for example, Loop (replays the file if it's an animation), Autoplay (causes the file to play as soon as the page is loaded into a browser), and Quality (controls how good the file will look, how fast it will play, and how long it will take to download).

PROPERT	TES														•世
6	SWF, 87K	w	350	F	in i	Rash/Russian (ancing (Xog.swf	00	80			Class	None	٢
1	FlashID	н	350	🖬 S	irc				00			Edk			8
B	oop	V space		Qual	kγ	High		Align	Detault			Play			
	kutoplay	H space		Sca	ale	No border	•	Wmode	opaque	-	Pa	ameters			6

Copy Dependent Files	X
This page uses an object or behavior that requires supporting files. The fo copied to your local site. You must upload them to your server in order for function correctly.	llowing files have been the object or behavior to
Scripts/expressInstell.swf Scripts/swfobject_modified.js	

9. When you finish adding the Flash file to your page, choose File⁴>Save to save the page. You'll be prompted to also save the related script files. Dreamweaver saves the files into a folder named Scripts in your main site folder. *Remember:* You must upload the entire Scripts folder, as well as the Flash file, to your Web server for your Flash file to work properly when the page is published to the Web.

Scripts to make Flash function better

When you insert Flash or other multimedia files with Dreamweaver, the program automatically creates a JavaScript file that helps the file play automatically. The file, named AC_RunActiveContent.js, is stored in the Scripts folder, which Dreamweaver automatically creates inside your root site folder. The first time Dreamweaver creates this file, a dialog box alerts you that you need to upload the script in order for your multimedia file to work properly. Make sure to include this script (and the entire folder) when you publish your site on your Web server. If you don't include it, your multimedia file may not play properly, or visitors might be required to click the Play button twice before the file begins to play.

Converting and Optimizing Flash Video

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- A video file in any digital format
- Flash Video Encoder or Adobe Media Encoder program



Time needed:

About an hour

You can convert video from one file format to another relatively easily by using most video-editing programs. For example, you can open a video in AVI format in a program such as Adobe Premier Elements (a good video editor for beginners) and then choose File Export to convert the file to any of a dozen other formatting and compression options.

Editing video gets complicated, and optimizing video for the best quality with the fastest download time is both an art and a science. The most basic process of converting a video file isn't difficult, however, after you understand the conversion options.

This task walks you through the process of converting a video file from Windows Media into Flash video (FLV), using the Adobe Media Encoder. In this task, I'm using the encoder that comes with Adobe CS4 Creative Suite. A very similar, but somewhat more limited version called the Flash Video Encoder is also included in Adobe CS3 Creative Suite. Both versions will work fine for this task.

 Launch the Adobe Media Encoder and click the Add button to load a video that you want to convert into a Flash video file. In this example, I added a short video clip that was saved in Windows Media Video (WMV) format, but you can add video in a variety of formats, including AVI, MP4, and QuickTime. Click the Settings button on the right side of the encoder to launch the Export Settings dialog box, as shown in the next figure.





2. In the Export Settings dialog box that appears, leave the Format set to FLV and then choose a Flash encoding profile from the Preset drop-down menu.

3. You can choose from a long list of presets. The later the version of Flash and the larger the size, the better the video will look. However, a trade-off is involved: Not everyone has already downloaded the latest version and not everyone has a highbandwidth connection to the Internet. If you know many people who visit your site will be using older computers or have slow connections, you may want to use one of the lower presets.

	Preset: F4V - Same As Source (Flash
~	F4V - Same As Source (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	FLV - Same As Source (Flash 8 and Higher)
	FLV - Same As Source (Hash / and Higher)
	F4V - HD 1080p (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	F4V - HD 720p (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	F4V - 1080p Source, Half Size (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	F4V - 1080p Source, Quarter Size (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	F4V - 720p Source, Half Size (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
-	F4V - 720p Source, Quarter Size (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	F4V - Web Large, NTSC Source (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	F4V - Web Large, PAL Source (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	F4V - Web Large, Widescreen Source (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	F4V - Web Medium (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
	F4V - Web Medium, Widescreen Source (Flash 9.0.r115 and Higher)
-	E/W - Web Small /Elach 9.0 r115 and Higher)



4. Click the double arrows to access Advanced Mode for more specific settings if you want to change any preset options, such as Frame rate, which you can find under the Video tab. To achieve the fastest download time, set the frame rate to the lowest setting that still looks good. If you're encoding a video that has lots of action, you need a higher frame rate — ideally, 24 or better — or else your video loses details and looks fuzzy in places. If you're converting a video, such as this Windows Media file that has already been encoded, your best option is to choose Same As Source from the preset drop-down list and leave the frame rate unchanged.

5. Click the Audio tab to adjust the Bitrate and other options. If your audio file has only a single voice, you can set this option quite low, and it still sounds good. If your audio file has music, special sound effects, or other multifaceted audio factors, set the Bitrate to at least 128 Kbps.

Filters Forn	nat Video Audio Others 📲
🔻 Basic Aud	dio Settings
Co	odec: AAC 🔹
Output Chan	nels: 🔿 Mono 💿 Stereo
Freque	ency: 44.1 kHz
Audio Qua	ality: High
- Ritrato S	ettings
Dici ace 3	eccings
Bitrate [kb	nps]: 128
- Advance	d Settings
🕕 The bitrate (used for encoding audio. Higher bitrate implies better quality.
Estimated File S 3 MB	ize: OK Cancel

Filters Format	Video Audio Others 📲	Ì
🔻 📄 FTP		
Server Nam	ne:	
Po	rt: <u>21</u>	
Remote Director		
User Logi	in:	
Passwoi	rd:	
Retrie	es: <u>1</u>	-
You can verify t	he connection by clicking the 'Test' button.	Ŧ
Estimated File Size 3 MB	:: OK Cancel	

6. Choose the Others tab to enter FTP options; then you can upload video files to a server directly from the encoder. When you have all the settings the way you want, click OK. The Export Settings dialog box closes, and you return to the encoder.

o start cristoaria, arag thato ris	s into the queue or	click Add.			
Source Name	Format	Preset	Curpet File	SLASS	Add
				Encoding	Duplcate
					Pause
1				1	Stop Queue
urrana Encodina kan 1 of 1					~
Video: 640x400, Same as sou	rce [fps], Progress				
Audio: AAC, 128 [kbps], 44.1	Hz, Stereo	in (Moor)			
contract. They a runny runges a	non fareballi sono en	1. [. who]			

7. After you have everything adjusted, you're ready to begin the encoding process. Click the Start Queue button. *Hint:* The encoding process can take several minutes, even for a short video file. A small preview window in the lower-right corner of the encoder enables you to watch the encoding process in action. A new file is created in the Flash format and is saved in the same folder as the original video file.

Adding Flash Video to Your Site

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- Adobe Dreamweaver
- A Flash video file (available from this book's companion site; see the Introduction for details)

Time needed:

About an hour

Flash video is fast becoming the video format of choice among many designers. Video on the Web has been problematic for a long time because many different formats are available and you can never guarantee that everyone in your audience can view your videos in any single format.

Although the video players have been fighting it out for years, Flash seems to be winning the game. YouTube offers videos in the FLV Flash video format and millions of people have the Flash player on their computers because it's small, easy to download and install, and free.

Because Adobe owns both Flash and Dreamweaver, you find support for Flash files in Dreamweaver. You can use the Insert dialog box to easily set the many options for how a Flash video plays within a Web page. In the previous task, you find instructions for converting a video file into the Flash format. Follow these steps to insert a Flash video file into a Web page:

 Create a new Web page in Dreamweaver or open an existing page, and then click to place your cursor where you want the file to appear on the page. Select Common from the Insert panel; then, from the Media drop-down list, choose FLV for Flash Video. (You can also choose Insert → Media → Flash Video from the menu.)



type:	Progressive Download Video 🔹	OK
		Cancel
URL:	Kremin_1.flv Browse	Help
	(Enter the relative or absolute path of the FLV file)	
Skin:	Clear Skin 1 (min width: 140)	
	► II = •0	
Width:	Constrain Detect Size	
Height:	Total with skin:	
	Auto play	
	Auto rewind	

2. At the top of the Insert FLV dialog box that appears, specify streaming or progressive. Note that you must have special server software to stream video. Check with your Internet hosting service or system administrator to find out whether your Web server supports streaming Flash files. If not, select Progressive. Click the Browse button and select the Flash file from your hard drive. If the file isn't in your site's root folder, Dreamweaver offers to copy it there for you. *Remember:* The Flash file must be in your site's main root folder and it must be uploaded to your Web server in the same relative location when you upload the page that displays the file.

Chapter 13: Multimedia: Adding Flash, Audio, and Video

kin:	Clear Ski	13 (m	n width: 260)		L
	► 1	1 =	8		_8
		1	0	◄୬	O

3. Next you choose a Skin, which creates a player, or Flash controller, for your video. The Skin dropdown list includes a variety of Play, Pause, Stop, and Volume controls in different sizes and designs that can be inserted into the page with the Flash file. When you choose a skin from the drop-down list, a preview of the selected skin is displayed, as shown here, so you can see the size and style of the Flash controller.

4. Click the Detect Size button; Dreamweaver automatically inserts the height and width of the Flash file into the HTML code. If you want the Flash video to play as soon as the page is loaded, select the Auto Play check box. To automatically rewind the video after it has played, select the Auto Rewind check box.

Width:	640	🔽 Constrain 🛛 🖸	etect Size
Height:	480	Total with skin: 640x48	0 13
	📃 Auto p	olay	
	🔽 Auto r	rewind	



5. Click OK to insert the Flash file and close the dialog box. The Flash file is represented in the Web page by a box that has the same height and width of the video. Click the box that represents the video to select it. You can make further adjustments to the settings in Property Inspector at the bottom of the workspace. Click to select the Flash file to display the Flash properties, such as size, autoplay, and loop.

6. To view the Flash video, preview the page in a Web browser by choosing File⇒Preview in Browser and then choosing any browser from the menu. You must have the Adobe Flash Player installed on your computer in order to view the Flash video in your Web browser. (Note that the Flash controller, created by the skin, becomes visible only when you roll your cursor over the bottom of the video.)





7. When you insert a Flash video file and include a skin for the player, Dreamweaver creates a Flash file with the .swf extension and saves it in your root site folder. This Flash file contains the player controls. It must be uploaded to your Web site when you publish the page with the Flash file for the player controls to work on your Web site. In this figure, the file named Clear-Skin_3.swf contains the Flash controller.

Finding out more about Flash online

One of the best places to find out more about creating Flash files is on the Internet, where a wide range of Web sites offer everything from predesigned Flash files that you can easily customize to useful ideas for getting the most from this award-winning technology. Here's a short list of useful sites to get you started:

- Adobe: (www.adobe.com) You find loads of tips and tricks for creating and using Flash files (as well as many inspiring examples of Flash in action).
- GotoAndLearn: (www.gotoandlearn. com) You find many free tutorials on creating Flash files on this site.

- SWiSH: (www.swishzone.com) If you're looking for an alternative to Adobe Flash, SWiSH is an excellent little program that's more reasonably priced.
- Flash Kit: (www.flashkit.com) This site has a wide range of resources for Flash developers.
- Flash Arcade: (www.flasharcade.com) Play some of the best interactive games created in Flash.



To find out more about advanced Flash settings, called *parameters*, visit www.Adobe.com and search for "Flash parameters".

Uploading Videos to YouTube, Vimeo, and Other Sites



YouTube has attracted a tremendous amount of attention in recent years as *the* place to find Web videos. You can upload your own videos to www.youtube.com for all the world to see (a great way to garner free promotion), and use the site to host videos. So why not host your videos on your own Web server? Because bandwidth costs money, especially if you get lucky enough to get millions of visits to your video. YouTube, Vimeo, and others also provide streaming video hosting, which many Web hosts charge extra for (or don't provide at all). After videos are uploaded to a site like YouTube, you can then embed them so that they play within a page in your site. The result is that visitors see your video on your site, but you don't have to pay for premium bandwidth.

If you want the greatest possible audience to view your videos, I recommend YouTube. If you want more control over the use of your videos and how they're displayed in your pages, the premium service at Vimeo is a great option. Other video hosting services include Photobucket, Google Videos, and Revver, which offers advertising revenue for videos that attract a large audience.

As you see in this short task, YouTube makes it easy to upload videos and then embed them into your Web pages. Vimeo and other services are similar. The good thing is that most videos can easily work within those parameters. If your video is ready to post, follow these steps:

- 🔘 🗢 🕌 http • 4 X X Tahoat Search 🍃 Favorites 🛛 🔠 VouTube - Broadcast Vourself 🏠 🔹 🔯 👻 🛄 🖮 🔹 Page 📽 Safety 👻 Tools 🕶 🚱 🕶 You Tube Worldwide | English Sign Up QuickList (0) Help Sign in Home Videos Shows Channels Community Search ad Video Fig Get started with your account Join the largest worldwide video sharing con Search and browse millions of community and partner Username videos - Comment, rate, and make video responses to your favorite videos - Upload and share your videos with millions of other users - Save your favorite videos to waith and share later Your usemane can only contain latters A-Z or numbers 0-9 Check Availability Location United States Poetal Code: Date of Birth: . . . Geridar: Chiale C Female Et others find my channel on YouTube I'they have my email address I would like to receive occasional product-related errail communications that You (Tube balance usual he of the Terms of Use: Please review the Google Terms of Senice and YouTube Terms of Use below: Terms of Bervice 1. Your Acceptance A. By using and/anvisiting this website (collective), Uploading materials that you do not own is a copyright violation and against the law if we upload waterial would not own your 🕒 Internet | Protected Mode: On www.ube.com/m/ videos upi **3** 100%
- 1. Before you can upload videos, you must first register at YouTube, a free and relatively painless process that simply requires filling out a form on the site.

0.1	🐱 http://www.youtube.com/ng_video.ju	pland	•	4 🗙 🍞 Yahaal Search	
featto	🎥 YouTabe - Broadcast Yourselt		6	🕯 • 🛛 • 🖻 🖶 •	Paga 🕶 Safety 🖛 Tools 🖛 👩
You 🔟	Northwale Englise		a 🖬 🛱 aytatee	NANGELEN * Account G	unitation (Help Sign Cut
Home	Subscriptions Videos Shows	Channols		Search	Upixed w
/ideo I	File Upload				Record from Webcom
S Kr	emilin wrrv ex Mare and Description, and Add Privacy Se	tingt	Seccess Entent and Sharing Optime	Important: Do not up music vitios, music commercials withou they consist entirely yourself.	Ioa if any TV shows, concerts, or t permission unless of content you created
Title	in .			The Copyright Tipo pa Guidalines can help y	e and the Community so datarmina whathar
Dese	cription			Py clicking "Upload V	nisono elecio copyright idea", you are
Night	t New of the Hiremain in Moscow, Russia		Ĵ	representing that this YouTube's Terms of U capprights in this vider upload it.	ides faces activiolate se and that you own all a or have authorization to
Tags				_	OMPLAY
kown	IIIN, MORIDON, PLUSSI			American Express	
Cate	18ery			OPEN"	
Priv	ne relect a category: * 207				SAVE 3-25%
0.	Shara your video with the world (Macomm	nenced)		MAKE YOUR	CUPPANIS
Se	we Changes	1916)		BUSINESS EXPENSES LESS EXPENSIVE	LEARN HOW

2. To upload a video you must first log in, then click the Upload link in the upper-right corner of any YouTube page, and then use the Browse button to locate the video file you want to upload from your hard drive. Fill in the fields in the upload form to describe the video and add keywords to make it easier for YouTube visitors to find your video when they search the site.



3. When uploading is complete, YouTube displays a confirmation page that includes HTML code you can add to your own Web site or blog to display your video on your own site. You can even choose the size and other display settings. To link to a video on YouTube, copy the URL and create a link in Dreamweaver like you would to any page on the Web. If you want to embed the video so that it plays within a page on your site, click and drag to select all text in the Embed box and then press Ctrl+C to copy it.

4. To add the code to your Web page in Dreamweaver, click the Split View button at the top of the workspace to view the HTML code of any page, click to place the cursor in the code wherever you want the video to be displayed, and choose File⇔Paste to insert the code you copied from YouTube. (You find more detailed instructions for adding code from sites like YouTube in Chapter 6.)



Jî.	<u>;</u> c =. 5. p.	Common 🔻
	Preview in Firefox	F12
ame	Preview in IExplore Preview in Device Central	Ctrl+Alt+F12
s=1	Edit Browser List	

5. Choose Filet>Preview in Browser and then select any browser you have associated with Dreamweaver to view your video displayed within the page on your site from YouTube.

You can always return to the YouTube page to edit your description or keywords and to find the code you need in order to embed the video in your own site: Click the My Account button and then My Videos, and then select the video you want from your list of uploaded files.

Choosing YouTube versus Vimeo

Vimeo offers a free service, similar to YouTube, and also provides a reasonably priced premium service (\$69 per year at the time of this writing). Vimeo's premium service enables you to embed videos as easily as you can from YouTube, but with more options for how the video is displayed. For example, with Vimeo's premium service, you can remove the Vimeo icon from the player and remove any mention of related videos on the Vimeo site. You can also prevent other people from embedding your video on their sites. YouTube is free, but when you upload your videos to YouTube, you give up some rights to your content. (Read the agreement at YouTube.com for more details about copyright and other legal issues.) Also, you can only upload videos that are smaller than 100MB and take fewer than 10 minutes to play. According to the site: "YouTube accepts video files from most digital cameras, camcorders, and cell phones in the .WMV, .AVI, .MOV, and .MPG file formats." You can also upload files in the Flash video format.
Chapter 14 Making Money with Your Site

In This Chapter

Signing up for Google AdSense

8

- Inserting code into a Web page in Dreamweaver
- Adding advertising from AdSense to your site
- Setting up affiliate ads with Commission Junction
- Selling products and services with PayPal

uestion: "How do you make \$1 million on the Internet?" Answer: "Invest \$10 million."

It's an old joke, but there's still an element of truth in it today. Although you can find many stories about Internet millionaires who became rich with seemingly little effort or investment, the truth is that most good Internet businesses aren't much different from brick-and-mortar ones. You need a product or service that people are interested in, you have to deliver it in a way that's useful and accessible, and you must be able to promote your business so that customers can find you.

Despite the risks involved, many people are making money from their Web sites, by using one of these two primary models:

- ✓ Making money from advertising: You can sell and host ads yourself, or you can sign up for one of the online advertising networks, such as the exceptionally popular Google AdSense. In this chapter, you find step-by-step tasks for creating and integrating advertising using Google AdSense or the affiliate advertising services Commission Junction or LinkShare, which make it easy to add advertisers to your site that pay a commission on any sales generated from your visitors.
- ✓ Selling products or services online: To sell products or services, you need to set up a system for accepting payment. Your options range from the simple (publishing a phone or fax number on your site that customers can call or send orders to) to the complex (a fancy, integrated shopping cart that enables visitors to select items as they navigate your site and automatically tabulates their purchase totals). Somewhere between these two extremes, you can sell products on sites like eBay or Amazon with little investment (or training) or set up a simple shopping cart or order button with Google Checkout or PayPal's one-click service, which you find out about later in this chapter.

PayPal and Google offer the simplest solutions for selling single products — like memberships, tickets, or e-books — via a Web site. If you want a more complicated shopping system, read my recommendations in the sidebar "Adding a shopping cart to your site," at the end of this chapter. I don't cover these services in detail because another excellent book in this series, *Web Stores Do-It-Yourself For Dummies*, by Joel Elad (Wiley), explains this type of sales site in depth.



Because this chapter features live Web sites, some screen shots may have changed since this chapter was written. As a result, you may have to make adjustments to some of the instructions, although the basic concepts and tasks should be similar.

Adding Advertisers with Google AdSense

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- ✓ An Internet connection
- A Web browser, such as Internet Explorer or Firefox
- A Web site where you want to add Google advertising
- A Web page editing program, such as Adobe Dreamweaver

Time needed:

About half a day

You can find Google ads on so many different Web sites that the ads seem to appear automatically. And in a way, they do. As you see in this task, you must sign up for an account, select the type of ads you want, and generate a snippet of code to insert into your own site before you can include Google ads on your pages. After you set it up, though, the rest is automatic.

Google has developed an extraordinarily complex system that makes it exceptionally simple to host its ads — and not just any ads, but ads that Google can specifically deliver to your pages based on a number of criteria. The little snippet of code that you place in your pages enables Google to handle several tasks at once, including the ones in this list:

- Target ads: The automated Google system reviews the text on your Web pages and matches any relevant keywords it finds to related ad campaigns.
- Deliver ads: After the snippet of code is on your pages, Google can deliver ads automatically based on keyword targeting and other criteria.
- Track traffic: Google measures the traffic to each page that displays Google ads and tracks the number of people who view the page as well as the number of people who click to view the ad.
- Measure effectiveness: Using a complex system of data collection and analysis, Google can deliver detailed reports to advertisers about the success of their campaigns.
- Calculate payments: The system keeps a running total of the income you've earned from your Google ads and deposits the money into your bank account automatically.

Google makes buying ads as easy as placing other people's ads on your pages. And the two programs have similar names, which makes it easy to get confused. Remember this: Google AdSense pays you a few cents (or a fraction of a cent) every time someone clicks on an ad. Google AdWords makes it easy for you to buy 'words' so that your ads appear on Google and related Web sites.

To sign up for Google AdSense, follow these steps:

1. Open a Web browser with a connection to the Internet. and enter the address www.google. **com**. On the main Google page, click the Advertising Programs link.





2. The Advertising Programs page is split in two sections: On the left side is information about buying ads, and on the right is information about how publishers can make money by placing ads on a site (publishers, in this sense, are site owners who place ads on a site). In this task, I focus on the publisher side of the business, so click the Sign Up Now button, on the right side.



3. Fill in the registration form with your Web site address, your name, and other details. *Note:* Be careful to fill out this form accurately because the address you enter is the one Google sends checks to if your ads are successful.

4. Pay special attention to the Google Policy section, at the bottom of the registration form. You must select all these check boxes to indicate that you agree with the policies and will follow the rules. Google has had problems with site hosts clicking the ads on their own sites in an effort to generate income, a practice Google now works hard to prevent because it devalues the advertising. When you're ready, click the Submit Information button.

Policies	
AdSense applicants must agree to adhere to AdSense program policies (details)	I agree that I will not click on the Guogle ads Im serving through AdSense. III confry that I have read the <u>AdSense Program Policies</u> If do not arready have an approved AdSense account (Click here if you do.)
Submit Information)



5. On the verification page that's displayed, read the form carefully to ensure that your information is entered correctly. If you already have an account with Google (for Gmail or any other Google service), you can either use that account with AdSense or create a new login. Either way, complete the form and click the Continue button.

Chapter 14: Making Money with Your Site

6. If you filled out the form correctly, Google displays a confirmation page, even though you can't get started right away. Google reserves the right to accept or reject anyone who applies for the AdSense program and, as the confirmation page warns, it can take a day or two for Google to review your site and notify you of your acceptance. In the meantime, you can find lots of helpful tips and tutorials for finding out more about how to make the most of Google AdSense.

7. After you receive e-mail confirmation from Google, you have everything you need to log in and create the code for advertising on your site. Follow the link in the e-mail message or enter www.google.com/adsense to go directly to the login page.



Google AdSense			jaine@jreams.co	- Lest login: Jan 11 - <u>Log Out</u> - <u>Help</u> Publisher ID: pub-0760638266097632
				Search AdSense Help
Reports AdSense Setup My Accor	Int Resources			
Get Ads Manage Ads Color Paktes Channe	ia Competitive Ad Eiter	SteAdtentication 1	AlcendiStea	
ASansa far Cantant	Ad Title			
Asplay add that are targeted to your site's content or udience.	All text NPP.ad-uit.com			
Addense for Contentin Apply als find are largeted to your site's centent or uderice. MSEnse for Search Improved Offer your users are search or web search while aming memue from ads relevant to their search erros.	Ad text New ad-uit, com Deten Seanh	Search	1 Google	

8. Click the AdSense Setup tab at the top of the page and then select the type of ad you want to create. If you want to place advertisements on your Web site, the AdSense for Content section is the best place to start. Simply click the AdSense for Content link to continue. **9.** Choose the kinds of ads to display on your pages. For example, select Ad Unit and then choose from the options: text ads, image ads, or a combination of the two, which results in the largest number of advertising options for your site. Alternatively, you can select a link unit, which displays links to more general topics (matched to the keywords on your site) and displays for visitors a page of ads related to that topic. After you make your selection, click the Continue button at the bottom of the screen.

Rep	orts /	dSense Setup	My Account	Resources		
Get A	de Manage	Ads Color Pi	alettes Channels	Competitive Ad Filter	Site Authentication	Allowed S
Get Ar	<u>is</u> > AdSense	s for Content				
AdS	ense for	Content				
Charar	Ad Tunn	Change Ad En	must and Colore 5	Channa Arl Channals S.	State and Get Ad Code	
CHOOS	to yes (The .	Children Moli C	innat and obiois >	Circles Au cristiliets	Dave and Ger Mo Orde	
Wizar	d Single pa	iĝe -				
Ganal	AdSense pr	ancor palician al	lesu vau ta alaco un	to three ad units and three	e liek ueite en aex naoi	
CONTR	Augense 🛄	Museri Mancissi at	iow you to place up	to times an offits and time	a mur chura nu am's haði	D .
۲	Ad unit	Text and image	e ads (default) 💌		Ad Title	
	Ad units co	Text and image	ads (default)	oth. The ads are targeted	Ad text www.ad-orl.com	
	te the corde	mage ads only	and	placement targeting.		
2	1 believels					
0	Each link u	nit displays a list	t of tonics that are re	levent to your name. Whe	Ads by Google	
	users click	a topic, they ie b	rought to a page of r	related ads. 🛞	Bicycle training	
					Bicycle shops	
					Chemile Liens	
Ge	ntinue >>					

Format	728 r 90 Leaderboard 👻
Ad units come in a variety of sizes - view all the options on our <u>Ad Formate</u> page.	Horizontal 728 x 90 Leaderboard 468 x 60 Banner
Colors	234 x 60 Half Banner Vertical
Choose from one of our pre-designed color palettes, or create your own palette, Tips	120 x E00 Skyscraper 160 x E00 Wide Skyscraper
* Some options apply to text ads only.	Square 336 x 280 Large Rectangle 300 x 290 Medium Rectangle
Sample	250 x 250 Square 200 x 200 Small Square
Ad Title Ad text	180 x 150 Small Rectangle 125 x 125 Button

- 10. Choose the size and colors of the ads to display on your pages. Using the Format drop-down list, choose a size and shape that works best with the design of your Web pages. Note: You can repeat this process again to create ads of different sizes for different pages in your site. For now, choose the one you want to start with, such as the vertical 120 x 600 skyscraper that I selected in this example.
- 11. Choose a color scheme from the drop-down list next to the palettes, or create your own color scheme by selecting the color check boxes next to each of the ad elements, such as Border, Title, and Background. You can also specify the style rounded or square of the corners of your ads. Finally, choose the content you want to display if no Google ads match the content of your Web page. For example, you can choose to display public service ads for free if no paying advertisers are available or simply fill the space with a solid color. Click the Continue button when you're done.



12. On this screen, you have the option to create *channels*, which can help you track the effectiveness of advertising on different parts of your site or across different Web sites, if you manage more than one site. You can create a channel for a specific domain name or create a custom channel to track the effectiveness of an ad size or style that you use across your sites. Channels are a unique concept at Google, but they essentially serve as categories for certain kinds of advertising you want to track.

Choose Ad Type 👂 Choose A	Ad Formul and Colors > 4	Choose Ad Channels > Save and Get Ad Geda
Wizerd Single page		
Choose up to five custom che Learn more	mels to track the performs	arce of this ad unit. You also have the option to make any custom channel evaluates for advertise
All channels 🕘		Your selected channels
	Search	No channels selected
blog	edi -	
Dreattweaver	ette	Explorer User Prompt
Sparsely	add a	Scipt Proept: OK N
tip r	add.a	Please exter anane for your new channel Cancel
		Turnak
		1 movem
dd new channel Manage c	skorrelo	



13. Finally, you see the Get Ad Code page, where Google has generated a snippet of code based on your selections on the previous screens. If you change your mind, you can always go back and make adjustments by clicking the Back button at the bottom of the page. If you're ready, simply click and drag to select all code in the AdSense code window, and then choose Edit Copy to select the code so that you can add it to your Web pages. You find instructions for inserting code into a Web page in Chapter 6.

Signing Up with Affiliate Programs

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- An Internet connection
- A Web browser, such as Internet Explorer or Firefox
- A Web site where you want to add affiliate advertising

Time needed:



About half a day

Affiliate programs are a special type of advertising program designed to pay you a commission on any product or service that's sold if someone clicks on an ad on your Web site. The tasks of signing up for affiliate programs and adding their respective code to your Web site work similarly to Google AdSense, but the way you earn money with them is quite different.

With AdSense, you earn a small commission every time someone clicks an ad on your Web site. If you use affiliate ads, however, you're paid only if someone clicks the ad and then buys something from the advertiser — but you're usually paid much more if your ad leads to a sale. For example, a Google ad might earn you a fraction of a cent when someone clicks on it. But an affiliate link to Total Training (which produces video training programs) can earn you as much as 20 percent of the sale price on purchased videos, and that amount can be \$20 or more per video.

Perhaps the most famous affiliate program is the one created by Amazon. Like most programs of this type, including Google AdSense (covered in the previous task), you must first fill out a registration form and wait to be approved, and then generate on the Amazon site a snippet of code that you can add to your own pages. Many companies run affiliate programs themselves, like Amazon does, but other sites serve as virtual matchmakers, making it easy to sign up with several affiliate programs at once. The two largest affiliate networks sites are LinkShare and Commission Junction, which take on the task of managing the relationship between advertisers and publishers.

For advertisers, the advantage of a site like LinkShare is that it handles all the technical details of signing up publishers, delivering ads, and tracking results. The advantage for publishers who want to add affiliate ads to their Web pages is that you can sign up once with a site like Commission Junction and then manage your relationship with many advertisers from one place.

The following steps walk you through the process of signing up for the Commission Junction affiliate program. (The LinkShare program is quite similar, and many Web publishers sign up for both programs to access their combined stable of advertisers.)

Open a Web browser with a connection to the Internet, and enter the address www.Commission Junction.com. Click the Publishers link to read more about the program, and then follow the links to the publisher's registration page.



Adventise m Palabater	n Arne & Events	CAD Online	About Us	SITE SEARCH
PUBLISHERS	SIGN-UP			
	PUBLISHER APP	LICATIONI Ste	p 1 of 2	
	Please Sele	et Language F	reference	
	(i) English			
	O Deutsch			
	Français			
	Español			
	Country			
	Select		•	
	Functional Cu	irrency		
	Select			
	CAD Canadian	Dollar Neteno	y settings will establish the currency	
	SEK Swedish Ke GRD Station	one Slay a	Il financial content in this account. All	
	SUR Suro	ge an	e permanent and may not be reversed	

2. Select the language you prefer and your country and currency, and then click Next. (As of this writing, Commission Junction invites participants for most countries in the world but supports currency only in U.S. dollars, EU euros, British pounds, Swedish krona, and Canadian dollars. Check the Web site for specific instructions for currency exchange based on your country, as well as updates and additional currency that the company plans to support in the future.)

Part III: Going Web 2.0 .

3. Review the service agreement. You must scroll to the bottom of the agreement and click the Accept button in order to accept it. Fill in all required fields, indicated with an asterisk (*). Commission Junction asks for a great deal of information on this page, including your Social Security number or corporate EIN, and you must answer all required questions if you want to sign up for this affiliate program. Remember to click the Accept Terms button at the bottom of the page when you're done.





4. When you click the Submit Information button, Commission Junction displays a confirmation page and automatically sends you an e-mail with instructions for completing the registration process, filling out a W-9 tax-information form, and logging in to the site with your new username and password. Enter **www.cj.com** into your Web browser, and use the login and password information from the e-mail to sign in to the site.

5. The CJ Account Manager features a series of tabs across the top of the page, where you can make changes to your account information, run reports to track the success of ad campaigns, and use the Commission Junction integrated e-mail system. Click the Get Links tab to start creating the code to add to your Web pages.



6. On the Get Links page, you find a seemingly overwhelming number of options, but your first step is essentially to choose the advertisers you want to work with. A good way to start is to browse the categories of advertisers to get a sense of the available options. Look for advertisers that sell products or services that are most likely to appeal to the people who visit your Web site.

g commission junctio			CJ ACCOUNT MA	NAGE
Home Account GetLinks	Run Reports Mai			
General Categories Advertiser	List SmartZone Settings By Relationship			
			GUOrine Contact L	s He
et Links - Advertiser List				
Search Advertisers +		Find		
Language and Targeted Area Fil	Iter ON / OFF			
Language and Targeted Area Fil * Additional Search Opti	Iter ON / OFF ons eAdditional Filter Options			
Language and Targeted Area Fil * Additional Search Opti	Iter ON / OFF ons wAdditional Filter Options			
Language and Targeted Area Fil * Additional Search Opti	Iter ON / OFF ons #Additional Filter Options			
Language and Targeted Area Fil	Iter ON / OFF ons wAdditional Filter Options	Display By All		
Language and Targeted Area Fil	Iter ON / OFF ans #Additional Filter Options	Display By All	New Advantisers	
anguage and Targeted Area Fil « Additional Search Opt Advertiser Categories Accessories	Iter ON / OFF	Display By All	Now Advertisers	
Language and Targeted Area Fil « Additional Search Cyti Advertiser Categories Accessories Handbags - Jevely - Shoes	Iter DN / OFF wAdditional Filter Options wAdditional Filter Options Department Stores/Mails Department Stores/Mails Department Stores / Virtual Mails	Display By All Insurance Commercial - Personal Insurance	New Advertisers SuperBitz A2 Hosting	
Language and Targeted Area Fil a Additional Search Opt Advertiser Categories Accessories Handberge - Jevelry - Shoes	Iter ON / OFF Additional Filter Options Department Stores/Malls Department Stores / Virtual Malls	Display By All Insurance Commercial - Personal Insurance	New Advantisers SuperSite A2 Hosting HSBC: Offshore HSBC: Offshore	

	Run Reports Mail	
General Categories Advertise	r List SmartZone Settings Dy I	Relationship
et Links - Advertiser List		
Search Advertisers -		Find
anguage and Targeted Area	Filter ON / OFF	
Promotion	ptions securitorial rinter option	1978
All -	Czec	th A
Link Type	Danis	sh (E)
Select	Dutch	n ch
Category	Finnis	ish 🗧
Online Services > Domain Re	gistrations - Advert	tiser's Targeted Area
	UNITE	ED ARAB EMIRATES *
Size	LUNITE	ED KINGDOM
Size Select	•	ED STATES

7. To narrow the list of advertisers, you can search for company names, products, or other keywords. Click the Additional Search Options link (shown in the figure for the preceding step) at the top of the Get Links page to reveal more search criteria. You can then search by language, product, and other criteria. Limiting the list to just the advertisers in your primary language and in the geographic area you serve is a good start. In this example, I selected companies in the Domain Registrations category.

8. As you drill down through the list of potential advertisers and start to make your selections, consider the commissions they offer and their overall performance in the network, all of which are listed for each advertiser.

MU	inks - Advertiser List								
Sea	ech Alverfizers +		F	and .					
Lanç	pange and Targeted Area Filter ON «Additional Search Options	Additional Filter O	ptions						
Ad	vertiser Search Results								
Reta	uits 25 - 44 of 44								Previous 112 New
Ø	Apply to Program Dates	:LAU							
	Adention	3.Month EPC.(USD)	Z.Day EPC (USD)	Eletaronk Elemings	Sale	Lead	Click	Status	Category
8	KWebHosting	\$34.01	\$40.21		5ale: \$90	00 - \$150.	00 USD	Active	Web Hosting/Severs
1	Aplus Nation Manufactor	\$34.52	\$11.38		Sale: \$10	0.00 - \$200	I DE USD	No Relationship	Web Hotáng/Seven
	ATTILIATE 5150 SUFFORT 500 Easy COl Web Hosting = Yew Link	\$34.01	\$64.84		Sale: \$11 returnation	0.00 - \$150 eticerave		No Relationship	Web Hosting/Servers
83	Co Daddy:	\$33.17	\$20.10	-	Salo: 1.00 90.00 - \$1	1% - 36.00 06.00 USD	N USD,	Activa	Domain Registrations



If you're looking for a specific company, you can enter the name into the Search field at the top of the Get Links page at any time. If the company you're looking for isn't available, Commission Junction provides you with a list of similar companies.



9. Click the name of any advertiser to display a Details page with a description of the company, program highlights, and links to advertising options. Click any of the options in the Get Links box, in the upperright corner, to generate the code you need in order to add the advertiser to your Web site. In this example, I chose the Banner ad option for 1and1.com.

10. Most advertisers offer a collection of ad sizes and designs, and you can choose which ones you want to place on your pages. When you find one you like, simply click it to continue.

Ren.	dte 1 - 25 ef 33						«Previo	an 1 2 Next
Cit	i 62 to select multiple linksSelect Ac Perfor	tion- • 80 m Action	IN Trail					
	Links	Name Link	3 Marth EPC (USD)	FPC (USD)	Sale Lead	Click	Statur	Get Links
	181 Summer Special 120x00 Dutie 2 References	10.614451 130160 VPS	\$88 1.0	\$101.93	Sale: \$2.50 - \$300 USD Perfemance houries		Active	Get JavaScript Get HTML
8	18-1 Summer Special 120:60 Burne 2	10365688 130460 Wob Hosting	\$52.46	90.04	Sale: \$2.50 - \$300 USD Partemanes Invention	. 00	Active	Girt JavaSorijit Girt HTML
	181 Trusted by over 7 million conference	10905078 190540 - 7 Million Cus	\$43.30	J45.13	Safe: \$2.50 - \$300 USD Performance browning	. 00	Active	Get JavaScript Get HTML
8	450-50 Fail Barner Sale/Discount	10365358 498460 Hesting	\$43.00	\$72.62	Sale: \$2.50 - \$300 USD Parlemanas incentive	100	Active	Girt JawiScript Girt HTML
	458-50 Full Banner Hot Product	10.494478 468950 Servers	\$40.56	P404,	Sale: \$2.50 - \$300 USD Performance Incentive	.00	Active	Gat JavaScript Gat HTML
•	1&1 Domains	10396947 125±125 Hosting 2	\$26.92	\$29.34	Sale: \$2.50 - \$300 USD	. 00	Active	Gat JavaScript Gat HTML

18.1 Internet Web Hosting an	d Doms	Join Advertiser	1		
181 Trusted by over million custome	7	161 Internet.com: To join this adventiser program you must approve			
Link Status	A	some terms and constitution in address to the Commission Autorian publicity address agreement. To complete the form plase anxieto the operative merits and constitutions and press the accept button at the buttom of hole terms. Have read and accepted the 18.1 Internet agreement agreement and accepted the 18.1 Internet agreement agreement and accepted the 18.1 Internet agreement agreeme			
Promotional Dates	q				
Link ID/Name	1				
Link Type/Size	d				
Description	1	Continua			
Link Designation	J	le			
Destination	AA				
3 Month EPC	5				
7 Day EPC	5				
Advertiser	1	GLACCOUNT MANAGER Copyright @ 2003-3009. Conversion Junction Inc. All rights reserved. J System Time: 30, 34, 2009 21: 54 PDT			
Category	d '	🖨 Internet i Protecteri Naris: On 🌾 🔹 🔍 100% 🔹			
Link Language	6				
Relationship Status	Active	Drop Program			
6	Get Jaw	aBcript Det HTML Add to SmartZone			
		Clase			

11. If you've never worked with the advertiser, you need to join its program before you can add its ads to your site. Some advertisers require a manual approval process that can take a few days; others accept you into the program right away.

12. After you're accepted into the program, the bottom of the Details page changes to offer options about how you can obtain the code you need to add to your own site. Choose HTML if you want to add the advertiser by simply copying and pasting HTML code into your Web page.

Advertiser	1&I Internet Web Hosting and Domain Name Sales		
Category	Online Services > Web Hosting/Servers		
Link Language	English		
Relationship Status	Active Drop Program		
	Oet JavaBoript Det HTML Add to SmartZone		
	Close		

Hide tracking code in link?	Tes Yes	
SID		
mage URL	http://www.advertiserserver.com/advertiserimage.gif	
Destination URL	http://www.1and1.com/?ac=OM.US.US469K02463T2103a	
Update Link Code		
Code	 cimg src="http://www.tqlkg.com/image-1689587-10505076" width="150" height="40" alt="Over 7 Million Customers!" border="0"/> 	*
	Highlight Code / Copy Code Close	

13. When you're ready, simply click the Highlight Code button to select all code in the code window and then choose Edit Copy to copy the code so that you can add it to your Web pages. Then open the Web page you want to add this code to in a program such as Adobe Dreamweaver. You can add the same code to as many individual pages in your site as you want, and you can add the code to a template page in Dreamweaver to update numerous pages simultaneously. (For instructions, see the task "Inserting Code into a Web Page in Dreamweaver," in Chapter 6.)

Finding affiliate programs

This list describes a few of the more popular affiliate programs you can add to your Web site:

- Commission Junction: Featured in the task in this chapter, Commission Junction (www.commissionjunction. com) is one of the most popular affiliate networks on the Web.
- LinkShare: Similar to Commission Junction, LinkShare (www.linkshare. com) is a network of affiliate advertisers and makes it easy to work with many affiliates at once.
- Chitika: Specializing in blogs, this site, at www.chitika.com, offers publishers a

service that's part Google AdSense and part affiliate program, by offering ads that pay for clicks and sales.

Amazon: One of the oldest and best known affiliate programs on the Internet, Amazon (www.amazon.com) makes it easy to sell books, computers, and any other products available on the site with links that direct your visitors to the exact product page at Amazon.com.

Check out these popular affiliate programs online, and don't forget to search the Web for affiliate sites.

Adding a PayPal Button

Stuff You Need to Know

Toolbox:

- ✓ An Internet connection
- A Web browser, such as Internet Explorer or Firefox
- A Web site where you want to add a PayPal purchase button
- A Web page editing program, such as Adobe Dreamweaver

Time needed: About half a day



You can sell products and services online in many ways. At the simple end of the spectrum, you can set up an account at PayPal.com and start selling products or services in a matter of minutes, with minimal effort and no upfront investment.

Moving up the scale in complexity and price, you can create a shopping system at any of the dozens of e-commerce sites that offer more complex shopping cart systems.

I recommend, as a general rule, that you start simple and add more complex and expensive e-commerce options as you start making more money. If you're determined to add a full-featured shopping cart right away, the book *Web Stores Do-It-Yourself For Dummies*, by Joel Elad (Wiley), gives you detailed instructions for using some of the most popular online shopping systems. If you want to get started with PayPal right away, follow these steps:

 Open a Web browser with a connection to the Internet, and enter the address www.PayPal. com. Click the Products & Services tab at the top of the window to see a detailed explanation of the many kinds of payment services offered by PayPal.



2. On the Products & Services page, you find links to the many kinds of payment services offered by PayPal. Click the link for any of the services to sign up, watch a demo, and find out pricing information, including fees and commissions. Click Website Payments Standard if you want the simplest options for using single Buy Now buttons or PayPal's simple cart to sell multiple products, services, tickets, and so on.

Son Up	Log h Help Security Center Search
PayPal	
Home Personal Business Products & Services	Shopping
Nays to pay	Ways to get paid
Send Money	USA Carl Payments Standard
Instantly to anyone. It's simple and secure, O	Accept craits and an your website. •
Shop on ine	Metable Parments Standard
Speed through checkout at thousands of websites.	Start pathing paid online of Likty and easily.
Send Money	<u>Website Payments Pro</u>
Repay a friend, contribute to a group gift, and more.	Get a merchani account and gateway all in one.
Payon eBay	Colline Involces
Make secure purchases on eBay.	Involce customers through email and get paid fast.
PayPa Plus NasterCard	Entrest Checkout
Pay no annual fee and earn rewards points.	Lift sales by adding PayPal to your website.
PayPal Debit Card	eBay Payments
Get cash from your PayPal account.	Receive payments quickly for your eBay listings.



3. The Website Payments Standard page provides an overview of the options, a demo video, and other information about how you can use PayPal to sell one or more items. Click the Sign Up Now link to continue.

4. If you already have a PayPal account (even if you used it only to purchase items in the past), you can log in with your existing account information and continue with the setup process to upgrade PayPal so that you can use its sales services. If you're new to PayPal, click the Sign Up button to continue.



Part III: Going Web 2.0 ____

5. You can read about your options and the steps involved on the Getting Started page, but all you need to do is click the Go button in the Sign Up Now area to continue.

PayPal	Lash	ttele Security Contra	Saarch
Sign up for a follow these steps to sta	Business Account - Getting St art accepting payments with PapPal	tarted	
	€ Sign up for a Paphal Basisess sectoure: → Varity rate information	Set up your preferred payment solution	
Step	Info Required	Time	Status
1 Sign up for a Busi	iness Account.		
Sign up now	 Account/business owner's name, address, and email Business name and address Customer service information 	5-10 minutes	•
Why is a PayPal Bus	iness account good for my business?		
 Use it to accept Bave money and 	credit cards, bank transfers, and PayPai balances I sell incre with our merchant solutions		
2 Verify your inform	nation.		
Confirm email address	The email address you used to sign up	2 minutes	

Required		Secure Transaction 🔒
Business Information		
"Business Type: _	Choose a Category 🔻	
Business Name:		
Address Line 1:		
Address Line 2:		
*City:		
"State:	•	
*2IP Code:		
Country: U	illed States	
Work Phone:	ext.	
Category: _	Choose a category 🔹	Providing up with this
Subcategory:	Choose a category	 information about your
Average Transaction Price:	Choose a Value - 🔹	security of your account and
Average Monthly Volume:	Choose a Value 🔹	allows us to serve your business needs batter.
Sales Venue(s): []	eBay	Please make sure that the
L	Other Marketplace	accurate. Learn more
1	My Own Website:	Note: This information will not
	http://	be shared with your rustomers
1	Differ Blasse decades was business balant	
	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	

 6. Fill in the forms carefully and completely. PayPal uses this information to process payments and to verify your identity when you use its service. When you finish with the online registration process and enter all your bank information, the Get Started page is displayed, where you can verify your information.



Because PayPal is a prime target for fraudulent activity and identity theft, it provides many levels of verification and mechanisms to confirm your information, from your e-mail address to your bank account. Taking a little extra time to verify all your information can help protect you and your accounts.

290

P	ayPal		Log Gut	Help Security Center
v	tu have successful	ly added a bank account.		
Ge	t Started — B	usiness Account		
alk	ow the steps below	to complete your account setup and b	egin accepting payments.	View Account Overview
1	Sign up for a Bus	iness Account.		Complete
2	Verify your Inform	nation		
2	Step	Info Required	🄓 Time to Complete	Action
	Confirm email address (required)	The email address you used to sign up	2 minutes	(<mark>) Go</mark>
	Confirm your bank Instantly	Online banking access	2-3 minutes	
	Why should I verif + Get your money f Note: You can proces	y my information? exter: Transfer funds from PayPal directly to y ed to the other steps while waiting for your ba	yaur bank account nk account confernation.	
3	Set up your poyn	vent solution		
- 4	Step	Info Required	Time to Complete	Action
	Implement Website Payments Standard			
	Find a new solution [Technical Overview Integration Guide (PDF)		

1. Sign up for a Busine	ess Account.		Complete
. Verify your informa	tion		
Step	Info Required	Time to Complete	Action
Email confirmation			Complete
Confirm your bank instantly	Online banking access	2-3 minutes	0 Go
Why should I verify n • Get your money fast Note: You can proceed			

9. To ensure that you're who you say you are and that you have access to the bank account you entered when you registered, PayPal makes two small deposits into your account — maybe as little as a few cents. The goal isn't for you to make a lot of money but to ensure that you can prove that the account is yours by entering the exact amount of the deposits into the bank confirmation form on PayPal. Your bank will likely take a few days to record the deposits, so you'll have to wait to find out the amounts and confirm your account. In the meantime, you can continue to set up your account and even begin using the PayPal services, but PayPal won't deposit any money you've earned from sales until you confirm your account by telling PayPal the exact amount that was deposited.

7. To confirm your e-mail address, click the Go button. PayPal sends an e-mail message to the address you entered when you completed the registration form. Open the link in that message in a Web browser and enter

your password when prompted to complete

the e-mail verification process.

8. When you complete the registration process, and whenever you log in to PayPal, you should see the My Account Overview page, where you find links to the many features offered by PayPal. Next, you should complete the bank verification process, which you can do by scrolling down the page and clicking the Go button, next to Confirm Your Bank Instantly.

ayPal made two small deposits to your bank account. Now the hese deposit amounts exectly as they appear on your bank st wher of this account.	it γou've looked up these deposits, please enter atement. This process ensures that γou are the
Benk Acceuet: xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx	ing
nce you complete this process, you can make instant PayPal you are unable to check your bank statement and find the d <u>Confine your bank account using your online bank account</u>	payments funded with your bark. aposit amounts, you can: it information

10. Click the Merchant Services tab at the top of the screen whenever you're logged in to your account, to set up or edit any of your payment systems for your Web sites. The simplest payment system uses the Buy Now button. To create one for your site, click the Buy Now Button link near the upper-left corner of the page.

11. Fill in the Create Buy Now Button form with information about the product or service you want to sell and the amount you want to sell it for. Then select the size and style of button you want. (This is how the button will appear on your Web page.) Then choose your shipping and sales tax options. You also have Button encryption options: Select the Yes radio button to enable encryption if you want to create a button that's more secure. (Note: It cannot be edited again after you create it. Of course, you can always go back and create a new button if you want to make changes.) Select the No radio button if you want to be able to modify the code after it's added to your page. (Note: Choose this advanced option only if you know how to edit the code yourself.)

Create Buy Now bu	itton
Item details	
Item name/service:	Don't Waste Your Money on the Web
Item ID/number:	ebook101
Price:	20
Currency:	U.S. Dollars 🖉 🔞
You can change the default countries below. Otherwise	checkout language and content for your buyer by selecting from the , do nothing and your buyers can choose for themselves.
Buyer's default country:	United States
Weight: (Optional)	Lbs 👻 🕄
Buy Now 86×2 Buy Now 86×2 Need more choices? Use your own button in	22x47 0 22x47 1 0 Pay Now 06x21 1 0 06x21
Button encryption	
• Yes Your item p	nce and other details are encrypted and cannot be altered.
Note: Selecti	ng encryption means you cannot use option fields or create email links.
© No Non-encryp option field:	ted buttons allow you to directly modify your HTML code, create , and generate email links.

Add a Buy Now button to your website Copy your custom HTML code Click the Solext All button to highlight the code within the box and then copy it. Note: An email link will not be generated if you are using button encryption. To turn encryption eff, return to the previous page and click the Ne button under Button encryption. To turn encryption eff, return to the previous page and click the Ne button under Button encryption. To turn encryption eff, return to the previous page and click the Ne button under Button encryption. Encrypted HTML code for Websites: (Copy and paste this HTML code onto your website) form actions="Buttops://www.paypal.com/en_US/s/btc.hu/webset1" methode="post"post" input: type="Tindem" name="code" youlkes" g=colick?" input: type="Tindem" name="code" you'selse" g=colick?" input: type="tindem" g=code" you'selse" g=colick?" input: type="tindem" g=code" you's g=code" g=code"

12. Click the Create Button Now button at the bottom of the form. Then click the Select All button at the bottom of the page to select the code that PayPal generated and choose Edit=>Copy to copy the code. Next, you need to open the Web page to which you want to add this code in a program such as Adobe Dreamweaver. (For instructions, see the task "Inserting Code into a Web Page in Dreamweaver," in Chapter 6.)



Online services, such as PayPal and Google, that handle money are especially vulnerable to unscrupulous spammers and fraud. If you receive e-mails from these services, check them carefully and make sure the domain of the sender and any links you click really are from PayPal or Google.

Adding a shopping cart to your site

Although PayPal offers a quick and easy way to start selling products and services on the Web, you might find many other options superior, especially if you want to sell many products or services on your Web site. Here are a few of the most popular e-commerce options on the Web:

- Yahoo! Merchant Solutions (store. yahoo.com) offers a full line of e-commerce services, including a multifaceted shopping cart. One of the most popular services on the Internet, Yahoo! is competitively priced, highly customizable, and takes care of every aspect of the shopping cart and transaction services.
- ✓ Google Checkout for Merchants (https://checkout.google.com/ sell) requires no sign up fee, is quick and easy to set up, and provides buy buttons as well as a simple shopping cart, similar to the one provided by PayPal, which is covered in the final task in this chapter.

- ProStores (www.prostores.com) is an eBay company that offers an all-in-one shopping system and an enterpriselevel ecommerce solution that includes supply chain and vendor management tools.
- 1&1 Internet (www.landl.com) claims to be the largest domain registrar in the world. This site also provides Web hosting, e-commerce, and a shopping cart system.
- PayLoadz (www.payloadz.com), is specially designed to sell e-books, software, and other digital products, as well as fee-based services, such as subscriptions and memberships.

For more detailed instructions on working with these shopping carts, read the book *Web Stores Do-It-Yourself For Dummies*, by Joel Elad (Wiley).

Part IV The Part of Tens



Chapter 15

Ten Cool Services for Your Site

In This Chapter

- Developing e-mail newsletters
- ▶ Finding inexpensive professional images
- Using pop-up previews
- ▶ Identifying fonts in graphics
- Creating surveys for your visitors
- Adding a favicon to the address bar
- ▶ Hiding your e-mail address from spammers
- ▶ Tracking Web visitors
- Setting up a teleconference

.

he best Web sites include a broad range of features, from attractive graphics to interactive surveys to detailed reports about site visitors. However, many of the most advanced features are highly complex to create and maintain. Fortunately, a growing list of Web services allows you to easily add specialized options to your Web site, without having to spend a lot of time or money. In this chapter, I introduce you to some of my favorite online resources — sites that can help you take your site beyond the basics without breaking the bank.



Most Web-based services like these make it easy to set up an account and then generate a snippet of HTML code that you can add to your own Web site. You find instructions for adding code snippets to your pages using Dreamweaver in Chapter 13.

Measuring Traffic from Web Visitors

Don't settle for the lame statistics you get from most Web servers. You need to know who is visiting your site. Add your own stat counter and you'll get far more details about where visitors come from and even what they search for in Google to find you. Although most service providers include basic Web traffic reports as part of their hosting services, you're likely to get far better results from a service like Google Analytics or StatCounter.com.

Google Analytics is one of the best traffic counters on the Web, and one of the most popular — and it's free! You just add a little snippet of code to your Web pages, and Google tracks your visitors, creating a comprehensive report full of juicy details.

Part IV: The Part of Tens

You'll not only get the numbers of visitors and where they came from, you can even see what people search for on Google before they visit your site.

To sign up, just visit www.google.com/analytics and follow the instructions to create an account for your site and generate the code you'll need to add to your pages. Then it's as easy as copy and paste to get your site set up. If you use a template to create your pages, you can simply paste the Google Analytics code snipped into the bottom of your template and it will automatically be added to all your pages.

Creating and Managing E-mail Newsletters

One of the best ways to keep people coming back to your Web site is to remind them of what you have to offer, and one of the best ways to do that is to create an e-mail newsletter.

Managing e-mail newsletters is a complex process. Creating a page design that works well in lots of different e-mail programs is hard enough, but did you know about all the legal requirements regarding what you can and can't do when you send an e-mail letter to a mailing list?

Among other things, you're legally required to make it easy for people to stop getting your e-mail if they don't want to subscribe. If you've ever used the *unsubscribe* link at the bottom of an e-mail message you received, you probably understand why it's important to make it easy for people to get off your mailing list, as well as sign up in the first place. See the nearby sidebar for more about legal requirements.

If you have more than a few people on your mailing list or you want to send messages on a regular basis, you'll be best served by signing up with an e-mail newsletter service. You can read all about such services in *E-Mail Marketing For Dummies* by John Arnold (published by Wiley).

Here are a few of the most popular ones:

- Constant Contact: Considered the most popular online newsletter service, Constant Contact has been in business since 1996. As of this writing, prices start at \$15 per month for up to 500 e-mails per month. (www. constantcontact.com)
- ✓ iContact: This service is quickly growing in popularity, in large part because it's priced more competitively than Constant Contact and offers more newsletter designs to choose from. As of this writing, prices start at \$9.95 per month. (www.icontact.com)
- ✓ Benchmark Email: In this increasingly competitive category, Benchmark offers 600 e-mails per month for \$9.95 or a popular \$19.95-per-month plan that enables you to send up to 2,500 messages per month. (www.benchmarkemail.com)

U.S. law and e-mail newsletters or other bulk messages

If you send bulk e-mail messages of any kind, here are the basics you need to know about U.S. law, as well as generally-recommended netiquette. For more details about how the laws vary from state to state, visit www.mass-emailer.com/bulk_email_info. html. If you live outside the United States, your government Web site likely provides the information you need to stay in good legal standing.

No false or misleading information in the header area of an e-mail: Spammers do it all the time (and many get caught, or at least blocked by spam filters for the practice). If you're sending a legitimate message, make sure the address you use in the From field of the message is your legitimate e-mail address, and also that any addresses you display in the To field are real. One of the biggest advantages of using an e-mail service (such as iContact) is that it provides a contact manager with which you can manage all your e-mail addresses.

- Deceptive subject lines: You can't claim that the e-mail is about dogs and cats in the subject line and then try to sell the recipient guinea pigs via the message.
- An opt-out method: There must be an easy way for recipients to let you know they don't want to receive any more messages from you — and you must remove them from your list if they do. This is one of the best reasons to use a service, such as Benchmark Email or iContact because all these services enable subscribers to opt-out automatically.
- Compliance with restrictions on distributing addresses you collect: You cannot sell or transfer e-mail addresses of people who have chosen not to receive your e-mail, and you cannot help any other entity send them messages (even if you don't charge for the service).
- Clear intent: All commercial e-mail must be identified as an advertisement and must include the sender's postal address.

Downloading Professional Images Inexpensively

Professional photographs and graphics can transform a simple page design into a professional showcase. High-quality images can be pricey, though. For professional, royalty-free images without the high price tag, visit iStockphoto (www.istock photo.com) where you can buy — and sell — high-quality photos and other images for \$1 to \$5 (depending on the resolution).

This searchable site makes it easy to find all kinds of photographs, illustrations, and even animated graphics and videos. Search for **German Shepherd**, for example, and you'll find nearly 1,000 photos of those lovely beasts; search for **dogs**, and you'll find more than 16,000. You can even search for general terms, such as **smile** or **raised hands**, to find images to fit almost any design idea or Web site.

When you find a photo that you like at iStockphoto, you can download a comp version for free. Free images have the iStockphoto logo printed across the middle but are handy to use for mockups. You can also save images to a collection (a *lightbox*) stored on the iStockphoto Web site so you can easily go back and review your favorites later. When you're ready to purchase images, you can use any major credit card to buy credits on the site. The more credits you buy in advance, the better the price. The cost of each image is based on the resolution: The higher the resolution, the more the image costs, but most images are available in multiple resolutions. Prices can vary by image, but most low-resolution images (less than 400 pixels wide at 72 dpi), which work fine for most Web sites, cost as little as \$1. Make sure the read the license agreement for details.

If you're looking for free images, or you like the idea of using images that are provided for free by photographer directly, consider www.sxc.hu, where you find more than 300,000 images from more than 30,000 photographers. Again, make sure to read the contract details carefully because some images on this site require that you work out the right to use the images with the photographers directly.

In Chapter 5, I give you instructions for editing, resizing, and saving images. See Chapter 6 for instructions for inserting images into your Web pages.

Highlighting Links with Pop-Up Previews

The innovative online service Snap-shots (www.snap.com) creates a small pop-up preview of any page you link to on your site. You simply sign up for the free service at Snap.com and use its online tool to generate special code that you can copy and paste into the code in your Web pages.

With the unique Snap.com pop-ups, anytime a visitor rolls the cursor over a link, a small pop-up window appears with a preview that displays the page or site that you linked to from your site. It's a useful way to give visitors a little more information as they peruse your pages and to highlight the links on your site.

WhatTheFont? (An Online Matchmaker)

If you've ever tried to identify an unusual font, you know how challenging it can be — and you'll likely appreciate the character recognition software offered from WhatTheFont (www.whatthefont.com). Using this free online service, you can upload any graphic or enter the URL to any image on the Web, and the program analyzes the image and tries to identify the font.

The system isn't perfect, but even if WhatTheFont can't identify the exact font, it gives you the closest matches it can find, which at least gets you pointed in the right direction. You can also opt for the "human" service, to have your graphic further reviewed by expert font matchers.

And, if you want to buy the font after you use the service to identify it, the site's creators are happy to sell you fonts that you download to your own computer. For more on the best options for using fonts on the Web, see Chapter 6.

Another great place to test fonts ... www.dafont.com.

Surveying Your Visitors

If you want to know what visitors to your site really think, just ask them.

An online survey is a helpful way to gauge the experience of your audience and to invite reviews. You can also use online surveys as planning tools to poll your audience about how and where they might want an event, for example, or what new features they're most interested in.

You can create a free, online survey from SurveyMonkey (www.surveymonkey. com) and link to it from your Web site. SurveyMonkey makes it easy to create the survey by simply filling out a form in a Web browser, and then it automatically tallies the results and presents them in a series of reports and pie charts. The data you can gather and present is an excellent way to impress your board of directors at your company's next annual meeting.

Dressing Up the Address Bar with a Favicon

Have you ever wondered how some sites add those little custom graphics to the address bar, at the top of the browser? For example, Google adds the letter G, and Adobe adds its logo. You too can add any image to your site — you just have to get it in the right format.

Fortunately, turning a graphic into a *favicon* (or *shortcut icon*) is easy and free with FavIcon from Pics (www.htmlkit.com/services/favicon). Just upload any graphic of your own, and this online tool automatically converts it into a favicon that you can use on your site. After your image is saved in the ICO format, you simply upload it to the main root folder of your Web site, and your image is automatically displayed on the address bar in a browser.

Favicons also appear in the list of bookmarks, or favorites (which is where the name comes from) when a visitor saves your Web site in a browser. Thus, including a favicon can make your site stand out from a list of saved Web addresses and can help build and strengthen your brand.

Protecting Your E-Mail Address from Spammers

Spammers gather millions of e-mail addresses from Web sites every day by collecting e-mail addresses from links on Web pages. Web designers commonly include e-mail links so that visitors can easily contact them. Unfortunately, those simple e-mail links make it even easier for spammers to gather e-mail addresses automatically.

To help counter this problem, the programmers at AddressMunger (www.addressmunger.com) have come up with a special way of "hiding" e-mail addresses from the automated bots that spammers use. When you add this special

code to your Web pages and use AddressMunger to create the e-mail links on your Web pages, your visitors can still e-mail you easily, but spammers can't read your e-mail address. It's an easy way to cut down on all that spam in your inbox.

To use this service, you need two snippets of code:

- One that you insert into the top of a Web page
- Another that you add wherever you want your e-mail address to appear

You can find instructions for adding code to your pages in Chapter 13.

Setting Up Free Conference Calls

Want to set up a conference call for free? Really, for free. Well, you do have to pay any long-distance charges you incur if your call to the conference center requires dialoging a long-distance number, but if you have an unlimited calling plan with your phone company, you're already covered on that front. You can pay extra for an 800 number, but if you're willing to let the service pick the number, all you pay are any necessary toll call charges.

To use the service, simply visit FreeConference at www.freeconference.com, sign up for the free account, and immediately start scheduling conference calls. You can invite as many people as you like into the call. FreeConference even includes a handy system for managing contact information and sending out invites on your behalf.

I use the service on a regular basis to schedule conference calls with clients and students. You can even add desktop sharing for \$9 per month, making it possible to simultaneously share information on your computer or use the service. That makes it ideal for Webinars, review sessions, or other kinds of collaborative meetings online.

The company makes money by charging for specialized services, such as the use of an 800 number, or if you want FreeConference to record or transcribe your calls.



And like most things that are free, FreeConference can't guarantee availability, so scheduling in advance is always wise although I've rarely had any trouble setting up a call, even at the last minute.

Sharing PowerPoint Presentations

Online training, teleconferences, and virtual seminars are increasingly popular, thanks to services like SlideShare (www.slideshare.net). To use this innovative service, just upload your presentation to the site and point visitors to your special address, where they can view your slides and use the simple controls at SlideShare to move forward and back through your presentation.



Combine SlideShare with a service like FreeConference, and you're ready to host a professional teleconference or online seminar — without spending a cent.

Chapter 16

Ten Ways to Promote Your Site

In This Chapter

- Optimizing your site for search engines
- Paying for keywords on search engines
- Building contacts on social networking sites
- Ranking on social bookmarking sites
- Attracting return visitors with regular updates
- ▶ Finding useful ideas on other Web sites
- Getting mentioned in traditional media
- Spreading the word with viral marketing
- Blogging
- Reaching out to your personal contacts

.

hat if you build a Web site, and nobody comes? Unfortunately, that's an all-too-common problem on the Internet. And, that's why I can't end this book without at least pointing you to a few places where you can promote your Web site. Driving significant traffic to the pages of a site requires a significant amount of time or money or an incredibly compelling message. If you can manage all three, you should do very well indeed. In this chapter, you find tips and online resources to help bring people to your Web site.

.

Scoring High in Search Engines

The buzzword here is *search engine optimization*, or *SEO*, a highly complicated science that involves getting search engines like Google, Bing, and Yahoo! to list your Web site higher on the page than your competitors.



Thousands of companies and services promise to "get you in the top 10 matches" on search engines for as little as \$19.99. Be wary of these services. The truly good ones charge hundreds or even thousands of dollars per month (with good reason), and the bad ones can get you delisted from search engines for breaking the rules with old tricks like inserting the word *sex* into your code when you're site is really about car maintenance. Most SEO experts agree that the best way to score high in search engines is to provide useful information on your site and to use appropriate keywords effectively.

304 Part IV: The Part of Tens

Scoring high in Web searches is complicated because millions of sites vie for the top spots and search engines use complex formulas to determine which Web site should match any given key word search. Search engines also guard their formulas for how they prioritize Web sites more carefully than Coca-Cola guards its recipe. And if that doesn't make it complicated enough, most search engines change their formulas regularly. (How regularly is also secret.)

The reason for all this secrecy is that the people who run sites like Google and Bing want to deliver the best results when someone conducts a search — not just a list of the sites that smart Web marketers figured out how to trick their way into top position. Because there's much money to be made at the top, Web marketers spend countless hours testing how search engines work to come up with their best guesses about the criteria that search engines are using and how best to move their sites up the list.

The result is sort of a cat-and-mouse game, with search engines changing the rules to thwart the most calculated efforts of specialist's in SEO, and people who specialize in SEO charging big bucks to figure out the secret formula that can put you on top.

For the most part, search engines score sites based on the words and images on Web pages and on how well their content matches the keywords that are searched. For example, if you own a B&B in Point Reyes Station, California, you should include at least the name Point Reyes Station on your Web site because the term B&B has many competitors and people searching for lodging in the area are likely to include the town's name in their search.



A great way to determine how best to make your own site search engine friendly is to search for keywords that you want to lead people to your site and then study the Web sites that match those words already. Often, the best way to move your Web site up the ranks in search results is to emulate the strategies of other sites that are already doing well.

Achieving the best placement, especially for popular keywords, is a full-time job, but here are a few tips that most SEO specialists agree are likely to help you score better in search engine searches.

- **Invite other sites to link to you.** It's widely believed that Google rewards people who attract the most links to their sites, especially if those sites already have good rankings themselves. It makes sense: If lots of other Web sites consider your site good enough to send their visitors to you, you probably have something of value to offer.
- Fill your site with fresh, original content related to your business or industry. Include tips, articles, tutorials, and other content that's valuable to your visitors, and don't stop there. Keeping your content updated by adding fresh information on a regular basis is another great way to keep search engines and visitors — interested.
- **Develop a list of keywords and a good description for your site.** The trick to writing a good Web site description is making it concise (every word counts), packing it with your most important keywords, and phrasing it so that it reads like a sentence (not just a list of words). Include this description toward the top of your home page in the meta description tag, which is a special tag that can be used to add information just for search engines. (You find instructions for adding Meta descriptions and keyword content in Chapter 6.)

- ✓ Include your most important keywords in the title of your Web page and the name of the file. The title doesn't appear in the body of a Web page; the title appears at the top of the browser window. You can add or edit the title of a page in Dreamweaver by changing the text in the Title field at the very top of the workspace. Similarly, including keywords in the filename of each page in your Web site can also boost rankings.
- Include keywords in the headlines on your Web page. Most search engines place higher priority on keywords that appear in the headlines on a page, but only if you use XHTML heading tags to style those headlines. Heading tags, which include h1 (the biggest) through h6 (the smallest), identify text as headlines in a way that search engines easily recognize.
- ✓ Don't expect instant (or permanent) results. Even if you do everything right in the search engine search game, you might still have to wait for the results of your efforts to be recognized. Some search engines can take weeks or months to reflect changes to Web pages on the Internet. Search engines, such as Google, generally update the most popular sites very quickly while lagging weeks or months behind in updating less-visited sites.



A great place to learn more about how search engines work and how to achieve the best ranking is www.searchenginewatch.com.

Buying Traffic (Yes, You Really Can!)

In addition to the "natural" results that search engines deliver when someone does a keyword search, buying keywords on search engines helps to ensure that your site is listed when someone searches for words that are relevant to your site, although the process is far more complex than most people realize. Search engine ads generally appear at the top and right side of most search-result pages.

Not all keywords sell for the same price. Using a complex bidding process, most search engines charge significantly more for the most popular keywords. Adding to the complexity, the results of those keywords for your site can vary dramatically based on a dizzying array of factors. For example, the expensive keyword *Hawaii* may bring the most amount of traffic to your site, but the lower-priced keyword *luau* may result in more reservations to your hotel. Because it's possible to measure not only the traffic from a keyword search but also the actions of the person who clicks on that keyword, you can measure and compare the effectiveness of nearly every aspect of search engine advertising.

Again, this process can be highly complex. Just developing a list of keywords worth purchasing seems easier than it really is at first. Sure, if you have a B&B in Point Reyes, you can likely make a list of a few dozen obvious words quickly. But the real art of developing a list of keywords for search engine advertising requires more than just brainstorming a few words related to your business. The best SEO companies come up with hundreds or thousands of keywords and phrases and then track the results to find the best return on dollars spent for paying customers. Thus, running a campaign with 10,000 words might not cost much more than running a campaign with 100 words, and might prove much more effective over time.

Add to that strategy the importance of landing pages and sales messages. The most sophisticated ad campaigns involve creating special Web pages to go with each keyword ad. For example, you can create a special page (often called a landing page) on your Hawaiian hotel site for people who click the search term scuba diving that is different from the page for those who click the search term **health** spa. You can learn more about how to make the most of your keyword ads by carefully reading the instructions and tips on any site where you plan to advertise.



Google AdSense offers the largest online advertising program for keywords. Just click the Advertise button at www.google.com to find detailed instructions and a number of tips and tools to help you develop the best campaign and measure the results.

In addition to buying ads on Google, you can include Google Ads on your own Web site to earn advertising income. In Chapter 14, you find tips on how to earn income from your site with Google Ads.

Using Social Networking Sites for Promotion

Social networking, the art of meeting and building contacts on the Web, is an increasingly popular way to increase your personal and professional contacts, make new friends, develop professional relationships, and even find a new job. You can also use social networking sites to promote your personal or business Web site. *Netiquette* (Internet etiquette) calls for a subtle approach to promoting your site in these kinds of environments, but simply including your Web address in your online profile can help drive new people to your site.

Here are some of the most popular social networking sites and what you can expect to find there:

- **Facebook:** (www.facebook.com) Facebook wins top place as the fastest growing social networking site on the Web, and its broad appeal makes it an excellent place to promote your Web site. Facebook was originally considered a vanity site and a place for college students, but its professional power is growing with its ever-expanding audience.
- LinkedIn: (www.linkedin.com) This is the site for professional connections and online business networking. If you're online to develop business contacts with other professionals, especially if you're job hunting or trying to attract new business clients, this is a powerful place to promote yourself and your Web site. Unlike Facebook and MySpace, LinkedIn is all business.
- ▶ MySpace: (www.myspace.com) One of the all-time most popular social networking sites, MySpace makes it easy to create a profile site, add music, write a blog, and post as many photos as you want to share with the world. Although the site has dominated the social networking landscape on the Internet, at the time of this writing, it was rapidly falling behind its biggest competitor, Facebook. Still, its huge online audience is a popular place for musicians, performers, and many others to promote themselves and their Web sites.

- Ecademy: (www.ecademy.com) Similar to LinkedIn, Ecademy is a site where professionals network, seek new clients, hunt for jobs, and recruit employees. What makes Ecademy different is that it's much more international, with an especially strong audience in Europe and Asia.
- Ning: (www.ning.com) You can create your own social networking site at Ning and invite your friends and colleagues to create profiles there in your own exclusive social network environment.

Getting Ranked on Social Bookmarking Sites

Social bookmarking sites rank the popularity of Web pages by the number of votes they get. The result is that these sites are excellent resources for people who want to keep up with what's popular online. Most offer special software that makes it easy for anyone to vote on a site.

Getting your site listed on social bookmarking sites is a highly effective way to increase traffic. Dozens of these sites and services exist, with more sure to come, and they feature catchy and unusual names, like Digg (http://digg.com), delicious (http://delicious.com), StumbleUpon (www.stumbleupon.com, and reddit (www.reddit.com).

Although you can submit your own pages on any of these sites, it's generally frowned upon and if you do it too frequently, you can be banned. Besides, your one little vote won't make much different anyway. A better method is to add a button to your site from each of these services that makes it easy for your visitors to vote for you. If you're a blogger, you can add a button each time you post. You can get the buttons (chicklets) for free and add them to your pages by simply inserting a little code you generate on the social networking site. (Find instructions for adding code to your pages in Chapter 6.)

Enticing Visitors to Return for Updates

One of the best ways to improve traffic to your site is through repeat visitors, and regular updates to your site can make all the difference. If you want your visitors to know when to look for updates, consider making regular changes to your Web site. Add a post to your blog every Thursday morning, for example, or post your newest photos to the site on Saturday mornings. Regular updates help get people in the habit of visiting your site.

Gathering Ideas from Other Web Sites

One of the best ways to create good habits in Web design is to visit other people's Web sites and study what works and what doesn't on their pages. While you're there, check out the title of the page, any descriptive text, or keywords that are

Part IV: The Part of Tens _

used throughout the site. As you look at related Web sites, ask yourself what you like about the site and why you like it. Also, determine whether you can easily find the information you're most interested in and how easily you can navigate around the site.

Sometimes the best way to discover the problems in your own Web site is to look for problems on someone else's site and then return to yours with a fresh perspective.

Marketing a Web Site to the Media

Attracting traditional media attention to your Web site is not unlike attracting it to any other business. The trick is to tell a good story and get the attention of someone who can write about it in a publication that's read by your target audience. If you're looking for press coverage, make sure to include a Press section on your Web site with contact information, story ideas, and any other press coverage you've received.



Don't wait for journalists to come to you! You should never pester a reporter with a barrage of e-mail, press releases, or phone calls, but a well-timed or well-pitched message can get the attention of a reporter *and* the desired result — your Web address in the press. One good way to find journalists who might be interested in your site is to visit related sites and study their Press sections to find out who has been writing about them. Note not only the publication but also the writer. Then send a note directly to that person with a message that starts like this:

Dear fabulous journalist <insert that person's name, of course>:

I enjoyed reading the article you wrote on the XYZ company and thought that you might be interested in what we're doing.

Keep your message brief, and try to include a news hook and story idea that go beyond just promoting your business. For example, rather than tell a reporter that you have the best B&B site in northern California, pitch a story about the best hikes in the area. With any luck, the article on great hikes will include a quote from you and a mention of your B&B's Web site (especially if the reporter can send readers to your online list of hiking tips).

Unleashing the Power of Viral Marketing

Viral marketing is another of the marketing industry's new buzzwords in the digital age. The idea is that a message (a video, an article, or a photo, for example) is so exciting, fun, and compelling that people want to share it with each other, passing it on to their friends, who then pass it on to their friends, until it spreads like a virus. Such messages are often sent via e-mail, blogs, or chat, which can make the ever-expanding impact happen at an almost instantaneous pace.

Tap in to the power of viral marketing, and you can become an overnight sensation. Humor seems to be the most effective strategy. Among the mainstays of the viral phenomena are those silly photos of cats with clever sayings. Known as the LOL cats, these photos have spawned several Web sites, like Icanhascheeseburger.com. Funny video clips, the kind you would expect to see featured on a show like *America's Funniest Home Videos*, are also highly viral because they're shared around the Web.

To use viral marketing to attract traffic to your Web site, include a section with funny photos, industry jokes, or a Top 10 list, and you might just get visitors to tell their friends about your site.

Blogging, Blogging, Blogging

Creating a blog and adding it to your Web site makes it easy to add fresh content because blogs are designed for frequent updates. When you become a blogger, you also join the ranks of a prolific group of writers who regularly refer their readers to each other's Web sites.



Don't launch a blog just to "do it." Make sure that your blog features interesting, relevant information for your audience and that you update it regularly. And, if you want your blog to serve as an effective marketing tool, take the time to participate in other people's blogs. Adding relevant tips and thoughtful comments to other people's blogs is an excellent way to get their visitors to come back to your Web site.

Instructions for creating a blog and integrating it into your Web site are in Chapter 11.

Using Twitter to Promote Your Site

One of the most popular new forms of social media can be found at www.twitter. com. Described as *micro blogging*, Twitter makes it easy to register and start sharing your words of wisdom, but you have to keep it brief. Twitter limits users to 140 characters (about a sentence) of text per post. At first, many users complained that Twitter was a trivial place where people shared too many boring details, such as "I'm going to lunch at Red Lobster now."

But as Twitter has evolved, it's become an incredibly popular way for friends to stay in touch, and for businesses, actors, and others to promote themselves. Just visit www.twitter.com and register for a free account, and you can start posting short messages about what you're doing, what you're thinking, or questions you're pondering. Anyone who uses Twitter can subscribe to the *Twitter feed* of anyone else who uses Twitter and receive all their comments, called *Tweets*.

Telling Everyone You Know

It might seem obvious, but many people are either too shy or too busy to reach out to their friends, family, and personal contacts when they launch a Web site. Don't overlook your most obvious supporters. Launching a new Web site, or redesigning an existing site, is an excellent excuse to e-mail personal and professional contacts. To make the announcement even more fun, consider sending an e-card with a colorful character, animation, or music to dramatize your announcement. Hallmark.com is one of my favorite e-card sites because it has lots of free cards with clever sayings, professional designs, and interactive animations. Most of its free e-cards even include sound. BlueMountain.com is another useful e-card site, but you have to pay for the pleasure of sending its professional greetings. When choosing an e-card to announce your Web site, look for blank cards or the Friendship and Any Occasion sections, where you can find messages that are easily personalized for nearly any kind of Web site.



Make sure you include your URL on all your marketing and other materials, too. Your Web address should be prominently displayed on your business cards, brochures, stationery, and anywhere else you promote your business.
Index

• Symbols and Numerics •

(pound) character, 59 1&1 Internet Web site, 293 72 ppi, 78

• A •

about.html page, 132, 157, 172-173 AC_RunActiveContent.js file, Dreamweaver, 263 Access drop-down list box, Site Definition dialog box, 210 accessibility, 56, 259 account, Google Analytics, 217-218 Active Links option, Page Properties dialog box, 117 Add an Image window, WordPress, 238 Add Browser dialog box, Dreamweaver, 202 Add New Post page, WordPress, 236-237 Add New Tag text box, WordPress, 238 Additional Search Options link, Commission Junction Get Links page, 285 address, distribution of e-mail, 299 AddressMunger Web site, 114, 301–302 Adobe Audition program, 249 Adobe Browser Labs Web site, 204 Adobe Contribute, 19 Adobe Dreamweaver. See Dreamweaver, Adobe Adobe Fireworks, 20 Adobe Flash animation files, inserting into page, 260-263 overview, 259 player, 258 templates, 17 video, 258, 264-270 Adobe Media Encoder program, 264–267 Adobe Photoshop, 18, 20 Adobe Photoshop Elements background images, creating, 175–177 banner graphics, customizing, 134-137 Business Template, editing and sizing images for, 159-164 images, combining photos and text in, 85-90 images, cropping, 75-76

images, resizing, 77-78 images with multiple layers, 91-93 menu bar, 73 Options bar, 72–73 overview, 18, 20, 69-70 panels, 73-74 starter image templates, editing, 182-188 Toolbox, 70-72 Adobe Soundbooth program, 249 Adobe Web site, 271 AdSense, Google, 127, 276-281, 306 AdSense for Content page, Google AdSense, 280-281 AdSense Setup tab, Google AdSense, 279 Advanced Mode option, Export Settings dialog box, 266 Advanced tab, Site Definition dialog box, 97 advertising, 275-281. See also promoting Web site Advertising Programs page, Google, 277 .aero domain, 40 affiliate program, 282-287 alignment, image, 109, 142 Amazon affiliate program, 282, 287 American Airlines domain name, 36 Analytics, Google, 127-128, 217-219, 297-298 animation, 257-259 AP Div, 53–54 Appearance (CSS) category, Page Properties dialog box, 115-116 Apple iTunes, 255 Apple MobileMe Web site, 133 .asp extension, 17 ASP template, Microsoft, 17 ASP.NET site, 17 .aspx extension, 17 Atom feed, 242 Audacity program editing recording, 250-254 music track, 256 recording podcasts, 246-249 audience, target, 23 audio. See podcast audio format, 258 Audio tab, Export Settings dialog box, 266 Audio Video Interleave (AVI) format, 258

Audition program, Adobe, 249 Austin Relax massage site, 12, 199 Automatically Upload Files to Server on Save check box, Site Definition dialog box, 212 AVI (Audio Video Interleave) format, 258 AWStats program, 220

• B •

Background Color swatch box, Page Properties dialog box, 116 bandwidth, 43-44 bank confirmation, PayPal, 291 banner graphics business site, 167 customizing, 134-137 gallery templates, 152-153 overview, 132 portfolio home page, customizing, 148-149 starter image templates, 187 Benchmark Email service, 298 biography, 139 Bitrate options, Export Settings dialog box, 266 .biz domain, 40 _blank target option, 111 blog benefits, 18 blogging software, 229 creating, 15 Google Analytics code, adding, 219 overview, 13, 223 posting to, 236-241 promotion methods, 309 style of, 241 template, 230-235 titles, 233 Web hosting packages, 44 WordPress, starting, 224-228 Blog Title field, WordPress, 226 Blogger software, 229 BlueMountain Web site, 310 body tag, 105 box model, 57 broken link, 32, 208 Browse icon, Dreamweaver, 98 browser function of, 50 previewing in multiple, 201-203 site appearance, effect on, 198, 200 testing site designs before publishing, 122 browser emulator, 204–205

Browsershots Web site, 204–205 budget, project plan, 27-29 business site Dreamweaver Web template, 171–174 images, 159-164 overview, 12, 155 page layouts, background images in, 175-177 pages, creating, 165–170 templates, 155-158

• (•

Cascading Style Sheets (CSS) advantages of, 54-56 class selectors, 58-59 compound styles, 61-62 ID selectors, 59-60 overview, 51-52, 54 page layouts, 57-58 rule definition options, 62-63 tag selectors, 60-61 viewing code, 65 XHTML, combining with, 56-57 case sensitivity, domain name, 36-37 Categories section, WordPress, 240 Category box, Site Definition dialog box, 97 Category list, CSS Rule Definition dialog box, 105 cellphone designing pages with CSS for, 55 limitations of, 29-30 channel, 281 character recognition software, 300 Check Links Sitewide option, Dreamweaver, 207-208 Check Spelling icon, WordPress, 239 Chitika Web site, 287 Chocolate Game Rules Web site, 51–52 Choose Local Root Folder dialog box, Dreamweaver, 138 CJ Account Manager, Commission Junction, 284 class selector, CSS, 58-59 class style, 58-59 Clicky Web analytics service, 220 club site, 11 Code view, Dreamweaver, 48-49 color of advertisements, 280 setting, in Dreamweaver, 115-116 .com domain, 39-40 Commission Junction affiliate program, 282-287 Commit icon, Crop tool, 76

Index 313

competitor site, reviewing, 29 compound style, CSS, 61-62 conference call, free, 302 confirmation e-mail, WordPress, 227 Connects to Remote Host icon, Dreamweaver, 213-214 consistency, of Web design, 30-31 Constant Contact service, 298 Constrain Proportions check box, Image Size dialog box, 78 consulting service, cost of, 28 contact.html page, 157 content, collecting, 26, 30 content list, 24-25 Contribute, Adobe, 19 conventions used in book, 2-3 .coop domain, 40 cost, of Web site, 10, 27-29 country domain, 40 Create Buy Now Button form, PayPal, 292 Create New Website Profile page, Google Analytics, 218 Crop tool, Photoshop Elements, 75–76, 187 Cross Browser Testing Web site, 204 CSS. See Cascading Style Sheets css folder, Family template, 181 CSS Rule Definition dialog box, Dreamweaver, 104-105, 119, 143, 169 CSS Rule dialog box, Dreamweaver, 59-63 CSS Styles panel, Dreamweaver, 103 Custom Header link, Wordpress, 231 CuteFTP program, 216

• /) •

Dashboard, WordPress, 228 dead air, deleting, 254 deadline, 27 dedicated FTP program, 216 default.html page, 100 deleting noise, Audacity, 251 design. See Web design Design view, Dreamweaver, 48 Detect Size button, Insert FLV dialog box, 269 Device Central, Dreamweaver, 55, 203 Digital Family Web site, 2, 19, 36 digital format, 26 disk space, 44 <div> tag, 51, 57, 176 domain name availability, 38-39 in budget, 28

country domains, 40 endings, 39-40, 42 hosting multiple sites, 45-46 overview, 35-36 registering, 40-42 selecting, 36-37 top-level domains, 39 WordPress blog, 225 Domain Web site, 38 downloading design considerations for, 30 Dreamweaver templates, 17 existing sites, 96 files or folders in Dreamweaver, 216 image formats, 82 new browsers, 203 Dreamweaver, Adobe AP Divs, 53-54 code, inserting, 127-128 Commission Junction code, inserting, 287 creating pages, 101-105, 165-170, 192-195 CSS Rule dialog box, 59-63 defining Web site, 97-100 Device Central, 55 Dynamic Web Templates, 145 Edit Font List dialog box, 64 existing site, setting up, 95-96 Family Web Site template, 189–191 Flash animation files, inserting, 260-263 Flash video, adding to site, 268-270 FTP, setting up, 209–212 FTP features, 213-216 Gallery templates, 150-154 Google Analytics code, adding, 219 images, inserting, 107-109 linking new pages, 192-195 linking to e-mail addresses, 113-114 linking to other pages in site, 110-111 linking to other Web sites, 112 link-testing features, 207–208 meta tags, 126 new site, setting up, 95-96 online profile, designing, 138-143 overview, 18-19, 95 page properties, 115-117 portfolio home page, customizing, 145-149 previewing pages in multiple browsers, 201-203 setting up site, 95–96 styles, defining, 118-120 templates, 16-17, 121-125

(continued)

Dreamweaver, Adobe (continued) views in, 48 Web template, 171–174 XTML code, 50 YouTube code, adding, 274 . dwt extension, 16, 122 dynamic Web site, 13, 14–15 Dynamic Web Template, 145

• E •

Ecademy Web site, 307 e-card, 309-310 e-commerce cost of transaction features. 28 PayPal buttons, adding to site, 288-292 services, 45 shopping cart system, 293 Web hosting packages, 44 Edit CSS option, WordPress Manage Themes page, 235 Edit Font List dialog box, Dreamweaver, 64 editable region, of template, 123-124, 193 editing Audacity recording, 250-254 **Business Template**, 172 existing sites, 96 images for template, 159-164 podcast, 250-254 starter image templates, 182-188 .edu domain, 40 Effect menu, Audacity, 253 effects, special, 30 elastic layout, 101 Elements. See Photoshop Elements e-mail addresses, linking to, 113-114 blog updates by, 241 newsletter services, 298 protecting addresses, 301-302 registration services, 41 Email Link dialog box, Dreamweaver, 114 Email Link icon, Common Insert panel, 113 Enable Cache option, Site Definition dialog box, 99 Enable File Check In and Check Out option, Site Definition dialog box, 212 Excerpt area, WordPress, 240 An existing external style sheet option, CSS Rule dialog box, 63 export feature, Audacity, 248

Export Settings dialog box, Media Encoder, 264–266 Expression Web, Microsoft, 18–19, 50 ExpressionEngine software, 229 Extensible Hypertext Markup Language (XHTML) combining with CSS, 56–57 overview, 47–50 page layouts, 57–58 external link, 112, 208 external style sheet, 63 Eyedropper tool, Save for Web dialog box, 83

• F •

Facebook Web site, 306 family site creating pages, 192-196 designing for entire family, 189-191 group site templates, 179-181 linking pages, 192–196 overview, 12-13, 179 starter image templates, 182-188 templates, 179-181 Family Web Site template, 189-191 favicon, 301 feed, Twitter, 309 Fetch program, 216 file extension, 100 File Transfer Protocol (FTP) features, of Dreamweaver, 96, 213-216 setting up, 209-212 filename, 100, 102 FileZilla program, 216 Fill Layer dialog box, Photoshop Elements, 136 FireFTP program, 216 Fireworks, Adobe, 20 fixed layout, 101 Flash animation files, inserting into page, 260-263 overview, 259 player, 258 templates, 17 video, 258, 264-270 Flash Arcade Web site, 271 Flash Kit Web site, 271 Flickr Web site, 133 font, 30, 64, 119, 183 format audio, 258 video, 258, 264-265

formatting, text, 103 frame, HTML, 52-53 free image editing program, 20 FreeConference Web site, 302 front page. See home page FTP (File Transfer Protocol) features, of Dreamweaver, 96, 213-216 setting up, 209–212 An FTP error occurred message, 212 FTP Host text box, Site Definition dialog box, 210

(G•

gallery template, 150-154 gallery.html page, 157 GarageBand program, 249 Gardens to Tables Web site, 15 Gcast Web site, 255 General settings, WordPress, 232 Get Ad Code page, Google AdSense, 281 Get Links page, Commission Junction, 285-286 Get Started page, PayPal, 290-291 GIF format, 82-84 goals, project plan, 22-24 Google AdSense, 127, 276-281, 306 Google Analytics, 127-128, 217-219, 297-298 Google Checkout for Merchants Web site, 293 Google Search tools, 33 GotoAndLearn Web site, 271 .gov domain, 40 graphics. See also Photoshop Elements banner, 132, 134-137, 148-149, 152, 167, 187 GIF format, 82-84 JPEG format, 79-81 optimizing, 79-84 overview, 69 PNG format, 82-84 graphics program, 18, 20. See also specific programs by name group site template, 179-181

• H •

Hallmark Web site, 310 hardware, 198 header blog, 231-232 e-mail, 299 heading, page, 60, 143, 169 headline, blog, 237

hierarchical tag, 49, 60 hobby site creating pages, 192-196 designing for entire family, 189-191 family or group site templates, 179-181 linking pages, 192-196 overview, 179 starter image templates, 182-188 HockeyBuzz Web site, 9 home page creating, 48 filenames, 100 portfolio site, customizing, 145-149 Web design, 31-32 hosting, Web. See Web hosting HTML (Hyper Text Markup Language) frames, 52-53 overview, 47-50 tables, 51-52 http://, in domain name, 37 HTTP address, 99 hybrid layout, 101 Hyperlink dialog box, Dreamweaver, 110-111 hyphen, in domain name, 37

icons used in book, 4 iContact service, 298 ID selector, CSS, 59-60 IFP3 Advanced Photo Websites, 133 image. See also graphics Business Template, adding to, 166, 168 creating, 74 cropping, 75-76 digitalizing, 26 Dreamweaver Gallery template, 151–152 editable regions, adding to, 194 editing for template, 159-164 Family Web Site template, adding to, 191 home page, replacing on, 147 inserting, 107-109 with multiple layers, 91-93 opening in Elements, 74 for page layout background, 175–177 professional, downloading inexpensively, 299-300 for profiles, 140-142 resizing, 77-78 sizing for template, 159-164 starter template, 182–188

Index 315

image editing program, 20. See also specific programs by name image gallery, 131 Image Size dialog box, Photoshop Elements, 77-78, 93 Image Tag Accessibility Attributes dialog box, Dreamweaver, 107, 141 images file, Business Template, 157 images folder Dreamweaver, 98 Family template, 181 index.html page, 100, 132, 157, 180 .info domain, 40 inline style, 63 Insert FLV dialog box, Dreamweaver, 268-269 internal style, 62 iStockphoto Web site, 175, 299 iTunes, Apple, 255

•] •

Jasper Johal Photography Web site, 11 Java template, 17 Joomla! program, 15, 229 journalists, writing to, 308 JPEG format, 79–81 . jsp extension, 17

• K •

keyword, 304–305 Kitchen Sink, WordPress Add New Post page, 237 Kodak Gallery Web site, 133 Kogi, 8

• [•

landing page, 306 language options, WordPress, 226 law regarding newsletters, 299 layers, starter image, 183 Layers panel, Photoshop Elements, 85–90, 91–93, 135, 183 layout Business Template, 169–170 types of, 101 Legacy Tracking Code, Google Analytics, 218 line break, 106

link broken, 32, 208 **Business Template**, 167 from other sites, 304 overview, 31 setting up, 32-33 styles, 116 Link Color option, Page Properties dialog box, 117 Link Font drop-down list, Page Properties dialog box, 117 Link text box, Property Inspector, 112 LinkedIn Web site, 306 linking, in Dreamweaver to e-mail addresses, 113-114 to other pages in site, 110–111 to other Web sites, 112 Links (CSS) category, Page Properties dialog box, 116-117 Links Relative To radio buttons, Site Definition dialog box, 98 LinkShare Web site, 282, 287 link-testing features, Dreamweaver, 207–208 Linux, 44 liquid layout, 101 Liquid Web company, 42-43 list content, 24-25 task, 25-26 local root folder, 96 Local Root Folder text box, Site Definition dialog box, 98 location, of page elements, 30 Login screen, WordPress, 228

• M •

main page, 100 Maintain Synchronization Information check box, Site Definition dialog box, 212 Manage Sites dialog box, Dreamweaver, 99, 209 Manage Themes page, WordPress, 235 margin image, 109 page, 116 marketing. *See* promoting Web site mark-up language, 47 Marquee selection tool, Photoshop Elements, 136 media. See also multimedia marketing to, 308 streaming, 44 Media Encoder program, Adobe, 264–267 menu bar, Photoshop Elements, 73 Merchant Services tab, PayPal, 291 meta tag, 126, 304 micro blogging, 309 Microsoft ASP template, 17 Microsoft Expression Web, 18-19, 50 Microsoft Project, 26 .mil domain, 40 .mobi domain. 40 mobile device CSS, designing with, for, 55 designing for, 206 limitations of, 29-30 mobile phone emulator, 206 money, making advertisers, 276-281 affiliate programs, 282-287 Google AdSense, 276-281 overview, 275 PayPal, 288-292 Movable Type software, 229 Move tool, Photoshop Elements, 136, 161, 163, 184 multimedia. See also Adobe Flash animation, 257-259 **Business Template**, 174 mobile devices, 206 overview, 16, 257 uploading videos, 272-274 video, playing on Web, 257-259 .museum domain, 40 music, in podcast, 256 MyPodcast Recorder program, 249 MySpace Web site, 306

• // •

.name domain, 40 navigation, in Web design, 31 navigation bar, 32 .net domain, 40 netiquette, 306 New CSS Rule dialog box, Dreamweaver, 118-119 New dialog box, Photoshop Elements, 85 New Document dialog box, Dreamweaver blank page, creating, 101-102 Blank Template option, 121

Business Template, generating, 173 Page from Template option, 124, 146 Portfolio template, 150 New Editable Region dialog box, Dreamweaver, 124 New File dialog box, Photoshop Elements, 74 New Style Sheet file option, CSS Rule dialog box, 63 New Tracking Code, Google Analytics, 218 news.html page, 157 newsletter service, 298-299 Ning Web site, 307 noise, deleting in Audacity, 251 Normalize dialog box, Audacity, 253

()

objectives, project plan, 22-24 OCR (Optical Character Recognition) software, 26 1&1 Internet Web site, 293 one-click service, 44 oneColFixCtrHdr body class, 104 online magazine, 32 online Web-traffic service, 220 Optical Character Recognition (OCR) software, 26 optimizing graphics, 82-84 multimedia, 259 photos, 26, 79-81, 187-188 Options bar, Photoshop Elements, 72-73 opt-out method, for message, 299 .org domain, 40 organization, of Web design, 31 organization site, 11 orphaned file, 208 Others tab, Export Settings dialog box, 267 Outblush Web site, 9 overwriting file, 215

• p •

padding, 109 Page Font drop-down list, Page Properties dialog box, 115 page layout background images, 175-177 with CSS and XHTML, 57-58 Page Properties dialog box, Dreamweaver, 105, 115-117

Page Type column, New Document dialog box, 101 pages folder, Family template, 181 panels, Photoshop Elements, 73-74 paragraph, 106 _parent target option, 111 password, WordPress, 224-225 PayLoadz Web site, 293 PayPal, 288-292 Pearl template, 17 Perez Hilton Web site, 9 Permalink, WordPress Add New Post page, 237 personal biography, 139 photo. See image photo1.html pages, 132-133 Photobucket Web site, 133 photography site, professional, 131 photo-sharing Web site, 131, 133 Photoshop, 18, 20 **Photoshop Elements** background images, creating, 175-177 banner graphics, customizing, 134-137 Business Template, editing and sizing images for, 159-164 images, combining photos and text in, 85–90 images, cropping, 75-76 images, resizing, 77-78 images with multiple layers, 91-93 menu bar, 73 Options bar, 72-73 overview, 18, 20, 69-70 panels, 73-74 starter image templates, editing, 182-188 Toolbox, 70–72 .php extensions, 17 ping, 242 Pink Flamingos site, 52–53 Piwik program, 220 Pixel Dimensions area, Image Size dialog box, 78 player, multimedia, 257-259 PNG format, 82-84 podcast editing, 250-254 overview, 243 preparing, 244-245 publishing, 255 recording, 246-248 Podcast Alley Web site, 255 The Podcast Network, 255 Podcasting Tools Web site, 255 pop-up link preview service, 300

portfolio site banner graphics, 134-137 gallery templates, 150-154 home page, customizing, 145–149 overview, 10-11, 129 template, 131-133 posting, to blog, 236-241 pound (#) character, 59 PowerPoint presentation, sharing, 302 Press section, Web site, 308 previewing page, 111, 144, 201–203 privacy, 41 Privacy check box, WordPress, 226 .prl extension, 17 product, selling, 275 product site, 32 Products & Services tab, PayPal, 288-289 professional biography, 139 professional images, on site, 299-300 profile site banner graphics, 134-137 gallery templates, 150-154 online profile, designing, 138, 140-144 overview, 11-12, 129 template, 130-131 Project, Microsoft, 26 Project Bin, Photoshop Elements, 86-87 project plan budget, 27-29 content list, 24-25 goals, 22-24 objectives, 22-24 overview, 21-22 task list, 25–26 team, 29 timeline, 26-27 promoting blog, 242 promoting Web site blogging, 309 ideas from other sites, 307-308 marketing to media, 308 overview, 303 search engine optimization, 303-305 social bookmarking sites, 307 social networking sites, 306-307 traffic, buying, 305-306 Twitter, 309 updates, 307 viral marketing, 308-309 word of mouth, 309-310 Propaganda program, 249

Property Inspector, Dreamweaver, 112, 262–263 ProStores Web site, 293 publisher registration page, Commission Junction, 283 publishing appearance on different browsers, 200 appearance on different computers, 198-199 Dreamweaver options, 211 FTP, setting up, 209-212 FTP features, 213-216 Google Analytics, 217–219 link-testing features, 207-208 online browser emulators, 204-205 overview, 197-198 previewing in multiple browsers, 201-203 static Web pages, 14

() •

Quality setting, Save for Web dialog box, 80-81 QuickTime video format, 258

• R •

Rackspace company, 43 recording podcast, 245 Rectangular Marguee tool, Photoshop Elements, 186 Redo option, Photoshop Elements, 72 registration, domain name, 37, 40-42 relative link, 110 Remote Info category, Site Definition dialog box, 210-212 Resample Image check box, Image Size dialog box, 77-78 resizing image, 77-78, 185 resolution, 77, 198 revenue. See money, making Revert option, Photoshop Elements, 72 Rollover Links option, Page Properties dialog box, 117 rotating image, in Photoshop Elements, 160 RSS feed, 242 Rule Definition area, New CSS Rule dialog box, 119 rule definition, CSS, 62-63

• 5 •

Save As Template dialog box, Dreamweaver, 122 Save for Web dialog box, Photoshop Elements, 79-84, 137, 164, 188

Save Optimized As dialog box, Photoshop Elements, 188 Save Style Sheet File As dialog box, Dreamweaver, 119 Scale Styles check box, Image Size dialog box, 78 scanning image, 26 screen reader, 56 <script> tag, 128 Scripts folder, Dreamweaver, 262-263 search, Web site, 33 search engine optimization (SEO), 303-305 Search field, Commission Junction Get Links page, 285 Search tool, Google, 33 Select File dialog box, Dreamweaver, 111, 195, 261 Select Image Source dialog box, Dreamweaver background images, 116 banner images, 149 **Business Template**, 166 customizing images on Portfolio home page, 147 images in Gallery templates, 151-152 Profile site images, 141 Selection Tool, Audacity, 251 _self target option, 111 SEO (search engine optimization), 303–305 server, Web, 96 service agreement, Commission Junction, 284 services conference calls, free, 302 e-mail addresses, protecting, 301-302 e-mail newsletters, 298 favicons, 301 overview, 297 pop-up link previews, 300 PowerPoint presentations, sharing, 302 professional images, 299-300 selling, 275 sites for, 32 surveys, 301 traffic, measuring, 297-298 WhatTheFont, 300 72 ppi, 78 shopping cart system, 28, 44, 293 shortcut icon. 301 Show/Hide Kitchen Sink button, WordPress Add New Post page, 237 Shutterfly Web site, 133 Site Definition dialog box, Dreamweaver Advanced Tab, 97-99 Family Web Site template, 189–191 (continued) Site Definition dialog box, Dreamweaver (continued) naming sites, 138, 145-146, 165 Remote Info category, 210-212 Site Name text box, Site Definition dialog box, 98 site-definition process, 97-99 Size drop-down list, Page Properties dialog box, 115 Skin option, Insert FLV dialog box, 269 SlideShare Web site, 302 SnapKast program, 249 Snap-shots online service, 300 social bookmarking site, 307 social networking site, 242, 306-307 software, cost of, 28 SolidCasts Web site, 255 Some text layers contain fonts that are missing error message, 183 sound, Web site, 259 Soundbooth program, Adobe, 249 spam, 114, 299 special characters, in domain name, 37 special effects, 30 spell check, WordPress, 239 Split view, Dreamweaver, 48-49, 127 standards, Web site, 56 starter image template, 182-188 static Web site, 13, 14 stock image site, 175 streaming media, 44 structure, of Web design, 31 style, defining in Dreamweaver, 118-120 subject line, e-mail, 299 survey, 301 SurveyMonkey Web site, 301 .swf extension, 17 SWiSH Web site, 271

• 7 •

table, HTML, 51–52 tag blog post, 238 HTML, 47 XTML, 49–50 tag selector, CSS, 60–61 tagline, blog, 233 target audience, 23 target option, Adobe Dreamweaver, 111 task list, 25–26 team, design, 29

template blog, 230-235 business site, 155-158 creating site with, 10-13 Dreamweaver, 121-125, 171-174 family site, 179-181 gallery, 150-154 group site, 179-181 images, editing for, 159-164 images, sizing for, 159-164 images, starter, 182-188 portfolio, 131-133 profile, 130-131 types of, 16-18 Template files dialog box, Dreamweaver, 153 Templates folder, Family template, 181 testing appearance on different browsers, 200 appearance on different computers, 198-199 designs before publishing, 122 dynamic Web sites, 14 FTP, setting up in Dreamweaver, 209-212 FTP features, Dreamweaver, 213-216 Google Analytics, 217–219 links, 154, 196, 207-208 in multiple browsers, 201-203 online browser emulators, 204-205 overview, 197-198 static Web pages, 14 text Business Template, 168-169 digitalizing, 26 in Dreamweaver, 102-103 Text Color swatch box, Page Properties dialog box, 115 Text tool, Photoshop Elements, 88-89, 92-93, 161 theme, WordPress, 230-231 This Document Only option, CSS Rule dialog box, 63 threadless Web site, 8 three-clicks rule, 33 thumbnail image, Gallery template, 153-154 timeline, project plan, 26–27 title blog, 233 page, 166, 191, 305 Toolbox, Photoshop Elements, 70-72 _top target option, 111 top-level domain, 39 trackback, 242 trademark, 37

traffic buying, 305-306 measuring, 297-298 reporting services, cost of, 28 Transmit program, 216 Transparency check box, Save for Web dialog box, 83 Tweets, 309 Twitter, 309 Type tool, Photoshop Elements, 135, 183-184 TypePad software, 229

• 11 •

Underline Style drop-down list, Page Properties dialog box, 117 Undo option, Photoshop Elements, 72 Uniform Resource Locator (URL), 35-36 Unix, 44 Update Links dialog box, Dreamweaver, 122 Update Template Files dialog box, Dreamweaver, 125, 149, 195 updating blogs by e-mail, 241 as promotion method, 307 Web sites, 15, 19 Upload link, YouTube, 273 Upload/Insert area, WordPress Add New Post page, 237 URL (Uniform Resource Locator), 35–36 Use Case-Sensitive Link Checking check box, Site Definition dialog box, 99 Use Firewall option, Site Definition dialog box, 211 Use Passive FTP option, Site Definition dialog box, 211 username, WordPress, 224

vacation site creating pages, 192–196 designing for entire family, 189-191 family or group site templates, 179-181 linking pages, 192–196 overview, 179 starter image templates, 182–188 video Business Template, adding to, 174 Flash, 264-270 formats, 258, 264-265

playing on Web, 257–259 Vimeo, 272-274 YouTube, 44, 272-274 viewing code, CSS, 65 Vimeo overview, 44 uploading videos to, 272-274 viral marketing, 308–309 Visited Links option, Page Properties dialog box, 117 visitor accessibility of pages with CSS, 56 objectives, defining, regarding, 23 online surveys for, 301 Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP), 245 volume, recording, 247

• *W* •

Web browser function of, 50 previewing in multiple, 201-203 site appearance, effect on, 198, 200 testing site designs before publishing, 122 Web design. See also Cascading Style Sheets: Hyper Text Markup Language; project plan; specific programs by name AP Divs, 53-54 consistency of, 30-31 dynamic pages, 14-15 home page, 31-32links, 31, 32-33 main sections, 31-32 multimedia, 16 navigation, 31 options, 13-16 organization, 31 overview, 21, 29-30, 47 programs, 18-19 static pages, 14 structure, 31 templates, 16-18 XHTML, 47-50, 56-58 Web hosting costs, 28 e-commerce service, 45 multiple sites with different domain names, 45-46 overview, 42-43 registration services, 41 selecting, 43-44

Web server, 96 Web site. See also specific programs by name; specific Web sites by name or type cost of, 10, 27-29 design options, 13-16 image editing programs, 20 overview, 1-4, 7-8 successful examples of, 8-9 templates, 10-13, 16-18 Web design programs, 18-19 Web template, Dreamweaver, 171-174 Website Payments Standard page, PayPal, 289 Web-traffic services, online, 220 wedding Web site, 12 WhatTheFont software, 300 Whois database, 41 Whyville Web site, 42 widget, WordPress, 233-235 width, page, 170 Windows Media Video format, 258 word of mouth, as promotion method, 309-310 WordPress Google Analytics code, adding to blog, 219 overview, 15, 223 posting to blog, 236-241 starting blog, 224-228 templates, 17, 230-235 work.html page, 157

writing style, for blog, 241 WS_FTP program, 216 www, in domain name, 37

• X •

Xenocode Browser Sandbox Web site, 204 XHTML (Extensible Hypertext Markup Language) combining with CSS, 56–57 overview, 47–50 page layouts, 57–58

• ¥ •

Yahoo! e-commerce capability, 44 Yahoo! Merchant Solutions, 293 Yahoo! Web Analytics, 220 YouTube Fred, 9 hosting video with, 44 uploading videos to, 272–274 Yuval David Web site, 155–156, 158

• Z •

Zoom tool, Photoshop Elements, 93

Do-it-yourself. Easy.





0.00

978-0-470-16903-2















Build Your Own PC DUMMIES



978-0-470-19611-3



DO-IT-YOURSELF

Create a presence for your business, club, or family on the Web!

You can do it! Put your business online, start selling products through your Web site, or help plan your next college or family reunion — this book shows you how it's easier than ever to get online.

Combining step-by-step instructions with customizable templates, you can create popular Web designs quickly, even if you've never set up a site before. If you're looking for an easy way to update an old site, you'll find everything you need to create a great new design.

Choose the template you like best, easily downloaded from the book's companion Web site. Then discover how to use Dreamweaver's template features to create new pages and make changes to many pages at once. Add your text, images, and even video, advertising, and e-commerce. It's all up to you, because you can do it yourself!





Open the book and find:

- What to ask when choosing a Web hosting service
- Design tips for creating graphics in the best Web formats
- Instructions for creating Web pages in Dreamweaver[®]
- Great ways to add video with YouTube[®] and e-commerce with Google Checkout[™]
- How to promote your site with social media, WordPress® blogs, and podcasts

Janine Warner

is a best-selling author whose books and videos on Web design have won her an international following and earned her speaking and consulting engagements around the world. She runs a Web design and consulting firm and offers tutorials, books, and training videos at www.DigitalFamily.com.

Making Everything Easier!™



Go to Dummies.com[®] for videos, step-by-step examples, how-to articles, or to shop!

For Dummies® A Branded Imprint of WILEY

\$24.99 US • \$29.99 CAN • £17.99 UK Internet/Web Site Design



